MOLECULAR MECHANISMS FOR REPROGRAMMING HIPPOCAMPAL DEVELOPMENT AND FUNCTION BY EARLY-LIFE STRESS

EDITED BY: Xiao-Dong Wang and Mathias V. Schmidt PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2016 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

> ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-806-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-806-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS FOR REPROGRAMMING HIPPOCAMPAL DEVELOPMENT AND FUNCTION BY EARLY-LIFE STRESS

Topic Editors: Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China Mathias V. Schmidt, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Germany



The mouse hippocampal formation. A subpopulation of excitatory and inhibitory neurons is marked by calbindin immunostaining (green). Pyramidal neurons in the subiculum, CA1 and CA3 that express Thy-1 cell surface antigen are shown in red. Nuclei are shown in blue. Photo by Xiao-Dong Wang.

The early postnatal period is a crucial stage for hippocampal development. During this critical period, the neonatal hippocampus is highly sensitive to the detrimental consequences of adverse environmental factors. Extensive clinical and preclinical evidence has shown that traumatic events early in life have profound and persistent effects on hippocampal function and behavior. This research topic focuses on the acute and lasting effects of early-life stress on various developmental

processes in the hippocampus, and aims to uncover the molecules that are responsible for early-life stress-programmed effects and underlie resilience or vulnerability to stress-related neuropsychiatric disorders later in life. We hope the articles in this research topic will provide novel insights and stimulate future studies on the mechanisms of early-life stress and brain development.

Citation: Wang, X-D., Schmidt, M. V., eds. (2016). Molecular Mechanisms for Reprogramming Hippocampal Development and Function by Early-Life Stress. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-806-1

Table of Contents

05	Editorial: Molecular Mechanisms for Reprogramming Hippocampal
	Development and Function by Early-Life Stress
	Xiao-Dong Wang and Mathias V. Schmidt

- 08 Early-life stress impacts the developing hippocampus and primes seizure occurrence: cellular, molecular, and epigenetic mechanisms Li-Tung Huang
- 23 Early life stress and hippocampal neurogenesis in the neonate: sexual dimorphism, long term consequences and possible mediators Naima Lajud and Luz Torner
- 33 Gene-environment interaction in programming hippocampal plasticity: focus on adult neurogenesis
 Muriel Koehl
- 41 The interplay of early-life stress, nutrition, and immune activation programs adult hippocampal structure and function

Lianne Hoeijmakers, Paul J. Lucassen and Aniko Korosi

- 57 Vitamin D and hippocampal development-the story so far Anne L. Lardner
- 64 Early Life Stress Effects on Glucocorticoid—BDNF Interplay in the Hippocampus Nikolaos P. Daskalakis, Edo Ronald De Kloet, Rachel Yehuda, Dolores Malaspina and Thorsten M. Kranz
- 77 Maternal separation produces alterations of forebrain brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in differently aged rats
 Qiong Wang, Feng Shao and Weiwen Wang
- Early-life stress induces persistent alterations in 5-HT_{1A} receptor and serotonin transporter mRNA expression in the adult rat brain
 Javier A. Bravo, Timothy G. Dinan and John F. Cryan
- **94** Alteration of somatosensory response in adulthood by early life stress Yusuke Takatsuru and Noriyuki Koibuchi





Editorial: Molecular Mechanisms for Reprogramming Hippocampal Development and Function by Early-Life Stress

Xiao-Dong Wang^{1*} and Mathias V. Schmidt²

¹ Key Laboratory of Medical Neurobiology of Ministry of Health of China, Zhejiang Province Key Laboratory of Neurobiology, Department of Neurobiology, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China, ² Department of Stress Neurobiology and Neurogenetics, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany

Keywords: early-life stress, hippocampus, development, plasticity, molecular mechanism

The Editorial on the research topic

Molecular Mechanisms for Reprogramming Hippocampal Development and Function by Early-Life Stress

The hippocampal formation is both a key component of the medial temporal lobe crucial for declarative memory and a main target of stress mediators (e.g., glucocorticoids and neuropeptides) and stress-related molecules (e.g., nutritional factors and cytokines). During the first weeks of life, the hippocampus significantly increases in volume (Zhang et al., 2005) and several critical developmental processes coincide: generation of new neurons, outgrowth of neurites, formation of synaptic contacts, and establishment of neuronal circuits (Khalaf-Nazzal and Francis, 2013). Although the neonatal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is relatively hyporesponsive to environmental challenges, age-appropriate stressors can activate stress response, which in turn alters hippocampal development and increases the risk to develop neuropsychiatric disorders later in life, dependent on adult life conditions, and genetic predispositions (for recent reviews, see Lucassen et al., 2013; Tost et al., 2015; Bick and Nelson, 2016; Chen and Baram, 2016). As many neuropsychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia and anxiety disorders, have developmental origins (Gross and Hen, 2004; Howes and Murray, 2014), dissecting the molecular mechanisms mediating the potentially detrimental consequences of early-life stress will provide insight into the pathophysiology and intervention of these disorders.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and Reviewed by:

Jochen C. Meier, Technical University Braunschweig, Germany

*Correspondence:

Xiao-Dong Wang dr.xiaodong.wang@gmail.com

Received: 21 December 2015 Accepted: 11 January 2016 Published: 01 February 2016

Citation:

Wang X-D and Schmidt MV (2016) Editorial: Molecular Mechanisms for Reprogramming Hippocampal Development and Function by Early-Life Stress. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 9:6. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2016.00006 Most studies so far focus on the mechanisms of the long-term impact of early-life stress on hippocampal plasticity in adolescence/adulthood, which are of clinical relevance. In comparison, molecular mechanisms on how stress shapes the developing hippocampus have received attention only recently (Gross et al., 2012; Wei et al., 2012, 2015; Suri et al., 2013; Liao et al., 2014). We therefore initiated this research topic to sum up recent findings with an emphasis on both the dynamic effects of early-life stress on hippocampal structure and function at different life stages and the immediate effects of stress on hippocampal development.

Firstly, Huang provides an overview on the molecular and cellular alterations that modulate the effects of prenatal or postnatal stress on hippocampal development, and discusses how epigenetic modifications underlie the programming effects of early-life stress and contribute to the pathogenesis of epilepsy (Huang). In the dentate gyrus (DG) of the hippocampal formation, new neurons are continuously generated and selectively integrated to local circuits throughout the lifespan. Unlike the adult DG where most granule cells are mature and settled in place, during the first postnatal week the infrapyramidal blade of DG is yet to be formed and a majority of neurons are still immature. Exposure to severe stressors may thus perturb various aspects of neonatal and adult hippocampal neurogenesis and evoke lasting behavioral consequences. Lajud and Torner describe the key processes of neonatal DG development and review the short-term, intermediate and lasting effects of earlylife stress on hippocampal neurogenesis (Lajud and Torner). Koehl further discusses the interaction between environmental factors (including early-life stress) and genetic background in shaping adult hippocampal neurogenesis and propose a conceptual framework for identifying genes that confer stress resilience or vulnerability (Koehl).

Early-life adversities are also manifested by malnutrition or infection. The disruption of maternal care inevitably alters the levels of nutritional and inflammatory factors in the offspring, which may modulate the influences of early stress. Hoeijmakers and colleagues present a comprehensive update on the intricate interplay among these essential elements of earlylife environment and discuss their synergistic effects in shaping hippocampal structure and cognition, with a specific focus on adult neurogenesis (Hoeijmakers et al.). Moreover, Lardner summarizes our current understanding on the involvement of vitamin D, a vital nutrient with pleiotropic effects that may be insufficiently available under early-life stressful situations, in hippocampal development (Lardner).

Neurotrophins, especially brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), regulate neural circuit formation and activitydependent synaptic plasticity via Trk receptors. Daskalakis and colleagues address the cross-talk between glucocorticoids and BDNF-TrkB signaling in early stress-induced hippocampal maldevelopment and behavioral deficits (Daskalakis et al.). In the research report by Wang and colleagues, BDNF protein level is examined in the hippocampus, medial prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens at different time points after neonatal maternal separation, and sex difference is further compared and discussed (Wang et al.). These two articles highlight the modulatory role of BDNF in early postnatal stress-programmed hippocampal development.

The serotonin (or 5-hydroxytriptamine, 5-HT) system is a main molecular target for the intervention of depression and anxiety and implicated in the acute stress response. In another highlighted research article, Bravo and colleagues evaluate the mRNA levels of two key components of the serotonin system, 5- HT_{1A} receptor and serotonin transporter (SERT), in adult rats with or without a history of neonatal maternal separation, and find that early-life stress alters 5- HT_{1A} and SERT mRNA levels in the amygdala and dorsal raphe nucleus, but not the hippocampus (Bravo et al.). These alterations may underlie the susceptibility of early-life stressed individuals to affective or anxiety disorders.

For altricial animals such as mice and rats, somatosensory input from the skin/whisker provides a major information

REFERENCES

Bick, J., and Nelson, C. A. (2016). Early adverse experiences and the developing brain. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 41, 177–196. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.252

source for representation of early-life environment. Erratic maternal care and/or peer interaction may thus result in abnormal experience-dependent synaptic plasticity and reshape the development of neocortex and hippocampus. Takatsuru and Koibuchi review how early-life stress disrupts the structure and activity of the somatosensory cortex and suggest the involvement of glucocorticoids, glutamate, and microglia in stress-induced somatosensory alterations (Takatsuru and Koibuchi).

Taken together, this research topic summarizes recent progress on the mechanisms of the effects of early postnatal stress on hippocampal development, and underlines the interactions of various factors in programming hippocampal plasticity. Meanwhile, many more interesting questions and new challenges emerge, some of which are sketched below.

- 1. **Dynamics.** Neural development and plasticity are highly dynamic, so are the influences of early-life stress. It is important to explore how stress dynamically modulates the levels and activity of stress-related molecules, and how these molecular events affect the dynamics of neuronal structure (e.g., formation and elimination of dendritic spines) and activity at different life stages.
- 2. **Interactions**. Future studies need to balance between addressing the complex interactions (e.g., between the timing and features of the stressor and concomitant critical developmental events; between genetic makeup and environmental elements; sex differences; etc.) and maintaining a manageable experimental design.
- 3. **Pathways.** Our understanding on the mechanisms of earlylife stress may benefit from studies extending from dissecting the molecular pathways to mapping anatomical (i.e., neural circuits) and functional (i.e., network activity) pathways.
- 4. Adaptation. While early-life adversity is undoubtedly a major risk factor for adult pathologies, not all alterations resulting from early-life stress may be detrimental. Mounting evidence suggests that at least some of the molecular, structural or functional consequences of early-life stress exposure are adaptive and may increase individual resilience to similar challenges later on. Future studies will therefore also address how the observed alterations affect vulnerability or resilience to additional challenges in adulthood.

In short, we hope this collection will provide new perspectives and stimulate studies on the molecular mechanisms of early-life stress and brain development.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XW and MS wrote the manuscript.

Chen, Y., and Baram, T. Z. (2016). Toward understanding how early-life stress reprograms cognitive and emotional brain networks. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 41, 197–206. doi: 10.1038/npp. 2015.181

- Gross, C., and Hen, R. (2004). The developmental origins of anxiety. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 5, 545–552. doi: 10.1038/nrn1429
- Gross, C. M., Flubacher, A., Tinnes, S., Heyer, A., Scheller, M., Herpfer, I., et al. (2012). Early life stress stimulates hippocampal reelin gene expression in a sexspecific manner: evidence for corticosterone-mediated action. *Hippocampus* 22, 409–420. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20907
- Howes, O. D., and Murray, R. M. (2014). Schizophrenia: an integrated sociodevelopmental-cognitive model. *Lancet* 383, 1677–1687. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62036-X
- Khalaf-Nazzal, R., and Francis, F. (2013). Hippocampal development old and new findings. *Neuroscience* 248, 225–242. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013. 05.061
- Liao, X. M., Yang, X. D., Jia, J., Li, J. T., Xie, X. M., Su, Y. A., et al. (2014). Blockade of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 attenuates early-life stressinduced synaptic abnormalities in the neonatal hippocampus. *Hippocampus* 24, 528–540. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22254
- Lucassen, P. J., Naninck, E. F., van Goudoever, J. B., Fitzsimons, C., Joels, M., and Korosi, A. (2013). Perinatal programming of adult hippocampal structure and function; emerging roles of stress, nutrition and epigenetics. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 621–631. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.08.002
- Suri, D., Veenit, V., Sarkar, A., Thiagarajan, D., Kumar, A., Nestler, E. J., et al. (2013). Early stress evokes age-dependent biphasic changes in hippocampal neurogenesis, BDNF expression, and cognition. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73, 658–666. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.10.023

- Tost, H., Champagne, F. A., and Meyer-Lindenberg, A. (2015). Environmental influence in the brain, human welfare and mental health. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 1421–1431. doi: 10.1038/nn.4108
- Wei, L., Hao, J., Lacher, R. K., Abbott, T., Chung, L., Colangelo, C. M., et al. (2015). Early-life stress perturbs key cellular programs in the developing mouse hippocampus. *Dev. Neurosci.* 37, 476–488. doi: 10.1159/000430861
- Wei, L., Simen, A., Mane, S., and Kaffman, A. (2012). Early life stress inhibits expression of a novel innate immune pathway in the developing hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 37, 567–580. doi: 10.1038/npp.2011.239
- Zhang, J., Miller, M. I., Plachez, C., Richards, L. J., Yarowsky, P., van Zijl, P., et al. (2005). Mapping postnatal mouse brain development with diffusion tensor microimaging. *Neuroimage* 26, 1042–1051. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.03.009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Wang and Schmidt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Early-life stress impacts the developing hippocampus and primes seizure occurrence: cellular, molecular, and epigenetic mechanisms

Li-Tung Huang^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Pediatrics, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Chang Gung University College of Medicine, Kaohsiung, Taiwan ² Department of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chang Gung University, Linkou, Taiwan

Edited by:

Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China

Reviewed by:

Mathias V. Schmidt, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Germany Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China Baojin Ding, University of Massachusetts Medical School, USA

*Correspondence:

Li-Tung Huang, Department of Pediatrics, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, 123 Ta-Pei Road, Niausung, Kaohsiung 833, Taiwan e-mail: huang_li@pie.com.tw; litung.huang@gmail.com Early-life stress includes prenatal, postnatal, and adolescence stress. Early-life stress can affect the development of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, and cause cellular and molecular changes in the developing hippocampus that can result in neurobehavioral changes later in life. Epidemiological data implicate stress as a cause of seizures in both children and adults. Emerging evidence indicates that both prenatal and postnatal stress can prime the developing brain for seizures and an increase in epileptogenesis. This article reviews the cellular and molecular changes encountered during prenatal and postnatal stress, and assesses the possible link between these changes and increases in seizure occurrence and epileptogenesis in the developing hippocampus. In addition, the priming effect of prenatal and postnatal stress for seizures and epileptogenesis is discussed. Finally, the roles of epigenetic modifications in hippocampus and HPA axis programming, early-life stress, and epileptog are discussed.

Keywords: early-life stress, epigenetic, epileptogenesis, hippocampus, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, prenatal stress, postnatal stress, seizure

INTRODUCTION

The early-life environment is one of the most important factors affecting life-long health (Anand, 2000; van den Bergh et al., 2005; Lupien et al., 2009; Boksa, 2010; Strüber et al., 2014). In humans, early-life stress is associated with a preterm birth and a low birth weight, and can prime the neonate for further complications later in life that include psychiatric disorders, aged-related cognitive dysfunction, obesity, and hypertension (Barker et al., 1989; Fowden et al., 2005; Lemaire et al., 2006; Lahiri et al., 2009; Strüber et al., 2014). Animal studies also suggest that exposure to stressors or steroids during early-life alter the programming of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, neurobehavior, and neuroimmune systems (Matthews, 2000; Mueller and Bale, 2008; Lupien et al., 2009; Brunton and Russell, 2010; Chen and Zhang, 2011; Lai and Huang, 2011; Strüber et al., 2014). Epigenetic modification has gained increasing attention in recent years because of its connection with early-life adversities (Weaver et al., 2004; Meaney et al., 2007; Mueller and Bale, 2008; Chen and Zhang, 2011; McClelland et al., 2011a,b; Murgatroyd and Spengler, 2011; Lucassen et al., 2013; Rabbe and Spengler, 2013). On the other hand, stress during development can have a significant epigenetic impact on the brain, and this relationship is bidirectional (Hunter, 2012).

Early-life stressors include prenatal, postnatal, and adolescence stress (Lupien et al., 2009; Schmidt, 2010). For example, in humans, early-life stress can include prenatal stressors such as exposure to exogenous glucocorticoids, maternal infection (King et al., 2005; Sørensen et al., 2009; Jenkins, 2013), and birth complications, as well as postnatal stressors such as exposure to exogenous glucocorticoids, maternal postpartum depression, loss of a parent, exposure to family conflict and violence, neglect, or physical maltreatment (De Bellis, 2002; King et al., 2005; Frodl et al., 2010). Both prenatal and postnatal stress can increase the likelihood of seizures in early life (Joels, 2009; Koe et al., 2009) and epileptogenesis in later life. This article focuses only on the influences of prenatal stress and postnatal stress.

HIPPOCAMPAL AND HPA AXIS DEVELOPMENT

The hippocampus develops primarily during the fetal period in both rodents and primates (Seress et al., 2001; Khalaf-Nazzal and Francis, 2013). The limbic system, which includes the hippocampus, amygdala, and anterior cingulate cortex are already formed during the third and fourth month. Dentate gyrus forms at late stages of embryogenesis, however small numbers of dentate gyrus cells are formed from mid-embyrogenesis making temporal matching and connectivity of cells from other hippocampal subfields (Deguchi et al., 2011). Rodents and primates differ in the timing at which the majority of the dentate granule cells are produced; however, both rodents and primates produce ~85% postnatally (Bayer, 1980a; Rakic and Nowakowski, 1981). A similar percentage of cornus ammonis (CA) 1-3 subfield neurons are produced during the last days of gestation in rodents, and during the first half of pregnancy in primates (Bayer, 1980b; Rakic and Nowakowski, 1981). The hippocampal subfields can be recognized with distinct molecular markers from embryonic stages (Khalaf-Nazzal and Francis, 2013).

In the rodent, maturation and full differentiation of the hippocampal formation takes place during early postnatal periods (Avishai-Eliner et al., 2002). During the first postnatal weeks, neuronal birth, differentiation, and migration are ongoing (Altman and Bayer, 1990; Gould and Cameron, 1996). Neurogenesis of granule cells peaks during the second week of life in rodents (Bayer, 1980a), and during the third month in humans (Seress et al., 2001). In addition, synaptogenesis and the establishment of enduring connectivity patterns continue for weeks in the rodent, and for years in humans (Avishai-Eliner et al., 2002).

Glucocorticoids are released from the adrenal glands in response to stress, readily cross the blood-brain barrier, and activate hippocampal glucocorticoids receptors (McEwen, 1998). Glucocorticoids interact with their receptors in multiple target tissues, especially the HPA axis. Glucocorticoids act via two intracellular receptors, the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) to regulate gene transcription. In addition, glucocorticoids can change neural function via rapid nongenomic actions. GR and MR differ in ligand affinity and distribution (de Kloet et al., 2005): GR has a lower affinity than MR has, and therefore are more frequently occupied when corticosterone levels increase (de Kloet et al., 2005). The actions of glucocorticoids depend on the functionality of the balance between GR and MR in the brain (de Kloet et al., 2005).

There is a distinct ontogenic profile for GR and MR in the fetal rat brain (Diaz et al., 1998). GR mRNA is present in the anterior hypothalamus, hippocampus, and pituitary by gestational day 13 (Diaz et al., 1998), whereas MR mRNA is present in the hippocampus by gestational day 16 and the hypothalamus by day 17 (Diaz et al., 1998). GR and MR in the rat fetal brain are low throughout gestation, but increase rapidly after birth, consistent with the postnatal development of the brain in the rat (Diaz et al., 1998).

During pregnancy, the mother's HPA axis undergoes major changes (Lindsay and Nieman, 2005). Cortisol secretion increases steadily through gestation (Jung et al., 2011); thus, the normal physiological responses to stressors and the cortisol awakening response (i.e., basal HPA activity) are attenuated (Lindsay and Nieman, 2005). For most of the pregnancy, the baby and mother share a common corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH)adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH)-cortisol axis (McLean et al., 1995).

By the end of the first week of life (Bohn et al., 1994; Vazquez et al., 1998), the number of MRs reaches adult levels. The number of GRs present during the first few week of life, however, is \sim 30% of adult levels, but approach adult levels after \sim 30 days of life. Both GR and MR are highly expressed in the developing brain, and have different and complex ontogenies that allow intricate brain development.

Between postnatal day 4 and 14, neonatal rat pups have low basal corticosterone levels and the corticosterone response to stressors is blunted, which constitutes the so-called stress hyporesponsive period (SHRP) (Levine, 2005). However, disruption of normal maternal behavior in rat during the SHRP can influence HPA axis development. In humans, the HPA axis is highly reactive and labile during early infancy, but organizes between 2 and 6 months of age through interactions between the infant and caregiver. The quality of caregiving that the infant receives predicts the infant's ability to self-regulate later in life. Sensitive caregiving is associated with

better self-regulatory abilities and optimal functioning of the child's HPA system (Gunnar and Cheatham, 2002; Gunnar and Donzella, 2002).

EFFECTS OF PRE-/POST-NATAL STRESS ON SEIZURE SUSCEPTIBILITY AND EPILEPTOGENESIS

Epileptogenesis is a process through which the normal brain develops epilepsy, and the hippocampus is implicated in the pathogenesis of both the initiation and propagation phases (Pitkänen and Lukasiuk, 2011). Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE), the most common focal intractable epilepsy, is thought to be a multi-stage process of increasing epileptogenesis commencing in early life. The ongoing process of epileptogenesis and the course of epilepsy might be negatively influenced by the stress associated with the disease itself (Joels, 2009; Sawyer and Escayg, 2010). As a result, a negative loop might occur in which stress promotes epileptogenesis in predisposed individuals or lowers seizure threshold in epilepsy patients, thereby increasing the likelihood of exposure to stress, which in turn exacerbates the disease. Epidemiological data implicate stress in the cause of epilepsy and seizures in both children and adults (Temkin and Davis, 1984; Swinkels et al., 1998; Bosnjak et al., 2002).

Stress is a natural factor that may exacerbate or trigger seizures (Novakova et al., 2013; van Campen et al., 2013). HPArelated stress hormones, especially glucocorticoid and CRH, can affect excitatory and inhibitory processes in brain areas that are critically involved in seizure generation. Glucocorticoid exposure can alter plasticity in the hippocampus through increasing extracellular glutamate levels and calcium conductance (either voltage- or ligand-gated), alter expression of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor subunits, and reduce glial uptake of glutamate, and thus, facilitate epileptiform discharges and seizures in animals. Glucocorticoids facilitate epileptiform discharges and seizures in animals. CRH is expressed in interneurons in both the developing and adult hippocampus and is released during stress (Sakanaka et al., 1987; Chen et al., 2001). Both glucocorticoids and CRH are important hormones that regulate the stress response and may contribute to seizure-induced loss of neurons, dendritic spines, and branching if it persists for a prolonged period (Ribak and Baram, 1996; Chen et al., 2012).

Negative life events and stress sensitivity are linked with childhood epilepsy (van Campen et al., 2012, 2013). In addition, epidemiological data implicate stress in the causation of epilepsy and seizures in children (Bosnjak et al., 2002). Specifically, early-life stress might create an enduring vulnerability to limbic epilepsy through altering glucocorticoids (Kumar et al., 2007), HPA axis (Joels, 2009), CRH (Baram and Hatalski, 1998), inflammation (Vezzani et al., 2013), membrane receptors such as gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA) (Reddy, 2013), NMDA (Olney et al., 1991), and 2-amino-3-(3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazol-4-yl) propionic acid (AMPA) receptors and neurotransmission (Rogawski, 2013), cellular electrophysiology, such as long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (Blaise et al., 2008), limbic area structures (Wong and Guo, 2013), and neuronal cell proliferation and neurogenesis (McCabe et al., 2001).

PHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS BY WHICH PRE-/POST-NATAL STRESS AFFECTS THE DEVELOPING HIPPOCAMPUS

PRENATAL STRESS

Glucocorticoid hormones

During pregnancy, women have naturally elevated levels of cortisol. In general, normal glucocorticoid concentrations are essential for the development of several organs, including the central nervous system. Prenatal stress or synthetic glucocorticoid administration exposes the fetus to high glucocorticoid levels, which leads to downregulation of GR in the hippocampus, attenuation of negative feedback for the HPA axis, and enhanced HPA axis activity (Reul and de Kloet, 1985; Harris and Seckl, 2011).

Placental CRH

In humans, placental CRH activity is modulated by the maternal HPA axis (Wadhwa et al., 1998). Placental CRH concentration is a significant predictor of spontaneous preterm birth (Glynn et al., 2001; Sandman et al., 2006) and intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) (Wadhwa et al., 2004), and can influence hippocampal development in the fetus. Prenatal stress activates the maternal HPA axis, which increases placental CRH production and its subsequent release into the bloodstream. A positive feed-forward loop between cortisol and placental CRH indicates that prenatal stress leads to progressively higher fetal plasma CRH levels. Placental CRH may penetrate the blood-brain barrier of the fetus, and subsequently influence both the function and the integrity of the hippocampus (Kastin and Akerstrom, 2002), presumably by activating CRH receptors (Sandman et al., 1999; Wadhwa et al., 2001).

Placental 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (11β-HSD2)

The placenta is an effective barrier between the maternal and fetal hormonal environments in humans, being rich in 11β-HSD2, which converts cortisol to inactive cortisone (Benediktsson et al., 1997). Downregulation of placental 11β-HSD 2 increases glucocorticoid exposure for the placenta and fetus. Maternal stress not only increases her own circulating cortisol, it also reduces the expression and activity of 11β-HSD 2 in the placenta, leaving the fetus less protected (Avishai-Eliner et al., 2002; Mairesse et al., 2007). Moreover, inhibition of 11β-HSD2 might contribute to low birth weight, IUGR, and pregnancy disorders such as preterm birth and preeclampsia (Causevic and Mohaupt, 2007; Michael and Papageorghiou, 2008).

Impaired uterine blood flow

The impact of maternal anxiety on fetal blood flow can be determined by using ultrasound to measure the blood flow pattern in the uterine arteries. Sjostrom et al. found that, at 37–40 gestational weeks, mothers with high-trait anxiety scores had fetuses with higher indices of blood flow in the umbilical artery, and lower values in the fetal middle cerebral artery, suggesting a change in blood distribution that favored brain circulation (Sjöström et al., 1997).

POSTNATAL STRESS

CRH

CRH is expressed in hippocampal interneurons and is released from axon terminals during stress. CRH is produced in several populations of cells in the developing hippocampus, such as Cajal-Retzius cells, and is involved in the maturation of hippocampal circuitry (Chen et al., 2001).

Chronic early-life stress, which was imposed by creating "simulated poverty" in the cage, resulted in cognitive problems and dendritic atrophy with loss of dendritic spines and synapses (Brunson et al., 2005). Many of the persistent effects of earlylife stress are reversible with subsequent treatment with a CRH receptor 1 (CRHR₁) antagonist (Fenoglio et al., 2005). Adult mice lacking CRHR₁ in the forebrain were relatively resistant to the deleterious effects of chronic stress of social defeat (Wang et al., 2011a). Interestingly, the local deletion of CRHR₁ also protected adult mice from the adverse effects of chronic early-life stress on learning and memory (Wang et al., 2011b). Infusion of CRHR1 antagonists immediately following this early-life stress prevented the learning and memory deficits, rescued LTP, and restored the integrity of the dendritic structure (Ivy et al., 2010). These findings provide direct evidence for a need for CRH-CRHR₁ signaling in the persistent effects of chronic early-life stress on hippocampal synapses. In this regard, Karsten and Baram propose that early-life experience can result in persistently altered regulation of CRH expression, which provides the neurobiological substrate to subsequent stress and some adult psychopathology (Karsten and Baram, 2013). In line with the preclinical data, single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the CRHR₁gene protect against depression in individuals exposed to childhood maltreatment (Tyrka et al., 2009).

Glucocorticoid hormones

Glucocorticoids are released from the adrenal glands in response to stress, readily cross the blood-brain barrier, and activate hippocampal glucocorticoids receptors (McEwen, 1998). Schmidt et al. demonstrated that glucocorticoid excess during the SHRP has only limited consequences on the adult behavioral phenotype (Schmidt et al., 2002). In addition, glucocorticoid administration early in life does not reproduce the effects of stress on hippocampal function and integrity when given in a non-stressful manner (Leverenz et al., 1999). Together, glucocorticoids play a minor role, and other factors may contribute more to the mechanisms by which early-life stress influences hippocampal development and function throughout life.

PRENATAL STRESS

Prenatal stress is an important programming factor in brain development and function. A recent cross-sectional study indicated that 6% of pregnant women reported high levels of psychological stress during their pregnancies that resulted from conditions including depression, panic disorder, or domestic violence (Woods et al., 2009). Talge et al. reviewed several prospective studies related to prenatal maternal stress, and found a substantial number of emotional/behavioral problems in children, including attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, anxiety, and language delay, that were attributed to prenatal stress or anxiety in \sim 15% of the subjects (Talge et al., 2007).

CELLULAR AND MOLECULAR ALTERATIONS IN THE DEVELOPING HIPPOCAMPUS THAT MAY LINK PRENATAL STRESS TO SEIZURE AND EPILEPTOGENESIS

GLUCOCORTICOID AND CRH AND HPA AXIS

The density of hippocampal GRs was lower by \sim 50% in prenatal stress female offspring; however, no difference was observed between prenatally stressed and control males (Szuran et al., 2000). This female-specific decrease in hippocampal GRs was also shown by Weinstock et al. (1992).

Szuran et al. restrained pregnant rat dams for 30 min/day during gestational days 15–19. Prenatally stressed females had higher basal corticosterone levels (Szuran et al., 2000). Exposure to exogenous glucocorticoids during the last week of gestation increased basal and stress-induced plasma corticosterone levels in adult rats (Seckl, 2004) and attenuated the HPA axis response (Seckl, 2004; Welberg and Seckl, 2001). Endogenous glucocorticoids mediated some of the changes in HPA responsiveness in prenatally stressed offspring, both in rodents and primates (Matthews, 2000).

INFLAMMATION

Restrained pregnant mice dam offspring showed increased interleukin-1 β and tumor necrosis factor- α level in the hippocampus, increased interleukin-1 β immunoreactive microglial cells, and increased activated microglia. In addition, systemic administration of lipopolysaccharide induced a significant increase in tumor necrosis factor- α in the hippocampus of only prenatally stressed mice but not non-stressed animals (Diz-Chaves et al., 2012, 2013).

MEMBRANE RECEPTORS AND NEUROTRANSMITTER

Maternal immune activation caused reduced basal neurotransmission of dopamine and glutamate, as well as reduced levels of the inhibitory transmitter GABA, within the hippocampus (Bitanihirwe et al., 2010). Prenatal stress also reduced the expression and activity of metabotropic glutamate receptor 5, which is implicated in the regulation of synaptic plasticity and neurogenesis in the hippocampus of male rats (Morley-Fletcher et al., 2011).

CELLULAR ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY

A significant downregulation of hippocampal genes also was reported in 23-day-old female rats whose mothers were stressed from gestational days 17–21 (Bogoch et al., 2007). This included presynaptic voltage-gated Ca²⁺ type P/Q and several K⁺ channels that regulate the neuron membrane potential and suggests a potential decrease in the excitability of newly formed synapses.

SPINE AND DENDRITE AND CELL MORPHOLOGY

Hayashi and colleagues reported that rats exposed to prenatal stress had a significant 32% reduction in synaptic density within the hippocampal CA3 area, as measured on postnatal day 35 (Hayashi et al., 1998). Lemaire et al. (2000) reported a reduction in the number of granule cells within the hippocampal dentate gyrus of prenatally stressed rats measured 28 days postnatally.

NEURONAL CELL PROLIFERATION AND NEUROGENESIS

In male mice, prolonged prenatal stress decreased cell proliferation in the hippocampus by 60% on postnatal day 10 (Kawamura et al., 2006). In another experimental paradigm, daily maternal restraint during the last week of gestation resulted in deficits of hippocampal neurogenesis (Lemaire et al., 2006). The relationship between prenatal stress and neurogenesis is complicated and depends on the stressor type, sex, and environment. Prenatal stress seems to have both enhancing and suppressing effects on the development of hippocampal neurons in a stressor intensitydependent manner (Fujioka et al., 2006). Fujioka et al. reported that short-lasting (i.e., 30 min, once daily, between gestation days 15-17) and mild prenatal stress seemed to enhance neonatal neurogenesis, facilitate LTP, and the differentiation of processes of hippocampal neurons, whereas long-lasting (i.e., 240 min, once daily, between gestation days 15-17) and severe prenatal stress impaired their morphology.

EFFECTS OF PRENATAL STRESS ON SEIZURE SUSCEPTIBILITY AND EPILEPTOGENESIS

Beck and Gavin treated pregnant mice with beta-2-thienylalanine solvent or a sham injection on gestational days 10-12. Audiogenic seizures were tested on postnatal day 23. An increase in audiogenic seizure frequencies were observed in injected mice, irrespective of the nature of the injected substance. This finding suggested that the act of manipulation, rather than the test substance, caused stress and increased seizure propensity (Beck and Gavin, 1976). Frye and Bayon exposed rats to 20 min of restraint stress toward the end of their pregnancy (Frye and Bayon, 1999). They found that the prenatally stressed offspring had more partial seizures and tonic-clonic seizures with long durations than did control rats. Edwards et al. examined how stress exposure at different times during gestation might affect later limbic system excitability and the propensity to develop epilepsy (Edwards et al., 2002). Pregnant dams were restrained under bright light for 45 min, three times a day during either early gestation (gestational days 5–12) or mid-late gestation (gestational days 12–20). Offspring of the stressed dams were then tested as an infant at postnatal day 10 or as adults, and were compared with offspring from non-stressed dams. Outcome measures assessed were the stimulation-induced seizure threshold, after-discharge threshold, and the rate of seizure development using electrical hippocampal kindling. Both prenatal stressors significantly lowered afterdischarge threshold in pups, but this effect appeared to diminish by adulthood in the early gestational stress group. In addition, mid to late gestational stress accelerated kindling rates in all infant offspring and in adult males, but had no effect in adult female rats. Notably, Young et al. administered dexamethasone or betamethasone on gestational days 15-18, and tested the seizure threshold and kindling parameters (Young et al., 2006). They found prenatal betamethasone treatment increased seizure threshold for both models. Prenatal dexamethasone treatment increased kindling threshold, but not seizure threshold. Kindling rate was unaffected by either glucocorticoid treatment (Young et al., 2006). Velisek showed prenatal exposure to betamethasone decreased postnatal susceptibility to flurothyl-induced clonic seizures but not to kainic acid-induced seizures. Prenatal hydrocortisone decreased postnatal weight but did not affect seizure susceptibility (Velíšek, 2011). In their subsequent work, Yum et al. demonstrated that prenatal restraint stress (2×45 min) in rats on gestational day 15 would increase susceptibility to spasms on postnatal day 15 (Yum et al., 2012).

Shang et al. showed an association between the onset risk of infantile spasms and the degree of maternal stress (Shang et al., 2010). However, in a population-based cohort study in Denmark, Li et al. studied children who were hospitalized because of epilepsy and born to women who had lost a close relative during pregnancy 1 year before pregnancy (Li et al., 2008). In this study, no association was found between this particular form of prenatal stress and the risk of epilepsy.

Indirect evidence links prenatal stress and an increased likelihood of childhood seizures in children with autistic disorder. Minshew et al. pointed out that epilepsy is found in about onethird of patients with autistic disorder, a disorder related to prenatal stress (Kinney et al., 2008), compared with a prevalence of only 2–3% in the general population (Minshew et al., 2005). **Table 1** summarizes the current rodent studies regarding the impact of prenatal stress on seizure occurrence and epileptogenesis.

POSTNATAL STRESS

Early-life adversity (childhood abuse and neglect, loss of parents, or extreme poverty) occurs worldwide and are all too common in the lives of children (Jones, 2008; Sandberg and Rutter, 2008). In the Dunedin Study birth cohort of 1037 children, followed prospectively for 32 years, maltreatment includes maternal rejection, harsh discipline, sexual abuse, physical abuse, and disruptive caregiver changes (Danese et al., 2009). For each child, the cumulative index counts the number of maltreatment indicators experienced during the first decade of life; 63.7% of children experienced no maltreatment, 26.7% experienced one form of maltreatment, and 9.6% experienced two or more forms of maltreatment (Danese et al., 2009). Clinical evidence from lifecourse epidemiology study points to the importance of early life experiences in shaping adult disease (Poulton et al., 2010).

CELLULAR AND MOLECULAR ALTERATIONS IN THE DEVELOPING HIPPOCAMPUS THAT MAY LINK POSTNATAL STRESS TO SEIZURE AND EPILEPTOGENESIS

GLUCOCORTICOID AND CRH AND HPA AXIS

A 24-h maternal separation paradigm in 11-day-old rat pups can lead to a decrease in the expression of GR and MR mRNA in the hippocampus (van Oers et al., 1998). Likewise, expression levels of GR and MR are down regulated in the hippocampus of maternally separated mice on postnatal day 9 (Schmidt et al., 2002). In addition, neonatal infection in mice led to altered hippocampal GR and MR mRNA, as well as proteins, following a subsequent adult infection (Wynne et al., 2011).

Wang et al. demonstrated that early postnatal life stress impairs hippocampus-dependent spatial learning and memory in adult mice, and is associated with physiological, morphological, and molecular abnormalities in the hippocampus (Wang et al., 2011a,b). Impairments of spatial learning and memory in early postnatal life stress are recapitulated by forebrain CRH overexpression and attenuated by forebrain CRHR₁ inactivation. This suggests the forebrain CRH-CRHR₁ system is crucial for modulating and programming cognitive functions by early-life stress (Wang et al., 2011a,b).

INFLAMMATION

In rat, maternal separation on postnatal day 9 caused increased hippocampal interleukin-1 receptor in male offspring (Viviani et al., 2014). In the hippocampus, a decrease in BDNF mRNA and an increase in interleukin-1 β mRNA were observed in rats with a neonatal infection and an immune challenge in adults (Bilbo et al., 2008).

MEMBRANE RECEPTORS AND NEUROTRANSMITTER

Maternal separation on postnatal day 9 decreased the levels of the AMPA receptor GluA1 and GluA2 subunits, altered NMDA receptor subunits GluN2B to GluN2A ratio, and increased interleukin-1 receptor interactions with GluN2B at the synapse of male hippocampal neurons (Viviani et al., 2014). This mechanism is part of a complex re-organization of the excitatory glutamatar-gic synapses. Hsu et al. reported two episodes of handling with maternal separation during early postnatal development resulted in long-term changes in postsynaptic GABA receptor function and subunit expression in hippocampal dentate gyrus (Hsu et al., 2003).

CELLULAR ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY

Maternal separation prevented the stress-induced transformation from early to late LTP in the dentate gyrus of adult male rats (Wang et al., 2013b). However, maternal separation for 24 h on postnatal day 3 facilitated LTP in the dentate gyrus after an acute stress (Oomen et al., 2010).

SPINE AND DENDRITE AND CELL MORPHOLOGY

An altered granule cell dendritic morphology (Oomen et al., 2010), a lower number of hippocampal neurons and glia (Leventopoulos et al., 2007; Fabricius et al., 2008), and a reduced mossy fiber density (Hout et al., 2002) have been reported following maternal separation (Rodenas-Ruano et al., 2012). Wang et al. demonstrated that postnatally stressed adult mice had decreased hippocampal nectin-3 levels and dendritic spine loss via CRH mechanism (Wang et al., 2013a).

NEURONAL CELL PROLIFERATION AND NEUROGENESIS

Maternal separation for 180 min leads to an increase in cell proliferation on postnatal day 21 (Nair et al., 2007); however, in 2- to 7-month-old rats, cell proliferation was reduced (Mirescu et al., 2004; Oomen et al., 2010; Hulshof et al., 2011).

Maternal separation for 24 h on postnatal day 3 increases hippocampal neurogenesis (Oomen et al., 2009). Similar to cell proliferation, early stress is associated with distinct consequences on hippocampal neurogenesis that manifest in a temporally regulated manner, i.e., enhanced in young adulthood and impaired in middle-aged (Suri et al., 2013).

EFFECTS OF POSTNATAL STRESS ON SEIZURE SUSCEPTIBILITY AND EPILEPTOGENESIS

Edwards et al. investigated the effects of maternal separation on kindling epileptogenesis utilizing a relatively benign separation

Author	Manipulation in prenatal life	Endpoint test of seizure threshold or epileptogenesis	Outcome measurements	Conclusions/implications
Beck and Gavin, 1976	Pregnant dams received beta-2-theinylalanine or solvent on GDs 10–12 Control: unhandled mice	Audiogenic seizures on PND 23	Increased seizure frequencies in injected mice, irrespective of the nature of the injected substance	Prenatal stress increased seizure susceptibility in young age
Frye and Bayon, 1999	Maternal restraint stress of mother for 20 min on GD 18 Control: no restraint stress rats	Adult gonadectomized offspring were administered 3 alpha, 5 alpha-THP 1 h prior to testing for kainic acid-induced seizures	Increased seizure production and longer duration in stressed offspring Lower dose of 3 alpha, 5 alpha-THP was effective in reducing seizure duration in control females Higher dose of 3 alpha, 5 alpha-THP was needed to reduce seizure duration in prenatally stressed females and males	Prenatal stress decreases neurosteroid's anti-seizure capability. Effects are sex-dependent
Edwards et al., 2002	Midde restraint stress (45 min, 3×/day, GDs 5–12) Late restraint stress (45 min, 3×/day, GDs 12–20)	ADT and Hippocampus kindling on PND 14 or in adults	Lowered ADT on PND 14 infant rat offspring in both early and late gestation stressed rats. Increased kindling rate in infant and adult male offsprings of middle and late gestation stress, but not in females. No effect on ADT	Prenatal stress, in particular during the latter half of gestation, increases seizure vulnerability in the unborn offspring. The offspring appear most susceptible to seizure development during the infantile period, but some effects persist into adulthood particularly in males
Young et al., 2006	Pregnant dams received once daily injections with dexamethasone (0.2 mg/kg/day) or betamethasone (0.2 mg/kg/day) between GDs 15–18	Seizure thresholds were determined on PND 14 using electroconvulsive shock. Hippocampus kindling on PNDs 14–15	Prenatal betamethasone increased seizure threshold for both models. Prenatal dexamethasone increased kindling threshold, but not electroconvulsive shock threshold. Kindling rate was unaffected by either prenatal glucocorticoid	Prenatal repeated glucocorticoid treatments raised seizure thresholds and reduced seizure vulnerability, seemingly "favorable"
Velíšek, 2011	Pregnant dams received hydrocortisone (2 × 10 mg/kg) or betamethasone (2 × 0.4 mg/kg) on GD 15	Seizures induced by flurothyl or kainic acid on PND 15	Prenatal exposure to betamethasone decreased postnatal susceptibility to flurothyl-induced clonic seizures but not to kainic acid-induced seizures. Prenatal hydrocortisone did not affect seizure susceptibility	Prenatal exposure to glucocorticoids on seizure susceptibility may be seizure syndrome specific
Yum et al., 2012	Prenatal restraint stress (2 × 45 min) GD 15	Development- specific spasms triggered by NMDA on PND 15	Prenatal stress significantly accelerated onset and increased number of NMDA-triggered spasms	Prenatal stress may enhance susceptibility to develop triggered spasms in infant rats. This finding is similar to increased risk for development of infantile spasms in children of mothers with gestational stress

Table 1 | Summary of rodent studies investigating effects of prenatal stress in rodent models of epilepsy/epileptogenesis.

ADT, afterdischarge threshold; GD, gestational day; NMDA, N-methyl-Daspartate 3 alpha; PND, postnatal day; 5 alpha-THP, 5 alpha pregnan-3 alpha-ol-20-one.

protocol that included 60 min on postnatal days 4 and 5 (Edwards et al., 2002). The comparison group included the other littermates, which were briefly handled but not removed from the mother. This postnatal manipulation had no effect on afterdischarge threshold or rapid hippocampal kindling rates when assessed at 2 weeks of age.

To investigate the effects of maternal separation on the longterm consequences of early-life status epilepticus, Lai et al. tested whether maternal separation for 1 h affected the long-term sequelae of emotional disorders following seizure early in life (Lai et al., 2006). Lai et al. used maternal separation that involved 1 h of isolation daily during postnatal days 2 and 9, and used lithium-pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus on postnatal day 10 rats. As adults, anxiety-related behavior was assessed using the elevated plus maze test and seizure susceptibility was assessed by pentylenetetrazol-induced seizures. Rats exposed to maternal separation and seizures demonstrated a reduced pentylenetetrazol threshold for seizure induction compared to non-handled rats or rats exposed to isolation or seizure alone. Metyrapone (a corticosterone synthesis inhibitor) treatment prior to seizure did not reverse this enhanced excitability, indicating a partial role of glucocorticoids in this context. Salzberg et al. examined the effects of maternal separation on limbic excitability and the development of amygdala kindling (Salzberg et al., 2007). Postnatal stress was induced by separating pups from their mothers for 180 min daily from postnatal days 2-14. The comparison condition was mother and pup separation for 15 min per day over the same period, an exposure referred to as early handling. At 8 weeks of age, equivalent to young adult life, rats were tested for the after-discharge threshold and subjected to rapid amygdala kindling. Rats exposed to early-life stress exhibited significantly lower seizure thresholds and an accelerated rate of kindling, compared to early handled rats. These effects on limbic excitability and epileptogenesis were specifically observed in female rats, whereas males did not demonstrate changes in epilepsy outcomes, despite demonstrating increases in anxiety-like behavior. Using the rat amygdala-kindling model, Kumar et al. demonstrated that early-life stress induced by maternal separation accelerates the progression of focal limbic seizures to secondary generalized convulsive seizures in adult rats (Kumar et al., 2011). Desgent et al. used a two-hit model of TLE characterized by two early-life insults: a freeze lesion-induced cortical malformation on postnatal day 1, and a prolonged hyperthermic seizure on postnatal day 10 (Desgent et al., 2012). They demonstrated that after both insults, females did not develop MTLE while all males did. This correlated with a rise in corticosterone levels on postnatal day 1 following the lesion, but only in males. Their data demonstrated sexual dimorphism in the long-term vulnerability for developing epilepsy in the lesion plus hyperthermia animal model of MTLE, and suggested that the response to early-life stress at postnatal day 1 contributed significantly to epileptogenesis in a sex-specific manner (Desgent et al., 2012). Ali et al. demonstrated changes in firing patterns in thalamocortical and hippocampal regions resulting from both maternal separation and amygdala kindling, which might reflect cellular changes underlying the enhanced vulnerability to kindling in rats that had been exposed to early-life stress (Ali et al., 2013).

Similarly, Leussis and Heinrichs cross-fostered El pups to CD-1 dams because CD-1 dams exhibit a higher quality of maternal care than El dams. El pups raised by CD-1 dams experienced delayed seizure onset and reduced seizure frequency, suggesting that early-life environment can play an important role in shaping the adult seizure phenotype (Leussis and Heinrichs, 2009). It should be noted the El mouse model has not been verified for its effect on early-life stress. In addition, El pups raised in a biparental environment with both the El dam and sire attending the pups received more parental attention than El pups raised by only the El dam, yet they showed an earlier development of seizures (Orefice and Heinrichs, 2008). Together, early-life environment can interact with a genetic predisposition to shape the future seizure phenotype.

Van Campen et al. studied the effect of stress on seizure frequency in childhood epilepsy. They found stress sensitivity was reported in half of the children with epilepsy. They suggested that experiencing negative life events might cause a larger response to daily stressors, thereby increasing the likelihood to induce epileptic activity in childhood (van Campen et al., 2012). **Table 2** summarizes the current rodent studies regarding the impacts of postnatal stress upon seizure occurrence and epileptogenesis.

EPIGENETIC MODIFICATIONS IN DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMING AND THE EFFECTS OF STRESS

Epigenetic modifications regulate gene expression without altering the DNA sequence. Epigenetic changes involve DNA methylation at cytosine-guanine sequences-CpG sites, histone posttranslational modifications (histone methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, sumoylation, and propionylation), and microRNAs (Gräff et al., 2011). Epigenetic mechanisms control nucleosome spacing and how they are condensed, which subsequently determines gene activity. Briefly, chromatin exists in an inactivated and condensed state (heterochromatin) that prevents gene transcription, but when activated to an open state (euchromatin), genes can be transcribed.

It is now clear in both humans and animals that glucocorticois and stress have a significant epigenetic impact, and the relationship between the stress response and epigenetics in the brain is bidirectional (Hunter, 2012). Epigenetic alterations have become especially attractive to researchers in recent years, as increasing evidence indicates that they can be induced by physical and social exposure early in life (Meaney et al., 2007). For some neurobiological disorders, exposure to environmental agents during early developmental stages can epigenetically disturb gene regulation in a long-term manner and cause significant pathological manifestations later in life. This process is the latent early-life associated regulation model by Lahiri et al. (2009).

Epigenetic dysregulation has been associated with prenatal IUGR and disease in both humans and rodents (Baserga et al., 2007, 2010; Friso et al., 2008). Prenatal stress can cause increased DNA methylation in the frontal cortex and hippocampus (Mychasiuk et al., 2011; Matrisciano et al., 2013) and a lower DNA methyltransferase 3a immunoreactivity in the dentate gyrus in offspring (Sierksma et al., 2013).

Author	Manipulation in postnatal life	Endpoint test of seizure threshold or epileptogenesis	Outcome measurements	Conclusions/implications
Edwards et al., 2002	Maternal separation (1 h/day, PNDs 4–5) Control: non-stressed littermates	ADT and Hippocampus kindling on PND 14	No effect on ADT or kindling rate	Postnatal stress has no effect on infant seizure susceptibility
Lai et al., 2006	Maternal separation (1 h/day, PNDs 2–9) and SE induced by lithium-pilocarpine Control: normal rearing and SE induced by lithium-pilocarpine	pentylenetetrazole- induced seizures at PND 100	Prolonged seizure duration and reduced seizure threshold following early life SE in stressed rats	Early life stress increases the vulnerability to seizures in adulthood
Salzberg et al., 2007	Maternal separation (180 min/day, PNDs 2–14) Control: EH (separation 15 min/day, PNDs 2–14)	Rapid amygdala kindling on ~PND 56	Stress female rats had increased kindling rate and reduced seizure threshold; no differences in male	Early life stress contributes to epileptogenesis. Effects are sex-dependent
Orefice and Heinrichs, 2008	Amount of parental care between PNDs 2–21 on genetically susceptible El mouse seizure emergence	HISS test on PNDs 80–90	HISS testing of adult El offspring revealed a deleterious effect of biparental rearing as a second care provider is a stressor in El pups	Early life stress increased seizure suscebtibility in adult El mice
Leussis and Heinrichs, 2009	Cross-fostering genetically susceptible El pups to a seizure-resistant CD-1 mothers	HISS test on PNDs 80–90	cfos hypoactivity in hippocampus and cortex on PNDs 35–40 as a result of HISS. El mice offspring with improved maternal care showed delayed onset of HISS-induced seizure susceptibility on PNDs 80–90	Increased maternal care in genetically susceptible EI mouse may have prophylactic benefits for neural plasticity and adult seizure susceptibility
Kumar et al., 2011	Maternal separation (180 min/day, PNDs 2–14) Control: EH (separation 15 min/day, PNDs 2–14)	Rapid amygdala kindling on ∼PND 56	Stress rats has accelerating kindling rates, enhanced corticosterone response to kindled seizure, decreased hippocampal pyramidal cell numbers, and enhanced kindling-induced neurogenesis in adulthood	Alternations of hippocampal pyramidal cell neurogenesis are candidate mechanisms that early life stress promotes vulnerability to epileptogenesis. Effects are sex dependent
Desgent et al., 2012	Two early life insults: a freeze lesion-induced cortical malformation at PND 1 and a hyperthermic seizure at PND 10	Video-EEG from PND 90 to 120	Increased susceptibility to PND 10 hyperthermia-induced convulsion in PND 1 lesioned rat. Two hits in females did not develop mesial temporal lobe epilepsy while all males did	Early life stress contributes to epileptogenesis. Effects are sex-dependent
Ali et al., 2013	Maternal separation (180 min/day, PNDs 2–14) Control: EH (separation 15 min/day, PNDs 2–14)	Amygdala kindling	Hippocampus: stress rats had more % APs firing in burst	Sress rats had enduring alterations in the firing patterns of neurons in the hippocampus that may underlie the increased vulnerability to limbic epileptogenesis

Table 2 | Summary of rodent studies investigating effects of postnatal stress in rodent models of epilepsy/epileptogenesis.

ADT, afterdischarge threshold; APs, action potentils; EEG, electroencephalogram; EH, early handling; HISS, handling-induced seizure susceptibility; PND, postnatal day; SE, status epilepticus.

Variations in maternal care in the rat result in differences in hippocampal development and synaptic plasticity in the offspring (Macrì and Würbel, 2006). Observational studies provide evidence for two forms of maternal behaviors during the first week of lactation: licking/grooming (LG) and the arched-back nursing (ABN) posture (Liu et al., 1997; Francis et al., 1999). In the rat, the adult offspring of high LG-ABN mothers show increased hippocampal GR expression and enhanced glucocorticoid feedback sensitivity compared to animals reared by low LG-ABN mothers (Liu et al., 1997; Francis et al., 1999). In addition, adult offspring of high LG-ABN mothers exhibited modest HPA stress responses compared to animals reared by low LG-ABN mothers (Menard and Hakvoort, 2007). In hippocampus, offspring from high LG-ABN mothers had hypomethylation of CpG dinucleotides in the exon 17 GR promoter sequence, and increased histone acetylation that might account for higher transcription of the GR gene (Weaver et al., 2004). The maternal effect is mediated by enhanced serotonergic activity and an increased expression of NGFI-A, which binds the exon 17 GR promoter sequence (Weaver et al., 2007). Cross-fostering experiments showed a causal relationship between maternal care and changes in the exon 17 GR promoter methylation (Weaver et al., 2005, 2006).

EPIGENETIC MODIFICATION IS A SHARED PATHOGENIC SUBSTRATE OF BOTH EARLY-LIFE STRESS AND EPILEPSY

As stated above, epigenetic modifications underpin the programming effects of early-life stress. Interestingly, a wealth of evidence indicates that dysregulation of epigenetic mechanisms occurs in several human epilepsy syndromes. Epigenetic mechanisms can influence the acute deployment of genes resulting from seizures themselves or can have gradual effects on the steady-state expression profile of candidate genes that persist into epilepsy. Epigenetic modifications can affect seizure and epilepsy in several ways (Lubin, 2012; Roopra et al., 2012).

Firstly, histone acetylation is involved in epileptogenesis in human epilepsy patients. Seizure activity results in gene expression changes, including alterations in mRNA levels for glutamate receptor 2 and BDNF, the two well-characterized epileptogenesisrelated genes. Of interest, histone acetyltransferase-mediated increases in histone acetylation levels at the promoter regions of the glutamate receptor 2 and BDNF genes have been shown to correlate with their gene expression changes following seizures in an experimental animal model (Huang et al., 2002b).

Secondly, DNA methylation has been highlighted as a component of the methylation hypothesis of epileptogenesis (Kobow and Blumcke, 2011). DNA methyltransferase enzymes 1 and 3a specifically, were increased in neurons from the temporal neocortices of 25 MTLE patients (Zhu et al., 2012). Using a rat model of MTLE, Williams-Karnesky et al. identified an increase in hippocampal DNA methylation that correlates with an increased DNA methyltransferase activity, disruption of adenosine homeostasis, and spontaneous recurrent seizures. To test the effects of adenosine, they used bioengineered silk implants to deliver a defined dose of adenosine over 10 days to the brains of epileptic rats (Williams-Karnesky et al., 2013). Adenosine implants reversed DNA hypermethylation seen in the epileptic brain, inhibited sprouting of mossy fibers in the hippocampus, and prevented the progression of epilepsy for at least 3 months (Williams-Karnesky et al., 2013).



Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience

Thirdly, transcription factors are involved in epileptogenesis in human epilepsy patients. Repressor element-1 silencing transcription factor and neuronal restrictive silencer factor serve to repress gene expression through dynamic recruitment of epigenetic complexes (Qureshi and Mehler, 2009). Of interest, repressor element-1 silencing transcription has been implicated in the regulation of several epileptogenesis specific factors, including growth factors, neurotransmitter receptors, ion channels, circuit excitability, and neurogenesis (Huang et al., 1999; McClelland et al., 2011a,b; Roopra et al., 2012).

Fourthly, methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 can regulate neuronal activity and is itself controlled by activity (Roopra et al., 2012).

Taken together, early-life stress can prime seizure occurrence and increases epileptogenesis. In addition, epigenetic modification is a shared pathogenic substrate of early-life stress and epilepsy.

COEXISTENCE OF EARLY-LIFE STRESS AND EARLY-LIFE SEIZURES

Seizure is one of the most common pediatric emergencies, with the highest incidence in the first year of life. Animal studies have demonstrated early-life seizures differ from adult seizures by the seizure behaviors, the electroencephalogram features, and their consequences. Notwithstanding the higher susceptibility to seizures, the immature brain is less vulnerable to seizure-induced injuries than the mature brain (Dube et al., 2001; Holmes and Ben-Ari, 2001; Huang et al., 2012). However, under some circumstances seizure in the immature brain can cause permanent brain damage (Dube et al., 2006).

For humans, most early-life seizures occur in premature and sick neonates (Scher et al., 1993; Miller et al., 2002; Scher, 2003) who are hospitalized and separated from their mothers, and thus, under stress (Field, 1994; Anand, 2000). Reciprocally, early-life stress may prime the occurrence of seizures and act via glucocorticoids, thereby potentiating the excitotoxic effects of concurrent neurological insults (Sapolsky, 1996), such as seizure (Huang et al., 2002a; Lai et al., 2006).

As stated above, early-life stress can prime the seizure occurrence and subsequent epileptogenesis. Currently, more attention is being paid to the effect of early-life stress on adult-onset seizure; however, little work has focused on the effect of early-life stress on the early-life seizure (Beck and Gavin, 1976; Edwards et al., 2002; Lai et al., 2006; Young et al., 2006; Velíšek, 2011; Yum et al., 2012). Indeed, to study the coexistence of early-life stress and early-life seizures is of both experimental and clinical importance.

THE CONCEPT OF DEVELOPMENT ORIGINS OF HEALTH AND DISEASE (DOHaD)

Barker et al. noted that low birth weight was associated with an increased risk of adverse outcomes in adulthood, such as coronary heart disease, stroke, high blood pressure, and type 2 diabetes (Barker et al., 1989). Gluckman et al. proposed the concept of DOHaD by observing the enduring effects of the fetal environment on physical health and disease in adulthood. The process of fetal programming or developmental plasticity is one of the core assumptions of DOHaD (Gluckman et al., 2007). Gluckman

et al. use the concept of predictive adaptive responses to describe the developing organism by making phenotypic responses during development to obtain an adaptive advantage (Gluckman et al., 2005). The fetus will predict and make adaptive responses to a broad range of environmental cues to aid fitness and survival in later life. If the prediction is correct, then there will be a good match between the phenotype adopted and the environment in which the organism will later live. If the prediction is poor, there will be a mismatch between the environment experienced and the phenotype induced. The authors propose that developmental mismatch triggers or exacerbates certain diseases and provide a useful explanation for the DOHaD phenomenon (Gluckman et al., 2005, 2007). Furthermore, the notion of epigenetic modifications is applied to the DOHaD approach (Waterland and Michels, 2007). The DOHaD approach has become so popular that an international society has been formed, and this society is actively promoting research and collaboration in this area.

Figure 1 depicts the path form early-life adversity to long-term neuropsychiatric disorders, along with the underlying molecular and cellular mechanisms and epigenetic modifications, with a match or mismatch adaptation that leads to the final outcome.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Early-life stress can elicit detrimental effects on hippocampal development by altering the HPA axis, neuroplasticity, and behavior. Developmental plasticity allows an organism to adapt to environmental changes in the critical stages of early life. As highlighted in this review, early-life stress programs the development of the HPA axis, exerts profound effects on neural plasticity, primes seizure occurrence, and increases epileptogenesis. Epigenetic modifications play an important role in both early-life stress and epilepsy.

A number of important points made throughout the manuscript are reinforced here. Reducing damage done by prenatal and postnatal stress may help reduce the cost of treating adult diseases. Protecting pregnant mothers from harmful stress exposure and supporting programs to reduce stress or anxiety during pregnancy might lead to improvements in the health and well-being of their children later in life. Ideally, intervention and prevention should be achieved before pregnancy begins. In terms of postnatal stress, psychosocial interventions in early life can affect brain development and thereby benefit children at risk. Other perinatal adversities such as perinatal infection, nutritional disorders, and toxin exposures must be cautiously avoided and treated. The potential therapeutic value of pharmacological agents, such as CRHR₁antagonists, MR and GR antagonists should be explored.

Recently, an increasing number of studies have shown that early-life stress primes seizure occurrence and increases epileptogenesis. An increased understanding of the link between early-life stress and epilepsy could improve the care and treatment of patients with epilepsy, while also allowing better management of other stress-related neurological disorders.

In the future, we will need to better determine the developmental windows during which preventative or therapeutic interventions can reverse the adverse effects of developmental programming. It will also be important to better understand stress biomarkers, especially epigenetic biomarkers. An increasing number of studies have provided clues as to how early-life stress induces changes at the cellular, molecular, and epigenetic levels. Continued progress on these fronts will provide great insight into disease mechanisms, in turn leading to the potential identification of novel targets for therapy and prevention.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grant CMRPG8B0112 from Chang Gung Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan and NMRPD1C0731 (NSC102-2314-B-182-025-MY3) from National Science Council, Taiwan to Dr. Li-Tung Huang.

REFERENCES

- Ali, I., O'Brien, P., Kumar, G., Zheng, T., Jones, N. C., Pinault, D. et al. (2013). Enduring effects of early life stress on firing patterns of hippocampal and thalamocortical neurons in rats: implications for limbic epilepsy. *PLoS ONE* 8:e66962. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066962
- Altman, J., and Bayer, S. A. (1990). Migration and distribution of two populations of hip- pocampal granule cell precursors during the perinatal and postnatal periods. J. Comp. Neurol. 301, 365–381. doi: 10.1002/cne.903010304
- Anand, K. J. (2000). Effects of perinatal pain and stress. Prog. Brain Res. 122, 117–129. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(08)62134-2
- Avishai-Eliner, S., Brunson, K. L., Sandman, C. A., and Baram, T. Z. (2002). Stressed out? or in (utero). *Trends Neurosci.* 25, 518–524. doi: 10.1016/S0166-2236(02)02241-5
- Baram, T. Z., and Hatalski, C. G. (1998). Neuropeptide-mediated excitability a key triggering mechanism for seizure generation in the developing brain. *Trends Neurosci.* 21, 471–476. doi: 10.1016/S0166-2236(98)01275-2
- Barker, D. J., Winter, P. D., Osmond, C., Margetts, B., and Simmonds, S. J. (1989). Weight in infancy and death from ischaem heart disease. *Lancet* 2, 577–580.
- Baserga, M., Hale, M. A., Wang, Z. M., Yu, X., and Callaway, C. W. (2007). Uteroplacental insufficiency alters nephrogenesis and downregulates cyclooxygenase-2 expression in a model of IUGR with adult-onset hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 292, R1943–R1955. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00558.2006
- Baserga, M., Kaur, R., Hale, M. A., Bares, A., and Yu, X. (2010). Fetal growth restriction alters transcription factor binding and epigenetic mechanisms of renal 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 in a sex-specific manner. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 299, R334–R342. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00122.2010
- Bayer, S. A. (1980a). Development of the hippocampal region in the rat. I. Neurogenesis examined with 3H-thymidine autoradiography. J. Comp. Neurol. 190, 87–114. doi: 10.1002/cne.901900107
- Bayer, S. A. (1980b). Development of the hippocampal region in the rat. II. Morphogenesis during embryonic and early postnatal life. J. Comp. Neurol. 190, 115–134. doi: 10.1002/cne.901900108
- Beck, S. L., and Gavin, D. L. (1976). Suceptibility of mice to audiogenic seizures is increased by handling their dams during gestation. *Science* 193, 427–428. doi: 10.1126/science.945614
- Benediktsson, R., Calder, A. A., Edwards, C. R., and Seckl, J. R. (1997). Placental 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase: a key regulator of fetal glucocorticoid exposure. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 46, 161–166. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.1997. 1230939.x
- Bilbo, S. D., Barrientos, R. M., Eads, A. S., Northcutt, A., Watkins, L. R., Rudy, J. W., et al. (2008). Early-life infection leads to altered BDNF and IL-1beta mRNA expression in rat hippocampus following learning in adulthood. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 22, 451–455. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2007.10.003
- Bitanihirwe, B. K., Peleg-Raibstein, D., Mouttet, F., Feldon, J., and Meyer, U. (2010). Late prenatal immune activation in mice leads to behavioral and neurochemical abnormalities relevant to the negative symptoms of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 2462–2478. doi: 10.1038/npp.2010.129
- Blaise, J. H., Koranda, J. L., Chow, U., Haines, K. E., and Dorward, E. C. (2008). Neonatal isolation stress alters bidirectional long-term synaptic plasticity in amygdalo-hippocampal synapses in freely behaving adult rats. *Brain Res.* 1193, 25–33. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.11.049

- Bogoch, Y., Biala, Y. N., Linial, M., and Weinstock, M. (2007). Anxiety induced by prenatal stress is associated with suppression of hippocampal genes involved in synaptic function. *J. Neurochem.* 101, 1018–1030. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04402.x
- Bohn, M. C., Dean, D., Hussain, S., and Giuliano, R. (1994). Development of mRNAs for glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid receptors in rat hippocampus. *Dev. Brain Res.* 77, 157–162. doi: 10.1016/0165-3806(94)90192-9
- Boksa, P. (2010). Effects of prenatal infection on brain development and behavior: a review of findings from animal models. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 24, 881–897. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2010.03.005
- Bosnjak, J., Vukovic-Bobic, M., and Mejaski-Bosnjak, V. (2002). Effect of war on the occurrence of epileptic seizures in children. *Epilepsy Behav.* 3, 502–509. doi: 10.1016/S1525-5050(02)00602-9
- Brunson, K. L., Kramar, E., Lin, B., Chen, Y., Colgin, L. L., Yanagihara, T. K., et al. (2005). Mechanisms of late-onset cognitive decline after early-life stress. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 9328–9338. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2281-05.2005
- Brunton, P. J., and Russell, J. A. (2010). Prenatal social stress in the rat programmes neuroendocrine and behavioural responses to stress in the adult offspring: sex specific effects. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 22, 258–271. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2010.01969.x
- Causevic, M., and Mohaupt, M. (2007). 11[beta]-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 in pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Mol. Aspects Med.* 28, 220–226. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2007.04.003
- Chen, M., and Zhang, L. (2011). Epigenetic mechanisms in developmental programming of adult disease. *Drug Discov. Today* 16, 1007–1018. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2011.09.008
- Chen, Y., Andres, A. L., Frotscher, M., and Baram, T. Z. (2012). Tuning synaptic transmission in the hippocampus by stress: the CRH system. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 6:13. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2012.00013
- Chen, Y., Bender, R. A., Frotscher, M., and Baram, T. Z. (2001). Novel and transient populations of corticotropin-releasing hormone-expressing neurons in developing hippocampus suggest unique functional roles: a quantitative spatiotemporal analysis. J. Neurosci. 21, 7171–7181.
- Danese, A., Moffitt, T. E., Harrington, H., Milne, B. J., Polanczyk, G., Pariante, C. M., et al. (2009). Adverse childhood experiences and adult risk factors for age-related disease: depression, inflammation, and clustering of metabolic risk markers. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 163, 1135–1143. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2009.214
- De Bellis, M. D. (2002). Developmental traumatology: a contributory mechanism for alcohol and substance use disorders. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 27, 155–170. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4530(01)00042-7
- Deguchi, Y., Donato, F., Galimberti, I., Cabuy, E., and Caroni, P. (2011). Temporally matched subpopulations of selectively interconnected principal neurons in the hippocampus. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 495–504. doi: 10.1038/nn.2768
- de Kloet, E. R., Joels, M., and Holsboer, F. (2005). Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 463–475. doi: 10.1038/ nrn1683
- Desgent, S., Duss, S., Sanon, N. T., Lema, P., Lévesque, M., Hébert, D., et al. (2012). Early-life stress is associated with gender-based vulnerability to epileptogenesis in rat pups. *PLoS ONE* 7:e42622. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042622
- Diaz, R., Brown, R. W., and Seckl, J. R. (1998). Distinct ontogeny of glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid receptor and 11[beta]-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase types I and II mRNAs in the fetal rat brain suggest a complex control of glucocorticoid actions. J. Neurosci. 18, 2570–2580.
- Diz-Chaves, Y., Astiz, M., Bellini, M. J., and Garcia-Segura, L. M. (2013). Prenatal stress increases the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and exacerbates the inflammatory response to LPS in the hippocampal formation of adult male mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 28, 196–206. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.11.013
- Diz-Chaves, Y., Pernia, O., Carrero, P., and Garcia-Segura, L. M. (2012). Prenatal stress causes alterations in the morphology of microglia and the inflammatory response of the hippocampus of adult female mice. *J. Neuroinflammation* 9, 71. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-9-71
- Dube, C., Boyet, S., Marescaux, C., and Nehlig, A. (2001). Relationship between neuronal loss and interictal glucose metabolism during the chronic phase of the lithium-pilocarpine model of epilepsy in the immature and adult rat. *Exp. Neurol.* 167, 227–241. doi: 10.1006/exnr.2000.7561
- Dube, C., Richichi, C., Bender, R. A., Chung, G., Litt, B., Baram, T. Z., et al. (2006). Temporal lobe epilepsy after experimental prolonged febrile seizures: prospective analysis. *Brain* 129, 911–922. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl018

- Edwards, H. E., Dortok, D., Tam, J., Won, D., and Burnham, W. M. (2002). Prenatal stress alters seizure thresholds and the development of kindled seizures in infant and adult rats. *Horm. Behav.* 42, 437–447. doi: 10.1006/hbeh.2002.1839
- Fabricius, K., Wörtwein, G., and Pakkenberg, B. (2008). The impact of maternal separation on adult mouse behaviour and on the total neuron number in the mouse hippocampus. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 212, 403–416. doi: 10.1007/s00429-007-0169-6
- Fenoglio, K. A., Brunson, K. L., Avishai-Eliner, S., Stone, B. A., Kapadia, B. J., Baram, T. Z., et al. (2005). Enduring, handling-evoked enhancement of hippocampal memory function and glucocorticoid receptor expression involves activation of the corticotropin-releasing factor type 1 receptor. *Endocrinology* 146, 4090–4096. doi: 10.1210/en.2004-1285
- Field, T. (1994). The effects of mother's physical and emotional unavailability on emotion regulation. *Monogr. Soc. Res. Child Dev.* 59, 208–227. doi: 10.2307/1166147
- Fowden, A. L., Giussani, D. A., and Forhead, A. J. (2005). Endocrine and metabolic programming during intrauterine development. *Early Hum. Dev.* 81, 723–734. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2005.06.007
- Francis, D. J., Diorio, J., Liu, D., and Meaney, M. J. (1999). Nongenomic transmission across generations of maternal behavior and stress responses in the rat. *Science* 286, 1155–1158. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5442.1155
- Friso, S., Pizzolo, F., Choi, S. W., Guarini, P., and Castagna, A. (2008). Epigenetic control of 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2 gene promoter is related to human hypertension. *Atherosclerosis* 199, 323–327. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.11.029
- Frodl, T., Reinhold, E., Koutsouleris, N., Reiser, M., and Meisenzahl, E. M. (2010). Interaction of childhood stress with hippocampus and prefrontal cortex volume reduction in major depression. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 44, 799–807. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.01.006
- Frye, C. A., and Bayon, L. E. (1999). Prenatal stress reduces the effectiveness of the neurosteroid 3 alpha, 5 alpha-THP to block kainic-acid-induced seizures. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 34, 227–234. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-2302(199904)34:3<227:: AID-DEV7>3.0.CO;2-H
- Fujioka, A., Fujioka, T., Ishida, Y., Maekawa, T., and Nakamura, S. (2006). Differential effects of prenatal stress on the morphological maturation of hippocampal neurons. *Neuroscience* 141, 907–915. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.04.046
- Gluckman, P. D., Hanson, M. A., and Beedle, A. S. (2007). Early life events and their consequences for later disease: a life history and evolutionary perspective. *Am. J. Hum. Biol.* 19, 1–19. doi: 10.1002/ajhb.20590
- Gluckman, P. D., Hanson, M. A., and Spencer, H. G. (2005). Predictive adaptive responses and human evolution. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 20, 527–533. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2005.08.001
- Glynn, L. M., Wadhwa, P. D., Dunkel Schetter, C., Chicz-Demet, A., and Sandman, C. A. (2001). When stress happens matters: effects of earthquake timing on stress responsivity in pregnancy. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 184, 637–642. doi: 10.1067/mob.2001.111066
- Gould, E., and Cameron, H. A. (1996). Regulation of neuronal birth, migration and death in the rat dentate gyrus. *Dev. Neurosci.* 18, 22–35. doi: 10.1159/000111392
- Gräff, J., Kim, D., Dobbin, M. M., and Tsai, L. H. (2011). Epigenetic regulation of gene expression in physiological and pathological brain processes. *Physiol. Rev.* 91, 603–649. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00012.2010
- Gunnar, M. R., and Cheatham, C. L. (2002). Brain and behavior interfaces: stress and the developing brain. *Infant Ment. Health J.* 24, 195–211. doi: 10.1002/imhj.10052
- Gunnar, M. R., and Donzella, B. (2002). Social regulation of the cortisol levels in early human development. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 27, 199–220. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4530(01)00045-2
- Harris, A., and Seckl, J. (2011). Glucocorticoids, prenatal stress and the programming of disease. *Horm. Behav.* 59, 279–289. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.06.007
- Hayashi, A., Nagaoka, M., Yamada, K., Ichitani, Y., Miake, Y., Okado, N., et al. (1998). Maternal stress induces synaptic loss and developmental disabilities of offspring. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 16, 209–219. doi: 10.1016/S0736-5748(98) 00028-8
- Holmes, G. L., and Ben-Ari, Y. (2001). The neurobiology and consequences of epilepsy in the developing brain. *Pediatr. Res.* 49, 320–325. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200103000-00004
- Hout, R. L., Plotsky, P. M., Lenox, R. H., and McNamara, R. K. (2002). Neonatal maternal separation reduces hippocampal mossy fiber density in

adult long evans rats. Brain Res. 950, 52–63. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(02) 02985-2

- Hsu, F. C., Zhang, G. J., Raol, Y. S., Valentino, R. J., Coulter, D. A., Brooks-Kayal, A. R., et al. (2003). Repeated neonatal handling with maternal separation permanently alters hippocampal GABAA receptors and behavioral stress responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 12213–12218. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2131679100
- Huang, L. T., Holmes, G. L., Lai, M. C., Huang, P. L., Wang, C. L., Wang, T. J., et al. (2002a). Maternal deprivation stress exacerbates cognitive deficits in immature rats with recurrent seizures. *Epilepsia* 43, 1141–1148. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2002.14602.x
- Huang, Y., Doherty, J. J., and Dingledine, R. (2002b). Altered histone acetylation at glutamate receptor 2 and brain-derived neurotrophic factor genes is an early event triggered by status epilepticus. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 8422–8428.
- Huang, L. T., Tain, Y. L., Lai, M. C., and Yang, S. N. (2012). Neonatal seizures: dialogues between clinic and bench. J. Formos. Med. Assoc. 111, 239–244. doi: 10.1016/j.jfma.2011.12.007
- Huang, Y., Myers, S. J., and Dingledine, R. (1999). Transcriptional repression by REST: recruitment of Sin3A and histone deacetylase to neuronal genes. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 867–872. doi: 10.1038/13165
- Hulshof, H. J., Novati, A., Sgoifo, A., Luiten, P. G. M., den Boer, J. A., Meerlo, P., et al. (2011). Maternal separation decreases adult hippocampal cell proliferation and impairs cognitive performance but has little effect on stress sensitivity and anxiety in adult Wistar rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 216, 552–560. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.08.038
- Hunter, R. G. (2012). Epigenetic effects of stress and corticosteroids in the brain. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 6:18. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2012.00018
- Ivy, A. S., Rex, C. S., Chen, Y., Dubé, C., Maras, P. M., Grigoriadis, D. E., et al. (2010). Hippocampal dysfunction and cognitive impairments provoked by chronic early-life stress involve excessive activation of CRH receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 13005–13015. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1784-10.2010
- Jenkins, T. A. (2013). Perinatal complications and schizophrenia: involvement of the immune system. *Front. Neurosci.* 7:110. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013.00110
- Joels, M. (2009). Stress, the hippocampus, and epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 50, 586–597. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01902.x
- Jones, D. (2008). "Childhood maltreatment," in Rutter's Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, eds M. Rutter, D. Bishop, D. Pine, S. Scott, J. Stevenson, E. Taylor, et al. (Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing), 421–439. doi: 10.1002/97814443008 95.ch28
- Jung, C., Ho, J. T., Torpy, D. J., Rogers, A., Doogue, M., Lewis, J. G. et al. (2011). A longitudinal study of plasma and urinary cortisol in pregnancy and postpartum. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 96, 1533–1540. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2395
- Karsten, C. A., and Baram, T. Z. (2013). How does a deuron "know" to modulate its epigenetic machinery in response to early-life environment/experience? *Front. Psychiatry* 4:89. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00089
- Kastin, A. J., and Akerstrom, V. (2002). Differential interactions of urocortin/corticotropin-releasing hormone peptides with the blood-brain barrier. *Neuroendocrinology* 75, 367–374. doi: 10.1159/000059433
- Kawamura, T., Chen, J., Takahashi, T., Ichitani, Y., and Nakahara, D. (2006). Prenatal stress suppresses cell proliferation in the early developing brain. *Neuroreport* 17, 1515–1518. doi: 10.1097/01.wnr.0000236849. 53682.6d
- Khalaf-Nazzal, R., and Francis, F. (2013). Hippocampal development—old and new findings. *Neuroscience* 248C, 225–242. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013. 05.061
- King, S., Laplante, D., and Joober, R. (2005). Understanding putative risk factors for schizophrenia: retrospective and prospective studies. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 30, 342–348.
- Kinney, D. K., Miller, A. M., Crowley, D. J., Huang, E., and Gerber, E. (2008). Autism prevalence following prenatal exposure to hurricanes and tropical storms in Louisiana. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 38, 481–488. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0414-0
- Kobow, K., and Blumcke, I. (2011). The methylation hypothesis: do epigenetic chromatin modifications play a role in epileptogenesis? *Epilepsia* 52(Suppl. 4), 15–19. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03145.x
- Koe, A. S., Jones, N. C., and Salzberg, M. R. (2009). Early life stress as an influence on limbic epilepsy: an hypothesis whose time has come? *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 3:24. doi: 10.3389/neuro.08.024.2009

- Kumar, G., Couper, A., O'Brien, T. J., Salzberg, M. R., Jones, N. C., Rees, S. M., et al. (2007). The acceleration of amygdala kindling epileptogenesis by chronic low-dose corticosterone involves both mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptors. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 32, 834–842. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2007.05.011
- Kumar, G., Jones, N. C., Morris, M. J., Rees, S., O'Brien, T. J., Salzberg, M. R., et al. (2011). Early life stress enhancement of limbic epileptogenesis in adult rats: mechanistic insights. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24033. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0024033
- Lahiri, D. K., Maloney, B., and Zawia, N. H. (2009). The LEARn model: an epigenetic explanation for idiopathic neurobiological diseases. *Mol. Psychiatry* 14, 992–1003. doi: 10.1038/mp.2009.82
- Lai, M. C., Holmes, G. L., Lee, K. H., Yang, S. N., Wang, C. A., Wu, C. L., et al. (2006). Effect of neonatal isolation on outcome following neonatal seizure in rats-the role of corticosterone. *Epilepsy Res.* 68, 123–136. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2005.10.005
- Lai, M. C., and Huang, L. T. (2011). Effects of early life stress on neuroendocrine and neurobehavior: mechanisms and implications. *Pediatr. Neonatol.* 52, 122–129. doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2011.03.008
- Lemaire, V., Koehl, M., LeMoal, M., and Abrous, D. N. (2000). Prenatal stressproduces learning deficits associated with an inhibition of neurogensis in the hippocampus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 11032–11037. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.20.11032
- Lemaire, V., Lamarque, S., LeMoal, M., Piazza, P. V., and Abrous, D. N. (2006). Postnatal stimulation of the pups counteracts prenatal stress-induced deficits in hippocampal neurogenesis. *Biol. Psychiatry* 59, 786–792. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.11.009
- Leussis, M. P., and Heinrichs, S. C. (2009). Quality of rearing guides expression of behavioral and neural seizure phenotypes in el mice. *Brain Res.* 1260, 84–93. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.01.007
- Leventopoulos, M., Ruedi-Bettschen, D., Knuesel, I., Feldon, J., Pryce, C. R., Opacka-Juffry, J., et al. (2007). Long-term effects of early life deprivation on brain glia in Fischer rats. *Brain Res.* 1142, 119–126. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.01.039
- Leverenz, J. B., Wilkinson, C. W., Wamble, M., Corbin, S., Grabber, J. E., Raskind, M., A., et al. (1999). Effect of chronic high-dose exogenous cortisol on hippocampal neuronal number in aged nonhuman primates. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 2356–2361.
- Levine, S. (2005). Developmental determinants of sensitivity and resistance to stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 30, 939–946. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2005. 03.013
- Li, J., Vestergaard, M., Obel, C., Precht, D. H., Christensen, J., Lu, M., et al. (2008). Prenatal stress and epilepsy in later life: a nationwide follow-up study in Denmark. *Epilepsy Res.* 81, 52–57. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2008.04.014
- Lindsay, J. R., and Nieman, L. K. (2005). The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in pregnancy: challenges in disease detection and treatment. *Endocr. Rev.* 26, 775–799. doi: 10.1210/er.2004-0025
- Liu, D., Diorio, J., Tannenbaum, B., Caldji, C., Francis, D., and Freedman, A. (1997). Maternal care, hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors, and hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal response to stress. *Science* 277, 1659–1662. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5332.1659
- Lubin, F. D. (2012). Epileptogenesis: can the science of epigenetics give us answers? *Epilepsy Curr.* 12, 105–110. doi: 10.5698/1535-7511-12.3.105
- Lucassen, P. J., Naninck, E. F., van Goudoever, J. B., Fitzsimons, C., Joels, M., Korosi, A., et al. (2013). Perinatal programming of adult hippocampal structure and function; emerging roles of stress, nutrition and epigenetics. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 621–631. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.08.002
- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., and Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10, 434–445. doi: 10.1038/nrn2639
- Macrì, S., and Würbel, H. (2006). Developmental plasticity of HPA and fear responses in rats: a critical review of the maternal mediation hypothesis. *Horm. Behav.* 50, 667–680. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2006.06.015
- Mairesse, J., Lesage, J., Breton, C., Breant, B., Hahn, T., Darnaudery, M., et al. (2007). Maternal stress alters endocrine function of the feto-placental unit in rats. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 292, E1526–E1533. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00574.2006
- Matrisciano, F., Tueting, P., Dalal, I., Kadriu, B., Grayson, D. R., Davis, J. M., et al. (2013). Epigenetic modifications of GABAergic interneurons are

associated with the schizophrenia-like phenotype induced by prenatal stress in mice. *Neuropharmacology* 68, 184–194. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012. 04.013

- Matthews, S. G. (2000). Antenatal glucocorticoids and programming of the developing CNS. *Pediatr. Res.* 47, 291–300. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200003000-00003
- McCabe, B. K., Silveira, D. C., Cilio, M. R., Cha, B. H., Liu, X., Sogawa, Y., et al. (2001). Reduced neurogenesis after neonatal seizures. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 2094–2103.
- McClelland, S., Flynn, C., Dube, C., Richichi, C., Zha, Q., Ghestem, A., et al. (2011a). Neuron-restrictive silencer factor-mediated hyperpolarization-activated cyclic nucleotide gated channelopathy in experimental temporal lobe epilepsy. *Ann. Neurol.* 70, 454–464. doi: 10.1002/ana.22479
- McClelland, S., Korosi, A., Cope, J., Ivy, A., and Baram, T. Z. (2011b). Emerging roles of epigenetic mechanisms in the enduring effects of early-life stress and experience on learning and memory. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 96, 79–88. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2011.02.008
- McEwen, B. S. (1998). Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 338, 171–179. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199801153380307
- McLean, M., Bisits, A., Davies, J., Woods, R., Lowry, P., Smith, R., et al. (1995). A placental clock controlling the length of human pregnancy. *Nat. Med.* 1, 460–463. doi: 10.1038/nm0595-460
- Meaney, M. J., Szyf, M., and Seckl, J. R. (2007). Epigenetic mechanisms of perinatal programming of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function and health. *Trends Mol. Med.* 13, 269–277. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2007.05.003
- Menard, J. L., and Hakvoort, R. M. (2007). Variations of maternal care alter offspring levels of behavioural defensiveness in adulthood: evidence for a threshold model. *Behav. Brain Res.* 176, 302–313. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2006.10.014
- Michael, A. E., and Papageorghiou, A. T. (2008). Potential significance of physiological and pharmacological glucocorticoids in early pregnancy. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 14, 497–517. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmn021
- Miller, S. P., Weiss, J., Barnwell, A., Ferriero, D. M., Latal-Hajnal, B., Ferrer-Rogers, A., et al. (2002). Seizure-associated brain injury in term newborns with perinatal asphyxia. *Neurology* 58, 542–548. doi: 10.1212/WNL.58.4.542
- Minshew, N., Sweeney, J., Bauman, M., and Webb, S. J. (2005). "Neurological aspects of autism," in *Handbook of Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders, 3rd Edn.*, eds F. R. Volkmar, R. Paul, A. Klin, and D. Cohen (Hoboken,NJ: Wiley), 473–514.
- Mirescu, C., Peters, J. D., and Gould, E. (2004). Early life experience alters response of adult neurogenesis to stress. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 841–846. doi: 10.1038/nn1290
- Morley-Fletcher, S., Mairesse, J., Soumier, A., Banasr, M., Fagioli, F., Gabriel, C., et al. (2011). Chronic agomelatine treatment corrects behavioral, cellular, and biochemical abnormalities induced by prenatal stress in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 217, 301–313. doi: 10.1007/s00213-011-2280-x
- Mueller, B. R., and Bale, T. L. (2008). Sex-specific programming of offspring emotionality after stress early in pregnancy. J. Neurosci. 28, 9055–9065. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1424-08.2008
- Murgatroyd, C., and Spengler, D. (2011). Epigenetics of early child development. *Front. Psychiatry* 2:16. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2011.00016
- Mychasiuk, R., Gibb, R., and Kolb, B. (2011). Prenatal bystander stress induces neuroanatomical changes in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus of developing rat offspring. *Brain Res.* 1412, 55–62. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011.07.023
- Nair, A., Vadodaria, K. C., Banerjee, S. B., Benekareddy, M., Dias, B. G., Duman, R. S., et al. (2007). Stressor-specific regulation of distinct brainderived neurotrophic factor transcripts and cyclic AMP response elementbinding protein expression in the postnatal and adult rat hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 1504–1519. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301276
- Novakova, B., Harris, P. R., Ponnusamy, A., and Reuber, M. (2013). The role of stress as a trigger for epileptic seizures: a narrative review of evidence from human and animal studies. *Epilepsia* 54, 1866–1876. doi: 10.1111/epi.12377
- Olney, J.W., Labruyere, J., Wang, G., Wozniak, D.F., Price, M.T., and Sesma, M.A. (1991). NMDA antagonist neurotoxicity: mechanism and prevention. *Science* 254, 1515–1518. doi: 10.1126/science.1835799
- Oomen, C. A., Girardi, C. E., Cahyadi, R., Verbeek, E. C., Krugers, H., Joels, M., et al. (2009). Opposite effects of early maternal deprivation on neurogenesis in male versus female rats. *PLoS ONE* 4:e3675. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003675
- Oomen, C. A., Soeters, H., Audureau, N., Vermunt, L., van Hasselt, F. N., Manders, E. M., et al. (2010). Severe early life stress hampers spatial learning and neurogenesis, but improves hippocampal synaptic plasticity and emotional

learning under high-stress conditions in adulthood. J. Neurosci. 30, 6635–6645. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0247-10.2010

- Orefice, L. L., and Heinrichs, S. C. (2008). Paternal care paradoxically increases offspring seizure susceptibility in the El mouse model of epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 12, 234–241. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2007.09.004
- Pitkänen, A., and Lukasiuk, K. (2011). Mechanisms of epileptogenesis and potential treatment targets. *Lancet Neurol.* 10, 173–186. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70310-0
- Poulton, R., Caspi, A., Milne, B. J., Thomson, W. M., Taylor, A., Sears, M. R., et al. (2010). Association between children's experience of socioeconomic disadvantage and adult health: a life-course study. *Lancet* 360, 1640–1645. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11602-3
- Qureshi, I. A., and Mehler, M. F. (2009). Regulation of non-coding RNA networks in the nervous system-what is the REST of the story? *Neurosci. Lett.* 466, 73–80. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.07.093
- Rabbe, F. J., and Spengler, D. (2013). Epigenetic risk factors in PTSD and depression. Front. Psychiatry 4:80. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00080
- Rakic, P., and Nowakowski, R. S. (1981). The time of origin of neurons in the hippocampal region of the rhesus monkey. J. Comp. Neurol. 196, 99–128. doi: 10.1002/cne.901960109
- Reddy, D. S. (2013). Role of hormones and neurosteroids in epileptogenesis. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 7:115. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2013.00115
- Reul, J. M., and de Kloet, E. R. (1985). Two receptor systems for corticosterone in rat brain: microdistribution and differential occupation. *Endocrinology* 117, 2505–2511. doi: 10.1210/endo-117-6-2505
- Ribak, C. E., and Baram, T. Z. (1996). Selective death of hippocampal CA3 pyramidal cells with mossy fiber afferents after CRH-induced status epilepticus in infant rats. *Dev. Brain Res.* 91, 245–251. doi: 10.1016/0165-3806(95)00183-2
- Rodenas-Ruano, A., Chavez, A. E., Cossio, M. J., Castillo, P. E., and Zukin, R. S. (2012). REST-dependent epigenetic remodeling promotes the developmental switch in synaptic NMDA receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 1382–1390. doi: 10.1038/nn.3214
- Rogawski, M. A. (2013). AMPA receptors as a molecular target in epilepsy therapy. *Acta Neurol. Scand. Suppl.* 197, 9–18. doi: 10.1111/ane.12099
- Roopra, A., Dingledine, R., and Hsieh, J. (2012). Epigenetics and epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 53(Suppl. 9)2–10. doi: 10.1111/epi.12030
- Sakanaka, M., Shibasaki, T., and Lederis, K. (1987). Corticotropin releasing factorlike 960 immunoreactivity in the rat brain as revealed by a modified cobaltglucose 9610xidase-diaminobenzidine method. J. Comp. Neurol. 260, 256–298. doi: 10.1002/cne.902600209
- Salzberg, M., Kumar, G., Supit, L., Jones, N. C., Morris, M. J., Rees, S., et al. (2007). Early postnatal stress confers enduring vulnerability to limbic epileptogenesis. *Epilepsia* 48, 2079–2085. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2007.01246.x
- Sandberg, S., and Rutter, M. (2008). "Acute life stresses," in *Rutter's Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, eds M. Rutter, D. Bishop, D. Pine, S. Scott, J. Stevenson, E. Taylor, et al. (Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing), 392–406. doi: 10.1002/978144 4300895.ch26
- Sandman, C. A., Glynn, L., Schetter, C. D., Wadhwa, P., Garite, T., Chicz-DeMet, A., et al. (2006). Elevated maternal cortisol early in pregnancy predicts third trimester levels of placental corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH): priming the placental clock. *Peptides* 27, 1457–1463. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2005. 10.002
- Sandman, C. A., Wadhwa, P. D., Glynn, L., Chicz-Demet, A., Porto, M., Garite, T. J., et al. (1999). Corticotrophin-releasing hormone and fetal responses in human pregnancy. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 897, 66–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb07879.x
- Sapolsky, M. (1996). Stress, glucocorticoids, and damage to the nervous system: the current state of confusion. *Stress* 1, 1–19. doi: 10.3109/10253899609001092
- Sawyer, N. T., and Escayg, A. (2010). Stress and epilepsy: multiple models, multiple outcomes. J. Clin. Neurophysiol. 27, 424–452. doi: 10.1097/WNP.0b013e3181fe0573
- Scher, M. S. (2003). Neonatal seizures and brain damage. Pediatr. Neurol. 29, 381–390. doi: 10.1016/S0887-8994(03)00399-0
- Scher, M. S., Hamid, M. Y., Steppe, D. A., Beggarly, M. E., and Painter, M. J. (1993). Ictal and interictal electrographic seizure durations in preterm and term neonates. *Epilepsia* 34, 284–288. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1993.tb02412.x
- Schmidt, M. V. (2010). Molecular mechanisms of early life stress-lessons from mouse models. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 34, 845–852. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.05.002

- Schmidt, M. V., Oitzl, M. S., Levine, S., and De Kloet, E. R. (2002). The HPA system during the postnatal development of CD1 mice and the effects of maternal deprivation. *Dev. Brain Res.* 139, 39–49. doi: 10.1016/S0165-3806(02) 00519-9
- Seckl, J. R. (2004). Prenatal glucocorticoids and long-term programming. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 151, U49–U62. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.151U049
- Seress, L., Abraham, H., Tornoczky, T., and Kosztolanyi, G. (2001). Cell formation in the human hippocampal formation from mid-gestation to the late postnatal period. *Neuroscience* 105, 831–843. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(01)00156-7
- Shang, N. X., Zou, L. P., Zhao, J. B., Zhang, F., and Li, H. (2010). Association between prenatal stress and infantile spasms: a case-control study in China. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 42, 181–186. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2009.09.003
- Sierksma, A. S., Prickaerts, J., Chouliaras, L., Rostamian, S., Delbroek, L., Rutten, B. P., et al. (2013). Behavioral and neurobiological effects of prenatal stress exposure in male and female APPswe/PS1dE9 mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 34, 319–337. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.05.012
- Sjöström, K., Valentin, L., Thelin T., and Marsál, K. (1997). Maternal anxiety in late pregnancy and fetal hemodynamics. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 74, 49–55. doi: 10.1016/S0301-2115(97)00100-0
- Sørensen, H. J., Mortensen, E. L., Reinisch, J. M., and Mednick, S. A. (2009). Association between prenatal exposure to bacterial infection and risk of schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 35, 631–637. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn121
- Strüber, N., Strüber, D., and Roth, G. (2014). Impact of early adversity on glucocorticoid regulation and later mental disorders. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 38, 17–37. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.10.015
- Suri, D., Veenit, V., Sarkar, A., Thiagarajan, D., Kumar, A., Nestler, E. J., et al. (2013). Early stress evokes age-dependent biphasic changes in hippocampal neurogenesis, BDNF expression, and cognition. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73, 658–666. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.10.023
- Swinkels, W. A., Engelsman, M., Kasteleijn-Nolst Trenite, D. G., Baal, M. G., de Haan, G. J., Oosting, J., et al. (1998). Influence of an evacuation in February 1995 in the placeNetherlands on the seizure frequency in patients with epilepsy: a controlled study. *Epilepsia* 39, 1203–1207. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1998.tb01312.x
- Szuran, T. F., Pliška, V., Pokorny, J., and Welzl, H. (2000). Prenatal stress in rats: effects on plasma corticosterone, hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors, and maze performance. *Physiol. Behav.* 71, 353–362. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(00)00351-6
- Talge, N. M., Neal, C., and Glover, V. (2007). Antenatal maternal stress and long-term effects on child neurodevelopment: how and why? J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 48, 245–261. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01714.x
- Temkin, N. R., and Davis, G. R. (1984). Stress as a risk factor for seizures among adults with epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 25, 450–456. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1984.tb03442.x
- Tyrka, A. R., Price, L. H., Gelernter, J., Schepker, C., Anderson, G. M., Carpenter, L. L., et al. (2009). Interaction of childhood maltreatment with the corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor gene: effects on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis reactivity. *Biol. Psychiatry* 66, 681–685. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych. 2009.05.012
- van Campen, J. S., Jansen, F. E., de Graan, P. N., Braun, K. P., and Joels, M. (2013). Early life stress in epilepsy: a seizure precipitant and risk factor for epileptogenesis. *Epilepsy Behav.* doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.09.029. [Epub ahead of print].
- van Campen, J. S., Jansen, F. E., Steinbusch, L. C., Joëls. M., and Braun, K. P. (2012). Stress sensitivity of childhood epilepsy is related to experienced negative life events. *Epilepsia* 53, 1554–1562. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012. 03566.x
- van den Bergh, B. R., Mulder, E. J., Mennes, M., and Glover, V. (2005). Antenatal maternal anxiety and stress and the neurobehavioural development of the fetus and child: links and possible mechanisms a review. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 29, 237–258. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.10.007
- van Oers, H. J., De Kloet, E. R., Whelan, T., and Levine, S. (1998). Maternal deprivation effect on the infant's neural stress markers is reversed by tactile stimulation and feeding but not by suppressing corticosterone. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 10171–10179.
- Vazquez, D. M., Lopez, J. F., Morano, M. I., Kwak, S. P., Watson, S. J., Akil, H., et al. (1998). Alpha, beta, and gamma mineralocorticoid receptor messenger ribonucleic acid splice variants: differential expression and rapid regulation in the developing hippocampus. *Endocrinology* 139, 3165–3177.

- Velíšek, L. (2011). Prenatal corticosteroid exposure alters early developmental seizures and behavior. *Epilepsy Res.* 95, 9–19. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2011. 01.019
- Vezzani, A., Friedman, A., and Dingledine, R. J. (2013). The role of inflammation in epileptogenesis. *Neuropharmacology* 69, 16–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.04.004
- Viviani, B., Boraso, M., Valero, M., Gardoni, F., Marco, E. M., Llorente, R., et al. (2014). Early maternal deprivation immunologically primes hippocampal synapses by redistributing interleukin-1 receptor type I in a sex dependent manner. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 35, 135–143. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.09.008
- Wadhwa, P. D., Garite, T. J., Porto, M., Glynn, L., Chicz-DeMet, A., Dunkel-Schetter, C., et al. (2004). Placental corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), spontaneous preterm birth, and fetal growth restriction: a prospective investigation. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 191, 1063–1069. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2004.06.070
- Wadhwa, P. D., Porto, M., Chicz-DeMet, A., and Sandman, C. A. (1998). Maternal CRH levels in early third trimester predict length of gestation in human pregnancy. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 179, 1079–1085. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(98)70219-4
- Wadhwa, P. D., Sandman, C. A., and Garite, T. J. (2001). The neurobiology of stress in human pregnancy: implications for prematurity and development of the fetal central nervous system. *Prog. Brain Res.* 133, 131–142. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(01)33010-8
- Wang, X. D., Chen, Y., Wolf, M., Wagner, K. V., Liebl, C., Scharf, S. H., et al. (2011a). Forebrain CRHR1 deficiency attenuates chronic stress-induced cognitive deficits and dendritic remodeling. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 42, 300–310. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2011.01.020
- Wang, X. D., Rammes, G., Kraev, I., Wolf, M., Liebl, C., Scharf, S. H., et al. (2011b). Forebrain CRF1 modulates early-life stress-programmed cognitive deficits. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 13625–13634. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2259-11.2011
- Wang, X. D., Su, Y. A., Wagner, K. V., Avrabos, C., Scharf, S. H., Hartmann, J., et al. (2013a). Nectin-3 links CRHR1 signaling to stress-induced memory deficits and spine loss. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 706–713. doi: 10.1038/nn.3395
- Wang, H., Meyer, K., and Korz, V. (2013b). Stress induced hippocampal mineralocorticoid and estrogen receptor β gene expression and long-term potentiation in male adult rats is sensitive to early-life stress experience. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 250–262. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.06.004
- Waterland, R. A., and Michels, K. B. (2007). Epigenetic epidemiology of the developmental origins hypothesis. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 27, 63–388. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.27.061406.093705
- Weaver, I. C., Cervoni, N., Champagne, F. A., D'Alessio, A. C., Sharma, S., Seckl, J. R., et al. (2004). Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 847–854. doi: 10.1038/nn1276
- Weaver, I. C., Champagne, F. A., Brown, S. E., Dymov, S., Sharma, S., Meaney, M. J., et al. (2005). Reversal of maternal programming of stress responses in adult offspring through methyl supplementation: altering epigenetic marking later in life. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 11045–11054. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3652-05.2005
- Weaver, I. C., D'Alessio, A. C., Brown, S. E., Hellstrom, I. C., Dymov, S., Sharma, S., et al. (2007). The transcription factor nerve growth factor-inducible protein a mediates epigenetic programming: altering epigenetic marks by immediateearly genes. J. Neurosci. 27, 1756–1768. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4164-06.2007

- Weaver, I. C., Meaney, M. J., and Szyf, M. (2006). Maternal care effects on the hippocampal transcriptome and anxiety-mediated behaviors in the offspring that are reversible in adulthood. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 3480–3485. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0507526103
- Weinstock, M., Matlina, E., Maor, G. I., Rosen, H., and McEwen, B. S. (1992). Prenatal stress selectivity alters the reactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary adrenal system in the female rat. *Brain Res.* 595, 195–200. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(92)91049-K
- Welberg, L. A., and Seckl, J. R. (2001). Prenatal stress, glucocorticoids and the programming of the brain. J. Neuroendocrinol. 13, 113–128. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2001.00601.x
- Williams-Karnesky, R. L., Sandau, U. S., Lusardi, T. A., Lytle, N. K., Farrell, J. M., Pritchard, E. M., et al. (2013). Epigenetic changes induced by adenosine augmentation therapy prevent epileptogenesis. J. Clin. Invest. 123, 3552–3563. doi: 10.1172/JCI65636
- Wong, M., and Guo, D. (2013). Dendritic spine pathology in epilepsy: cause or consequence? *Neuroscience* 251, 141–150. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.03.048
- Woods, S. M., Melville, J. L., Guo, Y., Fan, M. Y., and Gavin, A. (2009). Psychosocial stress during pregnancy. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 202, e1–e7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2009.07.041
- Wynne, O., Horvat, J. C., Kim, R. Y., Ong, L. K., Smith, R., Hansbro, P. M., et al. (2011). Neonatal respiratory infection and adult re-infection: effect on glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid receptors in the hippocampus in BALB/c mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, 1214–1222. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011.03.014
- Young, N. A., Teskey, G. C., Henry, L. C., and Edwards, H. E. (2006). Exogenous antenatal glucocorticoid treatment reduces susceptibility for hippocampal kindled and maximal electroconvulsive seizures in infant rats. *Exp. Neurol.* 198, 303–312. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2005.11.013
- Yum, M. S., Chachua, T., Velíšková, J., and Velíšek, L. (2012). Prenatal stress promotes development of spasms in infant rats. *Epilepsia* 53, e46–e49. doi: 10.1111/ j.1528-1167.2011.03357.x
- Zhu, Q., Wang, L., Zhang, Y., Zhao, F. H., Luo, J., Xiao, Z., et al. (2012). Increased expression of DNA methyltransferase 1 and 3a in human temporal lobe epilepsy. J. Mol. Neurosci. 46, 420–426. doi: 10.1007/s12031-011-9602-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 November 2013; accepted: 21 January 2014; published online: 10 February 2014.

Citation: Huang L-T (2014) Early-life stress impacts the developing hippocampus and primes seizure occurrence: cellular, molecular, and epigenetic mechanisms. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 7:8. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2014.00008

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Early life stress and hippocampal neurogenesis in the neonate: sexual dimorphism, long term consequences and possible mediators

Naima Lajud and Luz Torner*

División de Neurociencias, Centro de Investigación Biomédica de Michoacán, Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social, Morelia, Mexico

Edited by:

Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China

Reviewed by:

Harmen J. Krugers, Universiteit van Amsterdam, Netherlands Muriel Koehl, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, France

*Correspondence:

Luz Torner, División de Neurociencias, Centro de Investigación Biomédica de Michoacán, Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social, Camino de la Arboleda 300, Ex Hacienda de San José la Huerta, Morelia, 58341 Michoacán, Mexico e-mail: luz_torner@yahoo.com Adverse early life experience decreases adult hippocampal neurogenesis and results in increased vulnerability to neuropsychiatric disorders. Despite that the effects of postnatal stress on neurogenesis have been widely studied in adult individuals, few efforts have been done to evaluate its immediate effects on the developing hippocampus. Moreover, it is not clear whether postnatal stress causes a differential impact in hippocampus development in male and female neonates that could be related to emotional deficits in adulthood. It has been proposed that the long term effects of early stress exposure rise from a persistent HPA axis activation during sensitive time windows; nevertheless the exact mechanisms and mediators remain unknown. Here, we summarize the immediate and late effects of early life stress on hippocampal neurogenesis in male and female rat pups, compare its later consequences in emotionality, and highlight some relevant mediator peptides that could be potentially involved in programming.

Keywords: hippocampus, stress, neuroplasticity, stress mediators, gender differences

INTRODUCTION

Early life stress influences behavioral and physiological functions in the individuals, and results in long term changes in neuronal function increasing the vulnerability to suffer a psychiatric diseases (Felitti et al., 1998; Heim and Nemeroff, 2001). The hippocampus is involved in cognitive functions, and is an important regulator of emotional responses to stress, as it is one of the brain structures involved in glucocorticoid (GC) mediated HPA axis negative feedback. It is also one of the two niches where new neurons are actively produced throughout life. Early exposure to adverse experiences induces permanent changes in brain development that include alterations of the hippocampal formation and a reduced or altered neural plasticity. Since the hippocampus is especially vulnerable to GC induced toxicity, it has been hypothesized that stress exposure during sensitive time windows causes alterations on hippocampal development leading to a vicious circle, which perpetuates and exacerbates the long term consequences of early life stress (Sapolsky and Meaney, 1986). However, it is not totally clarified whether changes in neurogenesis originate as a result of many alterations in the hippocampal structure along the time line, or are an immediate consequence of stress exposure. Also, it is unclear whether neural plasticity is equally affected in male and female subjects at early ages. In the present work we will discuss the effects of early life stress on hippocampal developmental neurogenesis and will include a short summary of some possible mediators of stressful effects.

THE STRESS RESPONSE

Stress involves the activation of the autonomic nervous and neuroendocrine systems to release a cascade of neurotransmitters,

hormones, and other chemical messengers that induce behavioral and metabolic changes in the organism. A fast response is conveyed by the autonomic nervous system. A delayed response activates the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN) to release corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) to the portal vasculature of the anterior pituitary gland; CRH stimulates the release of adrenocorticotropin hormone (ACTH) which triggers the release of GCs from the adrenal cortex. GCs exert a negative feedback regulating HPA axis activity via its own receptors [glucocorticoid receptors (GRs) and mineralocorticoid receptors (MRs)] in anterior pituitary, hypothalamus (de Kloet et al., 2005a), hippocampus and prefrontal cortex. In adults, the effects of allostatic load dissipate following the removal of the stressor; however, the effects of early life stress are persistent far beyond the period of stress exposure.

ANIMAL MODELS OF EARLY LIFE ADVERSITY

Animal models that reproduce many of the features of chronic stress or adverse experiences during early life include prenatal stress (PS) exposure (Lemaire et al., 2000), acute maternal deprivation (MD) procedures (de Kloet et al., 2005b), chronic or periodic maternal separation (MS) models (Sanchez et al., 2001; Huot et al., 2002; Plotsky et al., 2005), chronic early life stress (CES; Ivy et al., 2008), and early weaning of the pups (Kikusui and Mori, 2009). During late pregnancy, maternal GC mediate changes in fetal HPA responsiveness that is already functional. Infant rodents spend their first weeks of life in the maternal nest; hence, interactions of the pups with their mother and littermates are essential for optimal brain development and social skills (Sanchez et al., 2001; Huot et al., 2002). Separation from the dam for prolonged periods (>2 h) is perceived as a threat by the offspring, and activates

the neonate's HPA axis, causing elevated basal and/or stressinduced corticosterone levels in the adult (Lajud et al., 2012a). MD is an acute traumatic event that consists on separating the offspring from the dam for a 24 h period, and involves both nutritional and sensory (stimulation) factors (Suchecki et al., 1993), while MS is a chronic moderate stressor that involves daily separations from the dam during the first 2 or 3 weeks of life. It has been proposed that adult phenotype induced by MS is programmed by the pup's stressful experience during prolonged MS, rather than by prolonged maternal absence per se (Daskalakis et al., 2014). Variations in the MS model include daily separations of 3 h (MS180) or more (MS360), once or twice a day, from days 1-14, 2-21, or 15-21, etc. (Nishi et al., 2014). The CESs model, interferes with the mother infant interaction through the induction of a reduced maternal care, due to poor housing conditions (scarce material to build a nest) from PN2 to PN9, and resembles maternal anxiety and neglect (Ivy et al., 2008). These models reproduce many of the consequences observed in humans subjected to adverse early experiences, such as infant maltreatment or abuse, low socio economic status, etc., (Sanchez et al., 2001; Huot et al., 2002; Plotsky et al., 2005), in terms of a chronic exposure to adverse situations. Since effects of PS on neurogenesis have been more studied, we will review the studies on early neurogenesis focusing more on the effects of postnatal stress.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE HIPPOCAMPUS

The development of the rodent dentate gyrus (DG) can be subdivided into two major phases. First, the granule cells of the outer shell (Figure 1, blue) originate prenatally from the neuroepithelium (NE) located near the fimbria and migrate from the progressively receding secondary dentate matrix to the subpial zone (SPZ; Figure 1, blue). The first dentate migration (dgml) is the source of the earliest generated granule cells that will constitute the outer shell of the granular layer (Altman and Bayer, 1990a,b; Li et al., 2009). During the second postnatal phase (Figure 1, red), the precursor cells build up a new proliferation zone distributed within the hilus, and the early embryonic radial glial scaffold from the ventricular zone (VZ) is replaced by a secondary glial scaffold that traverses the hilus (Figure 1, green). Most radial glial cells, support migrating neurons and serve as precursor cells for both neurogenesis and gliogenesis (Brunne et al., 2013). This tertiary dentate matrix peaks its proliferation rate between PND3 and PND10 and is responsible for the great increase in granule cell population during the neonatal period (Bayer, 1980). The granule cells (Figure 1, red) colonize either the outer shell or the inner core of the granule cell layer (GCL) in a symmetrical manner (Martin et al., 2002), and neurogenesis follows a characteristic dorso - ventral maturation gradient (Schlessinger et al., 1975). During the third and fourth weeks of life, the tertiary dentate matrix disappears and henceforth the neurogenic niche becomes





of the GCL inner core migrate, following the arrangement of the secondary radial glial scaffold (green). During the second week of life, the neurogenic niche is confined to the subgranular zone (SGZ). Maternal separation decreases both proliferation and survival of new neurons, generated in the hilar tertiary dentate matrix, probably through stress – mediated mechanisms.

largely confined to the subgranular zone (SGZ; Altman and Bayer, 1990b). This SGZ is the main source of granule cells produced during early life and adulthood. For lifelong neurogenesis to occur, the DG must maintain the appropriate precursor cell niche in the SGZ, which is likely to be dependent on the developmental mechanisms at play during the DG formation. Stress exposure during the first weeks of life may have a significant impact on the maturation of the DG, as it disrupts the organization of the secondary and/or tertiary dentate matrix, altering permanently the structure and function of the hippocampus immediately after stress exposure.

EARLY LIFE STRESS AND HIPPOCAMPAL NEUROGENESIS

Differences in neurogenesis between male and female pups have been recognized. More new BrdU+ cells were found in the DG of male rat pups compared to females at PN1 and PN4 (Zhang et al., 2008). Control males showed a higher proliferation rate, and increased survival of newborn cells, compared to control females. In addition, a larger granular cell layer volume and more young neurons (DCX) was found in males (Oomen et al., 2009). However, other group reported no differences on neurogenesis rates between male and female pups at PN15 (Lajud et al., 2013).

Early life adverse effects on adult hippocampal neurogenesis have been widely evaluated (Korosi et al., 2012), however the early effects during stress exposure period remain unclear. Immediate effects of stress exposure on hippocampal developmental neurogenesis, were initially addressed by Tanapat et al. (1998) who showed a reduced proliferation in the DG of male rat pups 24 h after a single stress exposure. MS also decreased the granular cell number in juvenile rats (Oreland et al., 2010). Early weaning in mice at PN15 induced fewer BrdU+ cells in the DG of male, but not female mice (Kikusui and Mori, 2009). MS (6 h/day) followed by early weaning (PN15) decreased cell proliferation in the DG of juvenile male rats (Baek et al., 2011, 2012). We showed that MS180 decreased the number and the density of BrdU+ cells in the DG of male pups, at PN15 (Lajud et al., 2012a). In contrast, increased cell proliferation and differentiation in the DG was found in male pups using the CES model (PND2 to PND9; Naninck et al., 2014). Since increased basal corticosterone levels were observed in CES pups (Naninck et al., 2014) but not after MS180 (Lajud et al., 2012a), we cannot exclude the possibility that the etiology of the adverse stimulus could exert differential effects. Maternally deprived pups (24 h PN3), showed decreased cell proliferation but not cell survival at PN21 (Oomen et al., 2009). In opposition to the studies in male pups, there are fewer reports concerning females. The number of BrdU+ cells was unchanged in the DG of female mice in response to early weaning (Kikusui and Mori, 2009). Naninck et al. (2014) showed an increased cell proliferation and differentiation in the DG of female CES pups. Preliminary studies from our group showed a decrease of cell survival in the DG of rat female pups at PN15, after MS180 (Lajud et al., 2012b). MD at PN3 found no changes in cell proliferation or survival in the DG of female pups at PN21, but only a decrease in the number of immature neurons (Oomen et al., 2009; Table 1).

In adults, SGZ neurogenesis has been studied with divergent results. For instance, Mirescu et al. (2004) reported that male adult

rats subjected to MS180 exhibited decreased cell proliferation and survival with inadequate responses to stress; while Hulshof et al. (2011) observed that cell proliferation in the DG was decreased in adult MS180 rats but not cell survival. Other studies found that adult MS mice had similar rates of proliferating cells in the DG as control groups, but presented a lower survival rate and differentiation (Leslie et al., 2011). Additionally, male adult mice that were early weaned showed a reduced number of BrdU+ cells in the DG (Kikusui and Mori, 2009). In contrast, several studies found an increase in cell proliferation in adult animals, previously subjected to MS180 (Suri et al., 2013; Feng et al., 2014). In a subset of experiments, adult MS mice (8 h/day) exhibited an enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis in adulthood (Hays et al., 2012). Very few studies are done in adult females. Adult MD females showed reduced granule cell number and density in the DG (Oomen et al., 2010, 2011) or presented no effect. Despite a reduced neurogenesis before puberty (Loi et al., 2014) females subjected to limited nesting showed no effect in adulthood (Naninck et al., 2014). These results suggest that protective factors could take place in the female brain.

In summary, most of the studies show a trend of a decreased proliferation and/or a decreased cell survival in the DG of male and female rodents immediately after stress exposure, which could affect mainly the tertiary dentate matrix neurogenic niche. In adulthood, direction of changes is variable. In males, initial changes are sometimes followed by an increase, or by a permanent decrease in these parameters. In females, it seems that early effects of stress on neurogenesis subside in adulthood. In spite of the variety and direction of the changes that take place in the DG, it is assumed that early life stress induces such alterations to enable the individual to cope with future adversity in life (Bagot et al., 2009).

LONG TERM CONSEQUENCES IN EMOTIONALITY

Early adversity has been linked to the development of psychiatric illness. A neurogenic hypothesis of depression was formulated, after findings of reduced hippocampal volumes in depressed patients, and the fact that chronic stress decreases hippocampal neurogenesis, and increases the risk to develop depression (Jun et al., 2012). Further, antidepressants were found to enhance hippocampal neurogenesis (Santarelli et al., 2003). However, the correlation of long term behavioral changes with hippocampal neurogenesis changes is still controversial due to several observations that neurogenesis and emotionality are independently regulated (Petrik et al., 2012). Proposals to reconcile the different results have been adressed (Eisch and Petrik, 2012).

Practically all the reports in animal models of long term consequences of early adversity in emotionality use adults. Studies vary, from no effects, to increases in anxiety and/or in depressive – like behavior in males (Newport et al., 2002; Daniels et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2007; Lajud et al., 2012a; Girardi et al., 2014; Nishi et al., 2014). In females, results are scarce but point to a lack of effect on contextual fear conditioning (Oomen et al., 2011), or anxiety (screened in the elevated plus maze; Grissom et al., 2012), but increase social anxiety (Tsuda and Ogawa, 2012). Fewer studies report changes in neurogenesis (**Table 1**) together with effects on

Authors	Early life stress procedure	Species	Sex	Age	Effects on hippocampus	Emotional behavior in adulthood
Tanapat et al. (1998)	Acute exposure to the	Rats	Males	PN7	Decreased cell proliferation in the DG.	
King etal. (2004)	odor of a predator on PN6 Prenatally malnourished	Rats	Males	PNZ, PN30	Reduced cell proliferation in the fascia dentata at PN7	
)	(PMN) pups				but significantly higher on PN30.	
Oomen etal. (2009)	24 hMD on PN3	Rats	Males (M)	PN4, PN21	SEX DIFFERENCES found between control males and	
			females (F)		females.	
					PN4: no changes in cell proliferation.	
					PN21: (M) decreased cell proliferation, no effect on	
					cell survival, increase in cell differentiation. (F) no	
					effect on cell proliferation or cell survival, reduced cell	
					differentiation.	
Raceková et al.	MS180 from PN1-PN14, or	Rats	Males	PN14,	MS decreased proliferation in the Rostral Migratory	
(2009)	PN1 – PN21			PN21, PN28	Stream in all experimental groups.	
Oreland et al. (2010)	MS15 or MS360 from	Rats	Males	PN22	MS360 decreased number of neurons and cell density	
	PN121				in the DG, compared to MS15.	
Baek et al. (2011)	MS360, (PN1-14), and	Rat	Males	PN28	Decreased cell survival and cell differentiation.	
	early weaning at PN15				Reduced cell density in the DG.	
Lajud et al. (2012a)	MS180 from PN2 – 14	Rat	Males	PN15	MS180 decreased cell survival and cell differentiation.	Increased depressive - like behavior; no
					Reduced cell density in the DG.	effect on anxiety.
Lajud et al. (2012b)	MS 180, PN2 – 14	Rats	Females	PN15	Decreased cell survival in the DG.	
Baek et al. (2012)	Early weaning on PN14	Rats	Males	PN35	Decreased cell proliferation in the DG.	
	and later isolation					
Wang and	MS180 from PN2-21 with	Rats	Males and	PN14	MS180 increased pyramidal neurons in CA1. In the	
Gondré-Lewis (2013)	or without prenatal		females		DG, MS180 decreased number of granule neurons.	
	nicotine exposure					
Lajud et al. (2013)	Prolactin, vehicle, or left	Rats	Males,	PN15	No differences in cell number or cell density between	
	undisturbed from PN1 – 14		females		control males and females. Prolactin decreased cell	
					survival in the DG.	
Naninck et al. (2014)	ES Limited nesting PN2 – 9	Mice	Males (M)	PN9,	PN9: increased cell proliferation and differentiation	No effect on anxiety in the EPM, similar
			females (F)	adulthood	and number of immature cells in the DG. Adulthood:	depressive- like behavior as controls.
					(M) reduced cell survival of adult born neurons. (F) No	
					differences observed in adult females.	

Table 1 Continued						
Authors	Early life stress procedure	Species	Sex	Age	Effects on hippocampus	Emotional behavior in adulthood
Loi etal. (2014)	Comparison of prenatal, and postnatal stress (24 h MD)	Rats	Males (M) females (F)	Juveniles, adulthood	24 h MD enhances neurogenesis until the onset of puberty in male rats. Reduced neurogenesis in females prior puberty. The effect subsides in adulthood.	
Huot etal. (2002) Mirescu etal. (2004)	MS180 or MS15, on PN2 – 14 MS 180, PN2 – 14	Rats Rats	Males Males	Adulthood Adulthood	Decreased mossy fiber density in the stratum oriens region but no change in volume of the DG. Decreased cell proliferation and decreased immature	
Fabricius et al. (2008)	24 h MD on PN9	Mice	Males and females together	Adulthood	neuron production in the DG. Decreased cell number and cell proliferation in the DG in MD mice.	Reduced anxiety in the elevated plus maze.
Aisa etal. (2009)	MS180 PN2 – 21	Rats	Males	Adulthood	Reduced cell proliferation. Synaptic plasticity markers were decreased (NCAM, and synaptophisin, BDNF mRNAs).	
Karakaş etal. (2009) Kikusui and Mori (2009) Bagot etal. (2009)	24 h MD on PN4, PN9, or PN18 Early weaning in mice at PND15 Maternal care (high or	Rat Mice Rats	Males (M) females (F) Males (M) females (F) Males	Adulthood Adulthood Adulthood	MD produced decreased the number of synapses in CA1 and CA3 subregions of the hippocampus. No differences between M and F were found. M showed decreased BDNF levels in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, and reduced cell survival in theDG. No effect on F. Less dendritic complexity in low LG offspring	
Oomen et al. (2010) Leslie et al. (2011)	24 hMD on PN3 24 hMD on PN3 Unpredictable MS180 from PN1 - 14	Rats Mice	Males Males and females together	Adulthood Adulthood	MD decreased cell proliferation, cell survival, and neuronal differentiation. MD reduced total cell number in the caudal part of DG. No change in cell proliferation in the DG, but reduced cell survival and differentiation into neurons. Plus, less complex dendritic arborization and fewer dendritic spines.	MD impaired spatial learning but enhanced contextual fear conditioning.
Oomen etal. (2011)	24 h MD on PN3	Rats	Females	Adulthood	No significant differences between groups in proliferation, cell survival or neuronal differentiation. MD reduced total cell number and cell density in the GCL.	No differences in spatial learning and contextual fear conditioning . MD improved amygdala-dependent fear memory.
						(Continued)

Authors	Early life stress procedure	Species	Sex	Age	Effects on hippocampus	Emotional behavior in adulthood
Hulshof etal. (2011)	MS180 from PN1 – 14.	rats	males	adulthood	Cell proliferation was decreased in the DG of MS animals. Cell differentiation and survival were not	No changes in anxiety-like behavior, explorative behavior and social interaction,
					altered.	but affected cognitive function (object recognition task).
Hays etal. (2012)	Morphine injections or	Mice	Males	Adulthood	Both neonatal stress or morphine treatment increased	
	exposure to MS 480				hippocampal neurogenesis in adult mice.	
Korosi etal. (2012)	Review		Males,	Different		
			females	ages		
Suri et al. (2013)	MS	Rats	Males	Adulthood	Enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis, with enhanced BDNF levels.	
Feng etal. (2014)	SM	Rats	Males	Adulthood	Increased cell proliferation in the subventricular zone, cortical layer 1 and hippocampal dentate gyrus.	

Table 1 | Continued

emotionality (Fabricius et al., 2008; Hulshof et al., 2011; Oomen et al., 2011; Lajud et al., 2012a; Naninck et al., 2014). Thus, it seems that in rodents, males are more vulnerable to the effects of early adversity than females.

EARLY LIFE STRESS EFFECTS ON DG DEVELOPMENT AND SOME POSSIBLE MEDIATORS

We highlight two well-known factors mediating the stress response, and two peptide messengers as potential mediators.

GLUCOCORTICOIDS

During the first 2 weeks of life, rat pups experience a stress hyporesponsive period (SHRP) due to a markedly reduced adrenocortical response to stress (Sapolsky and Meaney, 1986). GC administration during the first postnatal week decreases granule cell survival, and results in a significant increase in the density of both cell proliferation and death, within the hilus neurogenic niche (Gould et al., 1991). Since then, increased circulating GC levels have been proposed as the main mediators of early life stress effects on hippocampus developmental neurogenesis (Gould and Tanapat, 1999). GCR gene expression is present within the developing brain since early fetal development (Yi and Baram, 1994), and is maximally expressed in the DG between PND10 and 16 (Yi and Baram, 1994); however, other mediators could be involved in the psychopathology of early life stress (Schmidt et al., 2009; Lajud et al., 2012a; Horii-Hayashi et al., 2013; Liao et al., 2014). GCR regulate CRH gene promoter in the mature brain. In the neonate, second messenger cascades are not yet functional, and GC levels fail to modify CRH expression. Thus, GCR may mediate different functions in the developing neurons, possibly mediated by trophic effects (Yi and Baram, 1994).

CORTICOTROPIN RELEASING HORMONE

The CRH is considered the link between early life adversity and adult vulnerability (Brunson et al., 2003). CES and MS permanently increase CRH expression within the hippocampus (Ivy et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2014). Administration of CRH into the brains of infant rats recapitulates some of the long term effects associated with early life stress, even when GC levels are clamped at physiological levels (Brunson et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2012). Blockade of CRHR1 signaling during adulthood significantly attenuated the hippocampal synaptic dysfunction, and memory defects in maternally separated rats (Wang et al., 2014), and treatment blocking CRHR1 from PN10-17 prevented ELS-induced augmentation of hippocampal in middle-aged rats (Ivy et al., 2010). Notably CRHR1, but not GCR, antagonism during the developmental critical period attenuated ES-induced endocrine alterations (Ivy et al., 2010; Liao et al., 2014). Moreover, a specific population of Cajal-Retzius-like CRH-expressing neurons was characterized during early postnatal hippocampus and these cells seem to contribute to the establishment of hippocampal connectivity (Chen et al., 2001).

PROLACTIN

Prolactin (PRL) is a pleiotropic hormone promoting a vast array of effects (Freeman et al., 2000). PRL is released in response to stress, regulates hippocampal and SVZ neurogenesis, and modulates

anxiety and HPA axis reactivity (Torner et al., 2001, 2009; Shingo et al., 2003). PRL enters the brain through its receptors, located in the choroid plexus cells (Walsh et al., 1987). Daily PRL administration (PN1 to PN14) induced a decrease of DG neurogenesis of PN15 pups (Lajud et al., 2013), and increased depressive – like behavior, in adult male and female rats (Lajud et al., 2013). Studies showed that PRL enhances CRH (Blume et al., 2009) and AVP expression (Donner and Neumann, 2009; Vega et al., 2010). Additionally PRL is cleaved to produce vasoinhibin, which has opposite actions of the native hormone (Zamorano et al., 2014). Thus, PRL could contribute to stress programming.

CITOKINES

Prenatal maternal infections increase the risk of developing schizophrenia or autism in the offspring (Kofman, 2002; Musaelyan et al., 2014). Immune activation during the perinatal period increases cytokine production, particularly of Interleukin 1 beta (IL-1b) and tumor necrosis factor- α , in the hippocampus (Diz-Chaves et al., 2012). Treatment of hippocampal neurospheres with IL-1b showed an antiproliferative, antineurogenic and progliogenic effects (Green et al., 2012). Further, IL-1b reduced the serotonergic differentiation of cultured neurospheres in a dosedependent manner (Zhang et al., 2013). Several studies reported either increases or decreases in cell proliferation or cell survival in the hippocampus offspring depending on the time of exposure and the time of neurogenesis assessment (Musaelyan et al., 2014). Further, mice pups given an immune challenge at PN9, showed reduced cell proliferation, and reduced cell number of neural progenitors at PN41 (Järlestedt et al., 2013). Thus, cytokines play an important role during brain development.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Early adversity disrupts the normal concentrations of important neurotransmitters, peptides, hormones, cytokines or their receptors, which are either expressed in the brain or enter the brain compartment during development. These alterations influence the local milieu in the DG, possibly affecting the tertiary dentate matrix and producing a decrease of granular neurons, a decreased cell survival and/or differentiation (**Figure 1**). Compensatory mechanisms, such as differential expression of neurotrophic factors, might, or not, induce a secondary increase of granular neuron synthesis at adult ages, in both male and female rodents. In any case, the alteration of the development of the structure and compensatory mechanisms induce permanent changes in hippocampal function, which are sometimes accompanied by increased anxiety or depressive-like behavior in males.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Author Naima Lajud, managed the literature searches, made substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; wrote a part of the manuscript and revised the work critically, and designed **Figure 1**. Author Luz Torner made the conception and design of the work, managed the literature searches, made **Table 1**, wrote a part of the manuscript, revised the work critically, and wrote the final draft. Both authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Mrs. Coral Beedham for language editing services. Funding was provided by grant FIS/IMSS/PROT/GII/922 to LT from Fondo de Investigacion en Salud (FIS), belonging to the Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social (IMSS). FIS-IMSS had no further role in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the paper for publication.

REFERENCES

- Aisa, B., Elizalde, N., Tordera, R., Lasheras, B., Del Río, J., and Ramírez, M. J. (2009). Effects of neonatal stress on markers of synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus: implications for spatial memory. *Hippocampus* 19, 1222–1231. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20586
- Altman, J., and Bayer, S. A. (1990a). Migration and distribution of two populations of hippocampal granule cell precursors during the perinatal and postnatal periods. J. Comp. Neurol. 301, 365–381. doi: 10.1002/cne.903010304
- Altman, J., and Bayer, S. A. (1990b). Mosaic organization of the hippocampal neuroepithelium and the multiple germinal sources of dentate granule cells. J. Comp. Neurol. 301, 325–342. doi: 10.1002/cne.903010302
- Baek, S. B., Bahn, G., Moon, S. J., Lee, J., Kim, K. H., Ko, I. G., et al. (2011). The phosphodiesterase type-5 inhibitor, tadalafil, improves depressive symptoms, ameliorates memory impairment, as well as suppresses apoptosis and enhances cell proliferation in the hippocampus of maternal-separated rat pups. *Neurosci. Lett.* 488, 26–30. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.10.074
- Baek, S. S., Jun, T. W., Kim, K. J., Shin, M. S., Kang, S. Y., and Kim, C. J. (2012). Effects of postnatal treadmill exercise on apoptotic neuronal cell death and cell proliferation of maternal-separated rat pups. *Brain Dev.* 34, 45–56. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2011.01.011
- Bagot, R. C., van Hasselt, F. N., Champagne, D. L., Meaney, M. J., Krugers, H. J., and Joels M. (2009). Maternal care determines rapid effects of stress mediators on synaptic plasticity in adult rat hippocampal dentate gyrus. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 92, 292–300. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2009.03.004
- Bayer, S. A. (1980). Development of the hippocampal region in the rat. II. Morphogenesis during embryonic and early postnatal life. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 190, 115–134. doi: 10.1002/cne.901900108
- Blume, A., Torner, L., Liu, Y., Subburaju, S., Aguilera, G., and Neumann, I. D. (2009). Prolactin activates mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling and corticotropin releasing hormone transcription in rat hypothalamic neurons. *Endocrinology* 150, 1841–1849. doi: 10.1210/en.20081023
- Brunne, B., Franco, S., Bouché, E., Herz, J., Howell, B. W., Pahle, J., et al. (2013). Role of the postnatal radial glial scaffold for the development of the dentate gyrus as revealed by reelin signaling mutant mice. *Glia* 61, 1347–1363. doi: 10.1002/glia.22519
- Brunson, K. L., Chen, Y., Avishai-Eliner, S., and Baram, T. Z. (2003). Stress and the developing hippocampus: a double-edged sword? *Mol. Neurobiol.* 27, 121–136. doi: 10.1385/MN:27:2:121
- Brunson, K. L., Eghbal-Ahmadi, M., Bender, R., Chen, Y., and Baram, T. Z. (2001). Long-term, progressive hippocampal cell loss and dysfunction induced by early-life administration of corticotropin-releasing hormone reproduce the effects of early-life stress. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 8856–8861. doi: 10.1073/pnas.151224898
- Chen, Y., Bender, R. A., Frotscher, M., and Baram, T. Z. (2001). Novel and transient populations of corticotropin-releasing hormone-expressing neurons in developing hippocampus suggest unique functional roles: a quantitative spatiotemporal analysis. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 7171–7181.
- Daniels, W. M., Pietersen, C. Y., Carstens, M. E., and Stein, D. J. (2004). Maternal separation in rats leads to anxiety-like behavior and a blunted ACTH response and altered neurotransmitter levels in response to a subsequent stressor. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 19, 3–14. doi: 10.1023/B:MEBR.0000027412.19664.b3
- Daskalakis, N. P., Diamantopoulou, A., Claessens, S. E., Remmers, E., Tjälve, M., Oitzl, M. S., et al. (2014). Early experience of a novel-environment in isolation primes a fearful phenotype characterized by persistent amygdala activation. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 39, 39–57. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.09.021
- de Kloet, E. R., Joels, M., and Holsboer, F. (2005a). Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 6, 463–475. doi: 10.1038/nr n1683

- de Kloet, E. R., Sibug, R. M., Helmerhorst, F. M., and Schmidt, M. V. (2005b). Stress, genes and the mechanism of programming the brain for later life. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 29, 271–281. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.10.008
- Diz-Chaves, Y., Astiz, M., Bellini, M. J., and Garcia-Segura, L. M. (2012). Prenatal stress increases the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and exacerbates the inflammatory response to LPS in the hippocampal formation of adult male mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 28, 196–206. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.11.013
- Donner, N., and Neumann, I. D. (2009). Effects of chronic intracerebral prolactin on the oxytocinergic and vasopressinergic system of virgin ovariectomized rats. *Neuroendocrinology* 90, 315–322. doi: 10.1159/000225986
- Eisch, A. J., and Petrik, D. (2012). Depression and hippocampal neurogenesis: a road to remission? *Science* 338, 72–75. doi: 10.1126/science.1222941
- Fabricius, K., Wörtwein, G., and Pakkenberg, B. (2008). The impact of maternal separation on adult mouse behaviour and on the total neuron number in the mouse hippocampus. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 212, 403–416. doi: 10.1007/s00429-007-0169-6
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., et al. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study. Am. J. Prev. Med. 14, 245–258. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(98) 00017-8
- Feng, M., Sheng, G., Li, Z., Wang, J., Ren, K., Jin, X., et al. (2014). Postnatal maternal separation enhances tonic GABA current of cortical layer 5 pyramidal neurons in juvenile rats and promotes genesis of GABAergic neurons in neocortical molecular layer and subventricular zone in adult rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 260, 74–82. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.11.040
- Freeman, M. E., Kanyicska, B., Lerant, A., and Nagy, G. (2000). Prolactin: structure, function, and regulation of secretion. *Physiol. Rev.* 80, 1523–1631.
- Girardi, C. E., Zanta, N. C., and Suchecki, D. (2014). Neonatal stress-induced affective changes in adolescent Wistar rats: early signs of schizophrenia-like behavior. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8:319. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00319
- Gould, E., and Tanapat, P. (1999). Stress and hippocampal neurogenesis. *Biol. Psychiatry* 46, 1472–1479. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00247-4
- Gould, E., Woolley, C. S., Cameron, H. A., Daniels, D. C., and McEwen, B. S. (1991). Adrenal steroids regulate postnatal development of the rat dentate gyrus:
 II. Effects of glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids on cell birth. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 313, 486–493. doi: 10.1002/cne.903130309
- Green, H. F., Treacy, E., Keohane, A. K., Sullivan, A. M., O'Keeffe, G. W., and Nolan, Y. M. (2012). A role for interleukin-1β in determining the lineage fate of embryonic rat hippocampal neural precursor cells. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 49, 311–321. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2012.01.001
- Grissom, E. M., Hawley, W. R., Bromley-Dulfano, S. S., Marino, S. E., Stathopoulos, N. G., and Dohanich, G. P. (2012). Learning strategy is influenced by trait anxiety and early rearing conditions in prepubertal male, but not prepubertal female rats. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 98, 174–181. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2012.06.001
- Hays, S. L., McPherson, R. J., Juul, S. E., Wallace, G., Schindler, A. G., Chavkin, C., et al. (2012). Long-term effects of neonatal stress on adult conditioned place preference (CPP) and hippocampal neurogenesis. *Behav. Brain Res.* 227, 7–11. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.10.033
- Heim, C., and Nemeroff, C. B. (2001). The role of childhood trauma in the neurobiology of mood and anxiety disorders: preclinical and clinical studies. *Biol. Psychiatry* 49, 1023–1039. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01157-X
- Horii-Hayashi, N., Sasagawa, T., Matsunaga, W., Matsusue, Y., Azuma, C., and Nishi, M. (2013). Developmental changes in desensitisation of c-Fos expression induced by repeated maternal separation in pre-weaned mice. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 25, 158–167. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2012.02377.x
- Hulshof, H. J., Novati, A., Sgoifo, A., Luiten, P. G., den Boer, J. A., and Meerlo, P. (2011). Maternal separation decreases adult hippocampal cell proliferation and impairs cognitive performance but has little effect on stress sensitivity and anxiety in adult Wistar rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 216, 552–560. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.08.038
- Huot, R. L., Plotsky, P. M., Lenox, R. H., and McNamara, R. K. (2002). Neonatal maternal separation reduces hippocampal mossy fiber density in adult Long Evans rats. *Brain Res.* 950, 52–63. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(02)0 2985-2
- Ivy, A. S., Brunson, K. L., Sandman, C., and Baram, T. Z. (2008). Dysfunctional nurturing behavior in rat dams with limited access to nesting material: a clinically relevant model for early-life stress. *Neuroscience* 154, 1132–1142. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.04.019

- Ivy, A. S., Rex, C. S., Chen, Y., Dubé, C, Maras, P. M., Grigoriadis, D. E., et al. (2010). Hippocampal dysfunction and cognitive impairments provoked by chronic earlylife stress involve excessive activation of CRH receptors. J. Neurosci. 30, 13005– 13015. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1784-10.2010
- Järlestedt, K., Naylor, A. S., Dean, J., Hagberg, H., and Mallard, C. (2013). Decreased survival of newborn neurons in the dorsal hippocampus after neonatal LPS exposure in mice. *Neuroscience* 253, 21–28. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.08.040
- Jun, H., Mohammed Qasim Hussaini, S., Rigby, M. J., and Jang, M. H. (2012). Functional role of adult hippocampal neurogenesis as a therapeutic strategy for mental disorders. *Neural Plast.* 2012:854285. doi: 10.1155/2012/854285
- Karakaş, P., Bozkir, M. G., Dere, F., Melik, E., Melik, E. B., Kaya, M., et al. (2009). The effects of maternal deprivation on the hippocampal structure in adult rats. *Can. J. Neurol. Sci.* 36, 356–362.
- Kikusui, T., and Mori, Y. (2009). Behavioural and neurochemical consequences of early weaning in rodents. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 21, 427–431. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2009.01837.x
- King, R. S., DeBassio, W. A., Kemper, T. L., Rosene, D. L., Tonkiss, J., Galler, J. R., et al. (2004). Effects of prenatal protein malnutrition and acute postnatal stress on granule cell genesis in the fascia dentata of neonatal and juvenile rats. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 150, 9–15. doi: 10.1016/j.devbrainres.2004.02.002
- Kofman, O. (2002). The role of prenatal stress in the etiology of developmental behavioural disorders. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 26, 457–470. doi:10.1016/S0149-7634(02)00015-5
- Korosi, A., Naninck, E. F., Oomen, C. A., Schouten, M., Krugers, H., Fitzsimons, C., et al. (2012). Early-life stress mediated modulation of adult neurogenesis and behavior. *Behav. Brain Res.* 227, 400–409. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.07.037
- Lajud, N., Gonzalez-Zapien, R., Roque, A., Tinajero, E., Valdez, J. J., Clapp, C., et al. (2013). Prolactin administration during early postnatal life decreases hippocampal and olfactory bulb neurogenesis and results in depressive-like behavior in adulthood. *Horm. Behav.* 64, 781–789. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2013.10.005
- Lajud, N., Roque, A., Cajero, M., Gutierrez-Ospina, G., and Torner, L. (2012a). Periodic maternal separation decreases hippocampal neurogenesis without affecting basal corticosterone during the stress hyporesponsive period, but alters HPA axis and coping behavior in adulthood. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 37, 410–420. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.07.011
- Lajud, N., Roque, A., Junco, M., Meléndez, E., and Torner, L. (2012b). "Early effects of periodic maternal separation are reversed on adult female rats despite of gonadal hormones absence," in *Proceedings of the FALAN First International Congress*, Cancún.
- Lee, J. H., Kim, H. J., Kim, J. G., Ryu, V., Kim, B. T., Kang, D. W., et al. (2007). Depressive behaviors and decreased expression of serotonin reuptake transporter in rats that experienced neonatal maternal separation. *Neurosci. Res.* 58, 32–39. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2007.01.008
- Lemaire, V., Koehl, M., Le, M. M., and Abrous, D. N. (2000). Prenatal stress produces learning deficits associated with an inhibition of neurogenesis in the hippocampus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A* 97, 11032–11037. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.20.11032
- Leslie, A. T., Akers, K. G., Krakowski, A. D., Stone, S. S., Sakaguchi, M., Arruda-Carvalho, M., et al. (2011). Impact of early adverse experience on complexity of adult-generated neurons. *Transl. Psychiatry* 1:e35. doi: 10.1038/tp.2011.38
- Li, G., Kataoka, H., Coughlin, S. R., and Pleasure, S. J. (2009). Identification of a transient subpial neurogenic zone in the developing dentate gyrus and its regulation by Cxcl12 and reelin signaling. *Development* 136, 327–335. doi: 10.1242/dev.025742
- Liao, X.-M, Yang, X. D., Jia, J., Li, J. T., Xie, X. M., Su, Y. A., et al. (2014). Blockade of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 attenuates early-life stress-induced synaptic abnormalities in the neonatal hippocampus. *Hippocampus* 24, 528–540. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22254
- Loi, M., Koricka, S., Lucassen, P. J., and Joëls, M. (2014). Age- and sex-dependent effects of early life stress on hippocampal neurogenesis. *Front. Endocrinol.* 5:13. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00013
- Martin, L. A., Tan, S. S., and Goldowitz, D. (2002). Clonal architecture of the mouse hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 22, 3520–3530.
- Mirescu, C., Peters, J. D., and Gould, E. (2004). Early life experience alters response of adult neurogenesis to stress. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 841–846. doi: 10.1038/nn1290
- Musaelyan, K., Egeland, M., Fernandes, C., Pariante, C. M., Zunszain, P. A., and Thuret, S. (2014). Modulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis by early-life environmental challenges triggering immune activation. *Neural Plast.* 2014:194396. doi: 10.1155/2014/194396

- Naninck, E. F., Hoeijmakers, L., Kakava-Georgiadou, N., Meesters, A., Lazic, S. E., Lucassen, P. J., et al. (2014). Chronic early-life stress alters developmental and adult neurogenesis and impairs cognitive function in mice. *Hippocampus*. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22374 [Epub ahead of print].
- Newport, D. J., Stowe, Z. N., and Nemeroff, C. B. (2002). Parental depression: animal models of an adverse life event. Am. J. Psychiatry 159, 1265–1283. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.8.1265
- Nishi, M., Horii-Hayashi, N., and Sasagawa, T. (2014). Effects of early life adverse experiences on the brain: implications from maternal separation models in rodents. *Front. Neurosci.* 8:166. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00166
- Oomen, C. A., Girardi, C. E., Cahyadi, R., Verbeek, E. C., Krugers, H., Joëls, M., et al. (2009). Opposite effects of early maternal deprivation on neurogenesis in male versus female rats. *PLoS ONE* 4:e3675. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 003675
- Oomen, C. A., Soeters, H., Audureau, N., Vermunt, L., van Hasselt, F. N., and Manders, E. M. (2010). Severe early life stress hampers spatial learning and neurogenesis, but improves hippocampal synaptic plasticity and emotional learning under high stress conditions in adulthood. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 6635–6645. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0247-10.2010
- Oomen, C. A., Soeters, H., Audureau, N., Vermunt, L., van Hasselt, F. N., Manders, E. M., et al. (2011). Early maternal deprivation affects dentate gyrus structure and emotional learning in adult female rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 214, 249–260. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-19228
- Oreland, S., Nylander, I., and Pickering, C. (2010). Prolonged maternal separation decreases granule cell number in the dentate gyrus of 3-week-old male rats. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 28, 139–144. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2009.12.005
- Petrik, D., Lagace, D. C., and Eisch, A. J. (2012). The neurogenesis hypothesis of affective and anxiety disorders: are we mistaking the scaffolding for the building? *Neuropharmacology* 62, 21–34. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.09.003
- Plotsky, P. M., Thrivikraman, K. V., Nemeroff, C. B., Caldji, C., Sharma, S., and Meaney, M. J. (2005). Long-term consequences of neonatal rearing on central corticotropin-releasing factor systems in adult male rat offspring. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 30, 2192–2204. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300769
- Raceková, E., Lievajová, K., Danko, J., Martoncíková, M., Flesárová, S., Almasiová, V., et al. (2009). Maternal separation induced alterations of neurogenesis in the rat rostral migratory stream. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 29, 811–819. doi: 10.1007/s10571-009-9362-x
- Sanchez, M. M., Ladd, C. O., and Plotsky, P. M. (2001). Early adverse experience as a developmental risk factor for later psychopathology: evidence from rodent and primate models. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 13, 419–449. doi: 10.1017/S0954579401003029
- Santarelli, L., Saxe, M., Gross, C., Surget, A., Battaglia, F., Dulawa, S., et al. (2003). Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. *Science* 301, 805–809. doi: 10.1126/science.1083328
- Sapolsky, R. M., and Meaney, M. J. (1986). Maturation of the adrenocortical stress response: neuroendocrine control mechanisms and the stress hyporesponsive period. *Brain Res.* 396, 64–76. doi: 10.1016/0165-0173(86)90010-X
- Schlessinger, A. R., Cowan, W. M., and Gottlieb, D. I. (1975). An autoradiographic study of the time of origin and the pattern of granule cell migration in the dentate gyrus of the rat. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 159, 149–175. doi: 10.1002/cne.901 590202
- Schmidt, M. V., Sterlemann, V., Wagner, K., Niederleitner, B., Ganea, K., Liebl, C., et al. (2009). Postnatal glucocorticoid excess due to pituitary glucocorticoid receptor deficiency: differential short- and long-term consequences. *Endocrinology* 150, 2709–2716. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-1211
- Shingo, T., Gregg, C., Enwere, E., Fujikawa, H., Hassam, R., Geary, C., et al. (2003). Pregnancy-stimulated neurogenesis in the adult female forebrain mediated by prolactin. *Science* 299, 117–120. doi: 10.1126/science.1076647
- Suchecki, D., Mozaffarian, D., Gross, G., Rosenfeld, P., and Levine, S. (1993). Effects of maternal deprivation on the ACTH stress response in the infant rat. *Neuroendocrinology* 57, 204–212. doi: 10.1159/000126361
- Suri, D., Veenit, V., Sarkar, A., Thiagarajan, D., Kumar, A., Nestler, E. J., et al. (2013). Early stress evokes age-dependent biphasic changes in hippocampal neurogenesis, BDNF expression, and cognition. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73, 658–666. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.10.023
- Tanapat, P., Galea, L. A., and Gould, E. (1998). Stress inhibits the proliferation of granule cell precursors in the developing dentate gyrus. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 16, 235–239. doi: 10.1016/S0736-5748(98)00029-X

- Torner, L., Karg, S., Blume, A., Kandasamy, M., Kuhn, H. G., Winkler, J., et al. (2009). Prolactin prevents chronic stress-induced decrease of adult hippocampal neurogenesis and promotes neuronal fate. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 1826–1833. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3178-08.2009
- Torner, L., Toschi, N., Pohlinger, A., Landgraf, R., and Neumann, I. D., (2001). Anxiolytic and anti-stress effects of brain prolactin: improved efficacy of antisense targeting of the prolactin receptor by molecular modeling. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 3207– 3214.
- Tsuda, M. C., and Ogawa, S. (2012). Long-lasting consequences of neonatal maternal separation on social behaviors in ovariectomized female mice. *PLoS ONE* 7:e33028. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033028
- Vega, C., Moreno-Carranza, B., Zamorano, M., Quintanar-Stephano, A., Mendez, I., Thebault, S., et al. (2010). Prolactin promotes oxytocin and vasopressin release by activating neuronal nitric oxide synthase in the supraoptic and paraventricular nuclei. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 299, R1701–R1708. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00575.2010
- Walsh, R. J., Slaby, F. J., and Posner, B. I., (1987). A receptor-mediated mechanism for the transport of prolactin from blood to cerebrospinal fluid. *Endocrinology* 120, 1846–1850. doi: 10.1210/endo-120-5-1846
- Wang, A., Nie, W., Li, H., Hou, Y., Yu, Z., Fan, Q., et al. (2014). Epigenetic upregulation of corticotropin-releasing hormone mediates postnatal maternal separation-induced memory deficiency. *PLoS ONE* 9:e94394. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0094394
- Wang, H., and Gondré-Lewis, M. C. (2013). Prenatal nicotine and maternal deprivation stress de-regulate the development of CA1, CA3, and dentate gyrus neurons in hippocampus of infant rats. *PLoS ONE* 8:e65517. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065517
- Wang, X. D., Labermaier, C., Holsboer, F., Wurst, W., Deussing, J. M., Müller, M. B., et al. (2012). Early-life stress-induced anxiety-related behavior in adult mice partially requires forebrain corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 36, 2360–2367. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08148.x

- Yi, S. J., and Baram, T. Z. (1994). Corticotropin-releasing hormone mediates the response to cold stress in the neonatal rat without compensatory enhancement of the peptide's gene expression. *Endocrinology* 135, 2364–2368.
- Zamorano, M., Ledesma-Colunga, M. G., Adán, N., Vera-Massieu, C., Lemini, M., Méndez, I., et al. (2014). Prolactin-derived vasoinhibins increase anxietyand depression-related behaviors. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 44, 123–132. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.03.006
- Zhang, J. M., Konkle, A. T., Zup, S. L., and McCarthy, M. M. (2008). Impact of sex and hormones on new cells in the developing rat hippocampus: a novel source of sex dimorphism? *Eur. J Neurosci.* 27, 791–800. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06073.x
- Zhang, K., Xu, H., Cao, L., Li, K., and Huang, Q. (2013). Interleukin-1β inhibits the differentiation of hippocampal neural precursor cells into serotonergic neurons. *Brain Res.* 1490, 193–201. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.10.025

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 October 2014; accepted: 15 January 2015; published online: 13 February 2015.

Citation: Lajud N and Torner L (2015) Early life stress and hippocampal neurogenesis in the neonate: sexual dimorphism, long term consequences and possible mediators. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 8:3. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00003

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2015 Lajud and Torner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Gene-environment interaction in programming hippocampal plasticity: focus on adult neurogenesis

Muriel Koehl^{1,2}*

¹ INSERM U862, Magendie Neurocenter, Neurogenesis and Pathophysiology Group, Institut F. Magendie, Bordeaux Cedex, France, ² Université de Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France

Interactions between genes and environment are a critical feature of development and both contribute to shape individuality. They are at the core of vulnerability resiliency for mental illnesses. During the early postnatal period, several brain structures involved in cognitive and emotional processing, such as the hippocampus, still develop and it is likely that interferences with this neuronal development, which is genetically determined, might lead to long-lasting structural and functional consequences and increase the risk of developing psychopathology. One particular target is adult neurogenesis, which is involved in the regulation of cognitive and emotional processes. Insights into the dynamic interplay between genes and environmental factors in setting up individual rates of neurogenesis have come from laboratory studies exploring experience-dependent changes in adult neurogenesis as a function of individual's genetic makeup. These studies have implications for our understanding of the mechanisms regulating adult neurogenesis, which could constitute a link between environmental challenges and psychopathology.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China

Reviewed by:

Baojin Ding, University of Massachusetts Medical School, USA Yan Gu, SUNY Stony Brook, USA

*Correspondence:

Muriel Koehl, INSERM U862, Magendie Neurocenter, Neurogenesis and Pathophysiology Group, Institut F. Magendie, 146 Rue Léo Saignat, Bordeaux Cedex 33077, France muriel.koehl@inserm.fr

> Received: 30 April 2015 Accepted: 15 July 2015 Published: 04 August 2015

Citation:

Koehl M (2015) Gene-environment interaction in programming hippocampal plasticity: focus on adult neurogenesis. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 8:41. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00041 Keywords: genetics, environment, life events, hippocampus, neurogenesis, strain

Introduction

Clinical studies related both to neurodegenerative and psychiatric illnesses indicate that geneenvironment interactions play an important part in the expression or the etiology of these diseases. Thus, examples of genetic pathologies that are differently expressed according to the environment (Migliore and Coppedè, 2009), such as huntington disease (Mo et al., 2015), Alzheimer disease (Swaminathan and Jicha, 2014) or Parkinson disease (Kieburtz and Wunderle, 2013) are now available, and both epidemiologic and clinical reports point to an important role of life events in precipitating mental disease (Caspi et al., 2003; Caspi and Moffitt, 2006).

In this context, because they act during critical developmental periods, environmental factors at play during early life have definitive "reprogramming" effects and gene-early life environmental factors were shown to interact to define vulnerability or resiliency for mental illnesses in adulthood (Heim et al., 2010). During the early postnatal period, several brain structures involved in cognitive and emotional processing, such as the hippocampus, still develop (Schlessinger et al., 1975; Altman and Bayer, 1990). It is thus very likely that interferences with this neuronal development, which is genetically determined, might lead to long-lasting structural and functional consequences and increase the risk of developing psychopathology. A particular feature of the dentate gyrus (DG) is the ability to produce new neurons in adulthood, a process that was shown to contribute to specialized functions such as

learning and memory (Koehl and Abrous, 2011) and control of anxiety and mood states (Revest et al., 2009), hence the interest in the different factors involved in its regulation.

Although a central issue in psychiatry is to determine how the gene-environment interactions can explain individual differences in vulnerability/resiliency to psychopathology, in the context of adult neurogenesis, genetic and environmental factors are often studied alone in approaches that attempt to reduce the experimental variation by focusing on one strain. Nevertheless a few examples of the literature have tackled the importance of this interaction, which will be the focus of this review after a brief presentation of methods in gene-environment studies and of adult neurogenesis.

Importance of Gene-Environment Interplay in Shaping Phenotype: A Historical Overview

Our current scientific opinion regarding the origin of individual differences in personality, aptitudes, and behavioral traits in general, is that neither genetic nor environmental differences are solely responsible for producing phenotypic variation, and that virtually all traits result from the joint influence of genetic and environmental factors. However, this consensual view took time and effort to prevail, and heated nature vs. nurture debates, which assumed that variation in a trait is primarily due to either genetic or environmental differences, were opposing scientists in the 1940's and 1950's.

The original compromise and recognition that both genes and environmental factors could explain a part of the phenotypic variance led to a simple equation: Phenotypic variance (V_P) = Genetic variance (V_G) + Environmental variance (V_E) , and two major approaches have been developed and used by behavior geneticist to analyze the respective contribution of both factors: the first one consists in studying the effects of environment alone by holding the genetic make-up of the individual constant ($V_P = V_E$). In essence this consists in placing individuals of the same genotype in different environments and comparing their phenotypic response. This approach, which can be easily developed in humans-comparing twins raised in different families (Bouchard et al., 1990)-, benefits from the existence of inbred strains of mice in which all individuals are isogenic, allowing to directly test the influence of environmental impact. As one can imagine, the second approach consists in studying the effects of genes alone by holding environment constant ($V_P = V_G$). Typical example is the use of knockouts (KO), mainly in mice, or selective breeding of rats for a specific trait that is selected and enriched across generations. One of the first influential studies addressing this aspect is a classic selective breeding study in which Tryon (1942) selected rats for their ability to find their way in a maze. He mated the animals that made the fewest errors (maze bright) together and the ones that made the most errors (maze dull) together. Then he mated the most similar offspring for 21 generations, and after seven generations, he had already developed two genetically different lines of rats (maze bright and maze dull). This study was highly influential in the field of psychology for showing that specific behavioral traits may be hereditary.

Finally, with the recognition that phenotypic variance was sometimes not explained by the simple additive contribution of genetic and environmental factors, a third term V_{GE}, which measures how much of this variance is due to an interaction between the genotype and the environment, has been introduced. It can be experimentally approached by comparing the effects of different environments on different genotypes. Among the first examples of this approach, Cooper and Zubek compared the performances of Tyron's rats when raised in either a restricted (an empty cage with gray walls) or an enriched environment (EE; a cage with designs on its walls that contained objects such as ramps, mirrors, swings, balls, slides, and tunnels). They observed a drastic decrease in the performances of bright rats when raised in the restricted environment, which did not affect the already bad performances of dull rats, and an improvement of the performances of dull rats that reached bright rats levels when raised in an EE. With regard to these results, Cooper and Zubek argued that heredity and environment always interact to produce final behavior (Cooper and Zubek, 1958).

Following up this seminal experiment, many studies have been conducted along that line, among which I selected two as they have been, to my point of view, highly influential in the field. In the first one, Crabbe et al. (1999) compared the behavior of mice from different strains in different labs, but using the exact same protocols and apparatus. He showed as expected that genotype was a highly significant parameter for all behaviors studied, accounting for 30-80% of the total variability, and that several documented strain differences were confirmed. However he also found that despite standardization, there were systematic differences across labs, and that for some tests, the magnitude of genetic differences depended upon the testing lab. Altogether the authors highlighted that given the importance of the gene-environment interactions revealed in their study, "experiments characterizing mutants may yield results that are idiosyncratic to a particular laboratory". The second study performed by Francis and colleagues aimed at distinguishing genetic and early environment contributions to the expression of adult behavior in mice. To this end, they used classical fostering approaches, and investigated the effects of prenatal (embryo transfer) and postnatal (cross-fostering) environments in two strains of inbred mice with profound and reliable differences in behavior, namely C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice. They found that C57Bl/6J mice that developed in a Balb/cJ uterus and were reared by a Balb/cJ mother displayed a Balb/cJ phenotype in most behavior tested (exploration, anxiety, spatial learning), while C57Bl/6J mice exposed only to a uterine or a postanatal Balb/cJ environment did not change their phenotype. For the first time, this dataset emphasized the crucial interaction of pre- and post-natal environments in shaping the development of selected behaviors, and further indicated that prenatal environment may prime the developing pup to respond to postnatal environment-most certainly cues delivered by maternal care-in a way that would allow a strainspecific behavior to develop independently of genotype (Francis et al., 2003). Although this study very elegantly demonstrated

the importance of gene-environment interactions, one can regret that the same experimental design was not applied to Balb/cJ mice as it is highly probable that these environmental influences can act only within a genetic constraint and that different sensitivities can be expected depending on genetic background, a hypothesis that remains to be tested as of today.

The Biology of Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis

Neurogenesis was until quite recently thought to be specifically an ontogenetic aspect of Central Nervous System (CNS) development. However during the last 20 years there has been unequivocal evidence that new neurons are produced in adulthood, not only in lower vertebrates, but also in mammalian species including humans. Two discrete zones of the adult brain have been described as neurogenic: the olfactory bulb and the DG of the hippocampal formation, the focus of this review.

Adult neurogenesis is permitted by the maintenance in the DG of a neurogenic niche that derives from the tertiary dentate matrix mostly active during the early postnatal period and from which most granule cells of the DG are originating (for review, see Lajud and Torner, 2015). This neurogenic niche is composed of neural stem cells and progenitors that produce immature new neurons; these migrate locally into the granule cell layer (GCL) to become dentate granule cells. Adult neurogenesis appears to recapitulate the complete process of neuronal development, ranging from neural progenitor activation and fate determination, to differentiation, migration, and axonal and dendritic development of newborn neurons, to synapse formation and functional integration into the existing neural circuitry (**Figure 1**).

Adult neurogenesis is tightly regulated by the local environment, the so called "neurogenic niche" that is composed of the extracellular matrix and various cell types, including astroglia, ependymal cells, endothelial cells, immature progeny of adult neural stem cells and mature neurons within the local circuitry. The niche is also a target of many physiological, pathological and pharmacological stimuli that regulate adult neurogenesis.

Gene-Environment Interplay in Controlling Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis

Both genetic and environmental contributions to adult neurogenesis have been, and are still, widely studied. Thus in the course of the last 20 years, direct strain comparisons and analysis of the genetic contribution to the variance observed in adult neurogenesis has shown that genetic variation among strains accounted for differences in all aspects of hippocampal neurogenesis, proliferation, survival and differentiation, as well as overall hippocampal volume and total cell numbers (Kempermann et al., 1997a), and that 85% of the variance in neurogenesis between strains could be accounted for by different cell-survival rates while proliferation was only a mild predictor of neurogenesis (Kempermann et al., 2006). Many genes have been singled out that control the different steps of neurogenesis, constituting a molecular signature (Miller et al., 2013), and we refer readers to the MANGO database that lists the different genes involved in controlling non pathological neurogenesis (Overall et al., 2012). In regard to these data, the prevailing view is that adult neurogenesis is a complex phenomenon that is likely to be controlled by the interaction of several regulatory loci involving many genes, and not one master regulatory locus acting as a switch to turn neurogenesis "on" or "off". In parallel, many studies have shown that different life events were capable of regulating or controlling neurogenesis, and both adult experience (Opendak and Gould, 2015) and early life events (for review, see Fenoglio et al., 2006; Korosi et al., 2012; Lucassen et al., 2013; Hoeijmakers et al., 2014) largely contribute to its levels, the impact of early life events appearing more pervasive and permanent, certainly for they act during developmental periods.

On the opposite, studies carefully controlling both genetic and environmental factors in order to assess the importance of their interactions in determining adult neurogenesis are scarce. The most important ones are those related to the impact of early life environment for the known role of factors acting during this period in shaping phenotypes, and I will focus on these studies. However, because there are only a few of them, and because much information can be gained from the analysis of gene-later life environment interactions, I will also detail these latter studies.

Impact of Early Life Environment

Many studies have reported that prenatal stress (PS) plays a very influential role in determining the rate of adult neurogenesis (Lemaire et al., 2000; Ortega-Martínez, 2015), but very few have visited this question in relation to genetic background. To the best of our knowledge, only one study by Lucassen and colleagues addressed this issue and compared the impact of PS on early postnatal neurogenesis between rats genetically divergent as issued from a selective breeding for high- and low-anxietyrelated behavior, high anxiety bred (HAB) and low anxiety bred (LAB) respectively (Lucassen et al., 2009). As hypothesized, the effects of PS were found to be dependent on the genetic background of the mother and the survival rate of newborn cells and the number of immature neurons doublecortin immunoreactive (DCX-IR) were significantly altered in offspring of stressed HAB rats compared to control HAB but not in offspring of LAB rats. Authors also tested whether the different sensitivity of HAB and LAB rats may be related to placental 11β-HSD2 levels as their variations were found to represent a physiological link between environmental challenges to the pregnant female and programming of the fetal brain, and found increased levels of 11β-HSD2 activity in PS-LAB, suggesting it may have a protecting effect against the programming consequences of PS.

The impact of the postnatal period has been addressed in mice, a gold standard model for this type of analysis because they offer a large variety of genetic backgrounds, but again these studies are scarce. Thus neurogenesis was found to be insensitive to maternal separation (Navailles et al., 2008) in mice from two strains known to differ in their stress reactivity


and their levels of neurogenesis: C57Bl/6J, which exhibit a strong resistance to stress—albeit not to early life events (Francis et al., 2003)-, and high levels of neurogenesis, and Balb/cJ, which are known for their liability to stress and low levels of neurogenesis (Kempermann et al., 1997a). Interestingly, this postnatal manipulation strongly inhibits neurogenesis in outbred rats (Mirescu et al., 2004; Oomen et al., 2010), thus raising the question of strain sensitivity to postnatal developmental forces. In order to address this question, we have developed a model allowing to single out the influence of the genetic make-up of the individual on the outcome of maternal care on adult neurogenesis. We selected C57Bl/6J mice and DBA/2J mice for their differences in baseline neurogenesis (Kempermann and Gage, 2002) as well as in their sensitivity to environmental experiences, DBA/2J mice appearing more vulnerable than C57Bl/6J mice (Cabib et al., 2000). Mice from both strains were raised by mothers of non-related strains that displayed high and low levels of maternal care, independently of the strain of fostered pups. This experimental design allowed us to compare neurogenesis in mice from two different genetic backgrounds exposed to the same environmental influences. We reported that maternal care had a major impact on neurogenesis-targeting both the number of immature newborn cells and their morphology-exclusively in DBA/2J mice, thus genetically prone to respond to these influences (Koehl et al., 2012). Interestingly, we had previously reported that DBA/2J mice raised in a high maternal care environment exhibited an anhedonic endophenotype (van der Veen et al., 2008) that could be linked to the delayed maturation of immature granule cells, while C57Bl/6J mice showed resiliency to both the neuroanatomical and behavioral consequences of variations in maternal care. This is particularly relevant to the human condition as most psychiatric theories relate the development of depression to a disruption of mother-infant interactions in certain vulnerable individuals (Rutter et al., 2006), and as neurogenesis has been linked to the effects of antidepressants (see below).

Finally, taken together with results of Navailles et al. (2008), this study confirms that the setpoint for adult neurogenesis in C57Bl/6J mice appears independent of the postnatal environment and a rapid analysis would lead to the conclusion that this setpoint is determined prenatally for C57Bl/6J mice and postnatally for DBA/2J mice, while it may not be influenced by early environment in Balb/cJ mice. However, because an interaction of both pre and postnatal environments was found to be necessary to influence behavior in adult C57bl/6J mice (Francis et al., 2003), and because some postnatal manipulations, such as handling, have no net impact on neurogenesis but can counteract the impact of PS in outbred rats (Lemaire et al., 2006), we cannot exclude that neurogenesis in C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice is determined by a combination of pre and postnatal factors that need to play in synergy.

Impact of Enriched Environment and Voluntary Exercise

Early life events are not the only shaping factors of adult neurogenesis that have been studied in the context of geneenvironment and researchers have showed a lot of interest for the impact of voluntary exercise, one of the most potent adult regulator of neurogenesis. The first evidences of genetic differences in response to complex environment in adulthood are indirect and emerge from comparing results from different studies. Thus in his seminal paper published in 1997 in Nature, Gerd Kempermann reported that upbringing weanling female mice from the C57Bl/6J strain in an EE for 40 days elicited a robust increase in the survival of newly born cells while it had little or no influence on their proliferative activity (Kempermann et al., 1997b). In parallel, he also reported the existence of a drastic variation in baseline levels of precursor proliferation among different mouse strains (Kempermann et al., 1997a), with mice from the 129/SvJ strain having extremely low levels of adult neurogenesis compared to most other inbred strains, and in particular C57Bl/6Jmice. Using the exact same environmental procedure as in his earlier study, he then analyzed

the impact of EE in these mice, and reported that in contrast to C57Bl/6J mice, it increased proliferation of progenitor cells as well as the net number of surviving cells, although it actually decreased their survival rate, in 129/SvJ mice. Although he did not run a direct comparison of the two strains responsiveness, he found that the net neurogenic effect of EE was similar in C57Bl/6J and 129Sv/J mice, but that the mechanisms involved differed. This is consistent with the fact that proliferation, survival and differentiation of progenitor cells and their progeny are each separately influenced by inheritable traits and not uniformly upregulated in response to environmental stimulation (Kempermann et al., 1998).

Following up on this seminal discovery, Van Praag and colleagues attempted to separate components of the EE that could explain its pro-survival effect and focused on physical activity (van Praag et al., 1999). They showed in the same mouse line (C57Bl/6J) that voluntary exercise in a running wheel strongly increased cell survival, albeit to a lower extent than EE. It also strongly stimulated cell proliferation, an effect not observed in the EE condition in this strain. Since then the sensitivity of divergent inbred strains of mice to voluntary exercise has been complemented by direct strain comparisons. Thus a study comparing the neurogenic response to exercise in 12 isogenic mouse strains reported that although exercise increased neurogenesis in all 12 strains tested, the magnitude of the effect depended on genotype (Clark et al., 2011). In particular, C57Bl/6J mice, which are the most widely used in studies related to exercise that do not take into consideration genetic influences, was found to be the least responsive strain. Furthermore, a significant percentage of the strain variation in exercise-induced neurogenesis could be accounted for by the distance the animals ran, but removing this factor did not abolish the strain effect, indicating that the quantitative increase in total number of new neurons resulting from exercise differs between strains with some strains showing relatively more new neurons for the same amount of running as compared to others. For example, 129-related strains were found to display a very strong relationship between level of wheel running and number of new neurons, C57Bl/6J mice were intermediate, and DBA/2J showed near zero or negative correlations, indicating no relationship between wheel running and number of new neurons (Merritt and Rhodes, 2015). The same type of observation was reported in another study specifically comparing the effects of exercise on C57Bl/6J and DBA/2J mice, which even reported that although running has pro-proliferative and pro-survival consequences in C57Bl/6J mice, it has only a delayed pro-proliferative effect in DBA/2Jmice that is not correlated to the amount of running (Overall et al., 2013). Altogether this discrepancy between the two strains comforts indications that proliferation and survival programs are mediated by different mechanisms (Kempermann et al., 2006). Interestingly it was also reported that genetic variation in neurogenesis under standard housing conditions was unrelated to running levels of neurogenesis, suggesting that different genes influence variation in adult hippocampal neurogenesis under sedentary vs. runner conditions. Authors further analyzed heritability (the proportion of differences of a trait among individuals of a population that are due to genetic differences), and reported a heritability score of 0.53 for sedentary and 0.33 for runner mice, all strains confounded (Clark et al., 2011).

Impact of Pharmacological Treatment: Example of Fluoxetine

Similarly to the impact of EE and voluntary exercise, first evidences of strain differences in neurogenic sensitivity to pharmacological treatments are indirect. Thus after proproliferative consequences of treatments with serotonin-specific reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) antidepressants such as fluoxetine were reported (Malberg et al., 2000), Santarelli and colleagues further analyzed the neurogenic consequences of this treatment and reported an increase in cell proliferation (Santarelli et al., 2003) as well as a stimulation of dendritic maturation of newborn cells (Wang et al., 2008) in 129SvEv mice. They also showed that disrupting the neurogenic effects of fluoxetine by irradiation disrupted its behavioral consequences, thus suggesting that neurogenesis is required for the behavioral effects of antidepressants (Santarelli et al., 2003).

Following this seminal paper, studies from the same group and others brought controversies in the conclusion. Thus the same authors administered fluoxetine to Balb/cJ mice, a strain prone to anxiety that is used to develop behavioral tests of antidepressants sensitive to chronic but not acute treatment, as observed in humans. They reported that irradiation did not prevent the behavioral effects of fluoxetine while it dramatically reduced adult neurogenesis by ablating progenitor cells. As this result was in opposition to their previous observations, they checked many alternative explanation to conclude that the differences in response to chronic fluoxetine were linked to the strain of mice used and not the tests and paradigms used (Holick et al., 2008).

Although this seems conceivable, a thorough reading of their first study indicated that in order to reach this conclusion, they had also used mice from the Balb/cJ strain and reported the same global observations: irradiation, which blocks cell proliferation, prevented the action of fluoxetine on behavioral responses to chronic unpredictable stress, leaving the question of Balb/cJ mice neurogenic sensitivity to fluoxetine unsolved. However, contemporaneous papers confirmed that although Balb/cJ mice respond behaviorally to chronic fluoxetine treatment, they do not display any increase in neurogenesis (Huang et al., 2008), confirming the assumption of strain differences in sensitivity to fluoxetine, and indicating that neurogenesis may not always be required for the behavioral effects of fluoxetine, which appear to be strain dependent.

Confirming these indirect conclusions, a study by Navailles and collaborators directly compared neurogenic responses of Balb/cJ and C57Bl/6J mice to fluoxetine treatment during adolescence and found that although both strains reacted with an initial increase in cell proliferation, the expected increase in 2 weeks old cells observed in C57Bl/6J was totally absent in Balb/cJ mice, suggesting that the newborn cells did not survive in this strain (Navailles et al., 2008).

Altogether, although they have not been exploited in this direction so far, these strain differences are extremely interesting



if one considers that responsiveness to antidepressants is highly variable among patients and that this strain difference certainly has clinical relevance. We thus propose to complete Holick and colleagues statement that "*it is imperative that future studies utilize rodent behavioral models sensitive to chronic antidepressant treatment to dissect which of these neural changes play a causal role in their behavioral effects"* (Holick et al., 2008) by adding that it is also imperative to thoroughly compare sensitive and insensitive strains to dissect the neural changes induced by treatment that are specifically relevant for their behavioral consequences.

Conclusion

The latent idea behind gene-environment interaction studies is to identify molecular or neurobiological factors common to high responding strains and uncommon to non-responding strains that are capable of governing the genesis of new neurons in the adult hippocampus. As this field of research is still at its premises, studies so far have mainly demonstrated the existence of a complex interaction between genetic constraints and life events but none of them has yet identified the mechanisms involved. A

References

Altman, J., and Bayer, S. A. (1990). Migration and distribution of two populations of hippocampal granule cell precursors during the perinatal and postnatal periods. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 301, 365–381. doi: 10.1002/cne.9030 10304 proposed setup for future studies would be to analyze changes in gene expression in strains showing sensitivity and resistance to a specific environmental stimulation (**Figure 2**) in order to isolate those changes that specifically support vulnerability and resiliency of adult neurogenesis to environmental challenges.

Overall, data presented in this review thus indicate that in addition to genes that have been isolated for their control of the different phases of neurogenesis, the regulation of adult neurogenesis is also governed by a set of genes that confer to an individual an increased sensitivity or a certain resistance to life events. Isolating these genes (**Figure 2**), the mechanisms by which environmental factors can affect their expression, and the mechanisms by which they regulate adult neurogenesis will constitute major steps in our understanding of individual differences in adult neuroplasticity.

Acknowledgments

Author is supported by INSERM, CNRS, University of Bordeaux, Région Aquitaine, Agence Nationale pour la Recherche (ANR-14-CE13-0026-02), and labex Brain.

Bouchard, T. J. Jr., Lykken, D. T., McGue, M., Segal, N. L., and Tellegen, A. (1990). Sources of human psychological differences: the minnesota study of twins reared apart. *Science* 250, 223–228. doi: 10.1126/science.2218526

Cabib, S., Orsini, C., Le Moal, M., and Piazza, P. V. (2000). Abolition and reversal of strain differences in behavioral responses to drugs of abuse after a brief experience. *Science* 289, 463–465. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5478.463

- Caspi, A., and Moffitt, T. E. (2006). Gene-environment interactions in psychiatry: joining forces with neuroscience. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 7, 583–590. doi: 10. 1038/nrn1925
- Caspi, A., Sugden, K., Moffitt, T. E., Taylor, A., Craig, I. W., Harrington, H., et al. (2003). Influence of life stress on depression: moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. *Science* 301, 386–389. doi: 10.1126/science. 1083968
- Clark, P. J., Kohman, R. A., Miller, D. S., Bhattacharya, T. K., Brzezinska, W. J., and Rhodes, J. S. (2011). Genetic influences on exercise-induced adult hippocampal neurogenesis across 12 divergent mouse strains. *Genes Brain Behav.* 10, 345–353. doi: 10.1111/j.1601-183x.2010.00674.x
- Cooper, R. M., and Zubek, J. P. (1958). Effects of enriched and restricted early environments on the learning ability of bright and dull rats. *Can. J. Psychol.* 12, 159–164. doi: 10.1037/h0083747
- Crabbe, J. C., Wahlsten, D., and Dudek, B. C. (1999). Genetics of mouse behavior: interactions with laboratory environment. *Science* 284, 1670–1672. doi: 10. 1126/science.284.5420.1670
- Fenoglio, K. A., Brunson, K. L., and Baram, T. Z. (2006). Hippocampal neuroplasticity induced by early-life stress: functional and molecular aspects. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 27, 180–192. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2006.02.001
- Francis, D. D., Szegda, K., Campbell, G., Martin, W. D., and Insel, T. R. (2003). Epigenetic sources of behavioral differences in mice. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 445–446. doi: 10.1038/nn1038
- Heim, C., Shugart, M., Craighead, W. E., and Nemeroff, C. B. (2010). Neurobiological and psychiatric consequences of child abuse and neglect. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 52, 671–690. doi: 10.1002/dev.20494
- Hoeijmakers, L., Lucassen, P. J., and Korosi, A. (2014). The interplay of earlylife stress, nutrition and immune activation programs adult hippocampal structure and function. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 7:103. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2014. 00103
- Holick, K. A., Lee, D. C., Hen, R., and Dulawa, S. C. (2008). Behavioral effects of chronic fluoxetine in BALB/cJ mice do not require adult hippocampal neurogenesis or the serotonin 1A receptor. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 406–417. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301399
- Huang, G. J., Bannerman, D., and Flint, J. (2008). Chronic fluoxetine treatment alters behavior, but not adult hippocampal neurogenesis, in BALB/cJ mice. *Mol. Psychiatry* 13, 119–121. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4002104
- Kempermann, G., Brandon, E. P., and Gage, F. H. (1998). Environmental stimulation of 129/SvJ mice causes increased cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult dentate gyrus. *Curr. Biol.* 8, 939–942. doi: 10. 1016/s0960-9822(07)00377-6
- Kempermann, G., Chesler, E. J., Lu, L., Williams, R. W., and Gage, F. H. (2006). Natural variation and genetic covariance in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 103, 780–785. doi: 10.1073/pnas.051029 1103
- Kempermann, G., and Gage, F. H. (2002). Genetic determinants of adult hippocampal neurogenesis correlate with acquisition, but not probe trial performance, in the water maze task. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 16, 129–136. doi: 10. 1046/j.1460-9568.2002.02042.x
- Kempermann, G., Kuhn, H. G., and Gage, F. H. (1997a). Genetic influence on neurogenesis in thef dentate gyrus of adult mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 94, 10409–10414. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.19.10409
- Kempermann, G., Kuhn, H. G., and Gage, F. H. (1997b). More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. *Nature* 386, 493–495. doi: 10.1038/386493a0
- Kieburtz, K., and Wunderle, K. B. (2013). Parkinson's disease: evidence for environmental risk factors. *Mov. Disord.* 28, 8–13. doi: 10.1002/mds.25150
- Koehl, M., and Abrous, D. N. (2011). A new chapter in the field of memory: adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 33, 1101–1114. doi: 10.1111/j. 1460-9568.2011.07609.x
- Koehl, M., van der Veen, R., Gonzales, D., Piazza, P. V., and Abrous, D. N. (2012). Interplay of maternal care and genetic influences in programming adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Biol. Psychiatry* 72, 282–289. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2012.03.001
- Korosi, A., Naninck, E. F., Oomen, C. A., Schouten, M., Krugers, H., Fitzsimons, C., et al. (2012). Early-life stress mediated modulation of adult neurogenesis and behavior. *Behav. Brain Res.* 227, 400–409. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011. 07.037

- Lajud, N., and Torner, L. (2015). Early life stress and hippocampal neurogenesis in the neonate: sexual dimorphism, long term consequences and possible mediators. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 8:3. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015. 00003
- Lemaire, V., Koehl, M., Le Moal, M., and Abrous, D. N. (2000). Prenatal stress produces learning deficits associated with an inhibition of neurogenesis in the hippocampus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 97, 11032–11037. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 97.20.11032
- Lemaire, V., Lamarque, S., Le Moal, M., Piazza, P. V., and Abrous, D. N. (2006). Postnatal stimulation of the pups counteracts prenatal stress-induced deficits in hippocampal neurogenesis. *Biol. Psychiatry* 59, 786–792. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2005.11.009
- Lucassen, P. J., Bosch, O. J., Jousma, E., Krömer, S. A., Andrew, R., Seckl, J. R., et al. (2009). Prenatal stress reduces postnatal neurogenesis in rats selectively bred for high, but not low, anxiety: possible key role of placental 11betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 29, 97–103. doi: 10. 1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06543.x
- Lucassen, P. J., Naninck, E. F., van Goudoever, J. B., Fitzsimons, C., Joels, M., and Korosi, A. (2013). Perinatal programming of adult hippocampal structure and function; emerging roles of stress, nutrition and epigenetics. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 621–631. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.08.002
- Malberg, J. E., Eisch, A. J., Nestler, E. J., and Duman, R. S. (2000). Chronic antidepressant treatment increases neurogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 20, 9104–9110.
- Merritt, J. R., and Rhodes, J. S. (2015). Mouse genetic differences in voluntary wheel running, adult hippocampal neurogenesis and learning on the multistrain-adapted plus water maze. *Behav. Brain Res.* 280, 62–71. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2014.11.030
- Migliore, L., and Coppedè, F. (2009). Genetics, environmental factors and the emerging role of epigenetics in neurodegenerative diseases. *Mutat. Res.* 667, 82–97. doi: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2008.10.011
- Miller, J. A., Nathanson, J., Franjic, D., Shim, S., Dalley, R. A., Shapouri, S., et al. (2013). Conserved molecular signatures of neurogenesis in the hippocampal subgranular zone of rodents and primates. *Development* 140, 4633–4644. doi: 10.1242/dev.097212
- Mirescu, C., Peters, J. D., and Gould, E. (2004). Early life experience alters response of adult neurogenesis to stress. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 841–846. doi: 10.1038/nn1290
- Mo, C., Hannan, A. J., and Renoir, T. (2015). Environmental factors as modulators of neurodegeneration: insights from gene-environment interactions in huntington's disease. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 52, 178–192. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2015.03.003
- Navailles, S., Hof, P. R., and Schmauss, C. (2008). Antidepressant druginduced stimulation of mouse hippocampal neurogenesis is age-dependent and altered by early life stress. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 509, 372–381. doi: 10.1002/cne. 21775
- Oomen, C. A., Soeters, H., Audureau, N., Vermunt, L., van Hasselt, F. N., Manders, E. M., et al. (2010). Severe early life stress hampers spatial learning and neurogenesis, but improves hippocampal synaptic plasticity and emotional learning under high-stress conditions in adulthood. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 6635–6645. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0247-10.2010
- Opendak, M., and Gould, E. (2015). Adult neurogenesis: a substrate for experience-dependent change. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 19, 151–161. doi: 10.1016/j. tics.2015.01.001
- Ortega-Martínez, S. (2015). Influences of prenatal and postnatal stress on adult hippocampal neurogenesis: the double neurogenic niche hypothesis. *Behav. Brain Res.* 281, 309–317. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2014.12.036
- Overall, R. W., Paszkowski-Rogacz, M., and Kempermann, G. (2012). The mammalian adult neurogenesis gene ontology (MANGO) provides a structural framework for published information on genes regulating adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *PLoS One* 7:e48527. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0048527
- Overall, R. W., Walker, T. L., Leiter, O., Lenke, S., Ruhwald, S., and Kempermann, G. (2013). Delayed and transient increase of adult hippocampal neurogenesis by physical exercise in DBA/2 mice. *PLoS One* 8:e83797. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0083797
- Revest, J. M., Dupret, D., Koehl, M., Funk-Reiter, C., Grosjean, N., Piazza, P. V., et al. (2009). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is involved in anxiety-related behaviors. *Mol. Psychiatry* 14, 959–967. doi: 10.1038/mp.2009.15

- Rutter, M., Moffitt, T. E., and Caspi, A. (2006). Gene-environment interplay and psychopathology: multiple varieties but real effects. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 47, 226–261. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2005.01557.x
- Santarelli, L., Saxe, M., Gross, C., Surget, A., Battaglia, F., Dulawa, S., et al. (2003). Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. *Science* 301, 805–809. doi: 10.1126/science.1083328
- Schlessinger, A. R., Cowan, W. M., and Gottlieb, D. I. (1975). An autoradiographic study of the time of origin and the pattern of granule cell migration in the dentate gyrus of the rat. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 159, 149–175. doi: 10.1002/cne. 901590202
- Swaminathan, A., and Jicha, G. A. (2014). Nutrition and prevention of alzheimer's dementia. Front. Aging Neurosci. 6:282. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00282
- Tryon, R. C. (1942). "Individual differences," in *Comparative Psychology (Rev. Ed.)*, ed F. A. Moss (NY: Prentice-Hall).
- van der Veen, R., Koehl, M., Abrous, D. N., de Kloet, E. R., Piazza, P. V., and Deroche-Gamonet, V. (2008). Maternal environment influences cocaine intake in adulthood in a genotype-dependent manner. *PLoS One* 3:e2245. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0002245

- van Praag, H., Kempermann, G., and Gage, F. H. (1999). Running increases cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse dentate gyrus. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 266–270. doi: 10.1038/6368
- Wang, J. W., David, D. J., Monckton, J. E., Battaglia, F., and Hen, R. (2008). Chronic fluoxetine stimulates maturation and synaptic plasticity of adult-born hippocampal granule cells. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 1374–1384. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.3632-07.2008

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Koehl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The interplay of early-life stress, nutrition, and immune activation programs adult hippocampal structure and function

Lianne Hoeijmakers, Paul J. Lucassen and Aniko Korosi*

Center for Neuroscience, Swammerdam Institute for Life Sciences, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Edited by:

Mathias V. Schmidt, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Germany

Reviewed by:

David A. Slattery, University of Regensburg, Germany Sarah J. Spencer, RMIT University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Aniko Korosi, Center for Neuroscience, Swammerdam Institute for Life Sciences, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, Amsterdam, Netherlands e-mail: a.korosi@uva.nl

Early-life adversity increases the vulnerability to develop psychopathologies and cognitive decline later in life. This association is supported by clinical and preclinical studies. Remarkably, experiences of stress during this sensitive period, in the form of abuse or neglect but also early malnutrition or an early immune challenge elicit very similar long-term effects on brain structure and function. During early-life, both exogenous factors like nutrition and maternal care, as well as endogenous modulators, including stress hormones and mediator of immunological activity affect brain development. The interplay of these key elements and their underlying molecular mechanisms are not fully understood. We discuss here the hypothesis that exposure to early-life adversity (specifically stress, under/malnutrition and infection) leads to life-long alterations in hippocampal-related cognitive functions, at least partly via changes in hippocampal neurogenesis. We further discuss how these different key elements of the early-life environment interact and affect one another and suggest that it is a synergistic action of these elements that shapes cognition throughout life. Finally, we consider different intervention studies aiming to prevent these early-life adversity induced consequences. The emerging evidence for the intriguing interplay of stress, nutrition, and immune activity in the early-life programming calls for a more in depth understanding of the interaction of these elements and the underlying mechanisms. This knowledge will help to develop intervention strategies that will converge on a more complete set of changes induced by early-life adversity.

Keywords: hippocampus, neurogenesis, cognition, early-life stress, early-life nutrition, early-life neuroimmune activation, early-life infection

INTRODUCTION

Clinical studies have provided evidence that cognition in later life is strongly influenced by experiences occurring during the sensitive period of early development and adolescence. Indeed, adverse early-life events, e.g., social deprivation or abuse, are associated with an increased vulnerability to develop psychiatric disorders (Stevens et al., 2008; Maselko et al., 2011) and impaired cognitive functioning in adulthood (Chugani et al., 2001; Kaplan et al., 2001; Nelson et al., 2007; Mueller et al., 2010). Interestingly, exposure to prenatal or postnatal malnutrition, e.g., the lack of one or multiple essential nutrients, can lead to a similarly increased incidence of psychopathologies (Brown et al., 2000; Costello et al., 2007; Mueller et al., 2010) and cognitive deficits in adolescence and adulthood (Walker et al., 2000; Benton, 2010; de Rooij et al., 2010; de Groot et al., 2011; de Souza et al., 2011; Laus et al., 2011).

Different lines of work further illustrate the relation between cognitive functions and postnatal immune system activity. For example, maternal inflammatory responses during pregnancy (Eriksen et al., 2009), antenatal infection in preterm babies (Dammann et al., 2002; Eriksen et al., 2009; van der Ree et al., 2011) and neonatal infection (Rantakallio et al., 1997; Libbey et al., 2005) are suggested as risk factors for a lower IQ later in life

and for an increased vulnerability to develop later neuropsychiatric disorders like schizophrenia and depression (Brown, 2006; Cope and Gould, 2013; Miller et al., 2013; O'Connor et al., 2014). These lines of research support the hypothesis postulated in the developmental origins theory of Barker that the early-life environment determines the framework for later adult functioning and the development of pathologies through an early programming of adult brain structure and function (Barker, 2004; Barker et al., 2013). Although the consequences of an adverse early-life history for adult cognitive function are confirmed by evidence from preclinical studies in rodents (Lucassen et al., 2013; Naninck et al., 2013), the exact mechanisms underlying these programming effects and the determining elements in the environment that modulate these processes remain obscure. As is clear from the above examples, early-life environmental experiences cannot be avoided (Danese et al., 2009; Bale et al., 2010) and it is thus crucial to understand which elements play a role, and how they interact in order to develop future interventions.

The early postnatal environment encompasses many essential elements, which are key and determinant for proper brain development, many of which are largely transmitted via the mother–child interaction. A child is generally dependent on maternal care during the first weeks of life, encompassing tactile stimulation, nutritional provision, as well as transfer of antibodies and maternal warmth. As is evident from the above examples, an adverse early-life environment may affect the stress hormones, nutrition, or inflammatory modulators, all elements that can strongly interact and affect one another (Kelly and Coutts, 2000; Shanks and Lightman, 2001; Miller et al., 2009; Palmer, 2011). Hence, an individual is actually exposed to a combination of these factors rather than to one of these elements independently.

There is, e.g., increasing evidence that early-life maltreatment is associated with an increase in the pro-inflammatory markers of the immune system in adulthood (Coelho et al., 2014). Also, associations have been found between maternal supplementation of specific nutrients (e.g., folate, iodine, and vitamin D) and an enhanced fetal immune system development that was paralleled by a reduced incidence of psychopathologies in adulthood (Marques et al., 2013). Also, Monk et al. (2013) reviewed the interrelation of nutrition and prenatal stress in stress-induced maternal malnutrition. An interrelated profile of different early-life elements brings forward the possibility of confounding factors in the currently reported findings on the possible mechanisms that underlie such programming. Interestingly, most studies addressing the mechanisms underlying early-life programming consider these elements individually, but, considering that each one of these elements has a very strong interaction with one another, and influence each other greatly, it is likely that the final effect will be determined by the synergistic action of the different early-life elements at play. Hence, it will be necessary to re-discuss and re-analyze the so far obtained results in light of such interactions.

The focus of this review will be on the essential elements present in the early postnatal environment and their involvement in the lasting effects on cognitive functioning. In particular we will discuss how the various elements during the early postnatal period (i.e., sensory stimuli, nutrition, stress hormones, and inflammatory molecules) interact, affect each other and ultimately how they may synergistically affect brain structure, and function on the long term. We focus on the consequences for hippocampal structure and related cognitive functioning and on a unique form of hippocampal plasticity, adult neurogenesis. The hippocampus is one of the key brain regions important for cognitive functions and this form of plasticity is very important for learning and memory processes and highly modulated by (early) environmental factors, i.e., stress (Gould et al., 2000; Mirescu et al., 2004; Dranovsky and Hen, 2006; Lucassen et al., 2013), nutrition (Lindqvist et al., 2006; Beltz et al., 2007; Coupé et al., 2009), and immune activation (Das and Basu, 2008; Green and Nolan, 2014; Musaelyan et al., 2014).

The fact that the hippocampus is particularly susceptible to influences of the early-life environment and in particular stressful stimuli is easily understood when considering the important developmental processes that take place in this brain region during this sensitive developmental period. Indeed, hippocampal and dentate gyrus (DG) development in particular starts during late gestation and continues during the first 2 weeks after birth (Altman and Bayer, 1990), while in human the development of the DG starts during the last trimester of pregnancy and continues to about 16 years of age (Arnold and Trojanowski, 1996). During this time, granular cells are generated in the subventricular zone or in the hippocampus itself, that migrate to the different layers of the DG (Pleasure et al., 2000; Fukuda et al., 2005; Navarro-Quiroga et al., 2006), while in adulthood quiescent neuronal progenitors cells develop to become functional granular cells (Kempermann et al., 2004). Interestingly, adult neurogenesis is lastingly affected by perturbation of the early-life environment as well (Coupé et al., 2009; Oomen et al., 2011; Korosi et al., 2012; Lucassen et al., 2013; Loi et al., 2014; Musaelvan et al., 2014). Next to the generation and migration of granular cells, the migration and colonization by microglia takes place as well during this sensitive period and is also peeking in the first few postnatal days (Schwarz and Bilbo, 2012; Schwarz et al., 2012; Cope and Gould, 2013). These migratory processes are supported by a scaffold formed by immature astrocytes. In addition, glia cells are increasingly acknowledged for there role in the plasticity and circuit functioning of the adult hippocampus (Allen and Barres, 2009; Ekdahl, 2012). Finally, the hippocampus is highly sensitive to stress both early as well as during adult life due to its remarkably high expression levels of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR). Interestingly, expression levels of these receptors have been shown to be affected by early-life stress as well (Liu et al., 1997; Lucassen et al., 2013; de Kloet et al., 2014).

In the following sections we discuss the effects of early-life stress, nutrition, and central immune activity on hippocampal function and adult neurogenesis and thereafter discuss how to implement in these findings that (1) these elements affect one another and (2) they act synergistically to exert their function.

MODULATION OF HIPPOCAMPAL FUNCTION AND NEUROGENESIS BY EARLY-LIFE STRESS

Early-life stress exposure is strongly associated with cognitive impairments later in life (Kaplan et al., 2001; Stevens et al., 2008; Mueller et al., 2010; Maselko et al., 2011), but what is the preclinical evidence for this association? Which are the most common animal models to study this question?

Stress in the postnatal period can be induced using several rodent paradigms. The most widely studied models to induce early-life stress involve either naturally occurring variation or artificial modulation of maternal care (Francis and Meaney, 1999; Francis et al., 2000), repeated dam-litter separation or a single prolonged deprivation of the dam and her pups (Schmidt et al., 2010; Hedges and Woon, 2011) and chronic early-life stress (Ivy et al., 2008; Rice et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2011) during the first few postnatal weeks. Adult offspring from all of these early-life stress models exhibit cognitive impairments, indicating a strong translational value of these models in addressing the underlying mechanism of such programming. For example, adult rats that had been either maternally separated during the first 2 weeks of life or deprived on postnatal day (P)3 for 24 h, exhibited impairments in their acquisition of spatial information in the Morris water maze (MWM; Oitzl et al., 2000; Huot et al., 2002; Aisa et al., 2007; Fabricius et al., 2008; Oomen et al., 2010) and mice exposed to chronic early-life stress show impairment of spatial memory (tested by MWM and object location) and declarative memory tested by novel object recognition task and Y-maze (Rice et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2011). These early-life stress induced cognitive impairments are associated with a number of alterations in hippocampal structure and neuronal plasticity, including decrease in dendritic complexity and spine density in the cornu ammonis (CA)1 and CA3 (Huot et al., 2002; Ivy et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2011), reduced DG dendritic complexity, granular cell number and granular cell density (Oomen et al., 2010, 2011), reduced astrocyte density in the DG and CA regions (Leventopoulos et al., 2007), and age-dependent alterations in adult hippocampal neurogenesis levels (Korosi et al., 2012). Offspring in both rats and mice exposed to a form of early-life stress exhibit a short-term increase followed by a permanent reduction of proliferating and immature cells (Mirescu et al., 2004; Nair et al., 2007; Oomen et al., 2009, 2010; Hulshof et al., 2011; Suri et al., 2013; Naninck et al., 2014). Levels of cell survival and astrogenesis in young adults are generally not affected after maternal separation (Oomen et al., 2010; Hulshof et al., 2011; Kumar et al., 2011; Suri et al., 2013), but this is strongly reduced at a more advanced age both in rats exposed to low levels of maternal care (Bredy et al., 2003), as well as in mice exposed to chronic early-life stress (Naninck et al., 2014).

How exactly does early-life stress exposure lead to the above described lasting alterations in cognitive functions as well as hippocampal structure and function remains relatively uncertain, but several possible mechanisms of action have been identified over the last years. First, available evidence that early-life stress manipulations, including maternal separation, maternal deprivation or chronic stress via environmental manipulation, alter the quality and/or quantity of maternal care (Brown et al., 1977; Pryce et al., 2001; Macrì et al., 2004; Brunson, 2005; Fenoglio et al., 2006; Korosi and Baram, 2010) strongly suggests that motherinfant interaction is crucial in programming brain and behavior. However, these studies do not directly address whether maternal care, under normal conditions, is actively involved in these regulations.

In support of this notion, it has been demonstrated that a natural variation in maternal care (Liu et al., 1997; Champagne et al., 2008; Bagot et al., 2009) and individual within-litter variation in the amount of active care received (van Hasselt et al., 2012a,b) leads to differences in stress response and cognitive functions associated with altered hippocampal structure, plasticity and changes in the neuroendocrine system in later life. In line with this evidence from animal studies, in pre-term and term neonates, different forms of sensory stimulation, such as moderate touch or skin-to-skin care, have been shown to have beneficial consequences, including reduction of pain responsiveness in neonates (Cignacco et al., 2007) and a reduced reactivity to stress (Feldman et al., 2010). While it is clear that sensory stimuli that the mother gives to her offspring is highly dependent on the well-being of the mother and offspring and thus strongly affected by stressful environment, how exactly this element interacts with the other key elements in the early environment to lead to the programming of the brain structure and function is yet unclear. The few studies tackling the interaction of sensory stimuli with either nutritional or immune challenges are discussed in Sections "The Interplay of the Different Elements in the Early-Life Environment" and "Early-Life Adversity; Opportunities for Intervention Later in Life."

The role of stress-related hormones (corticosterone; CORT) and neuropeptides (e.g., corticotropin releasing hormone, CRH)

in the modulation of early-life stress effects on the hippocampus has been studied extensively. When the HPA axis is activated by a stressor this leads to HPA axis activation, which in turn leads to the initial release of CRH from the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN), stimulation of pituitary adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) secretion into the blood, and the subsequent release of glucocorticoids from the adrenal glands: CORT in rodents and cortisol in humans. Negative feedback takes place when glucocorticoids bind to GRs in the hippocampus, PVN, prefrontal cortex and pituitary and thereby inhibit release of CRH and ACTH (Tsigos and Chrousos, 2002).

In fact, exposure to stress during the postnatal early-life period programs the basal and stress-induced activation of the HPA axis and the behavioral responses to stress throughout life (Seckl and Meaney, 2006; Heim and Binder, 2012). Importantly during the first 2 weeks of life, the stress response is believed to be hyporesponsive to some, but not all stressors. This consists of a smaller, or absence of HPA axis responsiveness in pups when compared to the adult organism (Stanton et al., 1988; Levine et al., 1991). Age appropriate stressors, like maternal deprivation or fragmented maternal care elicit secretion of CORT (Yi and Baram, 1994; Schmidt et al., 2004; Rice et al., 2008). There is increasing evidence that next to an increased release of CORT (basally and upon stress exposure), the expression levels of several of the genes involved in the modulation of the stress response (e.g., CRH and GR; Rice et al., 2008; Ivy et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2012) are lastingly altered in offspring experiencing early-life stress. Thus it is reasonable to assume that these changes might be (at least partly) mediating the altered hippocampal plasticity and thereby the associated cognitive impairments. However, the lasting alterations in the levels of circulating CORT are not consistently permanent in different models of early-life stress (Mirescu et al., 2004; Brunson, 2005; Rice et al., 2008).

While glucocorticoid exposure during early-life evoked cognitive impairments in adulthood (Kamphuis et al., 2003) and there is abundant literature about the regulating (mostly inhibiting) role of CORT (during adulthood) on neurogenesis (Cameron and Gould, 1994; Lucassen et al., 2010), chronic depletion of CORT through adrenalectomy of rats at 10 days of age did, however, not induce alterations in neurogenesis in adulthood (Brunson et al., 2005). Whether the raise in CORT early in life (and no longer in adulthood) modulates the process of neurogenesis and cognitive impairments on the long-term thus remains to be determined. The paucity of data points to the need for further research in this area; however, the contradictory data from the existing studies suggest that other factors may also contribute to the mechanisms by which early-life experience programs brain structure and function.

Because CRH expression is permanently altered after early stress in various models in the hypothalamus (Plotsky and Meaney, 1993; Liu et al., 1997) and hippocampus (Ivy et al., 2010), CRH has been explored as a modulator for the consequence of earlylife stress in the hippocampus (Brunson, 2005; Ivy et al., 2010; Korosi et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2011; Loi et al., 2014). Indeed, exposure to CRH can mimic the changes in hippocampal structure induced after chronic early-life stress (Brunson, 2005) and a selective blockage of the CRF receptor type 1 during the first week after chronic early-life stress indeed prevented the apparent cognitive impairments in the early-life stressed animals (Ivy et al., 2010). Intriguingly, conditional CRF1 knock-out mice were 'protected' against the hippocampus dependent cognitive impairments induced by chronic early-life stress (Wang et al., 2011). Finally early-life stress has been shown to age-dependently affect the expression of the gene and protein of the neurogenic factor brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF; Nair et al., 2007; Zimmerberg et al., 2009; Suri et al., 2013). Indeed BDNF expression and concomitant levels of hippocampal neurogenesis are upregulated by early-life stress during development and young adulthood, but reduced to decreased levels with aging (Nair et al., 2007; Suri et al., 2013; Naninck et al., 2014). These data suggests a possible role of BDNF in the modulation of hippocampal plasticity after early-life adversities.

Summarizing, stress related hormones and neuropeptides are involved in mediating lasting effects of early-life stress, however they are not sufficient to explain all the observed effects, indicating that other factors, possibly acting synergistically with these stress molecules, are also involved in the programming. We will next explore the role of nutrition early in life in these processes.

EARLY NUTRITIONAL FACTORS DETERMINE ADULT HIPPOCAMPAL STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

As mentioned in the introduction, early nutritional insults have lasting consequences for brain development and function later in life (Lucas, 1998; Brown et al., 2000; McMillen et al., 2008; Prado and Dewey, 2014) with later cognitive functions being particularly affected (de Groot et al., 2011). This is not surprising when considering that during the first postnatal period, the brain is under heavy development and an incredible nutritional demand. In fact, for proper brain development to occur, specific dietary macro-, and micronutrients are essential during gestation and lactation (Scholl et al., 1996; Benton, 2010; Dangat et al., 2010; Veena et al., 2010). Thus, disruption of the nutritional supply (quality and quantity) to the offspring will have major effects on the development of the brain, and more specifically on the hippocampus. An inadequate supply of them during critical developmental periods leads to brain dysfunction and cognitive impairments later in life (McNamara and Carlson, 2006; Innis, 2008; de Groot et al., 2011; Laus et al., 2011).

The offspring is during this critical developmental period fully dependent on the nutrition provided by the mother. Most preclinical models are based upon altering maternal nutrition during gestation and/or lactation. Indeed, micronutrient composition of the maternal diet during gestation and lactation determine the balancing of fatty acid (FA) levels in the brain of the offspring, as maternal micronutrients (Roy et al., 2012) affect the breast milk composition (Innis, 2008; Allen, 2012). The association of early-life nutrition and cognitive functions is further supported by preclinical evidence (Campbell and Bedi, 1989; Castro et al., 1989; de Souza et al., 2011; Valladolid-Acebes et al., 2011; André et al., 2014). Here, we will discuss how early postnatal nutritional stress and specific nutritional components present in the postnatal period modulate cognition and neurogenesis in adulthood.

Various models are used to study how early malnourishment affects brain development and cognitive functions, e.g., through

dietary restriction, overnutrition, or malnutrition by limitation of different key elements during gestation and/or lactation. For instance, protein restriction, global dietary restriction to 50% or high-fat, and modulation of essential macro- and micronutrients that need to be obtained from the diet are commonly used approaches (Campbell and Bedi, 1989; Bedi, 1992; Martinez et al., 2009; Valadares et al., 2010; de Souza et al., 2011; Roy et al., 2012). For example, protein restriction during lactation in rats (Valadares et al., 2010) and 12 h restriction of maternal milk (Castro et al., 1989) evokes deficits in hippocampus dependent spatial memory tested by MWM and object recognition in adult offspring, but see (Wolf et al., 1986; Campbell and Bedi, 1989). These deficits are accompanied by alterations in hippocampal structure and plasticity as well. Food restriction to 50% of the normal intake during lactation changed the time course of BDNF production and proliferation in the hippocampus (Coupé et al., 2009) and reduced the number of proliferating cells in the adult offspring, without affecting cell survival or cell fate (Matos et al., 2011). Furthermore, protein restriction during the same period leads to reduced total granular cell numbers (Bedi, 1991) and food restriction to 50% during gestation and lactation reduced hippocampal volume (Katz et al., 1982). In addition to these nutritional restriction studies, the offspring of high-fat diet exposed dams exhibit a reduction in postnatal neurogenesis during development (Tozuka et al., 2009) and impaired dendritic differentiation of newborn neurons in the adult hippocampus (Tozuka et al., 2010). However, to date no further studies of adult hippocampal neurogenesis in earlylife food-restricted or high-fat diet exposed animals have been performed.

The lipid content during early-life is essential for the composition of maternal milk during lactation and development of the pup brain. For instance, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), including the omega-3 FA docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and omega-6 FA arachidonic acid (AA), are structural components of the brain that promote healthy neuronal growth, repair, and myelination (McNamara and Carlson, 2006). Deficiency of these FAs in the maternal diet first revealed the association of low FA composition and impaired learning and memory functions (Lamptey and Walker, 1978). Moreover, deficiency of omega-3 FA during gestation and lactation impairs the spatial memory (tested by Barnes maze; Fedorova et al., 2009), whereas artificial feeding of rats with omega-3 FA deficient milk during lactation prolonged escape latency in the MWM (Lim et al., 2005) and omega-3 FA enrichment improved performance of the animals (Carrié et al., 2000).

These functional changes following FA deficiency are furthermore associated with structural changes in the brain. Maternal omega-3 FA deficiency during gestation leads to underdevelopment of the primordial hippocampus in fetal rats at the last days of gestation (Bertrand et al., 2006). Nutritional omega-3 FA deficiency during gestation and lactation reduces pyramidal cell size in the hippocampus (Ahmad et al., 2002) and the levels of markers for neuronal plasticity such as BDNF (Madore et al., 2014) at weaning. In addition, dietary enrichment with omega-3 prevents the adverse consequences of early-life sevoflurane (anesthesia) exposure on cell proliferation in the hippocampus and the induced memory impairments (Lei et al., 2013). Maternal supplementation of α -linolenic acid (ALA), a precursor of omega-3 FA, during gestation and lactation enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis at P19 (Niculescu et al., 2011). However, to date it has not been studied whether an imbalance of FAs in early-life lastingly affects adult hippocampal neurogenesis.

Next to essential FAs, essential amino acids, choline, and methionine, and micronutrients such as folic acid (B9), vitamin B6 and B12, are also essential for brain development (Roy et al., 2012). Deficiency of choline during gestation and lactation impairs working memory in the 12-arm spatial memory maze, while supplementation enhances performance (Meck and Williams, 1999). In addition, a deficiency of nutritional folate, choline, B6, and B12 during gestation and lactation leads to learning and memory impairments in the radial arm mazes and enhanced the number of apoptotic cells in the hippocampus (Blaise et al., 2007). Deficiency of these methyl donors furthermore affects hippocampal neurogenesis by altering the apoptotic rate (Craciunescu et al., 2010).

Summarizing, evidently the nutritional composition during critical developmental periods (pre and postnatal) of life is essential for the proper development, structure and function of the hippocampus. Similar to the cognitive impairments induced by early-life stress, early-life malnutrition evokes such deficits as well. Another important element known to play a key role in modulating brain development and function is the neuroimmune system, which will be discussed in the next section.

EARLY-IMMUNE RESPONSE ACTIVATION PROGRAMMING THE LATER-LIFE HIPPOCAMPUS

Activation of the peripheral and/or central immune system in early-life is associated with psychopathologies in adulthood, including cognitive dysfunction (Rantakallio et al., 1997; O'Connor et al., 2014). For instance, maternal infection during pregnancy is associated with lower IQ in adult men (Eriksen et al., 2009). In addition, pre- and postnatal infection have been associated with anxiety-like and depressive-like behavioral responses and cognitive impairments in adolescence and adulthood (Das and Basu, 2011; Williamson et al., 2011; Doosti et al., 2013; Dinel et al., 2014). The modulating effects of early-life immune challenges on brain function are not unexpected considering the essential role of neuroimmune cells in (early-)life. Microglia and astrocytes mediate many processes in the brain, including neuroinflammatory responses (Capuron and Miller, 2011; Green and Nolan, 2014; O'Connor et al., 2014), neuronal activation and plasticity (Slezak et al., 2006; Halassa et al., 2009; Parpura et al., 2012; Greter and Merad, 2013), maintenance and development of the blood-brain barrier (BBB; Banks et al., 1995; Chaboub and Deneen, 2013) and importantly, neurogenic processes during development (Das and Basu, 2011; Schwarz and Bilbo, 2012; Cope and Gould, 2013) and adulthood (Das and Basu, 2008; Ekdahl, 2012; Cope and Gould, 2013; Cunningham et al., 2013; Kohman and Rhodes, 2013; Sierra et al., 2013, 2014). Thus, imbalanced activation of the microglia, in particular during early-life, has the potential to lastingly disturb internal homeostasis and proper brain development (Allen and Barres, 2009).

Activity of the microglia is controlled by immune response regulating effector molecules, like pro-inflammatory (e.g., IL-1β,

IL-6, and TNF α) and anti-inflammatory (e.g., IL-4 and IL-10) cytokines or chemokines (Chaplin, 2003; Cartier et al., 2005; Ekdahl et al., 2009) that regulate the communication between immune cells in the peripheral and central immune system. Although the brain is a relatively concealed and immunosuppressed environment in adulthood, that is separated from the periphery by the BBB, cytokines, and chemokines in the periphery have the potential to cross the BBB and can affect the innate cells of the brain (Banks et al., 1995; Pan and Kastin, 1999). Interestingly, during early-life, peripheral immune challenges might have a greater potential to adversely affect the brain (Schoderboeck et al., 2009). During this time, the BBB still preexists in a leaky stage till a few days after birth (Engelhardt, 2003), providing the possibility of a greater immunoreactive responses in the brain when a peripheral infection occurs. In addition, microglia develop in close parallel to developmental neurogenesis and appear in an activate and amoeboid state during development, whereas they are present as resting, ramified cells in adulthood (Bilbo and Schwarz, 2009).

In the following part, we will discuss the pre-clinical evidence in support of a direct role of postnatal immune challenges in the persistent modulation of hippocampal structure and function. Most studies of postnatal infection have focused on stimulation by bacteria like *Escherichia coli* or the Gram-negative bacteria component lipopolysaccharide (LPS). We will here address the hippocampus dependent cognitive functions following early-life neuroimmune stress from two different angles. Firstly, activation of the peripheral neuroimmune system and its immediate and lasting effects on central neuroimmune system function and brain function. Secondly, the consequences of central neuroimmune system activity without a prior peripheral immune challenge, for instance via activation of central viral infection or proinflammatory factors, on hippocampal function and neurogenesis in adulthood.

A peripheral immune challenge with LPS (P1) or E. coli (P4) in the rat pup elicits an elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines and CORT in the first few hours after the challenge in blood serum (Bilbo et al., 2005b), whole brain (Ortega et al., 2011) or hippocampus (Bilbo et al., 2005b; Dinel et al., 2014). In adulthood, cytokine mRNA expression levels in the brain of the early-infected animals remain normal under basal conditions, with the exception of elevated hippocampal levels of TNFα (P4 infected; Bland et al., 2010a) and IL-1B (P5 LPS infected; Wang et al., 2013). Although overall no strong changes in the cytokine expression profiles are present in the adult, in the early-life infected animals, microglial activation markers indicate enhanced reactive microglia (CD11b+) in the hippocampus (Bilbo et al., 2005a) and CA1 region (Iba1+; Bland et al., 2010b). In addition, adult rats exposed to LPS at P3 and P5 exhibited a hippocampusspecific increase in Iba1+ immunoreactive microglia in the CA1 and DG (Sominsky et al., 2012), indicative of a priming effect on hippocampal microglia. Indeed, a peripheral LPS injection in adulthood exerts an exaggerated pro-inflammatory cytokine response of mainly IL-1 β in the hippocampal CA1 of rats with a history of early-life infection (Bilbo et al., 2005a, 2008), probably evoked by a programmed pro-inflammatory response of hippocampal microglia.

Interestingly, the pro-inflammatory response in the hippocampus following peripheral infection is accompanied by a direct effect on developmental hippocampal neurogenesis and structural changes in adulthood. E. coli infection at P4 immediately suppresses gene expression of neurotropic factor BDNF in the CA1 and CA3 (Bilbo et al., 2008) and neuronal and astrocytic cell proliferation is reduced in the hippocampus following LPS exposure at P9 (Järlestedt et al., 2013). Hippocampal cell proliferation then restores to normal conditions in the 48 h after the challenge and does not affect the survival of immature neurons during the time of infection (Bland et al., 2010a; Järlestedt et al., 2013). This developmental change probably underlies the reduction in later hippocampal volume observed in early-life infected adult rodents (Wang et al., 2013). Moreover, in adulthood, early-life E. coli infected rats and LPS infected mice have comparable numbers of dividing, differentiating, and surviving neurogenic cells in the subgranular zone as control animals (Bland et al., 2010b; Järlestedt et al., 2013; Dinel et al., 2014). In conclusion, neurogenesis does not seem to be heavily affected by peripheral immune challenges. These subtle changes in neurogenesis are in line with the findings of limited effects on hippocampus-related cognitive functioning as well. Most studies of early-life infection do not find changes in different learning and memory paradigms, such as fear conditioning, MWM or Y-maze (Bilbo et al., 2005a, 2007, 2008; Dinel et al., 2014), but see (Harré et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2013). Interestingly, however, a stronger modulation of hippocampus-related cognitive functions is manifested after a second immunological challenge in early-life infected rodents. Thus, a combination of early-life infection history and adolescent or adult LPS (re-)exposure evokes impairments in a contextual fear conditioning paradigm (Bilbo et al., 2005a, 2006) and spatial memory performance in the Ymaze (Dinel et al., 2014), but not in the MWM (Bilbo et al., 2007).

Interestingly, these cognitive impairments in response to a second immune challenge appear in accordance with reduced newborn cell survival in the early-infected rats (Bland et al., 2010a), but not with BDNF gene expression levels (Bilbo et al., 2008). In contrast, neurogenesis is upregulated after LPS during adulthood in animals that never had an immune challenge before (Bland et al., 2010a). The consequences of a second immuno-logical challenge in adulthood might thus be resulting from the priming effects of an early-life infection on the population of adult hippocampal microglia. This may lead to an exagger-ated pro-inflammatory response with detrimental effects on adult hippocampal neurogenesis and cognition.

Neuroimmune system activation is not solely induced by peripheral bacterial components. The consequences of direct modulation of central cytokines and/or central induction of innate immune cells on the hippocampus are moderately studied. An example is TNF α injection at P3 and P5, increasing anxietylike behaviors in male mice (Babri et al., 2014b). However, other cytokine overexpression levels have not been elegantly studied. For some years now, viral infections have been considered a contributing factor to the development of neuropsychological disorders, including hippocampal related dysfunction (Das and Basu, 2011). Various viruses are used to investigate disruption in hippocampal development and adult neurogenesis, e.g., the lymphocytic choriomengitis virus (LCMV) (Pearce et al., 1996; Sharma et al., 2002; Orr et al., 2010), Borna disease virus (BDV; Zocher et al., 2000; Sauder et al., 2001) or polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (Poly I:C; Galic et al., 2009). Each of these viruses induces different phenotypical changes. Poly I:C intracerebroventricular injection at P14 induces short time elevations of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β in the hippocampus and adult-onset deficits in contextual fear conditioning (Galic et al., 2009). But earlier central administration of LCMV at P4 produces lasting IL-1ß induction with subsequent loss of cells in the granular cell layer (Sharma et al., 2002; Orr et al., 2010) and reduced levels of progenitor cells in the DG (Sharma et al., 2002), without affecting other hippocampal regions (Pearce et al., 1996). This virus induced phenotype could be reduced by the use of an anti-inflammatory agent to block IL-1β, which restored the granular cell numbers in adulthood (Orr et al., 2010). The BDV virus typically induces apoptosis of DG cells at 27 and 33 days post infection, possibly mediated by a reduction in neurotrophins in this brain region (Zocher et al., 2000) and further impairs MWM performance in adulthood, correlating to chemokine expression levels (Sauder et al., 2001). How these virus infections early in life mechanistically affect the hippocampus is unfortunately poorly understood to date (Das and Basu, 2011).

Altogether, early-life peripheral infection immediately increases pro-inflammatory cytokines in the hippocampus and exerts lasting effects on hippocampal structure, but evokes only subtle alterations in hippocampal neurogenesis and functionality under basal condition. After exposure to a second immunological challenge in adulthood, however, a history of early-life infection has aversive effects on cognitive function related to an exaggerated pro-inflammatory response in the hippocampus. On the other hand, viral infection that induces a central stimulation of the immune system leaves detrimental effects on the DG, affecting adult hippocampal neurogenesis and cognitive functions. The lasting effect of early-life infection on hippocampal microglia suggests that a programming effect of peripheral and ultimately central immune system activity plays an important role in the lasting effects of hippocampal structure and cognitive functions.

THE INTERPLAY OF THE DIFFERENT ELEMENTS IN THE EARLY-LIFE ENVIRONMENT

The discussed consequences of early-life stress, nutrition, and immune activation can all be considered forms of early-life adversity. Although limited studies have examined the integrated role of these elements, the presented evidence in the above sections clearly points to the fact that challenges, even when very different in nature (disruption of maternal care, malnutrition, or immune), lead to strikingly similar outcomes of disrupted hippocampal structure and plasticity later in life as well as cognitive impairments. Knowing that these systems are tightly related and that they affect each other, it is reasonable to assume that the current models of early-life stress, malnutrition and infections discussed up to now elicit effects on all these different levels (Figure 1) and that it is the synergistic effects of all of these components that lead to the observed outcome rather than only the experimentally modulated one. In the upcoming section, we will discuss the current evidence and missing links for this hypothesis. Because the



tight interaction and possible synergistic effects of stress and nutrition on neurocognitive development has been recently reviewed and discussed both prenatally (Monk et al., 2013) as well as postnatally (Lucassen et al., 2013), we will here focus on the interaction of early-life stress and malnutrition with the immune activation.

WHAT IS THE EVIDENCE FOR AN INTERACTION BETWEEN EARLY-LIFE IMMUNE ACTIVATION AND EARLY-LIFE ADVERSITY?

Early-life adversities like stress and malnutrition not only lead to the previously described effects on cognitive and hippocampal function but also to changes in adult immunological function. The stress and immune systems have a strong interactive profile, illustrated by, e.g., the immune-suppressive effect of corticosteroids (Tsigos and Chrousos, 2002; Chaplin, 2010). Evidence of this relation in early-life has been provided by the enhanced pro-inflammatory status, both basally as well as in response to stress (Carpenter et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2010), of adult individuals with a history of early-life adversity, such as children raised in poor socioeconomic status households or who suffered from childhood maltreatment. This association has been confirmed by preclinical studies as well. In general, early-life stress paradigms (pre- and postnatal) lead to an immediate immunosuppressive state, e.g., a reduced lymphoproliferative response of the thymus (Llorente et al., 2007), downregulation of antiinflammatory IL-10 and pro-inflammatory IL-1β (Dimatelis et al., 2012) and reduction of lipobinding protein (LBP), that regulates innate immune system pathogen presentation by microglia cells (Wei et al., 2012). These alterations in the immunoreactive profile in early-life are further accompanied by central changes in microglia morphology and number of Iba1 (Diz-Chaves et al., 2012) or lectin immunoreactive cells (Gómez-González and Escobar, 2009b).

In adulthood, the programming effect of early-life adversity by maternal deprivation on immune regulation is further illustrated by enhanced IL-1ß responsiveness due to elevated IL-1 receptor levels at the post-synapse of adult hippocampal neurons (Viviani et al., 2013). In addition, the inflammatory response to an inflammatory challenge (systemic LPS injection) in the hippocampus of prenatally stressed mice is exaggerated in the reactivity of microglia and expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Diz-Chaves et al., 2013). Altogether, early-life stress tends to have a programming effect on neuroimmune functions, mainly resulting in an immediate immunosuppressive, but pro-inflammatory state in adulthood, which triggers an exaggerated neuroimmune response defined by cytokine secretion and microglia activity upon an immune challenge. How the early-life adversity-induced pro-inflammatory adult profile in the brain interacts with the other changes in brain structure and how these altogether lead to the observed cognitive impairments needs to be further investigated.

Next to the evident programming effects of early-life stress on neuroimmune functions, possible lasting effects of inflammatory challenges during early-life on HPA axis activity need to be considered as well. Early-life infection generally leads to a direct elevation of circulating glucocorticoids in early-life (Bilbo et al., 2005a) and while basal CORT was not affect by early-life infection at P14, the level of phosphorylated GR is significantly higher in the prefrontal cortex, but not the hippocampus (Dinel et al., 2014). In contrast, early infection does not affect basal and/or stress-induced CORT in a lasting manner (Bilbo et al., 2006; Walker et al., 2010; Babri et al., 2014a; Dinel et al., 2014). In line with this, CORT secretion following adult LPS exposure seems independent of the early-life history of exposure to stress or infection (Bilbo et al., 2005a, 2007; Kohman et al., 2008). However there is evidence indicating that early-life infected animals exhibit prolonged CORT elevations accompanied by a greater content of pro-inflammatory IL-1 β and TNF α in the hippocampus upon adult stress exposure (Walker et al., 2010) while exposure to high doses of the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF α increased stress-induced CORT release (Babri et al., 2014b).

Clearly, in the activation of neuroimmune cells induced either by a peripheral immune challenge or by early-life adversity, the BBB plays a pivotal role. There is evidence that development of the BBB is hampered after exposure to perinatal stress and exposure to an early-life immune challenge, revealing elevated BBB leakage in among other areas the hippocampus (Gómez-González and Escobar, 2009a). Whether these changes in early-life stress induced BBB leakage are related to changes in neuroimmune functioning after early-life stress remains to be determined.

WHAT IS THE EVIDENCE FOR AN INTERACTION BETWEEN EARLY-LIFE MALNUTRITION AND NEUROIMMUNE ACTIVATION?

Next to early-life stress, also early-life nutritional insults can affect the neuroimmune system. For example, there are indications for a strong association between circulating leptin levels and the suppression of lymphoproliferative responses and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in protein malnourished infants, both before and after recovery following refeeding (Palacio et al., 2002).

Similar indications are provided by preclinical studies where adult offspring of food-restriction dams have increased basal immune activity (measured as C-reactive protein) in female offspring at 9 months of age, but reduced cytokine induction (IL-1 β and IL-6 secretion) in response to a second immune insult with LPS (Desai et al., 2009). Similarly, adult offspring of dams that were protein-deprived during lactation show an impaired responsiveness to a peripheral immune challenge, that was accompanied by elevated levels of basal and response CORT (Barja-Fidalgo et al., 2003). Lipid content of the diet early in life seems to be a strong modulator of neuroimmune functioning throughout life. Indeed, offspring of dams fed high-fat and high-trans fat during pregnancy and lactation exhibit increased basal immune activity (C-reactive protein) at birth and increased active microglia in adult (Bilbo and Tsang, 2010) associated with improved performance in the MWM. These basal changes are accompanied by an exaggerated peripheral and hippocampal IL-1ß response to adult LPS (Bilbo and Tsang, 2010), classically known to activate microglia (Van Dam et al., 1992). Interestingly, when maternally deprived rats (P9) are weaned on a high fat diet during adult life, they present an increased pro-inflammatory modulation of IL-1ß and TNFa in the hypothalamus (Mela et al., 2012). Omega-3 FAs in particular appear responsible for these observations as they activate neuroprotective signaling pathways (Calon and Cole, 2007) and act upon immune regulators, by, e.g., blockage of the NFkB signaling pathway (Singer et al., 2008). In fact, male offspring of omega-3 deficient dams exhibit a promotion of reactive inflammatory microglia and elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines in the hippocampus at P21 (Madore et al., 2014). It remains elusive how the changes in dietary fat composition early in life and subsequent priming of microglia further relate to levels of adult hippocampal neurogenesis.

One of the possible mediators of the interaction between nutritional intake and immune system is leptin, which is secreted by white adipose tissue (Fernández-Riejos et al., 2010). In fact, rats treated with LPS at P10 have increased food intake in adulthood associated with elevated circulating leptin levels. A second immune challenge (LPS at 7-8 weeks of age), while leading to an elevation in leptin serum level in animals that were never exposed to infection before, did not alter leptin levels in the neonatally infected animals (Iwasa et al., 2010). Moreover, neonatal overfeeding, similarly to the combination of early-life stress and a high fat diet as discussed above (Mela et al., 2012), leads to microgliosis in the hypothalamic regions, including the PVN of the hypothalamus, a key nucleus in the regulation of HPA axis activity that can be triggered by interleukin-1 as well (Berkenbosch et al., 1987). Especially in this region, microglia activation is overly exaggerate upon an immune challenge with LPS in adulthood (Ziko et al., 2014). Interestingly, these manipulations lead to a disruption in the patterns of leptin, coinciding with the leptin surge for normal hypothalamic development (Ahima et al., 1998; Ahima and Hileman, 2000). Thus, a disrupted pattern of leptin secretion and induced (neuro) inflammation by these manipulations may play an important role in programming of the cognitive functions (Miller and Spencer, 2014). It is remarkable that entirely different manipulations as prenatal stress (Diz-Chaves et al., 2013), being raised by a dam exposed to high fat diet during pregnancy and lactation (Bilbo and Tsang, 2010) and neonatal overfeeding (Ziko et al., 2014) reset the neuroimmune function and lead to exaggerated microgliosis in response to a subsequent immune challenge in adulthood.

Although not extensively studied during early-life, current evidence on the dietary supply of methyl donors modulating the present levels of homocysteine in the (developing) brain (Blaise et al., 2007; Troen et al., 2008), with a deficiency leading to hyperhomocysteinemia, further suggests a role for dietary methyl donors in microglia properties and activity in adulthood. Hyperhomocysteinemia is associated with an elevated levels of homocystein-presenting apoptotic cells, and also with enhanced proliferation of microglia in the brain (Zou et al., 2010). Moreover, hyper-homocysteinemia can be a risk factor or marker of neurodegenerative disorders in which cognitive dysfunction and neuroimmune functioning play an important role (Morris, 2003; Van Dam and Van Gool, 2009). However, to date, the exact relation of early-life methyl donor supply and neuroimmune functions remains elusive.

Exciting new evidence further supports a strong interaction between nutrition and immune system in the programming of hippocampal structure and function. A recent paper by Liu et al. (2014) proposed a pathway of "lactocrine" programming of hippocampal development and function by maternal deficiency of TNF α , resulting in altered chemokine composition of the mother. In fact, TNF α deficiency in mothers milk lead to impaired hippocampal proliferation and spatial memory in the offspring of these animals, a clear indication of programming via nutritionally provided immune effector messengers (Liu et al., 2014). The exact pathway of TNF α and the role of chemokines that lead to alterations in hippocampal development, adult learning and memory, remains to be explored (Parylak et al., 2014).

Altogether, dietary composition during critical sensitive periods of development seem to be strongly involved in the immediate and lasting effects on the innate immune system, with a tendency to an immediate immunosuppressive response being associated with protein and fat malnourishment, and an enhanced proinflammatory activity induced by high fat diets associated with an sub-optimal neuroimmune response (too little or exaggerated) in response to later life immune challenges. How the early-life nutrition directly programs neuroimmune function and interacts with the neuroendocrine system, and programs cognitive functions and hippocampal neurogenesis in later life requires further study.

In the previous section we have highlighted some of the key elements of the early-life environment that might play an important role in the programming of cognitive functions by early-life adversity. As evident from the studies that we discussed these elements clearly do not act alone but rather in a synergistic manner. We discussed some of the possible mechanisms that could mediate the effects of early-life stress, malnutrition, and infection and discussed the evidence for their interactive profile. However clearly our discussion is not exhaustive and other equally important paths and mediators responsible for the final programming effect could be considered. For example, next to leptin, ghrelin a pancreatic hormone released upon hunger can influence not only eating behavior but stress, immune function as well as cognition (Diz-Chaves, 2011). Clearly having to consider so many different elements simultaneously renders the picture very complex and questions which are the best systems to target to prevent and/or reverse the deleterious effects of early-life adversity. In the following section, we will discuss some of the intervention strategies that have been explored up to date.

EARLY-LIFE ADVERSITY; OPPORTUNITIES FOR INTERVENTION LATER IN LIFE

Adversities in the early-life period provoke thus immediate and programmed effects on different levels with lasting consequences for hippocampal function. Identification of these consequences and the different systems at play during early-life is essential to design optimal intervention studies to counteract the more complete set of consequences following early-life adversity. In recent years, multiple intervention studies have been performed to counteract either the lack of nutritional components, the consequences of early-life stress or the pro-inflammatory state after early-life infections. For instance, clinical research revealed the potential of high levels of maternal warmth (regarded as a positive experience) to overcome the programmed effects of the aversive low socioeconomic status on the immune system during early-life (Chen et al., 2010). However, considering the evidence presented in this review that these systems interact and affect each other so tightly and that they might thus act synergistically to program brain structure and function for life, the question arises as to which consequences of early-life adversity to target and whether there is a crucial time window for these interventions for optimal beneficial effects of these interventions. Here, we will discuss a few examples of potential intervention studies.

Because changes of HPA axis modulators are suggested as potential regulators of the lasting changes following early-life stress, suppression of these modulators has been investigated as a possible intervention in later life. For example, selective blockage of CRF receptor 1 immediately after the first week after chronic early-life stress exposure from postnatal day 10–17 in rats prevents hippocampal impairments in cognitive functioning and long-term potentiation (Ivy et al., 2010).

Enriching the later life environment, a manipulation that is known to stimulate hippocampal neurogenesis and improve performance of hippocampus related spatial behavioral tasks in adulthood (Kempermann et al., 1997; Nilsson et al., 1999), has been explored as well. For example, housing maternally separated rats in an enriched environmental condition during adulthood reversed the early-life stress induced changes in hippocampal GR and CRF expression (Francis et al., 2002). These manipulations do not only modify HPA axis activity but also affect neuroimmune functioning and activity of glial cells (Olah et al., 2009; Williamson et al., 2012; Gebara et al., 2013). In addition, there is evidence that enriching early-life environment by artificially increasing sensory stimuli by the mother (via handling) interferes with the adult proinflammatory programming of early-life E. coli infection (Bilbo et al., 2007). The adult LPS-induced increase of microglia (CD11b) and astrocyte (GFAP) markers and IL-1 β levels in the blood and different brain regions of animals with a history of E. coli exposure was fully prevented by early-life handling. These data clearly suggest a strong interaction between sensory stimuli and infection early in life in the programming of the adult neuroimmune system (Bilbo et al., 2007).

A final manner to intervene with the consequences of earlylife stress is modulation at the level of the epigenome. Early-life stress and early-life nutrition program later life function through alterations in chromatin structure and gene expression as became evident from clinical and animal studies. There is indeed increasing evidence that epigenetic mechanisms might be responsible for the early-life adversity induced life-long alterations in gene expression. (Heijmans et al., 2008; Murgatroyd et al., 2009; Steegers-Theunissen et al., 2009; Canani et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2012; Lucassen et al., 2013). Moreover, epigenetics mechanisms play a role in neuroinflammatory responses as well (Garden, 2013). Which are the factors regulating epigenetic mechanisms is yet unclear, however, there is growing interest in the role that nutrition might play in this context (Lucassen et al., 2013; Spencer, 2013). Nutritional interventions to prevent or reverse these epigenetic alterations have been only explored concerning metabolic programming but might certainly have the potential to intervene with the deleterious programming by early-life adversity of brain structure and function (Lucassen et al., 2013). For instance, folic acid supplementation to the offspring of protein-restricted diet fed dams during adolescence altered the protein-restricted metabolic outcome and modified the epigenetic alterations (Burdge et al., 2009). In addition, folate deficiency of the maternal diet during gestation negatively influences hippocampal developmental neurogenesis, but supplementation with the interrelated methyl donor

choline modified some of these effects on the neural progenitor cells (Craciunescu et al., 2010). But can dietary intervention later in life prevent or reverse the early-life adversity induced phenotype? Weaver et al. (2005) provided evidence that the programming effect of maternal care during early-life on the epigenetic modifications of the GR remain sensitive to alterations in adulthood, as central infusion with L-methionine could reverse the programmed effects of maternal care.

Overall, these studies indicate that environmental, nutritional, and pharmacological interventions, either during early-life or in adulthood, have the potential to modulate one or more consequences of early-life adversity. Currently, intervention studies lack some depth on the interplay of stress mediators, neuroimmune activity and the nutritional profile in how they might synergistically modulate hippocampal structure and function. Addressing the complexity of the early-life environment at large, rather than focusing on a single element will provide the necessary information to design new interventions, or a combination of interventions, that may fully prevent and/or reverse the consequences of early-life adversity.

FINAL CONCLUSION

Well-known factors such as genetic vulnerability, gender, life style, and aging contribute to disorder vulnerability. In addition, earlylife adversity further determines brain susceptibility to develop adult-onset psychopathologies and cognitive impairments later in life. Multiple elements (including stress, nutrition, and infections) in the early-life environment are crucial for proper hippocampal development, and structure and function in adulthood. Thus there is growing evidence that disruption of either of these elements has detrimental effects on cognitive functions, hippocampal structure, neurogenesis and the activity of neuroimmune cells in the hippocampus. Here, we have focused on how these different elements might interplay during early-life adversity and elicit similar effects on hippocampal neurogenesis and cognition in adulthood. Even though the interplay of these three elements is generally not considered in depth, the ultimate consequences are probably a synergistic effect and combination of these elements. Considering the intense cross talk between these elements and how they, together, program hippocampal structure and function, will provide important insights and contribute to novel targets for pharmacological, nutritional or life style interventions after early-life adversity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Lianne Hoeijmakers and Paul J. Lucassen are supported by Alzheimer Nederland, Paul J. Lucassen and Aniko Korosi are supported by ISAO and Paul J. Lucassen is supported by NWO PRIOMED and the HersenStichting Nederland.

REFERENCES

- Ahima, R. S., and Hileman, S. M. (2000). Postnatal regulation of hypothalamic neuropeptide expression by leptin: implications for energy balance and body weight regulation. *Regul. Pept.* 92, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/S0167-0115(00)00142-7
- Ahima, R. S., Prabakaran, D., and Flier, J. S. (1998). Postnatal leptin surge and regulation of circadian rhythm of leptin by feeding. Implications for energy homeostasis and neuroendocrine function. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 1020–1027. doi: 10.1172/JCI1176

- Ahmad, A., Moriguchi, T., and Salem, N. (2002). Decrease in neuron size in docosahexaenoic acid-deficient brain. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 26, 210–218. doi: 10.1016/S0887-8994(01)00383-6
- Aisa, B., Tordera, R., Lasheras, B., Del Rio, J., and Ramirez, M. J. (2007). Cognitive impairment associated to HPA axis hyperactivity after maternal separation in rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 32, 256–266. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2006.12.013
- Allen, L. H. (2012). B Vitamins in breast milk: relative importance of maternal status and intake, and effects on infant status and function. *Adv. Nutr.* 3, 362–369. doi: 10.3945/an.111.001172
- Allen, N. J., and Barres, B. A. (2009). Glia more than just brain glue. *Nature* 457, 675–677. doi: 10.1038/457675a
- Altman, J., and Bayer, S. A. (1990). Migration and distribution of two populations of hippocampal granule cell precursors during the perinatal and postnatal periods. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 301, 365–381. doi: 10.1002/cne.903010304
- André, C., Dinel, A., Ferreira, G., Layé, S., and Castanon, N. (2014). Diet-induced obesity progressively alters cognition, anxiety-like behavior and lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior: focus on brain indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activation. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 41, 10–21. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi. 2014.03.012
- Arnold, S. E., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (1996). Human fetal hippocampal development: I. Cytoarchitecture, myeloarchitecture, and neuronal morphologic features. J. Comp. Neurol. 367, 274–292. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19960401)367:2<274::AID-CNE9>3.0.CO;2-2
- Babri, S., Doosti, M.-H., and Salari, A. (2014a). Strain-dependent effects of prenatal maternal immune activation on anxiety- and depression-like behaviors in offspring. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 37, 164–176. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.12.003
- Babri, S., Doosti, M.-H., and Salari, A. (2014b). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha during neonatal brain development affects anxiety- and depression-related behaviors in adult male and female mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 261, 305–314. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.12.037
- Bagot, R. C., van Hasselt, F. N., Champagne, D. L., Meaney, M. J., Krugers, H. J., and Joëls, M. (2009). Maternal care determines rapid effects of stress mediators on synaptic plasticity in adult rat hippocampal dentate gyrus. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 92, 292–300. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2009.03.004
- Bale, T. L., Baram, T. Z., Brown, A. S., Goldstein, J. M., Insel, T. R., McCarthy, M. M., et al. (2010). Early life programming and neurodevelopmental disorders. *Biol. Psychiatry* 68, 314–319. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.028
- Banks, W. A., Plotkin, S. R., and Kastin, A. J. (1995). Permeability of the blood-brain barrier to soluble cytokine receptors. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 2, 161–165. doi: 10.1159/000096887
- Barja-Fidalgo, C., Souza, E. P. G., Silva, S. V., Rodrigues, A. L., Anjos-Valotta, E. A., Sannomyia, P., et al. (2003). Impairment of inflammatory response in adult rats submitted to maternal undernutrition during early lactation: role of insulin and glucocorticoid. *Inflamm. Res.* 52, 470–476. doi: 10.1007/s00011-003-1207-3
- Barker, D. (2004). Developmental origins of adult health and disease. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 58, 114–115. doi: 10.1136/jech.58.2.114
- Barker, D., Barker, M., Fleming, T., and Lampl, M. (2013). Developmental biology: support mothers to secure future public health. *Nature* 504, 209–211. doi: 10.1038/504209a
- Bedi, K. S. (1991). Early-life undernutrition causes deficits in rat dentate gyrus granule cell number. *Experientia* 47, 1073–1074. doi: 10.1007/BF01923346
- Bedi, K. S. (1992). Spatial-learning ability of rats undernourished during early postnatal life. *Physiol. Behav.* 51, 1001–1007. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(92)90084-F
- Beltz, B. S., Tlusty, M. F., Benton, J. L., and Sandernan, D. C. (2007). Omega-3 fatty acids upregulate adult neurogenesis. *Neurosci. Lett.* 415, 154–158. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.01.010
- Benton, D. (2010). The influence of dietary status on the cognitive performance of children. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 54, 457–470. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200900158
- Berkenbosch, F., van Oers, J., del Rey, A., Tilders, F., and Besedovsky, H. (1987). Corticotropin-releasing factor-producing neurons in the rat activated by interleukin-1. *Science* 238, 524–526. doi: 10.1126/science.2443979
- Bertrand, P. C., O'Kusky, J. R., and Innis, S. M. (2006). Maternal dietary (n-3) fatty acid deficiency alters neurogenesis in the embryonic rat brain. J. Nutr. 136, 1570–1575.
- Bilbo, S. D., Barrientos, R. M., Eads, A. S., Northcutt, A., Watkins, L. R., Rudy, J. W., et al. (2008). Early-life infection leads to altered BDNF and IL-1beta mRNA expression in rat hippocampus following learning in adulthood. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 22, 451–455. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2007.10.003

- Bilbo, S. D., Biedenkapp, J. C., Der-Avakian, A., Watkins, L. R., Rudy, J. W., and Maier, S. F. (2005a). Neonatal infection-induced memory impairment after lipopolysaccharide in adulthood is prevented via caspase-1 inhibition. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 8000–8009. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1748-05.2005
- Bilbo, S. D., Levkoff, L. H., Mahoney, J. H., Watkins, L. R., Rudy, J. W., and Maier, S. F. (2005b). Neonatal infection induces memory impairments following an immune challenge in adulthood. *Behav. Neurosci.* 119, 293–301. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.119.1.293
- Bilbo, S. D., Newsum, N. J., Sprunger, D. B., Watkins, L. R., Rudy, J. W., and Maier, S. F. (2007). Differential effects of neonatal handling on early life infectioninduced alterations in cognition in adulthood. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 21, 332–342. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2006.10.005
- Bilbo, S. D., Rudy, J. W., Watkins, L. R., and Maier, S. F. (2006). A behavioural characterization of neonatal infection-facilitated memory impairment in adult rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 169, 39–47. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2005.12.002
- Bilbo, S. D., and Schwarz, J. M. (2009). Early-life programming of later-life brain and behavior: a critical role for the immune system. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 3:9. doi: 10.3389/neuro.08.014.2009
- Bilbo, S. D., and Tsang, V. (2010). Enduring consequences of maternal obesity for brain inflammation and behavior of offspring. *FASEB J.* 24, 2104–2115. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-144014
- Blaise, S. A., Nédélec, E., Schroeder, H., Alberto, J.-M., Bossenmeyer-Pourié, C., Guéant, J.-L., et al. (2007). Gestational vitamin B deficiency leads to homocysteine-associated brain apoptosis and alters neurobehavioral development in rats. Am. J. Pathol. 170, 667–679. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007. 060339
- Bland, S. T., Beckley, J. T., Watkins, L. R., Maier, S. F., and Bilbo, S. D. (2010a). Neonatal *Escherichia coli* infection alters glial, cytokine, and neuronal gene expression in response to acute amphetamine in adolescent rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* 474, 52–57. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.03.006
- Bland, S. T., Beckley, J. T., Young, S., Tsang, V., Watkins, L. R., Maier, S. F., et al. (2010b). Enduring consequences of early-life infection on glial and neural cell genesis within cognitive regions of the brain. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 24, 329–338. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2009.09.012
- Bredy, T. W., Grant, R. J., and Champagne, D. L. (2003). Maternal care influences neuronal survival in the hippocampus of the rat. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 18, 2903–2909. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2003.02965.x
- Brown, A. S. (2006). Prenatal infection as a risk factor for schizophrenia. Schizophr. Bull. 32, 200–202. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj052
- Brown, A. S., van Os, J., Driessens, C., Hoek, H. W., and Susser, E. S. (2000). Further evidence of relation between prenatal famine and major affective disorder. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 157, 190–195. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.2.190
- Brown, C. P., Smotherman, W. P., and Levine, S. (1977). Interaction-induced reduction in differential maternal responsiveness: an effect of cue-reduction or behavior? *Dev. Psychobiol.* 10, 273–280. doi: 10.1002/dev.420100311
- Brunson, K. L. (2005). Mechanisms of late-onset cognitive decline after earlylife stress. J. Neurosci. 25, 9328–9338. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2281-05.2005
- Brunson, K. L., Baram, T. Z., and Bender, R. A. (2005). Hippocampal neurogenesis is not enhanced by lifelong reduction of glucocorticoid levels. *Hippocampus* 15, 491–501. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20074
- Burdge, G. C., Lillycrop, K. A., Phillips, E. S., Slater-Jefferies, J. L., Jackson, A. A., and Hanson, M. A. (2009). Folic acid supplementation during the juvenile-pubertal period in rats modifies the phenotype and epigenotype induced by prenatal nutrition. J. Nutr. 139, 1054–1060. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.104653
- Calon, F., and Cole, G. (2007). Neuroprotective action of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids against neurodegenerative diseases: evidence from animal studies. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* 77, 287–293. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2007.10.019
- Cameron, H. A., and Gould, E. (1994). Adult neurogenesis is regulated by adrenal steroids in the dentate gyrus. *Neuroscience* 61, 203–209. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(94)90224-0
- Campbell, L. F., and Bedi, K. S. (1989). The effects of undernutrition during early life on spatial learning. *Physiol. Behav.* 45, 883–890. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(89)90210-2
- Canani, R. B., Costanzo, M. D., Leone, L., Bedogni, G., Brambilla, P., Cianfarani, S., et al. (2011). Epigenetic mechanisms elicited by nutrition in early life. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* 24, 198–205. doi: 10.1017/S0954422411000102

- Capuron, L., and Miller, A. H. (2011). Immune system to brain signaling: neuropsychopharmacological implications. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 130, 226–238. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011.01.014
- Carpenter, L. L., Gawuga, C. E., Tyrka, A. R., Lee, J. K., Anderson, G. M., and Price, L. H. (2010). Association between plasma IL-6 response to acute stress and early-life adversity in healthy adults. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 2617–2623. doi: 10.1038/npp.2010.159
- Carrié, I., Guesnet, P., Bourre, J. M., and Francès, H. (2000). Diets containing long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids affect behaviour differently during development than ageing in mice. *Br. J. Nutr.* 83, 439–447. doi: 10.1017/S0007114500000544
- Cartier, L., Hartley, O., Dubois-Dauphin, M., and Krause, K.-H. (2005). Chemokine receptors in the central nervous system: role in brain inflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 48, 16–42. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.07.021
- Castro, C. A., Tracy, M., and Rudy, J. W. (1989). Early-life undernutrition impairs the development of the learning and short-term memory processes mediating performance in a conditional-spatial discrimination task. *Behav. Brain Res.* 32, 255–264. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(89)80058-0
- Chaboub, L. S., and Deneen, B. (2013). Astrocyte form and function in the developing central nervous system. *Semin. Pediatr. Neurol.* 20, 230–235. doi: 10.1016/j.spen.2013.10.003
- Champagne, D. L., Bagot, R. C., van Hasselt, F., Ramakers, G., Meaney, M. J., de Kloet, E. R., et al. (2008). Maternal care and hippocampal plasticity: evidence for experience-dependent structural plasticity, altered synaptic functioning, and differential responsiveness to glucocorticoids and stress. J. Neurosci. 28, 6037– 6045. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0526-08.2008
- Chaplin, D. D. (2003). 1. Overview of the immune response. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 111, S442–S459. doi: 10.1067/mai.2003.125
- Chaplin, D. D. (2010). Overview of the immune response. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 125, S3–S23. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.12.980
- Chen, E., Miller, G. E., Kobor, M. S., and Cole, S. W. (2010). Maternal warmth buffers the effects of low early-life socioeconomic status on pro-inflammatory signaling in adulthood. *Mol. Psychiatry* 16, 729–737. doi: 10.1038/mp.2010.53
- Chen, J., Evans, A. N., Liu, Y., Honda, M., Saavedra, J. M., and Aguilera, G. (2012). Maternal deprivation in rats is associated with corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH) promoter hypomethylation and enhances CRH transcriptional responses to stress in adulthood. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 24, 1055–1064. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2012.02306.x
- Chugani, H. T., Behen, M. E., Muzik, O., Juhász, C., Nagy, F., and Chugani, D. C. (2001). Local brain functional activity following early deprivation: a study of postinstitutionalized Romanian orphans. *Neuroimage* 14, 1290–1301. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.0917
- Cignacco, E., Hamers, J. P. H., Stoffel, L., van Lingen, R. A., Gessler, P., McDougall, J., et al. (2007). The efficacy of non-pharmacological interventions in the management of procedural pain in preterm and term neonates. A systematic literature review. *Eur. J. Pain* 11, 139–152. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2006.02.010
- Coelho, R., Viola, T. W., Walss-Bass, C., Brietzke, E., and Grassi-Oliveira, R. (2014). Childhood maltreatment and inflammatory markers: a systematic review. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 129, 180–192. doi: 10.1111/acps.12217
- Cope, E. C., and Gould, E. (2013). Cytokines make an indelible impression on neural stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 13, 507–508. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2013.10.011
- Costello, E. J., Worthman, C., Erkanli, A., and Angold, A. (2007). Prediction from low birth weight to female adolescent depression: a test of competing hypotheses. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 64, 338–344. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.64.3.338
- Coupé, B., Dutriez-Casteloot, I., Breton, C., Lefèvre, F., Mairesse, J., Dickes-Coopman, A., et al. (2009). Perinatal undernutrition modifies cell proliferation and brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels during critical time-windows for hypothalamic and hippocampal development in the male rat. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 21, 40–48. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01806.x
- Craciunescu, C. N., Johnson, A. R., and Zeisel, S. H. (2010). Dietary choline reverses some, but not all, effects of folate deficiency on neurogenesis and apoptosis in fetal mouse brain. J. Nutr. 140, 1162–1166. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.122044
- Cunningham, C. L., Martínez-Cerdeño, V., and Noctor, S. C. (2013). Microglia regulate the number of neural precursor cells in the developing cerebral cortex. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 4216–4233. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3441-12.2013
- Dammann, O., Kuban, K. C. K., and Leviton, A. (2002). Perinatal infection, fetal inflammatory response, white matter damage, and cognitive limitations

in children born preterm. Ment. Retard. Dev. Disabil. Res. Rev. 8, 46–50. doi: 10.1002/mrdd.10005

- Danese, A., Moffitt, T. E., Harrington, H., Milne, B. J., Polanczyk, G., Pariante, C. M., et al. (2009). Adverse childhood experiences and adult risk factors for age-related disease: depression, inflammation, and clustering of metabolic risk markers. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 163, 1135–1143. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics. 2009.214
- Dangat, K. D., Mehendale, S. S., Yadav, H. R., Kilari, A. S., Kulkarni, A. V., Taralekar, V. S., et al. (2010). Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid composition of breast milk in pre-eclamptic mothers. *Neonatology* 97, 190–194. doi: 10.1159/ 000252971
- Das, S., and Basu, A. (2008). Inflammation: a new candidate in modulating adult neurogenesis. J. Neurosci. Res. 86, 1199–1208. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21585
- Das, S., and Basu, A. (2011). Viral infection and neural stem/progenitor cell's fate: implications in brain development and neurological disorders. *Neurochem. Int.* 59, 357–366. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2011.02.020
- de Groot, R. H., Stein, A. D., Jolles, J., van Boxtel, M. P., Blauw, G.-J., van de Bor, M., et al. (2011). Prenatal famine exposure and cognition at age 59 years. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 40, 327–337. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyq261
- de Kloet, E. R., Claessens, S. E. F., and Kentrop, J. (2014). Context modulates outcome of perinatal glucocorticoid action in the brain. *Front. Endocrinol.* (*Lausanne*) 5:100. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00100
- de Rooij, S. R., Wouters, H., Yonker, J. E., Painter, R. C., and Roseboom, T. J. (2010). Prenatal undernutrition and cognitive function in late adulthood. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 16881–16886. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1009459107
- Desai, M., Gayle, D. A., Casillas, E., Boles, J., and Ross, M. G. (2009). Early undernutrition attenuates the inflammatory response in adult rat offspring. J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 22, 571–575. doi: 10.1080/14767050902874105
- de Souza, A. S., Fernandes, F. S., and do Carmo, M. D. G. T. (2011). Effects of maternal malnutrition and postnatal nutritional rehabilitation on brain fatty acids, learning, and memory. *Nutr. Rev.* 69, 132–144. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2011.00374.x
- Dimatelis, J. J., Pillay, N. S., Mutyaba, A. K., Russell, V. A., Daniels, W. M. U., and Stein, D. J. (2012). Early maternal separation leads to down-regulation of cytokine gene expression. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 27, 393–397. doi: 10.1007/s11011-012-9304-z
- Dinel, A., Joffre, C., Trifilieff, P., Aubert, A., Foury, A., Le Ruyet, P., et al. (2014). Inflammation early in life is a vulnerability factor for emotional behavior at adolescence and for lipopolysaccharide-induced spatial memory and neurogenesis alteration at adulthood. *J. Neuroinflammation* 11:155. doi: 10.1186/s12974-014-0155-x
- Diz-Chaves, Y. (2011). Ghrelin, appetite regulation, and food reward: interaction with chronic stress. *Int. J. Pept.* 2011:898450. doi: 10.1155/2011/898450
- Diz-Chaves, Y., Astiz, M., Bellini, M. J., and Garcia-Segura, L. M. (2013). Prenatal stress increases the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and exacerbates the inflammatory response to LPS in the hippocampal formation of adult male mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 28, 196–206. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.11.013
- Diz-Chaves, Y., Pernía, O., Carrero, P., and Garcia-Segura, L. M. (2012). Prenatal stress causes alterations in the morphology of microglia and the inflammatory response of the hippocampus of adult female mice. *J. Neuroinflammation* 9:71. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-9-71
- Doosti, M.-H., Bakhtiari, A., Zare, P., Amani, M., Majidi-Zolbanin, N., Babri, S., et al. (2013). Impacts of early intervention with fluoxetine following early neonatal immune activation on depression-like behaviors and body weight in mice. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 43, 55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.12.003
- Dranovsky, A., and Hen, R. (2006). Hippocampal neurogenesis: regulation by stress and antidepressants. *Biol. Psychiatry* 59, 1136–1143. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.082
- Ekdahl, C. T. (2012). Microglial activation tuning and pruning adult neurogenesis. Front. Pharmacol. 3:41. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00041
- Ekdahl, C. T., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2009). Brain inflammation and adult neurogenesis: the dual role of microglia. *Neuroscience* 158, 1021–1029. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.06.052
- Engelhardt, B. (2003). Development of the blood-brain barrier. *Cell Tissue Res.* 314, 119–129. doi: 10.1007/s00441-003-0751-z
- Eriksen, W., Sundet, J. M., and Tambs, K. (2009). Register data suggest lower intelligence in men born the year after flu pandemic. *Ann. Neurol.* 66, 284–289. doi: 10.1002/ana.21702

- Fabricius, K., Wörtwein, G., and Pakkenberg, B. (2008). The impact of maternal separation on adult mouse behaviour and on the total neuron number in the mouse hippocampus. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 212, 403–416. doi: 10.1007/s00429-007-0169-6
- Fedorova, I., Hussein, N., Baumann, M. H., Di Martino, C., and Salem, N. (2009). An n-3 fatty acid deficiency impairs rat spatial learning in the Barnes maze. *Behav. Neurosci.* 123, 196–205. doi: 10.1037/a0013801
- Feldman, R., Singer, M., and Zagoory, O. (2010). Touch attenuates infants' physiological reactivity to stress. *Dev. Sci.* 13, 271–278. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00890.x
- Fenoglio, K. A., Brunson, K. L., and Baram, T. Z. (2006). Hippocampal neuroplasticity induced by early-life stress: functional and molecular aspects. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 27:180–192. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2006.02.001
- Fernández-Riejos, P., Najib, S., Santos-Alvarez, J., Martín-Romero, C., Pérez-Pérez, A., González-Yanes, C., et al. (2010). Role of leptin in the activation of immune cells. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2010:568343. doi: 10.1155/2010/568343
- Francis, D. D., Champagne, F. C., and Meaney, M. J. (2000). Variations in maternal behaviour are associated with differences in oxytocin receptor levels in the rat. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 12, 1145–1148. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2826.2000.00599.x
- Francis, D. D., Diorio, J., Plotsky, P. M., and Meaney, M. J. (2002). Environmental enrichment reverses the effects of maternal separation on stress reactivity. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 7840–7843.
- Francis, D. D., and Meaney, M. J. (1999). Maternal care and the development of stress responses. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 9, 128–134. doi: 10.1016/S0959-4388(99)80016-6
- Fukuda, A., Fukuda, H., Swanpalmer, J., Hertzman, S., Lannering, B., Marky, I., et al. (2005). Age-dependent sensitivity of the developing brain to irradiation is correlated with the number and vulnerability of progenitor cells. *J. Neurochem.* 92, 569–584. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02894.x
- Galic, M. A., Riazi, K., Henderson, A. K., Tsutsui, S., and Pittman, Q. J. (2009). Virallike brain inflammation during development causes increased seizure susceptibility in adult rats. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 36, 343–351. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.07.025
- Garden, G. A. (2013). Epigenetics and the modulation of neuroinflammation. *Neurotherapeutics* 10, 782–788. doi: 10.1007/s13311-013-0207-4
- Gebara, E., Sultan, S., Kocher-Braissant, J., and Toni, N. (2013). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis inversely correlates with microglia in conditions of voluntary running and aging. *Front. Neurosci.* 7:145. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013.00145
- Gómez-González, B., and Escobar, A. (2009a). Altered functional development of the blood–brain barrier after early life stress in the rat. *Brain Res. Bull.* 79, 376–387. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2009.05.012
- Gómez-González, B., and Escobar, A. (2009b). Prenatal stress alters microglial development and distribution in postnatal rat brain. *Acta Neuropathol.* 119, 303–315. doi: 10.1007/s00401-009-0590-4
- Gould, E., Tanapat, P., Rydel, T., and Hastings, N. (2000). Regulation of hippocampal neurogenesis in adulthood. *Biol. Psychiatry* 48, 715–720. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(00)01021-0
- Green, H. F., and Nolan, Y. M. (2014). Inflammation and the developing brain: consequences for hippocampal neurogenesis and behavior. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 40, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.01.004
- Greter, M., and Merad, M. (2013). Regulation of microglia development and homeostasis. *Glia* 61, 121–127. doi: 10.1002/glia.22408
- Halassa, M. M., Florian, C., Fellin, T., Munoz, J. R., Lee, S.-Y., Abel, T., et al. (2009). Astrocytic modulation of sleep homeostasis and cognitive consequences of sleep loss. *Neuron* 61, 213–219. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.024
- Harré, E. M., Galic, M. A., Mouihate, A., Noorbakhsh, F., and Pittman, Q. J. (2008). Neonatal inflammation produces selective behavioural deficits and alters N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor subunit mRNA in the adult rat brain. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27, 644–653. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06031.x
- Hedges, D. W., and Woon, F. L. (2011). Early-life stress and cognitive outcome. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 214, 121–130. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-2090-6
- Heijmans, B. T., Tobi, E. W., Stein, A. D., Putter, H., Blauw, G. J., Susser, E. S., et al. (2008). Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 17046–17049. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806560105
- Heim, C., and Binder, E. B. (2012). Current research trends in early life stress and depression: review of human studies on sensitive periods, gene– environment interactions, and epigenetics. *Exp. Neurol.* 233, 102–111. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.10.032

- Hulshof, H. J., Novati, A., Sgoifo, A., Luiten, P. G., den, Boer, J. A., and Meerlo, P. (2011). Maternal separation decreases adult hippocampal cell proliferation and impairs cognitive performance but has little effect on stress sensitivity and anxiety in adult Wistar rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 216, 552–560. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.08.038
- Huot, R. L., Plotsky, P. M., Lenox, R. H., and McNamara, R. K. (2002). Neonatal maternal separation reduces hippocampal mossy fiber density in adult Long Evans rats. *Brain Res.* 950, 52–63. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(02)02985-2
- Innis, S. M. (2008). Dietary omega 3 fatty acids and the developing brain. Brain Res. 1237, 35–43. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2008.08.078
- Ivy, A. S., Brunson, K. L., Sandman, C., and Baram, T. Z. (2008). Dysfunctional nurturing behavior in rat dams with limited access to nesting material: a clinically relevant model for early-life stress. *Neuroscience* 154, 1132–1142. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.04.019
- Ivy, A. S., Rex, C. S., Chen, Y., Dubé, C., Maras, P. M., Grigoriadis, D. E., et al. (2010). Hippocampal dysfunction and cognitive impairments provoked by chronic earlylife stress involve excessive activation of CRH receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 13005– 13015. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1784-10.2010
- Iwasa, T., Matsuzaki, T., Kinouchi, R., Fujisawa, S., Murakami, M., Kiyokawa, M., et al. (2010). Neonatal LPS injection alters the body weight regulation systems of rats under non-stress and immune stress conditions. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 28, 119–124. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2009.08.015
- Järlestedt, K., Naylor, A. S., Dean, J., Hagberg, H., and Mallard, C. (2013). Decreased survival of newborn neurons in the dorsal hippocampus after neonatal LPS exposure in mice. *Neuroscience* 253, 21–28. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.08.040
- Kamphuis, P., Gardoni, F., Kamal, A., Croiset, G., Bakker, J. M., Cattabeni, F., et al. (2003). Long-lasting effects of neonatal dexamethasone treatment on spatial learning and hippocampal synaptic plasticity. Involvement of the NMDA receptor complex. *FASEB J*. 17, 911–913. doi: 10.1096/fj.02-0333fje
- Kaplan, G. A., Turrell, G., Lynch, J. W., Everson, S. A., Helkala, E. L., and Salonen, J. T. (2001). Childhood socioeconomic position and cognitive function in adulthood. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 30, 256–263. doi: 10.1093/ije/30.2.256
- Katz, H. B., Davies, C. A., and Dobbing, J. (1982). Effects of undernutrition at different ages early in Llife and later environmental complexity on parameters of the cerebrum and hippocampus in rats. J. Nutr. 112, 1362–1368.
- Kelly, D., and Coutts, A. G. P. (2000). Early nutrition and the development of immune function in the neonate. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 59, 177–185. doi: 10.1017/S0029665100000197
- Kempermann, G., Jessberger, S., Steiner, B., and Kronenberg, G. (2004). Milestones of neuronal development in the adult hippocampus. *Trends Neurosci.* 27, 447–452. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2004.05.013
- Kempermann, G., Kuhn, H. G., and Gage, F. H. (1997). More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. *Nature* 386, 493–495. doi: 10.1038/386493a0
- Kohman, R. A., and Rhodes, J. S. (2013). Neurogenesis, inflammation and behavior. Brain Behav. Immun. 27, 22–32. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.09.003
- Kohman, R. A., Tarr, A. J., Day, C. E., McLinden, K. A., and Boehm, G. W. (2008). Influence of prenatal stress on behavioral, endocrine, and cytokine responses to adulthood bacterial endotoxin exposure. *Behav. Brain Res.* 193, 257–268. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008.06.004
- Korosi, A., and Baram, T. Z. (2010). Plasticity of the stress response early in life: mechanisms and significance. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 52, 661–670. doi: 10.1002/dev.20490
- Korosi, A., Naninck, E. F. G., Oomen, C. A., Schouten, M., Krugers, H., Fitzsimons, C., et al. (2012). Early-life stress mediated modulation of adult neurogenesis and behavior. *Behav. Brain Res.* 227, 400–409. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.07.037
- Korosi, A., Shanabrough, M., McClelland, S., Liu, Z.-W., Borok, E., Gao, X.-B., et al. (2010). Early-life experience reduces excitation to stress-responsive hypothalamic neurons and reprograms the expression of corticotropin-releasing hormone. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 703–713. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4214-09.2010
- Kumar, G., Jones, N. C., Morris, M. J., Rees, S., O'Brien, T. J., and Salzberg, M. R. (2011). Early life stress enhancement of limbic epileptogenesis in adult rats: mechanistic insights. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24033. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0024033
- Lamptey, M. S., and Walker, B. L. (1978). Learning behavior and brain lipid composition in rats subjected to essential fatty acid deficiency during gestation, lactation and growth. J. Nutr. 108, 358–367.

- Laus, M. F., Vales, L. D. M. F., Costa, T. M. B., and Almeida, S. S. (2011). Early postnatal protein-calorie malnutrition and cognition: a review of human and animal studies. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 8, 590–612. doi: 10.3390/ijerph8020590
- Lei, X., Zhang, W., Liu, T., Xiao, H., Liang, W., Xia, W., et al. (2013). Perinatal supplementation with omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids improves sevoflurane-induced neurodegeneration and memory impairment in neonatal rats. *PLoS ONE* 8:e70645. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070645
- Leventopoulos, M., Rueedi-Bettschen, D., Knuesel, I., Feldon, J., Pryce, C. R., and Opacka-Juffry, J. (2007). Long-term effects of early life deprivation on brain glia in Fischer rats. *Brain Res.* 1142, 119–126. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007. 01.039
- Levine, S., Huchton, D. M., Wiener, S. G., and Rosenfeld, P. (1991). Time course of the effect of maternal deprivation on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the infant rat. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 24, 547–558. doi: 10.1002/dev.420240803
- Libbey, J., Sweeten, T., McMahon, W., and Fujinami, R. (2005). Autistic disorder and viral infections. J. Neurovirol. 11, 1–10. doi: 10.1080/13550280590900553
- Lim, S.-Y., Hoshiba, J., Moriguchi, T., and Salem, N. (2005). N-3 fatty acid deficiency induced by a modified artificial rearing method leads to poorer performance in spatial learning tasks. *Pediatr. Res.* 58, 741–748. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR. 0000180547.46725.CC
- Lindqvist, A., Mohapel, P., Bouter, B., Frielingsdorf, H., Pizzo, D., Brundin, P., et al. (2006). High-fat diet impairs hippocampal neurogenesis in male rats. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 13, 1385–1388. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2006.01500.x
- Liu, B., Zupan, B., Laird, E., Klein, S., Gleason, G., Bozinoski, M., et al. (2014). Maternal hematopoietic TNF, via milk chemokines, programs hippocampal development and memory. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 97–105. doi: 10.1038/nn.3596
- Liu, D., Diorio, J., Tannenbaum, B., Caldji, C., Francis, D., Freedman, A., et al. (1997). Maternal care, hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors, and hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal responses to stress. *Science* 277, 1659–1662. doi: 10.1126/ science.277.5332.1659
- Llorente, R., Arranz, L., Marco, E.-M., Moreno, E., Puerto, M., Guaza, C., et al. (2007). Early maternal deprivation and neonatal single administration with a cannabinoid agonist induce long-term sex-dependent psychoimmunoendocrine effects in adolescent rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 32, 636–650. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2007.04.002
- Loi, M., Koricka, S., Lucassen, P. J., and Joëls, M. (2014). Age- and sex-dependent effects of early life stress on hippocampal neurogenesis. *Front. Endocrinol.* 5:13. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00013
- Lucas, A. (1998). Programming by early nutrition: an experimental approach. *J. Nutr.* 128, 401S–406S.
- Lucassen, P. J., Meerlo, P., Naylor, A. S., Van Dam, A. M., Dayer, A. G., Fuchs, E., et al. (2010). Regulation of adult neurogenesis by stress, sleep disruption, exercise and inflammation: implications for depression and antidepressant action. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 20, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2009.08.003
- Lucassen, P. J., Naninck, E. F. G., van Goudoever, J. B., Fitzsimons, C., Joëls, M., and Korosi, A. (2013). Perinatal programming of adult hippocampal structure and function; emerging roles of stress, nutrition and epigenetics. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 621–631. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.08.002
- Macrì, S., Mason, G. J., and Wurbel, H. (2004). Dissociation in the effects of neonatal maternal separations on maternal care and the offspring's HPA and fear responses in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 20, 1017–1024. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03541.x
- Madore, C., Nadjar, A., Delpech, J.-C., Sere, A., Aubert, A., Portal, C., et al. (2014). Nutritional n-3 PUFAs deficiency during perinatal periods alters brain innate immune system and neuronal plasticity-associated genes. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 41, 22–31. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.03.021
- Marques, A. H., O'Connor, T. G., Roth, C., Susser, E., and Bjørke-Monsen, A.-L. (2013). The influence of maternal prenatal and early childhood nutrition and maternal prenatal stress on offspring immune system development and neurodevelopmental disorders. *Front. Neurosci.* 7:120. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013.00120
- Martinez, Y., Diaz-Cintra, S., Leon-Jacinto, U., Aguilar-Vazquez, A., Medina, A. C., Quirarte, G. L., et al. (2009). Effects of postnatal malnutrition and senescence on learning, long-term memory, and extinction in the rat. *Behav. Brain Res.* 203, 48–53. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2009.04.016
- Maselko, J., Kubzansky, L., Lipsitt, L., and Buka, S. L. (2011). Mother's affection at 8 months predicts emotional distress in adulthood. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 65, 621–625. doi: 10.1136/jech.2009.097873
- Matos, R., Orozco-Solis, R., and de Souza, S. L. (2011). Nutrient restriction during early life reduces cell proliferation in the hippocampus at adulthood but

does not impair the neuronal differentiation process of the new generated cells. *Neuroscience* 196, 16–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.08.071

- McMillen, I. C., MacLaughlin, S. M., Muhlhausler, B. S., Gentili, S., Duffield, J. L., and Morrison, J. L. (2008). Developmental origins of adult health and disease: the role of periconceptional and foetal nutrition. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 102, 82–89. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7843.2007.00188.x
- McNamara, R. K., and Carlson, S. E. (2006). Role of omega-3 fatty acids in brain development and function: potential implications for the pathogenesis and prevention of psychopathology. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* 75, 329–349. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2006.07.010
- Meck, W. H., and Williams, C. L. (1999). Choline supplementation during prenatal development reduces proactive interference in spatial memory. *Dev. Brain Res.* 118, 51–59. doi: 10.1016/S0165-3806(99)00105-4
- Mela, V., Llorente-Berzal, Á., Díaz, F., Argente, J., Viveros, M.-P., and Chowen, J. A. (2012). Maternal deprivation exacerbates the response to a high fat diet in a sexually dimorphic manner. *PLoS ONE* 7:e48915. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048915
- Miller, A. A., and Spencer, S. J. (2014). Obesity and neuroinflammation: a pathway to cognitive impairment. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 42, 10–21. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.04.001
- Miller, B. J., Culpepper, N., Rapaport, M. H., and Buckley, P. (2013). Prenatal inflammation and neurodevelopment in schizophrenia: a review of human studies. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 42, 92–100. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.03.010
- Miller, G. E., Chen, E., Fok, A. K., Walker, H., Lim, A., Nicholls, E. F., et al. (2009). Low early-life social class leaves a biological residue manifested by decreased glucocorticoid and increased proinflammatory signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 14716–14721. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902971106
- Mirescu, C., Peters, J. D., and Gould, E. (2004). Early life experience alters response of adult neurogenesis to stress. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 841–846. doi: 10.1038/ nn1290
- Monk, C., Georgieff, M. K., and Osterholm, E. A. (2013). Research review: maternal prenatal distress and poor nutrition - mutually influencing risk factors affecting infant neurocognitive development. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 54, 115–130. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12000
- Morris, M. S. (2003). Homocysteine and Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* 2, 425–428. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(03)00438-1
- Mueller, S. C., Maheu, F. S., Dozier, M., Peloso, E., Mandell, D., Leibenluft, E., et al. (2010). Early-life stress is associated with impairment in cognitive control in adolescence: an fMRI study. *Neuropsychologia* 48, 3037–3044. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.06.013
- Murgatroyd, C., Patchev, A. V., Wu, Y., Micale, V., Bockmühl, Y., Fischer, D., et al. (2009). Dynamic DNA methylation programs persistent adverse effects of earlylife stress. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 1559–1566. doi: 10.1038/nn.2436
- Musaelyan, K., Egeland, M., Fernandes, C., Pariante, C. M., Zunszain, P. A., and Thuret, S. (2014). Modulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis by earlylife environmental challenges triggering immune activation. *Neural Plast.* 2014, 194396. doi: 10.1155/2014/194396
- Nair, A., Vadodaria, K. C., Banerjee, S. B., Benekareddy, M., Dias, B. G., Duman, R. S., et al. (2007). Stressor-specific regulation of distinct brain-derived neurotrophic factor transcripts and cyclic AMP response element-binding protein expression in the postnatal and adult rat hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 1504– 1519. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301276
- Naninck, E. F. G., Hoeijmakers, L., Kakava-Georgiadou, N., Meesters, A., Lazic, S. E., Lucassen, P. J., et al. (2014). Chronic early-life stress alters developmental and adult neurogenesis and impairs cognitive function in mice. *Hippocampus*. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22374 [Epub ahead of print].
- Naninck, E. F. G., Lucassen, P. J., and Korosi, A. (2013). "Consequences of earlylife experiences on cognition and emotion: a role for nutrition and epigenetic mechanisms," in *Molecular Psychology*, ed. T. Canli (Oxford Handbooks Online). doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199753888.013.003
- Navarro-Quiroga, I., Hernandez-Valdes, M., Lin, S. L., and Naegele, J. R. (2006). Postnatal cellular contributions of the hippocampus subventricular zone to the dentate gyrus, corpus callosum, fimbria, and cerebral cortex. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 497, 833–845. doi: 10.1002/cne.21037
- Nelson, C. A., Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., Marshall, P. J., Smyke, A. T., and Guthrie, D. (2007). Cognitive recovery in socially deprived young children: the Bucharest early intervention project. *Science* 318, 1937–1940. doi: 10.1126/science. 1143921

- Niculescu, M. D., Lupu, D. S., and Craciunescu, C. N. (2011). Maternal α-linolenic acid availability during gestation and lactation alters the postnatal hippocampal development in the mouse offspring. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 29, 795–802. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2011.09.006
- Nilsson, M., Perfilieva, E., Johansson, U., Orwar, O., and Eriksson, P. S. (1999). Enriched environment increases neurogenesis in the adult rat dentate gyrus and improves spatial memory. J. Neurobiol. 39, 569–578. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4695(19990615)39:4<569::AID-NEU10>3.0.CO;2-F
- O'Connor, T. G., Moynihan, J. A., and Caserta, M. T. (2014). Annual research review: the neuroinflammation hypothesis for stress and psychopathology in children–developmental psychoneuroimmunology. *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 55, 615–631. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12187
- Oitzl, M. S., Workel, J. O., Fluttert, M., Frosch, F., and de Kloet, E. R. (2000). Maternal deprivation affects behaviour from youth to senescence: amplification of individual differences in spatial learning and memory in senescent Brown Norway rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 12, 3771–3780. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2000.00231.x
- Olah, M., Ping, G., De Haas, A. H., Brouwer, N., Meerlo, P., Van Der Zee, E. A., et al. (2009). Enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis in the absence of microglia T cell interaction and microglia activation in the murine running wheel model. *Glia* 57, 1046–1061. doi: 10.1002/glia.20828
- Oomen, C. A., Girardi, C. E. N., Cahyadi, R., Verbeek, E. C., Krugers, H., Joëls, M., et al. (2009). Opposite effects of early maternal deprivation on neurogenesis in male versus female rats. *PLoS ONE* 4:e3675. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0003675
- Oomen, C. A., Soeters, H., Audureau, N., Vermunt, L., van Hasselt, F. N., Manders, E. M. M., et al. (2010). Severe early life stress hampers spatial learning and neurogenesis, but improves hippocampal synaptic plasticity and emotional learning under high-stress conditions in adulthood. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 6635–6645. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0247-10.2010
- Oomen, C. A., Soeters, H., Audureau, N., Vermunt, L., van Hasselt, F. N., Manders, E. M. M., et al. (2011). Early maternal deprivation affects dentate gyrus structure and emotional learning in adult female rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 214, 249–260. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-1922-8
- Orr, A. G., Sharma, A., Binder, N. B., Miller, A. H., and Pearce, B. D. (2010). Interleukin-1 mediates long-term hippocampal dentate granule cell loss following postnatal viral infection. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 41, 89–96. doi: 10.1007/s12031-009-9293-5
- Ortega, A., Jadeja, V., and Zhou, H. (2011). Postnatal development of lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response in the brain. *Inflamm. Res.* 60, 175–185. doi: 10.1007/s00011-010-0252-y
- Palacio, A., Lopez, M., Perez-Bravo, F., Monkeberg, F., and Schlesinger, L. (2002). Leptin levels are associated with immune response in malnourished infants. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 87, 3040–3046. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.7.8636
- Palmer, A. C. (2011). Nutritionally mediated programming of the developing immune system. Adv. Nutr. 2, 377–395. doi: 10.3945/an.111.000570
- Pan, W., and Kastin, A. J. (1999). Penetration of neurotrophins and cytokines across the blood–brain/blood–spinal cord barrier. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 36, 291–298. doi: 10.1016/S0169-409X(98)00086-6
- Parpura, V., Heneka, M. T., Montana, V., Oliet, S. H. R., Schousboe, A., Haydon, P. G., et al. (2012). Glial cells in (patho)physiology. J. Neurochem. 121, 4–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2012.07664.x
- Parylak, S. L., Deng, W., and Gage, F. H. (2014). Mother's milk programs offspring's cognition. Nat. Neurosci. 17, 8–9. doi: 10.1038/nn.3611
- Pearce, B. D., Steffensen, S. C., Paoletti, A. D., Henriksen, S. J., and Buchmeier, M. J. (1996). Persistent dentate granule cell hyperexcitability after neonatal infection with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. J. Neurosci. 16, 220–228.
- Pleasure, S. J., Collins, A. E., and Lowenstein, D. H. (2000). Unique expression patterns of cell fate molecules delineate sequential stages of dentate gyrus development. J. Neurosci. 20, 6095–6105.
- Plotsky, P. M., and Meaney, M. J. (1993). Early, postnatal experience alters hypothalamic corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) mRNA, median eminence CRF content and stress-induced release in adult rats. *Mol. Brain Res.* 18, 195–200. doi: 10.1016/0169-328X(93)90189-V
- Prado, E. L., and Dewey, K. G. (2014). Nutrition and brain development in early life. *Nutr. Rev.* 72, 267–284. doi: 10.1111/nure.12102
- Pryce, C. R., Bettschen, D., and Feldon, J. (2001). Comparison of the effects of early handling and early deprivation on maternal care in the rat. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 38, 239–251. doi: 10.1002/dev.1018

- Rantakallio, P., Jones, P., Moring, J., and Von Wendt, L. (1997). Association between central nervous system infections during childhood and adult onset schizophrenia and other psychoses: a 28-year follow-up. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 26, 837–843. doi: 10.1093/ije/26.4.837
- Rice, C. J., Sandman, C. A., Lenjavi, M. R., and Baram, T. Z. (2008). A novel mouse model for acute and long-lasting consequences of early life stress. *Endocrinology* 149, 4892–4900. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-0633
- Roy, S., Kale, A., Dangat, K., Sable, P., Kulkarni, A., and Joshi, S. (2012). Maternal micronutrients (folic acid and vitamin B(12)) and omega 3 fatty acids: implications for neurodevelopmental risk in the rat offspring. *Brain Dev.* 34, 64–71. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2011.01.002
- Sauder, C., Wolfer, D. P., Lipp, H. P., Staeheli, P., and Hausmann, J. (2001). Learning deficits in mice with persistent Borna disease virus infection of the CNS associated with elevated chemokine expression. *Behav. Brain Res.* 120, 189–201. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(00)00370-3
- Schmidt, M., Enthoven, L., Van Woezik, J. H. G., Levine, S., de Kloet, E. R., and Oitzl, M. S. (2004). The Dynamics of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis during maternal deprivation. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 16, 52–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2004.01123.x
- Schmidt, M. V., Wang, X.-D., and Meijer, O. C. (2010). Early life stress paradigms in rodents: potential animal models of depression? *Psychopharmacology* 214, 131– 140. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-2096-0
- Schoderboeck, L., Adzemovic, M., Nicolussi, E.-M., Crupinschi, C., Hochmeister, S., Fischer, M.-T., et al. (2009). The "window of susceptibility" for inflammation in the immature central nervous system is characterized by a leaky blood–brain barrier and the local expression of inflammatory chemokines. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 35, 368–375. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.05.026
- Scholl, T. O., Hediger, M. L., Schall, J. I., Khoo, C. S., and Fischer, R. L. (1996). Dietary and serum folate: their influence on the outcome of pregnancy. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 63, 520–525.
- Schwarz, J. M., and Bilbo, S. D. (2012). Sex, glia, and development: interactions in health and disease. *Horm. Behav.* 62, 243–253. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012. 02.018
- Schwarz, J. M., Sholar, P. W., and Bilbo, S. D. (2012). Sex differences in microglial colonization of the developing rat brain. J. Neurochem. 120, 948–963. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07630.x
- Seckl, J. R., and Meaney, M. J. (2006). Glucocorticoid "programming" and PTSD risk. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1071, 351–378. doi: 10.1196/annals.1364.027
- Shanks, N., and Lightman, S. L. (2001). The maternal-neonatal neuro-immune interface: are there long-term implications for inflammatory or stress-related disease? J. Clin. Invest. 108, 1567–1573. doi: 10.1172/JCI14592
- Sharma, A., Valadi, N., Miller, A. H., and Pearce, B. D. (2002). Neonatal viral infection decreases neuronal progenitors and impairs adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 11, 246–256. doi: 10.1006/nbdi.2002.0531
- Sierra, A., Abiega, O., Shahraz, A., and Neumann, H. (2013). Janus-faced microglia: beneficial and detrimental consequences of microglial phagocytosis. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 7:6. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2013.00006
- Sierra, A., Beccari, S., Diaz-Aparicio, I., Encinas, J. M., Comeau, S., and Tremblay, M.-E. (2014). Surveillance, phagocytosis, and inflammation: how never-resting microglia influence adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Neural Plast.* 2014:610343. doi: 10.1155/2014/610343
- Singer, P., Shapiro, H., Theilla, M., Anbar, R., Singer, J., and Cohen, J. (2008). Anti-inflammatory properties of omega-3 fatty acids in critical illness: novel mechanisms and an integrative perspective. *Intensive Care Med.* 34, 1580–1592. doi: 10.1007/s00134-008-1142-4
- Slezak, M., Pfrieger, F. W., and Soltys, Z. (2006). Synaptic plasticity, astrocytes and morphological homeostasis. J. Physiol. Paris 99, 84–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jphysparis.2005.12.082
- Sominsky, L., Walker, A. K., Ong, L. K., Tynan, R. J., Walker, F. R., and Hodgson, D. M. (2012). Increased microglial activation in the rat brain following neonatal exposure to a bacterial mimetic. *Behav. Brain Res.* 226, 351–356. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.08.038
- Spencer, S. J. (2013). Perinatal nutrition programs neuroimmune function long-term: mechanisms and implications. *Front. Neurosci.* 7:144. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013.00144
- Stanton, M. E., Gutierrez, Y. R., and Levine, S. (1988). Maternal deprivation potentiates pituitary-adrenal stress responses in infant rats. *Behav. Neurosci.* 102, 692–700. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.102.5.692

- Steegers-Theunissen, R. P., Obermann-Borst, S. A., Kremer, D., Lindemans, J., Siebel, C., Steegers, E. A., et al. (2009). Periconceptional maternal folic acid use of 400 μg per day is related to increased methylation of the IGF2 gene in the very young child. *PLoS ONE* 4:e7845. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007845
- Stevens, S. E., Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S., Kreppner, J. M., Beckett, C., Castle, J., Colvert, E., et al. (2008). Inattention/overactivity following early severe institutional deprivation: presentation and associations in early adolescence. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 36, 385–398. doi: 10.1007/s10802-007-9185-5
- Suri, D., Veenit, V., Sarkar, A., Thiagarajan, D., Kumar, A., Nestler, E. J., et al. (2013). Early stress evokes age-dependent biphasic changes in hippocampal neurogenesis, BDNF expression, and cognition. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73, 658–666. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.10.023
- Tozuka, Y., Kumon, M., Wada, E., Onodera, M., Mochizuki, H., and Wada, K. (2010). Maternal obesity impairs hippocampal BDNF production and spatial learning performance in young mouse offspring. *Neurochem. Int.* 57, 235–247. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2010.05.015
- Tozuka, Y., Wada, E., and Wada, K. (2009). Diet-induced obesity in female mice leads to peroxidized lipid accumulations and impairment of hippocampal neurogenesis during the early life of their offspring. *FASEB J.* 23, 1920–1934. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-124784
- Troen, A. M., Shea-Budgell, M., Shukitt-Hale, B., Smith, D. E., Selhub, J., and Rosenberg, I. H. (2008). B-vitamin deficiency causes hyperhomocysteinemia and vascular cognitive impairment in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 12474– 12479. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0805350105
- Tsigos, C., and Chrousos, G. P. (2002). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, neuroendocrine factors and stress. J. Psychosom. Res. 53, 865–871. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00429-4
- Valadares, C. T., Fukuda, M. T. H., Francolin-Silva, A. L., Hernandes, A. S., and Almeida, S. S. (2010). Effects of postnatal protein malnutrition on learning and memory procedures. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 13, 274–282. doi: 10.1179/147683010X12611460764769
- Valladolid-Acebes, I., Stucchi, P., Cano, V., Fernandez-Alfonso, M. S., Merino, B., Gil-Ortega, M., et al. (2011). High-fat diets impair spatial learning in the radial-arm maze in mice. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 95, 80–85. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2010.11.007
- Van Dam, A. M., Brouns, M., Louisse, S., and Berkenbosch, F. (1992). Appearance of interleukin-1 in macrophages and in ramified microglia in the brain of endotoxintreated rats: a pathway for the induction of non-specific symptoms of sickness? *Brain Res.* 588, 291–296. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(92)91588-6
- Van Dam, F., and Van Gool, W. A. (2009). Hyperhomocysteinemia and Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 48, 425–430. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2008.03.009
- van der Ree, M., Tanis, J. C., Van Braeckel, K. N. J. A., Bos, A. F., and Roze, E. (2011). Functional impairments at school age of preterm born children with late-onset sepsis. *Early Hum. Dev.* 87, 821–826. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2011. 06.008
- van Hasselt, F. N., Cornelisse, S., Zhang, T. Y., Meaney, M. J., Velzing, E. H., Krugers,
 H. J., et al. (2012a). Adult hippocampal glucocorticoid receptor expression and dentate synaptic plasticity correlate with maternal care received by individuals early in life. *Hippocampus* 22, 255–266. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20892
- van Hasselt, F. N., Tieskens, J. M., Trezza, V., Krugers, H. J., Vanderschuren, L. J. M. J., and Joels, M. (2012b). Within-litter variation in maternal care received by individual pups correlates with adolescent social play behavior in male rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 106, 701–706. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.12.007
- Veena, S. R., Krishnaveni, G. V., Srinivasan, K., Wills, A. K., Muthayya, S., Kurpad, A. V., et al. (2010). Higher maternal plasma folate but not vitamin B-12 concentrations during pregnancy are associated with better cognitive function scores in 9- to 10- year-old children in South India. J. Nutr. 140, 1014–1022. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.118075
- Viviani, B., Boraso, M., Valero, M., Gardoni, F., Marco, E.-M., Llorente, R., et al. (2013). Early maternal deprivation immunologically primes hippocampal synapses by redistributing interleukin-1 receptor type I in a sex dependent manner. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 35, 135–143. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013. 09.008
- Walker, A. K., Nakamura, T., and Hodgson, D. M. (2010). Neonatal lipopolysaccharide exposure alters central cytokine responses to stress in adulthood in Wistar rats. *Stress* 13, 506–515. doi: 10.3109/10253890.2010.489977
- Walker, S. P., Grantham-McGregor, S. M., Powell, C. A., and Chang, S. M. (2000). Effects of growth restriction in early childhood on growth, IQ, and cognition at age

11 to 12 years and the benefits of nutritional supplementation and psychosocial stimulation. *J. Pediatr.* 137, 36–41. doi: 10.1067/mpd.2000.106227

- Wang, K. C., Fan, L. W., Kaizaki, A., Pang, Y., Cai, Z., and Tien, L. T. (2013). Neonatal lipopolysaccharide exposure induces long-lasting learning impairment, less anxiety-like response and hippocampal injury in adult rats. *Neuroscience* 234, 146–157. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.12.049
- Wang, X.-D., Rammes, G., Kraev, I., Wolf, M., Liebl, C., Scharf, S. H., et al. (2011). Forebrain CRF1 modulates early-life stress-programmed cognitive deficits. J. Neurosci. 31, 13625–13634. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2259-11.2011
- Weaver, I. C. G., Champagne, F. A., Brown, S. E., Dymov, S., Sharma, S., Meaney, M. J., et al. (2005). Reversal of maternal programming of stress responses in adult offspring through methyl supplementation: altering epigenetic marking later in life. J. Neurosci. 25, 11045–11054. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3652-05.2005
- Wei, L., Simen, A., Mane, S., and Kaffman, A. (2012). Early life stress inhibits expression of a novel innate immune pathway in the developing hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 37, 567–580. doi: 10.1038/npp.2011.239
- Williamson, L. L., Chao, A., and Bilbo, S. D. (2012). Environmental enrichment alters glial antigen expression and neuroimmune function in the adult rat hippocampus. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 26, 500–510. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.01.003
- Williamson, L. L., Sholar, P. W., Mistry, R. S., Smith, S. H., and Bilbo, S. D. (2011). Microglia and memory: modulation by early-life infection. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 15511– 15521. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3688-11.2011
- Wolf, C., Almli, C. R., Finger, S., Ryan, S., and Morgane, P. J. (1986). Behavioral effects of severe and moderate early malnutrition. *Physiol. Behav.* 38, 725–730. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(86)90270-2
- Yi, S. J., and Baram, T. Z. (1994). Corticotropin-releasing hormone mediates the response to cold stress in the neonatal rat without compensatory enhancement of the peptide's gene expression. *Endocrinology* 135, 2364–2368. doi: 10.1210/endo.135.6.7988418
- Ziko, I., De Luca, S., Dinan, T., Barwood, J. M., Sominsky, L., Cai, G., et al. (2014). Neonatal overfeeding alters hypothalamic microglial profiles and central

responses to immune challenge long-term. Brain Behav. Immun. 41, 32-43. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.06.014

- Zimmerberg, B., Foote, H. E., and Van Kempen, T. A. (2009). Olfactory association learning and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in an animal model of early deprivation. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 51, 333–344. doi: 10.1002/dev. 20373
- Zocher, M., Czub, S., Schulte-Mönting, J., de la Torre, J. C., and Sander, C. (2000). Alterations in neurotrophin and neurotrophin receptor gene expression patterns in the rat central nervous system following perinatal Borna disease virus infection. *J. Neurovirol.* 6, 462–477. doi: 10.3109/1355028000 9091947
- Zou, C.-G., Zhao, Y.-S., Gao, S.-Y., Li, S.-D., Cao, X.-Z., Zhang, M., et al. (2010).
 Homocysteine promotes proliferation and activation of microglia. *Neurobiol. Aging* 31, 2069–2079. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.11.007

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 October 2014; accepted: 16 December 2014; published online: 09 January 2015.

Citation: Hoeijmakers L, Lucassen PJ and Korosi A (2015) The interplay of early-life stress, nutrition, and immune activation programs adult hippocampal structure and function. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 7:103. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2014.00103

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2015 Hoeijmakers, Lucassen and Korosi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Vitamin D and hippocampal development-the story so far

Anne L. Lardner*

Department of Biochemistry, St Vincent's University Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

Epidemiological studies suggest that vitamin D insufficiency may be prevalent in young as well as older populations. The pleiotropic effects of vitamin D are now beyond dispute and a growing number of studies provide accumulating evidence of a role for vitamin D in brain development and function. A number of studies to date have investigated the effects of early-life vitamin D deprivation on adult hippocampus in animals and humans, and there is a growing body of evidence to suggest a role for this hormone in the development of selected hippocampal functions such as latent inhibition and hole board habituation in rats. There are few studies to date of vitamin D deprivation or supplementation on early hippocampal development in vivo. However, a small number of studies, mostly in vitro, point to a role for vitamin D in differentiation and development of hippocampal neurons. There is also limited evidence that supplementation with vitamin D following a period of deprivation is capable of restoring cellular activity and later function. Further avenues of future research are outlined including animal studies on the effects of vitamin D deprivation and inadequacy on early hippocampal biochemistry and function, e.g., measurement of BDNF levels, GABAergic activity, long-term potentiation (LTP) and spatial navigation. It also remains to be established if there are critical developmental windows during which vitamin D is required. In light of the importance of the hippocampus in LTP and spatial learning, further investigations on the early effects of vitamin D deprivation on hippocampal development are warranted.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China

Reviewed by: Daniele Bottai, University of Milan, Italy

Jitao Li, Peking University, China

*Correspondence:

Anne L. Lardner, Department of Biochemistry, St Vincent's University Hospital, Elm Park, Dublin 4, Ireland a.lardner@svuh.ie

Received: 15 April 2015 Accepted: 17 September 2015 Published: 07 October 2015

Citation:

Lardner AL (2015) Vitamin D and hippocampal development-the story so far. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 8:58. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00058 Keywords: vitamin D, hippocampus, neurogenesis, differentiation, proliferation, LTP, depletion, repletion

Introduction

Until a little over 30 years ago, the role of hormonal vitamin D was classically associated with calcium homeostasis, bone formation and maintenance, its up-regulation by parathyroid hormone being known for many years. However in recent years, myriad other functions and roles for vitamin D have been gradually postulated and verified, and its pleiotropic effects are now beyond dispute (Kalueff and Tuohimaa, 2007; McCann and Ames, 2008; Lai and Fang, 2013; Schlogl and Holick, 2014). Some examples of its diverse range of effects include immune-modulatory and pro-differentiation activity, cellular regulation and apoptosis, anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial activity, insulin secretion, interaction with the renin-angiotensin system, neuroprotection, *inter alia.* (See for examples, DeLuca and Cantorna, 2001; Garcion et al., 2002; Holick, 2003; Lin and White, 2004; Nagpal et al., 2005; Norman, 2006). Vitamin D is now known to be synthesized in many cells such as skin, lymph nodes, colon, adrenal medulla and pancreas (see for example, Zehnder et al., 2001; Lai and Fang, 2013) and it regulates approximately 3% of the human genes via its endocrine effects (Bouillon et al., 2008).

Among the general population, pregnant women are considered to be at risk of vitamin D deficiency (VD). The increased demands of the developing fetus combined with a possible decrease in environmental exposure to sunlight, may result in diminished circulating vitamin D (Hillman and Haddad, 1976; Markestad et al., 1983). One large US study reported that 12% of women aged 25-29 had low serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels (Looker and Gunter, 1998) while another study of young Canadian women reported even higher prevalences (Vieth et al., 2001). A high prevalence of VD has also been reported in infants, children and adolescents from various countries (Huh and Gordon, 2008). In addition, women who wear concealed clothes are also at risk and in one study, hypovitaminosis was observed in 82.5% of such a cohort (Belaid et al., 2008). The question of reduced vitamin D concentrations on consequent neonatal, infant and child development in relation to the hippocampus is therefore highly pertinent.

Vitamin D and the CNS

The earliest evidence for binding of Vitamin D3 within the nervous system was first obtained over 35 years ago by the seminal autoradiographic studies of Stumpf et al. (1979, 1980), who reported its accumulation in the posterior pituitary, forebrain, hindbrain and spinal cord. However an earlier study by Clemens et al had reported that antibody to the Vitamin D receptor (VDR) within the dorsal hippocampus was strikingly similar to the D3 receptor (Clemens et al., 1985). Further autoradiographic studies by Stumpf and O'Brien (1987) demonstrated the positive presence of nuclear Vitamin D staining in many other brain regions including the ventral hippocampus. On the basis of the extensive presence of vitamin D within the brain, they proposed that calcitriol be renamed solitriol, the sunlight activated steroid hormone, to reflect its wider physiological remit. Since then the investigation of a neural role for vitamin D has gained significant traction and a plethora of animal studies have shed light both on its presence and its biological activity within the CNS independent of transport via the blood-brain barrier. For example, a number of studies have revealed the expression of VDR in specific brain regions including the thalamus, cerebellum, amygdala, cingulated gyri, temporal lobe, cerebral cortex, and hippocampus (Clemens et al., 1988; Prüfer et al., 1999; Langub et al., 2001; Zehnder et al., 2001; Garcion et al., 2002; Eyles et al., 2003; McGrath et al., 2004). Biosynthetic and degradative enzymes for the vitamin were also reported in glial and neuronal cells in vitro (Clemens et al., 1988; Neveu et al., 1994a,b; Baas et al., 2000). An important study by Eyles et al established for the first time that the VDR and a-1 hydoxlyase enzyme co-localized in specific areas of the brain (Eyles et al., 2005). This was followed by several functional studies on physiological and cellular effects of vitamin D on various aspects of brain cellular function (for examples see Ko et al., 2004; Lin et al., 2005; Taniura et al., 2006).

A growing body of evidence also points to a role for vitamin D in the development of the CNS. Vitamin D3 receptors have

been located in the CNS of the rat embryo (Veenstra et al., 1998). In addition, transient deprivation of vitamin D early in life leads to changes in the new-born rat brain which may persist into adulthood. The offspring of vitamin D deficient rats have larger lateral ventricles (Eyles et al., 2003; Féron et al., 2005), a thinner cortex (Eyles et al., 2003) diminished levels of nerve growth factor (NGF; Eyles et al., 2003; Féron et al., 2005), and reduced expression of a number of genes involved in neuronal structure and neurotransmission (Féron et al., 2005). These changes do not persist if young animals are fed a vitamin D replete diet at birth but persist if they remain on a vitamin D deficient diet for the first 3 weeks of life (Féron et al., 2005). VD has also been shown to interfere with cortical development in developing rat brains by inducing fewer apoptotic cells at birth and more mitotic cells overall (Ko et al., 2004). Targeted gene arrays specific for apoptosis and cell cycle genes confirm a pattern of transcription deregulation in the deplete group consistent with the known properties of vitamin D (Ko et al., 2004). The latter study suggests that the known pro-apoptotic and pro-differentiating properties of Vitamin D may also play a role in brain development. In addition, vitamin D has been demonstrated to increase levels of NGF and neurotrophins NT-3 and NT-4 in cultured glial cells, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Neveu et al., 1994a,b; Baas et al., 2000). Neurotrophins (NT) play an important role in the survival of developing neurons and in the proliferation and differentiation of neural progenitor cells (Davies, 2004). Its overall contribution to healthy brain development renders also likely a role for vitamin D in the developing hippocampus. A recent paper investigated the effects of calcitriol on neural stem cell differentiation from cultured mouse neurospheres, and reported concentration-dependent increases in the numbers of cells containing the intracellular neural marker NeuN, and the oligodendrocyte marker GalC, and the astrocyte marker GFAP. They also reported increased VDR expression within the neural stem cells (Shirazi et al., 2015).

Studies on the Hippocampus

Functional VDRs were first reported in the dentate gyrus (DG), pyramidal and granule layers, glial cells and in subfields CA1-3 of the rat hippocampus, which were capable of specifically binding DNA response elements to osteopontin (Langub et al., 2001). Following the discovery of VDR within the hippocampus, a number of studies have investigated the effects of pre or perinatal VD or supplementation on aspects of hippocampal structure or function in rodents. Several studies have also been carried out on cultured hippocampal cells in vitro. Although many of the in vivo studies have been conducted on brains of adult rodents, changes in structure or function in adult brains provide circumstantial evidence for impaired development, as reported deficits represent the outcomes of earlier anatomical or physiological abnormalities extending into adulthood. Therefore they are germane to an overall understanding of the role of vitamin D in hippocampal development.

Behavioral Studies

Several studies have investigated the effects of prenatal VD deficiency in rodents on cognitive and behavioral functions which directly or indirectly involve the hippocampus. In one animal model, offspring of female rats who had been subjected to a VD deficient diet from 6 weeks prior to mating until the birth of the litter were evaluated for behavioral changes at various time points following repletion of Vitamin D at birth. Significant impairment of both latent inhibition and hole-board habituation in vitamin-deprived rats was reported (Becker et al., 2005). The former is considered to be a measure of the ability to learn to ignore irrelevant stimuli. The latter is a form of non-associative learning in which there is a progressive diminution with repetition of a specific stimulus and also represents the ability to ignore irrelevant stimuli. Both functions are thought to constitute a central feature of schizophrenia (Becker et al., 2005) and involve the hippocampus (Oades and Isaacson, 1978; Weiner, 1990). However there was no impairment of spatial learning within a radial maze, nor on two-way active avoidance learning. Vitamin depleted rats also demonstrated superior ability to maintain previously learned rules in a brightness discrimination task. The authors concluded that exposure to low prenatal vitamin D has a selective impact on certain aspects of memory only, with disruption of latent inhibition, but no effect on memory acquisition and memory retrieval. The apparently superior ability of VD rats to maintain previously learned rules in a brightness discrimination task is an intriguing finding which needs to be replicated. However this link at present remains speculative, albeit tenable. Apropos its functional significance, it is tempting to speculate that it may constitute a compensatory physiological mechanism in the absence of sufficient sunlight. A later study by the same group investigated synaptic plasticity and long-term potentiation (LTP) in the DG of the hippocampus (Grecksch et al., 2009). Surprisingly, VD induced an enhancement of LTP using weak or strong titanic stimulation which persisted for more than 24 h. The authors concluded that memory acquisition and retrieval was unaffected and only latent inhibition disrupted. They also noted that the finding of enhanced LTP was in good agreement with the improved memory associated with the brightness discrimination task of their earlier study. Harms et al investigated the effect of prenatal VD on different neurological behaviors in two strains of 10 week old mice, and noted increased frequency of head-dipping in the hole board test in both strains, indicative of increased exploration and hippocampal involvement (Harms et al., 2012). The clinical significance of the latter has not been evaluated to date. In a separate study by the same group, one strain of mouse displayed spontaneous hyperlocomotion, pointing to intraspecies as well as inter-species differences in responses to developmental VD (Harms et al., 2008).

In light of the major role of the hippocampus in longterm memory formation, the apparent lack of effect of VD on spatial learning and memory formation and retrieval is an important finding which needs to be verified across species. An investigation of BDNF levels in such studies would also be useful, given its importance in spatial learning and hippocampal plasticity (Kang and Schuman, 1995a,b; Leal et al., 2015). It must be borne in mind also, that rats in the cited studies received some vitamin D from their mothers from the time of birth until weaning, and it is possible that this could have resulted in a partial restoration of hippocampal structure and function.

The hippocampus constitutes part of the neural circuitry responsible for the acoustic startle reflex (Swerdlow et al., 2001). One study to date has investigated the effects of vitamin D deprivation over time on this reflex in rats (Burne et al., 2004). Several groups of rats were treated and compared e.g., no depletion, replete at birth, replete at weaning, depleted until 10 weeks of age, or depleted between 5 and 10 weeks of age, and they found that only the combined prenatal and chronic postnatal vitamin D deprivation, but not early life hypovitaminosis on its own, resulted in an impaired response. This suggests that early VD for a limited period does not automatically produce any long-term adverse effects on brain function.

Neuroanatomical and Neurochemical Studies

Harms et al investigated the effect of prenatal VD on brain anatomy in two strains of male and female new-born mice and found a significantly reduced hippocampal volume in females but not males. However the phenotype did not extend into adulthood, suggesting that either normal postnatal development or the reintroduction of vitamin D at birth may have corrected the deficit (Harms et al., 2012). The finding of reduced hippocampal volume in females is noteworthy and in need of further replication. Its clinical significance if any, is presently unknown and can only be elucidated in the context of further specific behavioral studies comparing hippocampal function and activity in females and males. One other study on the offspring of VD mice has demonstrated smaller lateral ventricles at 30 weeks but normal hippocampal volume (Fernandes de Abreu et al., 2010). There are no studies to date on the effects of VD on hippocampal volume in rats or other species.

Two animal studies to date have investigated the effect of VD on hippocampal neurogenesis. The first study, utilising a 1-a hydroxylase knock-out mouse model investigated the hippocampus of 8 week old mice born of vitamin D-depleted dams following injection with labeled bromodeoxyuridine (bdU; Zhu et al., 2012). They found a 50% reduction in the number of what were referred to as newborn neurons within the subgranular zone of the DG, alongside an increase in the number of apoptotic cells, 7 and 28 days post-injection. Subsequent dietary supplementation with vitamin D₃ was able to prevent the reduction in bdU-labeled DG cells. This was paralleled by a decrease in NGF levels within the brain, leading the authors to postulate on a direct link between both phenomena. The decrease in NGF levels is consistent with previous studies in relation to brain development (Eyles et al., 2003; Féron et al., 2005). However the finding of increased numbers of apoptotic cells in the hippocampus is in contrast to the

findings of decreased numbers of apoptotic cells at birth in the developing cortex (Ko et al., 2004) and with the known overall effects of vitamin D on apoptosis. A second study used rats to investigate the effect of gestational VD on their 10 week old offspring and also reported reduced neuronal proliferation within the subgranular layer of the DG (Keilhoff et al., 2010).

It appears that the negative effects of early transient VD on the hippocampus can be counteracted, under certain conditions at least, by subsequent repletion *in vivo* (Eyles et al., 2003; Burne et al., 2004; Féron et al., 2005; Harms et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2012). This suggests that VD under certain conditions, exerts only temporary rather than long-term deficits in structure and function. It remains to be established if this compensatory ability is limited to specific ontogenetic windows of development. More carefully differentiated investigations like this one on various aspects of hippocampal development and function are necessary.

Two studies have investigated the effect of a single treatment of 50 µg of vitamin D on neurotransmitter concentrations in offspring of rats, and found that within the hippocampus, levels of serotonin and 5H1AA, but not dopamine or HVA, were negatively affected by the single treatment, which the authors referred to as hormonal imprinting (Tekes et al., 2009a,b). This is an interesting finding which warrants further exploration over longer periods with repeated hormone treatments. Apart from elucidating valuable data on the direct effect of vitamin D on neurotransmitter levels within the hippocampus, such studies carried out on young animals could also shed valuable light on hippocampal development when combined with behavioral testing. A recent study investigated calcitriol supplementation for 6 weeks in rats and reported higher GABA levels in the hippocampus and cortex (Jiang et al., 2014).

In Vitro Studies

Several groups have investigated vitamin D supplementation of up to 100 nM on developing cultured hippocampal neurons (Brann et al., 1999; Brown et al., 2003; Marini et al., 2010). Two of these reported arrested or reduced mitosis and cell division along with accelerated neurite outgrowth and increased NGF production (Brann et al., 1999; Brown et al., 2003). These findings are consistent with an earlier study demonstrating the upregulation of the anti-mitotic cyclin-dependent kinase regulators p. 21 and p. 27 in a related cell line (Rots et al., 1999). Marini's group reported translocation of vitamin D from the cytoplasm to the nucleus and back to the cytoplasm, which caused a delay in cell proliferation and induction of cell differentiation (Marini et al., 2010). They expanded their study to include a simultaneous investigation of cell cycle activity during Vitamin D supplementation. They found reduced expression of two proteins involved with proliferation (PCNA and cyclin D1) between 12-15 h post incubation compared to controls. This coincided with a 70% decrease in thymidine incorporation into DNA and with the G1/S phase of the cell cycle. There was a concurrent 16-fold increase in levels of Bcl2, a protein marker of cell differentiation, and NF-L, one of the neurofilaments involved in maintenance and remodeling of the neuronal cytoskeleton. They also reported an increase in the development of dendrites and axons over 5 days of culture compared to controls. In a later study, the same group found that when serum is withdrawn from cultured hippocampal cells, treatment with 100 nM vitamin D fails to trigger differentiation. However, increasing the dose to 400 nM allowed the interaction of the vitamin with its receptor, resulting in differentiation (Bartoccini et al., 2011). This finding points to differential effects of varying concentrations of vitamin D on cellular hippocampal development and warrant further exploration. Although the concentration of hormone used to supplement in vitro is higher than that detected in standard rat chow, vitamin D levels in humans have been found in more than one study to be elevated in pregnancy (Seki et al., 1991; Ardawi et al., 1997). It is therefore possible that local gradients of the hormone occur in the developing embryonic tissues and organs in vivo which may mirror if not exceed those used experimentally.

Cui et al examined the effect of VD on neuroprogenitor formation in cultured neonatal rat brain cells (Cui et al., 2007). They found an increase in the number of neurospheres formed in culture from the subventricular zone (SVZ), which was unaffected by subsequent supplementation with vitamin D. The authors concluded that vitamin D can regulate cellular proliferation in the developing brain. It is noteworthy that exogenous vitamin D supplementation of an initially deprived medium failed to elicit any cellular response. This contrasts with the restoration of normal development following vitamin D repletion in whole animals (Féron et al., 2005), and highlights the potential disparity between in vitro and in vivo findings. It may reflect the lack of any pool of pre-existing progenitor cells in the in vitro studies compared with the in vivo situation. Interestingly, VDR positive staining was localized within the progenitor cells of control and deplete neonate brains, particularly within the SVZ, and was unaffected by vitamin depletion.

One *in vitro* study has investigated the interaction of glucocorticoids with vitamin D in isolated hippocampal cells (Obradovic et al., 2006). Pre-treatment with 1 μ mol vitamin D for 24 h substantially reduced the degree of dexamethasone—induced apoptosis and induced the activation of the p42/p44 MAPK complex which is involved in cellular differentiation. Vitamin D also abrogated the inhibitory effects of dexamethasone on the MAPK complex. The antagonistic effects of vitamin D on glucocoticoid action was postulated to have potential significance in treatment of cognitive impairments and major depression, both of which are accompanied by high amounts of circulating corticosteroids (Holsboer, 2000).

Future Directions and Conclusions

In light of the accumulating animal and *in vitro* evidence to date, it is likely that vitamin D plays a role in hippocampal development *in vivo*. However, the majority of animal studies to date have been carried on animals from several weeks old and upwards, and there are insufficient data on the effects

of VD on newborn and adolescent animals. This constitutes a major lacuna in our overall understanding of the role of vitamin D in the early development of the hippocampus and is an avenue ripe for exploration. There is a need for similar studies as those carried out to date on vitamin deficient new-born animals and continuing at regular timepoints to adulthood, to elucidate clearly how VD impacts on development *in vivo* both anatomically and structurally. Further anatomical studies are particularly necessary on early hippocampal neurogenesis and neuronal differentiation *in vivo* to confirm the *in vitro* findings.

It is possible that there are temporal variations in the effects of vitamin D such that particular time points along the spectrum of hippocampal development are more sensitive to its absence or its supply, than are others. There is a need for detailed studies investigating the effects of varying degrees of VD over time on hippocampal structure and function, given that VD in human subjects is invariably partial rather than total.

The overall behavioral findings to date with rodents on the effects of early VD on hippocampal function are complex and subtle, pointing to specific deficits such as latent inhibition and hole board habituation, rather than global disruption of function. These findings are also in need of replication to eliminate the possibility that some of these observations are species-specific rather than global. The finding, for example, of increased hyper-locomotion in one specific mouse species but not another (Harms et al., 2008) highlights the potentially differing effects of VD even within a single species.

Hippocampal structure and function is altered in schizophrenia, and the neuro-developmental hypothesis of schizophrenia suggests that an interaction between genetic and environmental factors during critical windows of development negatively impacts on brain development. Low prenatal vitamin D has been postulated as an epigenetic risk factor for same (McGrath, 1999), and transient VD is considered a developmental model in schizophrenia research. This has led to an important volume of work on this topic, some of which has been cited in this review in the context of the hippocampus. Hippocampal hyperactivity in schizophrenia has been demonstrated via neuroimaging and GABAergic mechanisms have been implicated in this effect (Heckers and Konradi, 2014). The recent finding of elevated GABA levels within the hippocampus and cortex following calcitriol supplementation in adult rats is noteworthy in this regard (Jiang et al., 2014). The effect of VD on neuronal activity and on GABA levels within the developing hippocampus *in vivo* is also worth investigating.

Given the known adverse effects of glucocorticoid excess on early brain development and the ensuing propensity to psychiatric illness later in life, another worthwhile avenue of research is the exploration of combined glucocorticoid excess with VD over varying time periods pre and post natally on hippocampal development and function *in vivo*. In particular, their combined effect on neural plasticity and LTP within the hippocampus needs to be elucidated.

It also remains to be established whether or not prenatal or perinatal VD may result in subtle changes in the developing hippocampus which render it more susceptible to eventual development of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's. While a number of studies have looked at the effects of VD on cognitive function in ageing or elderly populations, none to date have attempted to ascertain whether VD in early life could predispose to cognitive dysfunction in adulthood. Such studies of VD in the developing hippocampus should also measure BDNF levels, which are known to decrease in hippocampal neurons of Alzheimers patients (Siegel and Chauhan, 2000).

Finally, there are no cross-sectional studies to date in young children on hippocampal function such as memory formation and retrieval, and spatial navigation as a function of their vitamin D intake. This would shed the most valuable light possible on the role of vitamin D in early hippocampal development.

References

- Ardawi, M. S., Nasrat, H. A. N., and BA'Aqueel, H. S. (1997). Calciumregulating hormones and parathyroid hormone-related peptide in normal human pregnancy and post-partum: a longitudinal study. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 137, 402–409. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1370402
- Baas, D., Prüfer, K., Ittel, M. E., Kuchler-Bopp, S., Labourdette, G., Sarliéve, L. L., et al. (2000). Rat oligodentrocytes express the vitamin D(3) receptor and respond to 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D(3). *Glia* 31, 59–68. doi: 10. 1002/(sici)1098-1136(200007)31:1<59::aid-glia60>3.0.co;2-y
- Bartoccini, E., Marini, E., Damaskopoulou, E., Lazzarini, R., Cataldi, S., Cascianelli, G., et al. (2011). Nuclear lipid microdomains regulate nuclear vitamin D uptake and influence embryonic hippocampal cell differentiation. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 22, 3022–3031. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e11-03-0196
- Becker, A., Eyles, D., McGrath, J. J., and Grecksch, G. (2005). Transient prenatal vitamin D deficiency is associated with subtle alterations in learning and memory functions in adult rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 161, 306–312. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2005.02.015
- Belaid, S., Martin, A., Schott, A. M., Lavelle, M., and Le Goaziou, M. F. (2008). Hypovitaminosis D among 18–29 years-old women wearing concealing clothes, an ignored reality in general practice. *Presse Med.* 37, 201–206. doi: 10. 1016/j.lpm.2007.06.024

- Bouillon, R., Carmeliet, G., Verlinden, L., van Etten, E., Luderer, H. F., Lieben, L., et al. (2008). Vitamin D and human health: lessons from Vitamin D receptor null mice. *Endocr. Rev.* 29, 726–776. doi: 10.1210/er.2008-0004
- Brann, A. B., Scott, R., Neuberger, Y., Abulafia, D., Boldin, S., and Fainzilber, M. (1999). Ceramide signalling downstream of the P75 neurotrophin receptor mediates the effects of nerve growth factor on outgrowth of cultured hippocampal neurogenesis. J. Neurosci. 19, 8199–8206.
- Brown, J., Bianco, J. I., McGrath, J. J., and Eyles, D. W. (2003). 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 induces nerve growth factor, promotes neurite outgrowth and inhibits mitosis in embryonic rat hippocampal neurons. *Neurosci. Lett.* 343, 139–143. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3940(03) 00303-3
- Burne, T. H., Féron, F., Brown, J., Eyles, D. W., McGrath, J. J., and Mackay-Sim, A. (2004). Combined prenatal and chronic postnatal vitamin D deficiency in rats impairs prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle. *Physiol. Behav.* 81, 651–655. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.03.004
- Clemens, T. L., Zhou, X. Y., Pike, J. W., Haussler, M. R., and Sloviter, R. S. (1985). "1,25 Dihyroxyvitamin D receptor and vitamin D-dependent calciumbinding protein in rat brain: comparative immunocytochemical localization," in *Vitamin D. A Chemical, Biochemical and Clinical Update*, eds. H. G. Grigoleit and D. V. Herrath (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter), 95–96.

- Clemens, T., Garrett, K. P., Zhou, X. Y., Pike, J. W., Haussler, M. R., and Dempster, D. W. (1988). Immunocytochemical localisation of the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor in target cells. *Endocrinology* 122, 1224–1230.
- Cui, X. Y., McGrath, J. J., Burne, T. H., Mackay-Sim, A., and Eyles, D. W. (2007). Maternal vitamin D depletion alters neurogenesis in the developing rat brain. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 25, 227–232. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2007.03.006
- Davies, A. M. (2004). The role of neurotrophins in the developing nervous system. *J. Neurobiol.* 25, 1334–1348. doi: 10.1002/neu.480251103
- DeLuca, H. F., and Cantorna, M. T. (2001). Vitamin D: its role and uses in immunology. *Faseb J.* 15, 2579–2585. doi: 10.1096/fj.01-0433rev
- Eyles, D., Brown, J., Mackay-Sim, A., McGrath, J., and Feron, F. (2003). Vitamin D and brain development. *Neuroscience* 118, 641–653. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(03)00040-X
- Eyles, D. W., Smith, S., Kinobe, R., Hewison, M., and McGrath, J. J. (2005). Distribution of the vitamin D receptor and 1 alpha-hydroxylase in human brain. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 29, 21–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jchemneu.2004.08.006
- Fernandes de Abreu, D. A., Nivet, E., Baril, N., Khrestchatisky, M., Roman, F., and Féron, F. (2010). Developmental Vitamin D deficiency alters learning in C57B1/6J mice. Behav. Brain Res. 208, 603–608. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.01.005
- Féron, F., Burne, T. H., Brown, J., Smith, E., McGrath, J. J., Mackay-Sim, A., et al. (2005). Developmental Vitamin D3 deficiency alters the adult rat brain. *Brain Res. Bull.* 65, 141–148. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2004.12.007
- Garcion, E., Wion-Barbot, N., Montero-Menei, C., Berger, N. F., and Wion, D. (2002). New clues about vitamin D functions in the nervous system. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 13, 100–105. doi: 10.1016/s1043-2760(01) 00547-1
- Grecksch, G., Ruthrich, H., Hollt, V., and Becker, A. (2009). Transient prenatal vitamin D deficiency is associated with changes of synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus in adult rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 345, 5258–5264. doi: 10. 1016/j.psyneuen.2009.07.004
- Harms, L. R., Cowin, G., Eyles, D. W., Kurniawan, N. D., McGrath, J. J., and Burne, T. H. J. (2012). Neuroanatomy and psychomimetic-induced locomotion in C57BL/6J and 129/X1SvJ mice exposed to developmental vitamin D deficiency. *Behav. Brain Res.* 230, 25–131. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2012.02.007
- Harms, L. R., Eyles, D. W., McGrath, J. J., Mackay-Sim, A., and Burne, T. H. (2008). Developmental vitamin D deficiency alters adult behaviour in 129/SvJ and C57BL/6J mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 187, 343–350. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2007. 09.032
- Heckers, S., and Konradi, C. (2014). GABAergic mechanisms of hippocampal hyperactivity in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.09. 041 [Epub ahead of print].
- Hillman, L. S., and Haddad, J. G. (1976). Perinatal vitamin D metabolism. 111. Factors influencing late gestational human serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 125, 196–200.
- Holick, M. F. (2003). Vitamin D a millennium perspective. J. Cell. Biochem. 88, 296–307. doi: 10.1002/jcb.10338
- Holsboer, F. (2000). The corticosteroid hypothesis of depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 23, 477–501. doi: 10.1016/s0893-133x(00)00159-7
- Huh, S. Y., and Gordon, C. M. (2008). Vitamin D deficiency in children and adolescents:epidemiology, impact and treatment. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.* 9, 161–170. doi: 10.1007/s11154-007-9072-y
- Jiang, P., Zhang, L. H., Cai, H. L., Li, H. D., Liu, Y. P., Tang, M. M., et al. (2014). Neurochemical effects of chronic administration of calcitriol in rats. *Nutrients* 6, 6048–6059. doi: 10.3390/nu6126048
- Kalueff, A. V., and Tuohimaa, P. (2007). Neurosteroid hormone vitamin D and its utility in clinical nutrition. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care.* 10, 12–19. doi: 10.1097/mco.0b013e328010ca18
- Kang, H., and Schuman, E. M. (1995a). Long-lasting neurotrophin-induced enhancement of neuronal transmission in the adult rat hippocampus. *Science* 267, 1658–1662. doi: 10.1126/science.7886457
- Kang, H., and Schuman, E. M. (1995b). Neurotrophin-induced modulation of synaptic transmission in the adult hippocampus. J. Physiol. 89, 11–22. doi: 10. 1016/0928-4257(96)80547-x
- Keilhoff, G., Grecksch, G., and Becker, A. (2010). Haloperidol normalises prenatal vitamin D depletion-induced reduction of hippocampal cell proliferation in adult rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* 476, 94–98. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.04.010
- Ko, P., Burkert, R., McGrath, J., and Eyles, D. (2004). Maternal vitamin D3 deprivation and the regulation of apoptosis and cell cycle during rat brain

development. Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res. 153, 61–68. doi: 10.1016/j.devbrainres. 2004.07.013

- Lai, Y. H., and Fang, T. C. (2013). The pleiotropic effect of vitamin D. ISRN Nephrol. 2013:898125. doi: 10.5402/2013/898125
- Langub, M. C., Herman, J. P., Malluche, H. H., and Koszewski, N. J. (2001). Evidence of functional Vitamin D receptors in rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience* 104, 49–56. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4522(01)00049-5
- Leal, G., Afonso, P. M., Salazar, I. L., and Duarte, C. B. (2015). Regulation of hippocampal synaptic plasticity by BDNF. *Brain Res.* 1621, 82–101. doi: 10. 1016/j.brainres.2014.10.019
- Lin, A. M., Chen, K. B., and Chao, P. L. (2005). Antioxidative effect of vitamin D3 on zinc-induced oxidative stress in CNS. Ann. N Y Acad. Sci. 1053, 319–329. doi: 10.1196/annals.1344.028
- Lin, R., and White, J. H. (2004). The pleiotropic actions of vitamin D. *Bioessays* 26, 21–28. doi: 10.1002/bies.10368
- Looker, A. C., and Gunter, E. W. (1998). Hypovitaminosis D in medical inpatients. N. Engl. J. Med. 339, 344–345. doi: 10.1097/00019616-199807000-00022
- Marini, F., Bartoccini, E., Cascianelli, G., Voccoli, V., Baviglia, M. G., Magni, V., et al. (2010). Effect of 1,25-Dihyroxyvitamin D3 in embryonic hippocampal cells. *Hippocampus* 20, 696–705. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20670
- Markestad, T., Asknes, L., Aarskog, D., and Dahl, L. B. (1983). Vitamin D metabolism in pre-term infants. *Lancet* 2:976. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(83)90498-1
- McCann, J. C., and Ames, B. N. (2008). Is there convincing biological or behavioural evidence linking vitamin D deficiency to brain dysfunction? *Faseb J.* 22, 982–1001. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-9326rev
- McGrath, J. (1999). Hypothesis: is low prenatal vitamin D a risk-modifying factor for schizophrenia? *Schizophr. Res.* 40, 173–177. doi: 10.1016/s0920-9964(99)00052-3
- McGrath, J. J., Féron, F. P., Burne, T. H., Mackay-Sim, A., and Eyles, D. W. (2004). Vitamin D3-implications for brain development. *J. Steroid. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 89–90, 557–560. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2004.03.070
- Nagpal, S., Na, S., and Rathnachalam, R. (2005). Noncalcaemic actions of vitamin D receptor ligands. *Endocr. Rev.* 26, 662–687. doi: 10.1210/er. 2004-0002
- Neveu, I., Naveilhan, P., Bauder, C., Brachet, P., and Metsis, M. (1994a). 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulates NT-3, NT-4 but not BDNF mRNA in astrocytes. *Neuroreport* 6, 124–126. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199412300-0 0032
- Neveu, I., Naveilhan, P., Jehan, F., Bauder, C., Wion, D., De Luca, H. F., et al. (1994b). 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulates the synthesis of nerve growth factor in primary cultures of glial cells. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 24, 70–76. doi: 10.1016/0169-328x(94)90119-8
- Norman, A. W. (2006). Minireview: vitamin D receptor: new assignments for an already busy receptor. *Endocrinology* 147, 5542–5548. doi: 10.1210/en.2006-0946
- Oades, R. D., and Isaacson, R. L. (1978). The development of food search behavior by rats: the effects of hippocampal damage and haloperidol. *Behav. Biol.* 24, 327–337.
- Obradovic, D., Gronemeyer, H., Lutz, B., and Rein, T. (2006). Cross-talk of vitamin D, glucocorticoids in hippocampal cells. *J. Neurochem.* 96, 500–509. doi: 10. 1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03579.x
- Prüfer, K., Veenstra, T. D., Jirikowski, G. F., and Kumar, R. (1999). Distribution of 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor immunoreactivity in the rat brain and spinal cord. *J. Chem. Neuranat.* 16, 135–145. doi: 10.1016/s0891-0618(99)00002-2
- Rots, N. Y., Iavarone, A., Bromleigh, V., and Freedman, L. P. (1999). Induced differentiation of U937 cells by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 involves cell cycle arrest that is preceded by a transient proliferation burst and an increase in cyclin expression. *Blood* 93, 2721–2729.
- Schlogl, M., and Holick, M. F. (2014). Vitamin D and neurocognitive function. Clin. Interv. Aging. 14, 559–568. doi: 10.2147/cia.s51785
- Seki, K., Makimur, N., Mitsui, C., Hirata, J., and Nagata, I. (1991). Calcium regulating hormones and osteocalcin during pregnancy: a longitudinal study. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 164, 1248–1252. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(91)90694-m
- Shirazi, H. A., Rasouli, J., Ciric, B., Rostami, A., and Zhang, G. X. (2015). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 enhances neural stem proliferation and oligodendrocyte formation. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 98, 240–245. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2015.02.004

- Siegel, G., and Chauhan, N. (2000). Neurotrophin factors in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease brain. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. 33, 199–227. doi: 10. 1016/S0165-0173(00)00030-8
- Stumpf, W. E., and O'Brien, L. P. (1987). 1,25 (OH) 2 vitamin D sites of action in the brain. An autoradiographic study. *Histochemistry* 87, 393–406. doi: 10. 1007/bf00496810
- Stumpf, W. E., Sar, M., Clark, S. A., Leith, E., and DeLuca, H. F. (1980). Target neurons for 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 in brain and spinal cord. *Neuroendocrinol. Lett.* 2, 297–301.
- Stumpf, W. E., Sar, M., Reid, F. A., Tanaka, Y., and DeLuca, H. F. (1979). Target neurons for 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 in intestinal tract, stomach, kidney, skin, pituitary and parathyroid. *Science* 206, 1188–1190. doi: 10.1126/science.505004
- Swerdlow, N. R., Geyer, M. A., and Braff, D. L. (2001). Neural circuit regulation of prepulse inhibition of startle in the rat:current knowledge and future challenges. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 156, 194–215. doi: 10. 1007/s002130100799
- Taniura, H., Ito, M., Sanada, N., Kutamoto, N., Ohno, Y., Nakamichi, N., et al. (2006). Chronic vitamin D3 treatment protects against neurotoxicity by glutamate in association with upregulation of vitamin D receptor mRNA expression in cultured rat cortical neurons. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 83, 1179–1189. doi: 10.1002/jnr.20824
- Tekes, K., Gyenge, M., Hantos, M., and Csaba, G. (2009a). Trangenerational hormonal imprinting caused by vitamin A and vitamin D treatment of newborn rats. Alterations in the biogenic amine contents of the adult brain. *Brain Dev.* 31, 666–670. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2008.10.007
- Tekes, K., Gyenge, M., Hantos, M., and Csaba, G. (2009b). Influence of neonatal vitamin A or vitamin D treatment on the concentration of biogenic amines and their metabolites in the adult rat brain. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 41, 277–280. doi: 10. 1055/s-0028-1103287

- Veenstra, T. D., Prüfer, K., Koenigsberger, C., Brimijoin, S. W., Grande, J. P., and Kumar, R. (1998). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptors in the central nervous system of the rat embryo. *Brain Res.* 804, 193–205. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(98)00565-4
- Vieth, R., Cole, D. E., Hawker, G. A., Trang, H. M., and Rubin, L. A. (2001). Wintertime vitamin D insufficiency is common in young Canadian women and their vitamin D intake does not prevent it. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 55, 1091–1097. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601275
- Weiner, I. (1990). Neural substrates of latent inhibition: The switching model. *Psychol. Bull.* 108, 442–461. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.108.3.442
- Zehnder, D., Bland, R., Williams, M. C., Ninch, R. W., Howie, A. J., Stewart, P. M., et al. (2001). Extrarenal expression of 25-hydroxy vitamin d(3)-1 alpha hydroxylase. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 888–894. doi: 10.1210/jc.86. 2.888
- Zhu, Y., Zhou, R., Yang, R., Zhang, Z., Bai, Y., Chang, F., et al. (2012). Abnormal neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of adult mice lacking 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D₃ (1,25-(OH)₂D3). *Hippocampus* 22, 421-433. doi: 10.1002/hipo. 20908

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Lardner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Early Life Stress Effects on Glucocorticoid—BDNF Interplay in the Hippocampus

Nikolaos P. Daskalakis^{1,2*}, Edo Ronald De Kloet^{3,4}, Rachel Yehuda^{1,2,5}, Dolores Malaspina⁶ and Thorsten M. Kranz^{7*}

¹ Traumatic Stress Studies Division and Laboratory of Molecular Neuropsychiatry, Department of Psychiatry, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA, ² Mental Health Patient Care Center, James J. Peters Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Bronx, NY, USA, ³ Department of Medical Pharmacology, Leiden Academic Centre for Drug Research, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁴ Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁵ Department of Neuroscience, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA, ⁶ Department of Psychiatry, New York University School of Medicine, New York, NY, USA, ⁷ Departments of Cell Biology, Physiology and Neuroscience, and Psychiatry, Skirball Institute of Biomolecular Medicine, New York University, New York, NY, USA

Early life stress (ELS) is implicated in the etiology of multiple psychiatric disorders. Important biological effects of ELS are manifested in stress-susceptible regions of the hippocampus and are partially mediated by long-term effects on glucocorticoid (GC) and/or neurotrophin signaling pathways. GC-signaling mediates the regulation of stress response to maintain homeostasis, while neurotrophin signaling plays a key role in neuronal outgrowth and is crucial for axonal guidance and synaptic integrity. The neurotrophin and GC-signaling pathways co-exist throughout the central nervous system (CNS), particularly in the hippocampus, which has high expression levels of glucocorticoid-receptors (GR) and mineralocorticoid-receptors (MR) as well as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and its receptor, tropomyosin-related kinase receptor B (TrkB). This review addresses the effects of ELS paradigms on GC- and BDNF-dependent mechanisms and their crosstalk in the hippocampus, including potential implications for the pathogenesis of common stress-related disorders.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China

Reviewed by:

Mohiuddin Ahmad, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, USA Hyunsoo Shawn JE, Duke-NUS Graduate Medical School, Singapore

*Correspondence:

Nikolaos P. Daskalakis nikolaos.daskalakis@mssm.edu; Thorsten M. Kranz thorsten.kranz@nyumc.org

Received: 02 June 2015 Accepted: 27 October 2015 Published: 16 November 2015

Citation:

Daskalakis NP, De Kloet ER, Yehuda R, Malaspina D and Kranz TM (2015) Early Life Stress Effects on Glucocorticoid—BDNF Interplay in the Hippocampus. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 8:68. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00068 Keywords: early life stress, glucocorticoid, glucocorticoid receptor, BDNF, HPA-axis, TrkB, hippocampus

INTRODUCTION

Glucocorticoids are steroid hormones and the end product of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which regulates the stress response. GC effects are mediated by MR and GR (De Kloet et al., 1998; McEwen, 1998; de Kloet et al., 2005a);. MR and GR are abundantly expressed in hippocampus and hippocampal function is implicated in both appraisal processes and stress adaptation. Through MR, GCs influence the brain's appraisal of novel information and memory retrieval, and thereby influence behavioral coping responses (de Kloet et al., 2005a). As GC concentrations increase in response to stressors, GR are activated to promote stress adaptation, reallocation of energy resources in preparation for future events and recovery of the system (de Kloet, 2003; de Kloet et al., 2005a).

One important target of GCs is BDNF-signaling, which is a crucial contributor to the modulation of axonal guidance, synaptic plasticity and neurite outgrowth (Jeanneteau and Chao, 2013). MR, GR and the BDNF receptor, TrkB, are co-expressed in hippocampal neurons,

supporting this region as the primary site of immediate interactions between the GC- and BDNF-signaling pathways (Jeanneteau et al., 2012).

In this mini-review we present the effects of ELS on GC- and BDNF-dependent mechanisms in the hippocampus using primarily evidence from ELS animal models. The most commonly used rodent and non-human primate model in this context is the maternal separation (MS) paradigms with each displaying variations in developmental age, repetition and duration (**Table 1**). GC- and BDNF-signaling pathways influence each other and here we propose that ELS provokes a change in their equilibrium that contributes to heightened risk for stress-related psychopathology.

HPA-AXIS AND ELS

There is a distinct pattern of HPA-axis activity during early development first described in rodents, which maintains stable and low circulating GC levels during the stress hyporesponsive period [SHRP; postnatal days (pnd) 1–10 in mice and pnd 3–14 in rats] (Sapolsky and Meaney, 1986; de Kloet et al., 2005b). Early life experiences can disrupt the SHRP by elevating basal GC secretion and turning the HPA-axis responsive to subsequent stressors. Thus, ELS not only exerts acute effects but also impacts long-term developmental trajectories in the brain (de Kloet et al., 2005b). In humans, the SHRP occurs during the postnatal months 6–12 and adverse experiences during this period can have a long-lasting impact on the HPA-axis (Gunnar and Quevedo, 2007).

MS is an established procedure of inducing acute stress effects during early life that yields long-term effects. MS results in heightened HPA-axis responsiveness in the early postnatal period and triggers a variety of stress-related behavioral phenotypes in later life (Daskalakis et al., 2014). However, MS effects are dependent on many factors, including the duration and frequency of the separations, age of the pups, and context under which the pups experienced the separation from the dam (Rosenfeld et al., 1992; van Oers et al., 1998; Enthoven et al., 2010; Daskalakis et al., 2011). Furthermore, the long-term effects of MS depend on match or mismatch with later life context (Daskalakis et al., 2012). Studies using other ELS paradigms (variations of maternal care, limited nesting) demonstrate similar long-term effects that are mediated through GC-dependent mechanisms (Liu et al., 1997; Champagne et al., 2008; Ivy et al., 2008).

Long-lasting alterations in the HPA-axis induced by ELS in rodents have been linked to experience-dependent epigenetic modifications in regulatory regions of stress-related genes (Weaver et al., 2004; Murgatroyd et al., 2009). In humans, where early adversity is associated with adult stress-related disorders and HPA-axis dysregulation, similar epigenetic changes were reported as observed in the above-mentioned rodent studies (McGowan et al., 2009; Daskalakis and Yehuda, 2014; Ruby et al., 2015). Interestingly, epigenetic changes caused by ELS might depend on genetic predisposition (Klengel et al., 2013). Therefore, the interplay of genetic background (hit-1) with early experiences (hit-2), might create a vulnerable or resilient neuroendocrine profile which, upon adult stress exposure (hit-3), can produce an adaptive healthy or a maladaptive pathologic response (Daskalakis et al., 2013).

BDNF SIGNALING AND ELS

ELS has consequences for structural and physiological properties of stress-sensitive brain regions and behavior. For instance, rats with a history of low maternal care displayed decreased hippocampal synaptogenesis, BDNF, long-term potentiation and memory at baseline (Liu et al., 2000). Neurotrophins are crucial mediators in the facilitation of brain connectivity, neuronal plasticity, synaptic integrity and the promotion of basal neurogenesis (Ghosh and Greenberg, 1995; Lee et al., 2002). The most abundant neurotrophin in the mammalian CNS is BDNF. It is synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum as a pre-promolecule and undergoes two cleavage steps from pre-pro via pro-BDNF to its mature form, which is packaged in secretory vesicles (Pang et al., 2004; Revest et al., 2014). Upon neuronal activity, BDNF is released from the synapse and diffuses to its receptor TrkB. Upon BDNF-binding, TrkB undergoes homodimerization and autophosphorylation and thus, the activation of downstream signaling cascades involved in neuronal integrity and survival (Chao, 2003). Genetic modifications of BDNF have a crucial effect on synaptic plasticity as shown in an animal study using BDNF heterozygous (+/Met) for the Val66Met polymorphism. After 7 days of restraint stress with BDNF het and wild-type (WT) mice, BDNF het mice displayed reduced apical dendrite density in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and in addition, impaired working memory in comparison to WT littermates (Yu et al., 2012). Moreover, BDNF influences synaptic transmission and its efficacy is influenced by this single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in its prodomain. In the same mouse model, the amount of NMDA receptor mediated currents in the hippocampus and the infralimbic medial PFC of BDNF Met/Met mice was significantly lower than in BDNF Val/Val mice (Ninan et al., 2010; Pattwell et al., 2012). The human BDNF gene seems to be under high selection pressure against genetic variability, since in a whole exome sequencing study of 14 schizophrenia trios and a subsequent study performing targeted exome capture in 48 sporadic schizophrenia cases, both cohorts displaying a high number of cases with childhood trauma, no novel genetic variants in the BDNF gene were observed (Kranz et al., 2015a,b).

BDNF-signaling is also influenced by ELS (Alleva and Francia, 2009). In humans, ELS can evoke significant memory impairments in adulthood (Bremner et al., 2003) in association with reduced BDNF levels (Grassi-Oliveira et al., 2008). Moreover, these associations depend on the Val66Met polymorphism (Chen et al., 2006; Elzinga et al., 2011; Molendijk et al., 2012). A similar pattern was observed for peripheral BDNF expression in young rhesus macaques. Carriers of the Met allele of the functionally ortholog polymorphism at codon 46 displayed decreased BDNF levels after maternal deprivation (Cirulli et al., 2011). Besides the combined effects of genetics and MS on BDNF expression, there are epigenetic effects associated with ELS. The relationship of MS and epigenetic

Paradigm	Species	BDNF gene regulation	BDNF protein	HPA-axis	Neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity	Behavior	References
MD (pnd 3; 24h once)	Brown Norway rats	Month 30–32 Basal: n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP +AS: ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP (only in MD rats with MWM impairments)					Schaaf et al., 2001
MD (pnd 7; 3h or 6h once)	Sprague-Dawley rats	pnd 7; 3h after onset ↑ <i>BDNF</i> exon III mRNA in HIP 6 h after onset ↓ <i>BDNF</i> exon I mRNA in HIP					Nair et al., 2007
MD (pnd 9; 24h once)	Wistar rats	pnd 9; 2, 6 or 24h after onset n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP pnd 21 n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP			pnd 21 n.c. <i>NMDA-R mR</i> NA in HIP		Roceri et al., 2002
		pnd 72 ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP (but not further ↓ by AS)	pnd 72 ↓ BDNF protein in HIP		pnd 72 ↓ <i>NMDA-R mRNA</i> in HIP		
MD (pnd 9; 24h ance)	Wistar rats	pnd 90 – basal (males + females): ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP pnd 90 – CS (males + females): ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP		pnd 90 – basal (males): ↓ GR in HIP pnd 90 – CS (males): ↓ GR in HIP		pnd 80–82 basal (males): ↓ NOR	Llorente et al., 2011
MD (pnd 9; 24h once)	Wistar rats	pnd 98–112–basal: ↑ <i>BDNF exon I, IV</i> mRNA in dorsal HIP (males and females) ↑ <i>BDNF exon II, VII, IX</i> mRNA in dorsal HIP (males) n.c. in ventral HIP (males and females) ↑ <i>BDNF I</i> mRNA in medial PFC (males) ↓ <i>BDNF VII</i> and <i>VII</i> mRNA in medial PFC (males) n.c. in CPu and NAc (males and females)	pnd 98–112 – basal: ↓ BDNF protein in dorsal HIP (males)		pnd 98–112 – basal: n.c. in CPu and NAc (males and females)	pnd 84–105 – basal basal: n.c. in short-term or long-term memory spatial memory, working memory, NOR, EPM	Choy et al., 2008; Hill et al., 2014a,b
		pnd 98–112 <i>–</i> CCORT: ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP (males) ↑ <i>BDNF IX</i> mRNA and BDNF protein in medial PFC (males) n.c. in CPu and NAc (males and females)	pnd 98–112 – CCORT: ↓ BDNF protein in ventral HIP (females)		pnd 98–112–CCORT: ↑ <i>DR3</i> mRNA in medial PFC (males) ↑ <i>DR2</i> mRNA in medial PFC (males) n.c. in CPu and NAc (males and females)	pnd 98–112–CCORT: pnd 84–105–CCORT: ↓ ↑ <i>DR3</i> mRNA in medial short-term spatial memory PFC (males) (males) and learning delay in ↑ <i>DR2</i> mRNA in medial long-term spatial (males) PFC (males) memory. ↓ sucrose n.c. in CPu and NAc preference (females) (males and females) n.c. working memory, NOR,	

Paradigm	Species	BDNF gene regulation	BDNF protein	HPA-axis	Neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity	Behavior	References
MD (pnd 11; 24 h once)	Sprague–Dawley (mothers) and Long Evans (fathers) hybrid rats	pnd 11; 24 h after onset: ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP		24h after onset: n.c. ACTH, ↑ CORT	24h after onset: n.c. neurogenesis in ↓ neurogenesis in parietal cortex		Zhang et al., 2002
RMS (pnd 1–14; 2h daily)	C57BL/6J (B6) and Balb/cJ (Balb/c) mice	pnd 40 n. c. <i>BDNF</i> exon IV promoter methylation (males + females) in PFC and HIP n. c. <i>BDNF</i> exon IX promoter methylation (males + females) in PFC ↑ <i>BDNF</i> exon IX promoter methylation (males + females) in HIP n. c. <i>BDNF</i> exon IX promoter methylation (males + females) in PFC ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA (females) in HIP n. c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA (females) in PFC ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA (females) in HIP		pnd 40 4 GR exon 1 methylation (females) in PFC 7 GR exon 1 methylation (males) in HIP n.c. <i>GR</i> mRNA (males+females) in HIP n.c. <i>GR</i> mRNA (males + females) in PFC		pnd 35 ↑ OF activity (males) pnd 35 ↓ sucrose preference pnd 40 ↓ social interaction (males)	Kundakovic et al., 2013
RMS (pnd 1–14; 3h daily)	Wistar rats		pnd 104 ↓ BDNF protein in HIP (n.c. in PFC)			pnd 104 n.c. OF, n.c. NOR	Pinheiro et al., 2015
RMS (pnd 1–21; 3h daily)	Wistar rats		pnd 56 ↓ BDNF protein in medial PFC n.c. BDNF protein in HIP n.c. BDNF protein in NAc			pnd 56 Partially impaired reversal learning performance	Xue et al., 2013
RMS (pnd 2–6; 3 h daily)	Long-Evans rats		pnd 7 MS prevented the conditioning associated ↓ BDNF protein in HIP ↓ BDNF protein in olfactory bulb			pnd 7 ↓ odor conditioning	Zimmerberg et al., 2009
RMS (pnd 2–6; 5 h daily)	B6C3Fe reeler y) (C57/BLJ background) mice (wild-type presented)		adult ↓ BDNF protein PFC and striatum (n.c. HIP)			adult ↓ social interaction (home cage activity n.c.)	Ognibene et al., 2008

November 2015 | Volume 8 | Article 68 | 67

Paradigm	Species	BDNF gene regulation	BDNF protein	HPA-axis	Neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity	Behavior	References
RMS (pnd 2–14; 3 h daily)	Sprague-Dawley rats	pnd 17 basal: ↑ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP and PFC (+AS no further increase) pnd 35 n.c. pnd 90 ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in PFC (+CS no further increase) n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in PFC and striatum (+CS: prevented ↓ caused by CS)		pnd 1 basal CORT: n.c. +AS CORT: n.c. pnd 13 pnad CORT: n.c. +AS CORT: n.c.			Roceri et al., 2004
RMS (pnd 2–14; 3h daily)	SERT knockout Wistar rats (wild-type presented)	pnd 85-95 n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in dorsal HIP ↓ <i>BDNF</i> total, 3UTR, exon IV mRNA in ventral HIP n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in dorsomedial PFC ↓ <i>BDNF</i> total, 3UTR, exon IV mRNA in ventromedial PFC					Calabrese et al., 2015
RMS (pnd 2–14; 3h daily)	Sprague-Dawley rats	pnd 14 ↑ <i>BDNF</i> exon II mRNA in HIP			pnd 15 n.c. neurogenesis in HIP SGZ		Nair et al., 2007
		pnd 21 ↑ <i>BDNF</i> exon IV and V mRNA in HIP			pnd 21 ↑ neurogenesis in HIP SGZ		
		pnd 60 basal: n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA +AS: prevented ↓ in exon III, IV and V <i>BDNF</i> mRNA caused by AS + CS: prevented the increase in exon I and II and ↓ in exon III, IV and V <i>BDNF</i> mRNA caused by CS					
RMS (pnd 2–14; 3h daily)	Sprague-Dawley rats		pnd 68 + JS: ↑ BDNF protein in ventral HIP (additionally MS prevented ↓ BDNF protein in dorsal HIP)	pnd 68 + JS basal: ↓ ACTH and CORT		pnd 67 + JS: n.c. EPM and OF	Faure et al., 2006, 2007
RMS (pnd 2–14; 3h daily)	Sprague-Dawley rats	pnd 90 ↑ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP			pnd 90 n.c. neurogenesis in HIP		Greisen et al., 2005

Paradigm	Species	BDNF gene regulation	BDNF protein	HPA-axis	Neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity	Behavior	References
RMS (pnd 2–14; 3h daily)	Long Evans rats		pnd 95 ↑ pro-BDNF in VTA ↓ BDNF protein in HIP, striatum ↑ BDNF protein in VTA	pnd 70–95 AS: ↑ ACTH and CORT	ł	pnd 50–60 ↑ locomotor activity, ambulation and grooming ↑ acoustic startle	Lippmann et al., 2007
RMS (pnd 2-14; 3h daily)	Sprague-Dawley rats		pnd 52 ↓ BDNF protein in dorsal HIP and ventral HIP pnd 101 ↑ BDNF protein in ventral HIP		pnd 101 n.c. MKP-1 levels in ventral HIP	pnd 65 n.c. OF activity ↑ 22 kHz vocalizations ↑ FST immobility pnd 99 ↓ EPM anxiety pnd 100 ↑ 22 kHz vocalizations ↑ FST immobility	Dimatelis et al., 2012, 2014
RMS (pnd 2–14; 3h daily)	Sprague-Dawley rats	pnd 21 ↓ H3K9 dimethylation in HIP ↑ <i>BDNF</i> exon IV mRNA in HIP ↑ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP	pnd 21 ↑ BDNF protein in HIP		pnd 21 ↑ neurogenesis in HIP SGZ		Suri et al., 2013
		pnd 60 ↓ H3K9 dimethylation in HIP ↑ <i>BDNF</i> exon IV mRNA in HIP ↑ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP	pnd 60 ↑ BDNF protein in HIP		pnd 60 n.c. neurogenesis in HIP SGZ	pnd 60 ↑ WWM escape latency n.c. retention in WWM n.c. NOR	I
		month 15 ↑ H3K9 dimethylation in HIP ↓ <i>BDNF</i> exon IV mRNA n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP	month 15 n.c. BDNF protein in HIP		month 15 ↓ neurogenesis in HIP SGZ	month 15 n.c. WWM escape latency ↓ retention in WWM	I
RMS (pnd 3–12; 3h daily)	Sprague-Dawley rats		pnd 56–70 n.c. BDNF protein in solitary tract ↑ BDNF protein in PVN ↓ BDNF protein in phrenic motor nucleus		pnd 56–70 ↑ AMPA receptor binding in solitary tract, PVN and phrenic motor nucleus	pnd 56–70 † hypoxic chemoreflex	Gulemetova et al., 2013
RMS (pnd 3-15; 3h daily)	Sprague-Dawley rats		pnd 51 ↓ BDNF protein in HIP	pnd 51 n.c. basal or AS CORT +JS: reduced the effect of JS on decreasing the basal CORT and increasing AS CORT	pnd 51 ↓ Arc in HIP		Biggio et al., 2014

Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

			BDNF protein	HPA-axis	Neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity	Behavior	References
RMS (ond 10–15; 3 h daily)	Wistar rats	pnd 16 ↑ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in cerebral cortex ↑ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in cerebellum ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in cerebellum pnd 20 ↑ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in cerebellum n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in terebellum n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP pnd 30 n.c. <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in terebellum (BDNF protein) ↑ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in cerebellum (BDNF protein) ↑ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in cerebellum (BDNF mRNA in cerebellum 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0					Kuma et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2012; Miki et al., 2013, 2014
RMS Wista (pnd 2–21; 3.h daily)	Wistar rats	pnd 60–75 ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP			pnd 60–75 ↓NCAM and SVP mRNA in HIP	pnd 60–75 ↓ retention in MWM	Aisa et al., 2009
RMS Wista (pnd 2–21; 3h daily)	Wistar rats	pnd 90 ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP		pnd 90 ↓ GR in HIP ↑ CORT	pnd 90 n.c. p-Akt, p-GSK3β, p-ERK1, ↓ p-ERK2 in HIP ↓ Arc mRNA in HIP	pnd 90 n.c. OF activity ↑ FST immobility ↓ retention in MWM ↓novel object recognition	Solas et al., 2010
		month 18 ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA in HIP		month 18 n.c. GR in HIP n.c. CORT	month 18 n.c. p-Akt, p-GSK3β, p-ERK1, ↓ p-ERK2 in HIP ↓ Arc mRNA in HIP	month 18 n.c. OF activity ↑ FST immobility ↓ retention in MWM ↓novel object recognition	
RMS C57B (pnd 2–22; 3h daily)	C57Bl/6J mice	pnd 61 + AS: ↓ <i>BDNF</i> mRNA				pnd 60–61 reduced swim times in FST	MacQueen et al., 2003

regulation of BDNF has been studied extensively in rodent models (Table 1).

Effects of ELS on BDNF mRNA and Protein Expression

There are too few studies to conclude on the direction of changes in BDNF expression levels in the hippocampus or other brain regions (<24 h after first maternal separation onset). One possibility is that BDNF expression decreases acutely after MS. However, pups exposed to MS also experience dietary restriction due to the absence of the mother. It has been demonstrated that dietary restriction increases BDNF expression in the hippocampus, striatum and the PFC in rats (Duan et al., 2001).

In the postweaning period and depending on the characteristics of the MS protocol, increased BDNF expression is reported more consistently. In the period between adulthood and senescence, BDNF expression is reduced, but the time of the switch depends on experimental characteristics (ELS paradigm, stress context in adulthood), sex, rodent strain and brain region of interest.

Effects of ELS on Epigenetic Regulation of *BDNF*

ELS influences the methylation status of the activity-dependent BDNF exon IV expression. One study has shown in rats that repeated maternal separation (RMS) leads to a biphasic effect of the exon IV promoter methylation status. At P21, RMS results in lower H3K9 dimethylation of the exon IV promoter but from adolescence (2 months) into adulthood (15 months), the initially decreased dimethylation after RMS reverses into a significantly increased dimethylation. Low dimethylation status at P21 yields a high BDNF exon IV transcription and vice versa during adolescence and adulthood (Suri et al., 2013). In another study where the exon IV promoter methylation change was not confirmed, increased exon IX promoter methylation was reported in hippocampus in maternally separated pups (Kundakovic et al., 2013). In a different ELS paradigm, rat dams with restricted availability of nesting material resulted in reduced maternal licking and grooming behaviors toward their pups and reduced physical interaction between the dams and their offspring (Ivy et al., 2008). This paradigm mimics infant neglect as well, which entails increased basal corticosterone levels in the offspring (Rice et al., 2008). Interestingly, maltreated offspring display hypermethylation of the activity-dependent BDNF exon IV promoter region in the PFC, which leads to decreased exon IV expression (Roth et al., 2009). A followup study demonstrated additional methylation changes in the hippocampus and amygdala upon exposure to this stress paradigm. These effects were sex and brain region specific (hypermethylation of exon I in males in ventral hippocampus and of exon I in basolateral amygdala (BLA) in females) (Roth et al., 2014). These results were obtained using adult rats and highlight the robust methylation alterations in BDNF that occur through ELS. Finally, another study showed that communal nesting of the pups increased histone acetylation at the BDNF exon IV promoter (Branchi et al., 2011).

ELS Effects on Synaptic Plasticity and Behavior

Irrespective of the MS paradigm, neurogenesis in the subventricular zone of the hippocampus appears to be consistently increased in the early postweaning phase and decreased during late adulthood. Moreover, synaptic plasticity related proteins such as neural cell adhesion molecule 1 (NCAM1) and synaptophysin are downregulated during adulthood after MS. Finally, a behavioral phenotype occurs in association with the temporal appearance of the abovementioned changes, including memory impairment, learned helplessness, reduced social interaction, anhedonia and anxiety.

Synthesis

These studies indicate that ELS induced alterations of BDNF expression in a brain-region specific and age-dependent manner and provide evidence that BDNF upregulation potentially acts as a neuroprotective mechanism upon ELS exposure.

INTERPLAY BETWEEN BDNF AND GC

Effects of BDNF and GC on GR Transcriptome

The GC- and BDNF-signaling pathways influenced by ELS are interlinked throughout life. A recent study confirmed that the GR-specific transcriptome is significantly altered by BDNF. Furthermore, simultaneous treatment of primary rat hippocampal neurons with a synthetic GC, dexamethasone (DEX), and BDNF induces the expression of a unique set of GC-BDNF responsive genes. The majority of these genes are involved in neurite outgrowth and differentiation (Lambert et al., 2013). In the same study, the authors established that BDNF leads to specific phosphorylation of the GR at serines 155 and 287 (Lambert et al., 2013). The latter serine (S287) is stresshormone responsive, since DEX alone is sufficient to increase phosphorylation. In addition, increased S287 phosphorylation is observed in corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) expressing neurons in the parventricular nucleus (PVN) in mice that were exposed to 10 min of forced swim test.

Impact of BDNF and GCs on Brain Morphology

It is well established that chronic stress affects the morphology of brain structures such as the hippocampus and the amygdala (Watanabe et al., 1992; Magarinos et al., 1996; Vyas et al., 2002). However, questions remain as how stress load and duration affect these brain regions on a structural level. Interestingly, a single exposure to emotional stress has been shown to increase dendritic length and number in amygdala and vice versa in the hippocampus (Rao et al., 2012). However, a recent study suggests that these neuronal phenotypes exclusively occur in rats displaying a vulnerable phenotype, with the degree of cytoarchitectural change predicting the changes in behavioral patterns (Cohen et al., 2014). Based on these findings it is of interest to understand if these stress effects on brain morphology are mediated by GCs. Corticosterone injections over the course
of 3 days led to increased spine formation and concomitant spine elimination. In contrast to these findings, administering daily corticosterone over 10 days caused higher spine elimination (12.1-22.7%), but no increase in spine formation (Liston and Gan, 2011). Interestingly, the developing brain (P30) was even more sensitive. This GC effect seems to be mediated in the CNS directly and preferentially through MR. In another study investigating pubertal rats revealed that a single corticosterone administration evokes differential spatio-temporal effects in the PFC and the BLA (Kim et al., 2014). In particular, 6 days after a moderate dose of corticosterone injection (10 mg/kg) in the medial PFC the dendritic branches and lengths were decreased in parallel with working memory performance. Those effects returned to baseline 1 week after these measurements (day 12). In the BLA the effects of an acute corticosterone injection were slower in onset (day 12 after injection) and were also normalized after a week (day 20). When stress and acute corticosterone administration coincide, they antagonize each other rather than acting in an additive manner (Rao et al., 2012; Cohen et al., 2014).

GC and neurotrophin systems both act in antagonistic as well as in synergistic manners. BDNF and GC are involved in dendritic arborization, whereas BDNF is generally more associated with spine formation and stabilization with GC rather playing an important role in spine turnover (Jeanneteau and Chao, 2013). Mice carrying the minor allele (Met) of the human BDNF Val66Met (rs6265) variant, which alters the structural conformation of the BDNF pro-domain, display less branching in the dentate gyrus (Chen et al., 2006). With regard to GC, one study showed that chronic GC application results in spine loss in the barrel cortex. Interestingly, transient increased GC levels mostly affected newly formed spines, whereas chronically increased GCs affected spines that have been developed early in life (Liston and Gan, 2011).

Molecular Mechanisms of BDNF and GC Interplay

BDNF can directly influence the HPA-axis regulation through alterations of CRH expression levels. In primary hippocampal neurons, BDNF administration induced a three-fold increase in CRH expression. On the other hand, DEX administration led to repression of CRH, which could not be normalized by BDNF treatment (Jeanneteau et al., 2012). A chromatin immunoprecipitation experiment revealed that DEX treatment evoked increased GR-binding to the CRH promoter (Miller et al., 2011; Jeanneteau et al., 2012). In contrast to DEX, BDNF leads to an increase of cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) -binding to its site on the CRH promoter, which is in proximity (22 bp) to the GR-binding site. The central mechanistic element in CRH regulation is the recruitment of CREB to the CRH promoter. For transcriptional activity, CREB requires the interaction with a coactivator protein named CREBregulated transcription coactivator 2 (CRTC2). The increase of GC levels lead to the relocalization of the nuclear CRTC2 to the cytosol and thus decreased CREB transcriptional activity at the CRH promoter (Jeanneteau et al., 2012). In the same study, hypomorphic GR mice had increased BDNF expression and TrkB phosphorylation levels in the PVN in comparison to control Another link between the GC- and BDNF-signaling pathways seems to involve the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. Chronic stress not only produces high levels of corticosterone and depressive-like behavior (de Kloet et al., 2005a), but also increases levels of a phosphatase in the MAPK pathway, (i.e., dual specificity phosphatase 1; MKP-1) in the brain. Chronic overexpression of MKP-1 induces detrimental effects by inhibiting axonal growth (Duric et al., 2010). Normalizing GC levels and consecutively MKP-1 expression levels leads to a restoration of stress-related depressive phenotypes through normalization of BDNF expression. Alternatively, constitutive knockdown of MPK-1 is associated with stress-resilience (Jeanneteau et al., 2010).

High GR levels decrease the abundance of the activitydependent BDNF exon IV transcript in the dentate gyrus, CA1 and CA3 regions of the hippocampus without influencing exon I and II transcripts (Smith et al., 1995; Hansson et al., 2006). This calibration effect is corroborated by observations from adrenalectomized mice, in which corticosterone production is abolished and BDNF expression is increased in the CA1, CA3 and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Chao et al., 1998). In a further study it was demonstrated that acute GC activity evokes transiently increased tissue-plasminogen activator (tPA) protein levels. The presence of higher levels of tPA yields an increased proteolytic cleavage of pro-BDNF to mature BDNF. The higher amount of mature BDNF itself binds TrkB and enhances downstream MAPK phosphorylation, which is necessary for the formation of enhanced contextual fear memory (Revest et al., 2014).

CONCLUSION

There is growing body of evidence that the GC-BDNF crosstalk is essential for the early-life programming of the HPA-axis and neurotrophin signaling. During early life, high BDNF and low GC levels are required for neuronal maintenance, synaptic integrity and dendritic spine stabilization in the hippocampus. BDNF-GC equilibrium is crucial throughout life as a major mechanism for stress response regulation. ELS can influence the set point of this equilibrium and thus cause long-term sensitizing effects on stress vulnerability. There is a body of evidence that ELS shifts BDNF as well as GR expression levels in the developing CNS. The long term effect of ELS exposure is a downregulation of BDNF expression (Table 1) and GR expression in the hippocampus (Sutanto et al., 1996; Aisa et al., 2007). The combination of both low BDNF and low GR expression favors the vulnerability to develop stress-related disorders during adolescence and adulthood, especially upon additional stress exposures. Phenotypes associated with the ELSinduced reductions of BDNF and GR expression in rodents (Table 1) have been additionally observed to be associated with the interaction of the BDNF Met risk allele (Val66Met) and childhood trauma in humans (Molendijk et al., 2012; Aas et al., 2013). Therefore, it is important to understand that genetic and



FIGURE 1 Interplay of TrkB and GR signaling pathways in the CNS. In the presence of BDNF, the TrkB receptor homodimerizes and initiates several signaling pathways promoting neuronal survival, growth and differentiation (Akt and MAPK). Activation of the PLCy pathway leads to CAMKII-mediated phosphorylation of the transcription factor CREB. In presence of a low amount of GC, the CREB-coactivator CRTC2 is dephosphorylated and translocates to the nucleus and binds to phospho-CREB. The phospho-CREB-CRTC2 complex binds at the CRH promoter and drives basal CRH expression in the PVN. Upon occurrence of ELS, the HPA axis signaling pathway is activated, yielding increasing GC levels. GC pass the plasma membrane and enter in to the cytosol and binds to GR, thereby inducing homodimerization (GR-GC complex). The GR-GC complex targets the BDNF promoter and drives basal BDNF production. Exceeding GC levels evoke a translocation of the CREB-coactivator CRTC2 to the cytosol and its phosphorylation, thereby inactivating CREB-dependent CRH production. Thus, the GR and TrkB pathways are calibrated and a specific balance of both GC and BDNF levels is necessary during neurodevelopment to keep homeostasis. Abbreviations: CNS, central nervous system; TrkB, tyrosine kinase receptor type 2; GR, glucocorticoid receptor; CAMKII, Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II; CREB, cAMP Responsive Element Binding Protein; CRTC2, CREB Regulated Transcription Coactivator 2; ELS, early life stress; GC, glucocorticoids; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; ACTH, adrenocorticotropic hormone; HPA axis, hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal gland axis.

epigenetic factors moderate the long term consequences of early adversity (Daskalakis and Binder, 2015). From a therapeutic point of view, preventing steep GC elevations induced by ELS has beneficial effects through constitutive BDNF expression with a concomitant stable, physiological calibration of the GC- and BDNF-signaling pathways.

REFERENCES

Aas, M., Haukvik, U. K., Djurovic, S., Bergmann, O., Athanasiu, L., Tesli, M. S., et al. (2013). BDNF val66met modulates the association between childhood trauma, cognitive and brain abnormalities in psychoses. *Prog.*

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Top Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences T5#209 (NPD, ERdK), Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences (ERdK), the National Institute of Health NS21072 (MVC) and RC1-MH88843 (DM).

Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 46, 181–188. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2013.07.008

Aisa, B., Elizalde, N., Tordera, R., Lasheras, B., Del Rio, J., and Ramirez, M. J. (2009). Effects of neonatal stress on markers of synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus: implications for spatial memory. *Hippocampus* 19, 1222–1231. doi: 10.1002/hipo. 20586

- Aisa, B., Tordera, R., Lasheras, B., Del Rio, J., and Ramirez, M. J. (2007). Cognitive impairment associated to HPA axis hyperactivity after maternal separation in rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 32, 256–266. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2006.12.013
- Alleva, E., and Francia, N. (2009). Psychiatric vulnerability: suggestions from animal models and role of neurotrophins. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 33, 525–536. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.09.004
- Biggio, F., Pisu, M. G., Garau, A., Boero, G., Locci, V., Mostallino, M. C., et al. (2014). Maternal separation attenuates the effect of adolescent social isolation on HPA axis responsiveness in adult rats. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 24, 1152–1161. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.03.009
- Branchi, I., Karpova, N. N., D'andrea, I., Castrén, E., and Alleva, E. (2011). Epigenetic modifications induced by early enrichment are associated with changes in timing of induction of BDNF expression. *Neurosci. Lett.* 495, 168–172. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2011.03.038
- Bremner, J. D., Vythilingam, M., Vermetten, E., Southwick, S. M., McGlashan, T., Nazeer, A., et al. (2003). MRI and PET study of deficits in hippocampal structure and function in women with childhood sexual abuse and posttraumatic stress disorder. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 160, 924–932. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.5.924
- Calabrese, F., van der Doelen, R. H., Guidotti, G., Racagni, G., Kozicz, T., Homberg, J. R., et al. (2015). Exposure to early life stress regulates Bdnf expression in SERT mutant rats in an anatomically selective fashion. *J. Neurochem.* 132, 146–154. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12846
- Champagne, D. L., Bagot, R. C., van Hasselt, F., Ramakers, G., Meaney, M. J., de Kloet, E. R., et al. (2008). Maternal care and hippocampal plasticity: evidence for experience-dependent structural plasticity, altered synaptic functioning, and differential responsiveness to glucocorticoids and stress. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 6037–6045. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0526-08.2008
- Chao, H. M., Sakai, R. R., Ma, L. Y., and McEwen, B. S. (1998). Adrenal steroid regulation of neurotrophic factor expression in the rat hippocampus. *Endocrinology* 139, 3112–3118. doi: 10.1210/endo.139.7.6114
- Chao, M. V. (2003). Neurotrophins and their receptors: a convergence point for many signalling pathways. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 4, 299–309. doi: 10.1038/nrn1078
- Chen, Z. Y., Jing, D., Bath, K. G., Ieraci, A., Khan, T., Siao, C. J., et al. (2006). Genetic variant BDNF (Val66Met) polymorphism alters anxiety-related behavior. *Science* 314, 140–143. doi: 10.1126/science.1129663
- Choy, K. H., de Visser, Y., Nichols, N. R., and van den Buuse, M. (2008). Combined neonatal stress and young-adult glucocorticoid stimulation in rats reduce BDNF expression in hippocampus: effects on learning and memory. *Hippocampus* 18, 655–667. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20425
- Cirulli, F., Reif, A., Herterich, S., Lesch, K. P., Berry, A., Francia, N., et al. (2011). A novel BDNF polymorphism affects plasma protein levels in interaction with early adversity in rhesus macaques. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 36, 372–379. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.10.019
- Cohen, H., Kozlovsky, N., Matar, M. A., Zohar, J., and Kaplan, Z. (2014). Distinctive hippocampal and amygdalar cytoarchitectural changes underlie specific patterns of behavioral disruption following stress exposure in an animal model of PTSD. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 24, 1925–1944. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.09.009
- Daskalakis, N. P., Bagot, R. C., Parker, K. J., Vinkers, C. H., and de Kloet, E. R. (2013). The three-hit concept of vulnerability and resilience: toward understanding adaptation to early-life adversity outcome. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 1858–1873. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.06.008
- Daskalakis, N. P., and Binder, E. B. (2015). Schizophrenia in the spectrum of gene-stress interactions: the FKBP5 example. *Schizophr. Bull.* 41, 323–329. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu189
- Daskalakis, N. P., Claessens, S. E., Laboyrie, J. J., Enthoven, L., Oitzl, M. S., Champagne, D. L., et al. (2011). The newborn rat's stress system readily habituates to repeated and prolonged maternal separation, while continuing to respond to stressors in context dependent fashion. *Horm. Behav.* 60, 165–176. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2011.04.003
- Daskalakis, N. P., Diamantopoulou, A., Claessens, S. E., Remmers, E., Tjalve, M., Oitzl, M. S., et al. (2014). Early experience of a novel-environment in isolation primes a fearful phenotype characterized by persistent amygdala activation. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 39, 39–57. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.09.021

- Daskalakis, N. P., Oitzl, M. S., Schachinger, H., Champagne, D. L., and de Kloet, E. R. (2012). Testing the cumulative stress and mismatch hypotheses of psychopathology in a rat model of early-life adversity. *Physiol. Behav.* 106, 707–721. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.01.015
- Daskalakis, N. P., and Yehuda, R. (2014). Site-specific methylation changes in the glucocorticoid receptor exon 1F promoter in relation to life adversity: systematic review of contributing factors. *Front. Neurosci.* 8:369. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00369
- de Kloet, E. R. (2003). Hormones, brain and stress. Endocr. Regul. 37, 51-68.
- de Kloet, E. R., Joëls, M., and Holsboer, F. (2005a). Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 6, 463–475. doi: 10.1038/nrn1683
- de Kloet, E. R., Sibug, R. M., Helmerhorst, F. M., and Schmidt, M. V. (2005b). Stress, genes and the mechanism of programming the brain for later life. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 29, 271–281. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.10.008
- De Kloet, E. R., Vreugdenhil, E., Oitzl, M. S., and Joels, M. (1998). Brain corticosteroid receptor balance in health and disease. *Endocr. Rev.* 19, 269–301. doi: 10.1210/er.19.3.269
- Dimatelis, J. J., Russell, V. A., Stein, D. J., and Daniels, W. M. (2014). Methamphetamine reversed maternal separation-induced decrease in nerve growth factor in the ventral hippocampus. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 29, 433–439. doi: 10.1007/s11011-014-9481-z
- Dimatelis, J. J., Stein, D. J., and Russell, V. A. (2012). Behavioral changes after maternal separation are reversed by chronic constant light treatment. *Brain Res.* 1480, 61–71. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.07.013
- Duan, W., Lee, J., Guo, Z., and Mattson, M. P. (2001). Dietary restriction stimulates BDNF production in the brain and thereby protects neurons against excitotoxic injury. J. Mol. Neurosci. 16, 1–12. doi: 10.1385/JMN:16:1:1
- Duric, V., Banasr, M., Licznerski, P., Schmidt, H. D., Stockmeier, C. A., Simen, A. A., et al. (2010). A negative regulator of MAP kinase causes depressive behavior. *Nat. Med.* 16, 1328–1332. doi: 10.1038/nm.2219
- Elzinga, B. M., Molendijk, M. L., Oude Voshaar, R. C., Bus, B. A., Prickaerts, J., Spinhoven, P., et al. (2011). The impact of childhood abuse and recent stress on serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor and the moderating role of BDNF Val66Met. *Psychopharmacology* 214, 319–328. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-1961-1
- Enthoven, L., Schmidt, M. V., Cheung, Y. H., van der Mark, M. H., de Kloet, E. R., and Oitzl, M. S. (2010). Ontogeny of the HPA axis of the CD1 mouse following 24 h maternal deprivation at pnd 3. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 28, 217–224. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2009.10.006
- Faure, J., Uys, J. D., Marais, L., Stein, D. J., and Daniels, W. M. (2006). Early maternal separation followed by later stressors leads to dysregulation of the HPA-axis and increases in hippocampal NGF and NT-3 levels in a rat model. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 21, 181–188. doi: 10.1007/s11011-006-9013-6
- Faure, J., Uys, J. D., Marais, L., Stein, D. J., and Daniels, W. M. (2007). Early maternal separation alters the response to traumatization: resulting in increased levels of hippocampal neurotrophic factors. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 22, 183–195. doi: 10.1007/s11011-007-9048-3
- Ghosh, A., and Greenberg, M. E. (1995). Distinct roles for bFGF and NT-3 in the regulation of cortical neurogenesis. *Neuron* 15, 89–103. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90067-5
- Grassi-Oliveira, R., Stein, L. M., Lopes, R. P., Teixeira, A. L., and Bauer, M. E. (2008). Low plasma brain-derived neurotrophic factor and childhood physical neglect are associated with verbal memory impairment in major depression–a preliminary report. *Biol. Psychiatry* 64, 281–285. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.02.023
- Greisen, M. H., Altar, C. A., Bolwig, T. G., Whitehead, R., and Wortwein, G. (2005). Increased adult hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor and normal levels of neurogenesis in maternal separation rats. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 79, 772–778. doi: 10.1002/jnr.20418
- Gulemetova, R., Drolet, G., and Kinkead, R. (2013). Neonatal stress augments the hypoxic chemoreflex of adult male rats by increasing AMPA receptor-mediated modulation. *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 1312–1324. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2013. 072090
- Gunnar, M., and Quevedo, K. (2007). The neurobiology of stress and development. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 58, 145–173. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085605
- Hansson, A. C., Sommer, W. H., Metsis, M., Stromberg, I., Agnati, L. F., and Fuxe, K. (2006). Corticosterone actions on the hippocampal brainderived neurotrophic factor expression are mediated by exon IV promoter. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 18, 104–114. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2005.01390.x

- Hill, R. A., Kiss Von Soly, S., Ratnayake, U., Klug, M., Binder, M. D., Hannan, A. J., et al. (2014a). Long-term effects of combined neonatal and adolescent stress on brain-derived neurotrophic factor and dopamine receptor expression in the rat forebrain. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1842, 2126–2135. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.08.009
- Hill, R. A., Klug, M., Kiss Von Soly, S., Binder, M. D., Hannan, A. J., and van den Buuse, M. (2014b). Sex-specific disruptions in spatial memory and anhedonia in a "two hit" rat model correspond with alterations in hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression and signaling. *Hippocampus* 24, 1197–1211. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22302
- Ivy, A. S., Brunson, K. L., Sandman, C., and Baram, T. Z. (2008). Dysfunctional nurturing behavior in rat dams with limited access to nesting material: a clinically relevant model for early-life stress. *Neuroscience* 154, 1132–1142. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.04.019
- Jeanneteau, F., and Chao, M. V. (2013). Are BDNF and glucocorticoid activities calibrated? *Neuroscience* 239, 173–195. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.09.017
- Jeanneteau, F., Deinhardt, K., Miyoshi, G., Bennett, A. M., and Chao, M. V. (2010). The MAP kinase phosphatase MKP-1 regulates BDNF-induced axon branching. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1373–1379. doi: 10.1038/nn.2655
- Jeanneteau, F. D., Lambert, W. M., Ismaili, N., Bath, K. G., Lee, F. S., Garabedian, M. J., et al. (2012). BDNF and glucocorticoids regulate corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH) homeostasis in the hypothalamus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 1305–1310. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1114122109
- Kim, H., Yi, J. H., Choi, K., Hong, S., Shin, K. S., and Kang, S. J. (2014). Regional differences in acute corticosterone-induced dendritic remodeling in the rat brain and their behavioral consequences. *BMC Neurosci.* 15:65. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-15-65
- Klengel, T., Mehta, D., Anacker, C., Rex-Haffner, M., Pruessner, J. C., Pariante, C. M., et al. (2013). Allele-specific FKBP5 DNA demethylation mediates genechildhood trauma interactions. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 33–41. doi: 10.1038/nn.3275
- Kranz, T. M., Goetz, R. R., Walsh-Messinger, J., Goetz, D., Antonius, D., Dolgalev, I., et al. (2015a). Rare variants in the neurotrophin signaling pathway implicated in schizophrenia risk. *Schizophr. Res.* 168, 421–428. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.07.002
- Kranz, T. M., Harroch, S., Manor, O., Lichtenberg, P., Friedlander, Y., Seandel, M., et al. (2015b). De novo mutations from sporadic schizophrenia cases highlight important signaling genes in an independent sample. *Schizophr. Res.* 166, 119–124. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.05.042
- Kuma, H., Miki, T., Matsumoto, Y., Gu, H., Li, H. P., Kusaka, T., et al. (2004). Early maternal deprivation induces alterations in brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in the developing rat hippocampus. *Neurosci. Lett.* 372, 68–73. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2004.09.012
- Kundakovic, M., Lim, S., Gudsnuk, K., and Champagne, F. A. (2013). Sex-specific and strain-dependent effects of early life adversity on behavioral and epigenetic outcomes. *Front. Psychiatry* 4:78. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00078
- Lambert, W. M., Xu, C. F., Neubert, T. A., Chao, M. V., Garabedian, M. J., and Jeanneteau, F. D. (2013). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling rewrites the glucocorticoid transcriptome via glucocorticoid receptor phosphorylation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 33, 3700–3714. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00150-13
- Lee, J., Duan, W., and Mattson, M. P. (2002). Evidence that brain-derived neurotrophic factor is required for basal neurogenesis and mediates, in part, the enhancement of neurogenesis by dietary restriction in the hippocampus of adult mice. J. Neurochem. 82, 1367–1375. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.01085.x
- Lee, K. Y., Miki, T., Yokoyama, T., Ueki, M., Warita, K., Suzuki, S., et al. (2012). Neonatal repetitive maternal separation causes long-lasting alterations in various neurotrophic factor expression in the cerebral cortex of rats. *Life Sci.* 90, 578–584. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2012.01.021
- Lippmann, M., Bress, A., Nemeroff, C. B., Plotsky, P. M., and Monteggia, L. M. (2007). Long-term behavioural and molecular alterations associated with maternal separation in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 25, 3091–3098. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05522.x
- Liston, C., and Gan, W.-B. (2011). Glucocorticoids are critical regulators of dendritic spine development and plasticity *in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 16074–16079. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1110444108
- Liu, D., Diorio, J., Day, J. C., Francis, D. D., and Meaney, M. J. (2000). Maternal care, hippocampal synaptogenesis and cognitive development in rats. *Nat. Neurosci.* 3, 799–806. doi: 10.1038/77702

- Liu, D., Diorio, J., Tannenbaum, B., Caldji, C., Francis, D., Freedman, A., et al. (1997). Maternal care, hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors, and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal responses to stress. *Science* 277, 1659–1662. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5332.1659
- Llorente, R., Miguel-Blanco, C., Aisa, B., Lachize, S., Borcel, E., Meijer, O. C., et al. (2011). Long term sex-dependent psychoneuroendocrine effects of maternal deprivation and juvenile unpredictable stress in rats. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 23, 329–344. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2011.02109.x
- MacQueen, G. M., Ramakrishnan, K., Ratnasingan, R., Chen, B., and Young, L. T. (2003). Desipramine treatment reduces the long-term behavioural and neurochemical sequelae of early-life maternal separation. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 6, 391–396. doi: 10.1017/S1461145703003729
- Magarinos, A. M., McEwen, B. S., Flugge, G., and Fuchs, E. (1996). Chronic psychosocial stress causes apical dendritic atrophy of hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons in subordinate tree shrews. J. Neurosci. 16, 3534–3540.
- McEwen, B. S. (1998). Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 338, 171–179. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199801153380307
- McGowan, P. O., Sasaki, A., D'Alessio, A. C., Dymov, S., Labonté, B., Szyf, M., et al. (2009). Epigenetic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in human brain associates with childhood abuse. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 342–348. doi: 10.1038/nn.2270
- Miki, T., Lee, K. Y., Yokoyama, T., Liu, J. Q., Kusaka, T., Suzuki, S., et al. (2013). Differential effects of neonatal maternal separation on the expression of neurotrophic factors in rat brain. II: regional differences in the cerebellum versus the cerebral cortex. *Okajimas Folia Anat. Jpn.* 90, 53–58. doi: 10.2535/ofaj.90
- Miki, T., Yokoyama, T., Kusaka, T., Suzuki, S., Ohta, K., Warita, K., et al. (2014). Early postnatal repeated maternal deprivation causes a transient increase in OMpg and BDNF in rat cerebellum suggesting precocious myelination. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 336, 62–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2013.10.007
- Miller, L., Foradori, C. D., Lalmansingh, A. S., Sharma, D., Handa, R. J., and Uht, R. M. (2011). Histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) participates in the down-regulation of corticotropin releasing hormone gene (crh) expression. *Physiol. Behav.* 104, 312–320. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.03.026
- Molendijk, M. L., van Tol, M. J., Penninx, B. W., van der Wee, N. J., Aleman, A., Veltman, D. J., et al. (2012). BDNF val66met affects hippocampal volume and emotion-related hippocampal memory activity. *Transl. Psychiatry* 2, e74. doi: 10.1038/tp.2011.72
- Murgatroyd, C., Patchev, A. V., Wu, Y., Micale, V., Bockmühl, Y., Fischer, D., et al. (2009). Dynamic DNA methylation programs persistent adverse effects of early-life stress. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 1559–1566. doi: 10.1038/ nn.2436
- Nair, A., Vadodaria, K. C., Banerjee, S. B., Benekareddy, M., Dias, B. G., Duman, R. S., et al. (2007). Stressor-specific regulation of distinct brainderived neurotrophic factor transcripts and cyclic AMP response elementbinding protein expression in the postnatal and adult rat hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 1504–1519. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301276
- Ninan, I., Bath, K. G., Dagar, K., Perez-Castro, R., Plummer, M. R., Lee, F. S., et al. (2010). The BDNF Val66Met polymorphism impairs NMDA receptordependent synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 8866–8870. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1405-10.2010
- Ognibene, E., Adriani, W., Caprioli, A., Ghirardi, O., Ali, S. F., Aloe, L., et al. (2008). The effect of early maternal separation on brain derived neurotrophic factor and monoamine levels in adult heterozygous reeler mice. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 32, 1269–1276. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2008.03.023
- Pang, P. T., Teng, H. K., Zaitsev, E., Woo, N. T., Sakata, K., Zhen, S., et al. (2004). Cleavage of proBDNF by tPA/plasmin is essential for long-term hippocampal plasticity. *Science* 306, 487–491. doi: 10.1126/science.1100135
- Pattwell, S. S., Bath, K. G., Perez-Castro, R., Lee, F. S., Chao, M. V., and Ninan, I. (2012). The BDNF Val66Met polymorphism impairs synaptic transmission and plasticity in the infralimbic medial prefrontal cortex. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 2410–2421. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5205-11.2012
- Pinheiro, R. M., de Lima, M. N., Portal, B. C., Busato, S. B., Falavigna, L., Ferreira, R. D., et al. (2015). Long-lasting recognition memory impairment and alterations in brain levels of cytokines and BDNF induced by maternal deprivation: effects of valproic acid and topiramate. *J. Neural Transm.* 122, 709–719. doi: 10.1007/s00702-014-1303-2

- Rao, R. P., Anilkumar, S., McEwen, B. S., and Chattarji, S. (2012). Glucocorticoids protect against the delayed behavioral and cellular effects of acute stress on the amygdala. *Biol. Psychiatry* 72, 466–475. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.04.008
- Revest, J. M., Le Roux, A., Roullot-Lacarrière, V., Kaouane, N., Vallée, M., Kasanetz, F., et al. (2014). BDNF-TrkB signaling through Erk1/2 MAPK phosphorylation mediates the enhancement of fear memory induced by glucocorticoids. *Mol. Psychiatry* 19, 1001–1009. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.134
- Rice, C. J., Sandman, C. A., Lenjavi, M. R., and Baram, T. Z. (2008). A novel mouse model for acute and long-lasting consequences of early life stress. *Endocrinology* 149, 4892–4900. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-0633
- Roceri, M., Cirulli, F., Pessina, C., Peretto, P., Racagni, G., and Riva, M. A. (2004). Postnatal repeated maternal deprivation produces age-dependent changes of brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in selected rat brain regions. *Biol. Psychiatry* 55, 708–714. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2003.12.011
- Roceri, M., Hendriks, W., Racagni, G., Ellenbroek, B. A., and Riva, M. A. (2002). Early maternal deprivation reduces the expression of BDNF and NMDA receptor subunits in rat hippocampus. *Mol. Psychiatry* 7, 609–616. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001036
- Rosenfeld, P., Wetmore, J. B., and Levine, S. (1992). Effects of repeated maternal separations on the adrenocortical response to stress of preweanling rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 52, 787–791. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(92) 90415-X
- Roth, T. L., Lubin, F. D., Funk, A. J., and Sweatt, J. D. (2009). Lasting epigenetic influence of early-life adversity on the BDNF gene. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, 760–769. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.028
- Roth, T. L., Matt, S., Chen, K., and Blaze, J. (2014). Bdnf DNA methylation modifications in the hippocampus and amygdala of male and female rats exposed to different caregiving environments outside the homecage. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 56, 1755–1763. doi: 10.1002/dev.21218
- Ruby, E., Rothman, K., Corcoran, C., Goetz, R. R., and Malaspina, D. (2015). Influence of early trauma on features of schizophrenia. *Early Interv. Psychiatry*. doi: 10.1111/eip.12239. [Epub ahead of print].
- Sapolsky, R. M., and Meaney, M. J. (1986). Maturation of the adrenocortical stress response: neuroendocrine control mechanisms and the stress hyporesponsive period. *Brain Res.* 396, 64–76. doi: 10.1016/0165-0173(86) 90010-x
- Schaaf, M. J., Workel, J. O., Lesscher, H. M., Vreugdenhil, E., Oitzl, M. S., and de Kloet, E. R. (2001). Correlation between hippocampal BDNF mRNA expression and memory performance in senescent rats. *Brain Res.* 915, 227–233. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(01)02855-4
- Smith, M. A., Makino, S., Kim, S. Y., and Kvetnansky, R. (1995). Stress increases brain-derived neurotropic factor messenger ribonucleic acid in the hypothalamus and pituitary. *Endocrinology* 136, 3743–3750.
- Solas, M., Aisa, B., Mugueta, M. C., Del Rio, J., Tordera, R. M., and Ramirez, M. J. (2010). Interactions between age, stress and insulin on cognition: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 1664–1673. doi: 10.1038/npp.2010.13

- Suri, D., Veenit, V., Sarkar, A., Thiagarajan, D., Kumar, A., Nestler, E. J., et al. (2013). Early stress evokes age-dependent biphasic changes in hippocampal neurogenesis, BDNF expression, and cognition. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73, 658–666. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.10.023
- Sutanto, W., Rosenfeld, P., de Kloet, E. R., and Levine, S. (1996). Longterm effects of neonatal maternal deprivation and ACTH on hippocampal mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptors. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 92, 156–163. doi: 10.1016/0165-3806(95)00213-8
- van Oers, H. J., de Kloet, E. R., Whelan, T., and Levine, S. (1998). Maternal deprivation effect on the infant's neural stress markers is reversed by tactile stimulation and feeding but not by suppressing corticosterone. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 10171–10179.
- Vyas, A., Mitra, R., Shankaranarayana Rao, B. S., and Chattarji, S. (2002). Chronic stress induces contrasting patterns of dendritic remodeling in hippocampal and amygdaloid neurons. J. Neurosci. 22, 6810–6818.
- Watanabe, Y., Gould, E., and McEwen, B. S. (1992). Stress induces atrophy of apical dendrites of hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons. *Brain Res.* 588, 341–345. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(92)91597-8
- Weaver, I. C., Cervoni, N., Champagne, F. A., D'Alessio, A. C., Sharma, S., Seckl, J. R., et al. (2004). Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 847–854. doi: 10.1038/nn1276
- Xue, X., Shao, S., Wang, W., and Shao, F. (2013). Maternal separation induces alterations in reversal learning and brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in adult rats. *Neuropsychobiology* 68, 243–249. doi: 10.1159/000356188
- Yu, H., Wang, D. D., Wang, Y., Liu, T., Lee, F. S., and Chen, Z. Y. (2012). Variant brain-derived neurotrophic factor Val66Met polymorphism alters vulnerability to stress and response to antidepressants. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 4092–4101. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5048-11.2012
- Zhang, L. X., Levine, S., Dent, G., Zhan, Y., Xing, G., Okimoto, D., et al. (2002). Maternal deprivation increases cell death in the infant rat brain. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 133, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00118-5
- Zimmerberg, B., Foote, H. E., and Van Kempen, T. A. (2009). Olfactory association learning and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in an animal model of early deprivation. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 51, 333–344. doi: 10.1002/dev.20373

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Daskalakis, De Kloet, Yehuda, Malaspina and Kranz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Maternal separation produces alterations of forebrain brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in differently aged rats

Qiong Wang¹, Feng Shao¹* and Weiwen Wang²*

¹ Department of Psychology, Peking University, Beijing, China, ² Key Laboratory of Mental Health, Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

Early life adversity, such as postnatal maternal separation (MS), play a central role in the development of psychopathologies during individual ontogeny. In this study, we investigated the effects of repeated MS (4 h per day from postnatal day (PND) 1-21) on the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and the hippocampus of male and female juvenile (PND 21), adolescent (PND 35) and young adult (PND 56) Wistar rats. The results indicated that MS increased BDNF in the CA1 and the dentate gyrus (DG) of adolescent rats as well as in the DG of young adult rats. However, the expression of BDNF in the mPFC in the young adult rats was decreased by MS. Additionally, in the hippocampus, there was decreased BDNF expression with age in both the MS and non separated rats. However, in the mPFC, the BDNF expression was increased with age in the non separated rats; nevertheless, the BDNF expression was significantly decreased in the MS young adult rats. In the NAc, the BDNF expression was increased with age in the male non-maternal separation (NMS) rats, and the young adult female MS rats had less BDNF expression than the adolescent female MS rats. The present study shows unique age-differently changes on a molecular level induced by MS and advances the use of MS as a valid animal model to detect the underlying neurobiological mechanisms of mental disorders.

Keywords: maternal separation, brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), hippocampus

Introduction

Adverse early life events are considered to be risk factors for the development of psychiatric diseases (Walker and Diforio, 1997; Ellenbroek and Cools, 1998; Marais et al., 2008; Réus et al., 2011). In rats, maternal separation (MS), which deprives pups of their mothers, has often been used as a model for early life adversity (Hall, 1998; Marco et al., 2009). MS has been demonstrated to induce behavioral and cognitive abnormalities, such as increased depressive and anxiety-like behaviors (Marais et al., 2008; Jia et al., 2009; Rentesi et al., 2010) and prepulse inhibition (PPI) deficits (Ellenbroek and Cools, 1998, 2002). MS has also been shown to decrease new born cells in the hippocampus and the granular cell number in the dentate gyrus (DG) of juvenile and adult rats (Mirescu et al., 2004; Oreland et al., 2010; Hulshof et al., 2011); these findings suggest that MS can affect the neuroplasticity of rats.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China

Reviewed by:

Michael Arthur Van Der Kooij, Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Germany Nikolaos P. Daskalakis, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, USA

*Correspondence:

Feng Shao, Department of Psychology, Peking University, 5 Yiheyuan Road, Beijing, 100871, China shaof@pku.edu.cn; Weiwen Wang, Key Laboratory of Mental Health, Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, No. 16 Lincui Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100101, China wangww@psych.ac.cn

> Received: 27 April 2015 Accepted: 18 August 2015 Published: 01 September 2015

Citation:

Wang Q, Shao F and Wang W (2015) Maternal separation produces alterations of forebrain brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in differently aged rats. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 8:49. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00049

Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is a member of the neurotrophin family (Hyman et al., 1991) and exerts a wide range of functions, such as maintaining neuronal survival, structure, growth, and differentiation and promoting synaptic plasticity of learning and memory (Fumagalli et al., 2007; Pillai and Mahadik, 2008). BDNF has also been implicated in the neurobiological mechanisms of psychiatric diseases (Weickert et al., 2003; Schneider et al., 2011; Favalli et al., 2012). BDNF expression in multiple brain regions is sensitive to adverse life experiences. For example, our lab has reported that adolescent social isolation affects BDNF levels in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), Nucleus accumbens (NAc) and hippocampus of adult rats (Han et al., 2011; Meng et al., 2011). Several studies have reported the effects of MS on BDNF levels in different brain areas; however, the results have been inconsistent. For example, MS increased the BDNF level in the hippocampus of adult rats (Greisen et al., 2005; Faure et al., 2007), reduced the BDNF levels in the PFC, hippocampus and striatum of mice (Ognibene et al., 2008) or had no change with respect to the BDNF levels in the PFC and hippocampus (Réus et al., 2011). These discrepancies may be resulted from the different experimental procedures, species and strains adopted in these studies.

Furthermore, other studies have indicated that the developmental period of animals may be another important factor for MS effects. For example, Roceri et al. (2004) reported that MS produced a short-term-up-regulation of the BDNF level in the hippocampus and PFC on postnatal day (PND) 17 and a reduction of BDNF expression in the PFC in adulthood. Kuma et al. (2004) conformed that MS decreased the BDNF mRNA expression on PND 16 and increased the BDNF mRNA expression on PND 30 and 60 in the hippocampus of rats, and there was no significant difference between MS and non-maternal separation (NMS) rats on PND 20. Although these studies mentioned above suggested the developmental factors of MS effects, to date, there is not any studies that investigated the effects of MS on forebrain BDNF expression in juvenile, adolescent and young adult rats systematically.

In the present study, we aimed to investigate the effects of repeated MS (4 h/day from PND 1–21) on the BDNF expression levels in the mPFC, NAc and hippocampus in juvenile (PND 21), adolescent (PND 35) and young adult (PND 56) rats. The three brain regions chosen in this study were based on the close functional relationships with BDNF activity of them.

Material and Methods

Animals

Male and female Wistar rats were obtained from the Academy of Chinese Military Medical Science. All of the animals were housed on a 12 h light/12 h dark cycle (lights on at 7:00 a.m.) and with free access to food and water. The environmental conditions was kept constant (ambient temperature 22°C). All experimental procedures were performed in strict accordance with the guidelines of the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publications No. 80–23) and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of Peking University.

Maternal Separation

The protocol of MS were adapted from previous studies (Li et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2015). The male and female rats were mated to produce litters that consisted of 8-12 pups. After birth, the pups were randomly divided into two groups: the MS (MS group, 48 pups) and the NMS (NMS group, 48 pups). MS was performed on MS group while the NMS group was undisturbed from PND 1-21. Each group had 24 male and 24 female pups. During the separation, the pups in MS group were separated from their mothers for 4 h (10:00-14:00) per day from PND 1-21 and maintained on heated sawdust (29 \pm 1°) separately from their littermates. The dams of the pups in MS group were left in the home cage during the separation. The pups in NMS group remained in their home cage with their mothers and littermates during the 4 h separation. After weaning at PND 21, 16 MS (8 males and 8 females) and 16 NMS (8 males and 8 females) animals were sacrificed for the BDNF measurement by immunohistochemistry (IHC). The rest of rats were reallocated to different cages (4 rats per cage). Then, at PND 35, another 16 MS (8 males and 8 females) and 16 NMS (8 males and 8 females) animals were sacrificed for the BDNF measurement by IHC. At PND 56, the last 16 MS (8 males and 8 females) and 16 NMS (8 males and 8 females) animals were sacrificed for the BDNF measurement by IHC.

Immunohistochemistry

This procedure IHC has been described in previous studies (D'andrea et al., 2001; Xavier et al., 2005; Han et al., 2011; Meng et al., 2011). Briefly, the rats were anesthetized of intraperitoneal (ip) administration with chloral hydrate (400 mg/kg) and perfused with phosphate buffered saline (PBS, 0.01 M) followed by 4% paraformaldehyde dissolved in PBS. The brain regions of interest (mPFC: 5.70-2.70 mm from bregma; NAc: 2.70-0.70 mm from bregma; hippocampus: -1.30 to -5.30 mm from bregma; Paxinos and Watson, 2006) were dissected on ice using a rat brain mold and post-fixed by 4% paraformaldehyde for 6 h. Then the brain samples were dehydrated $(3 \times 30 \text{ min } 70\%, 90\%)$, 96%, 100% ethanol and Roti-Histol) and embedded in paraffin. Next, the paraffin which containing the brain samples were cut into sections (4 μ m) using a microtome (Leica 235), then the sections were pasted onto slides and dried (30 min, 58°C) on a heating plate. After washing in 0.05 M PBS (3 \times 2 min), the sections were put into citrate buffer solution and heated in microwave oven. Afterwards, the slides were blocked (10% goat serum and 1% BSA dissolved in 0.01 M PBS, 20 min at room temperature, RT) and incubated in a first rabbit anti-BDNF polyclonal IgG (1:200, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, overnight at 4°C). After washing in 0.05 M PBS (3 \times 5 min, RT), the sections were incubated with a secondary goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:1000, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, 1 h at RT), and incubated in an avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (1 h). Finally, the sections were dehydrated by serial alcohol rinsing, dewaxed in dimethyl benzene, and cover-slipped.

Quantification and Statistical Analyses

The slides were viewed and photographed using a light microscope (Olympus BX-51), and the images were analyzed using a software (Image-pro plus 6.0). The BDNF levels were estimated by counting all of the BDNF-positive cells present in two serial sections interspaced by 4 μ m in the middle of the mPFC, NAc and hippocampus. The areas of the mPFC, NAc and the CA1, CA2/3 and DG of the hippocampus were measured, and the number of units per 1 mm² was calculated bilaterally per rat. For the analysis, the cell counts were averaged into a single score for each rat.

All of the data are shown as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). The analyses were performed using the SPSS 16 software. The IHC results were analyzed using a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA). The comparisons with two and three groups were analyzed using Student's *t*-test and a one-way ANOVA followed by least significant difference (LSD) *post hoc* tests, respectively. The significance level was defined as p < 0.05.

Results

Effects of MS on the BDNF Expression in the Hippocampus

The results of the BDNF expression in the CA1 were summarized in Figure 1. The results showed that there were significant main effects of MS ($F_{(1,84)} = 7.987$, p = 0.006) and age ($F_{(2,84)} =$ 7.421, p = 0.001), but not gender. The interaction between MS and age was significant ($F_{(2,84)} = 5.385$, p = 0.006), whereas the other interactions were not significant. Further analysis (t-test) indicated that MS increased the BDNF expression in the CA1 in the PND 35 rats ($t_{(30)} = 4.035$, p < 0.001; Figure 1A). A one-way ANOVA revealed that there was a significant difference among the three ages in both the NMS and MS groups (NMS: $F_{(2,45)}$ = 8.211, p = 0.001; MS: $F_{(2,45)} = 5.099$, p = 0.010). The post hoc (LSD) comparisons revealed that in the NMS group, the PND 35 and PND 56 rats had significantly less expression compared with the PND 21 rats; in the MS group, the PND 56 rats had significantly less expression compared with the PND 21 and PND 35 rats (Figure 1A).

In the CA2/3, the overall effects of MS, age and gender were not significant; all of the interactions were also not significant.

The BDNF expression in the DG was summarized in **Figure 1B**. MS resulted in an overall increased BDNF protein expression in the DG ($F_{(1,84)} = 7.741$, p = 0.007). The overall effects of age and gender were not significant, and all of the interactions were also not significant. Further analysis (*t*-test) showed that MS significantly increased the BDNF expression in the DG in the PND 35 and PND 56 rats (PND 35: $t_{30} = 2.350$, p = 0.026; PND 56: $t_{30} = 2.169$, p = 0.038).

Effects of MS on the BDNF Expression in the mPFC

The BDNF expression in the mPFC for each group was summarized in **Figure 2**. MS significantly decreased the BDNF expression in the mPFC ($F_{(1,84)} = 4.006$, p = 0.005). The influence of age and gender on the expression of BDNF was not significant.

The interaction between MS and age was significant ($F_{(2,84)} = 7.749$, p = 0.001), whereas the other interactions were not significant. Further analysis (*t*-test) indicated that MS reduced the BDNF expression in the mPFC in the PND 56 rats ($t_{(30)} = 5.350$, p < 0.001; **Figure 2A**). A one-way ANOVA revealed that there was a significant difference among the three ages in both the NMS and MS groups (NMS: $F_{(2,45)} = 3.238$, p = 0.049; MS: $F_{(2,45)} = 4.607$, p = 0.015). The *post hoc* (LSD) comparisons revealed that in the NMS group the PND 56 rats had significantly increased expression compared with the PND 35 rats; in the MS group the PND 56 rats had significantly less expression compared with the PND 21 and PND 35 rats (**Figure 2A**).

Effect of MS on the BDNF Expression in the NAc

In the NAc, the overall effects of MS, age and gender were not significant; however, there was a significant interaction among MS, age and gender ($F_{(2,84)} = 4.475$, p = 0.014). The other interactions were not significant. Further analysis (one-way ANOVA) revealed that for the male rats there was a significant difference among the three ages in the NMS, but not in the MS groups (NMS: $F_{(1,22)} = 4.378$, p = 0.026; MS: $F_{(1,22)} = 1.613$, p = 0.223). However, for the female rats there was a significant difference among the three ages in the MS, although not in the NMS groups (NMS: $F_{(1,22)} = 0.970$, p = 0.395; MS: $F_{(1,22)} =$ 4.564, p = 0.023). The post hoc (LSD) comparisons revealed that in the male NMS group the PND 21 rats had significantly less expression compared with the PND 35 and PND 56 rats (Figure 3A); in the female MS group the PND 56 rats had significantly decreased BDNF expression compared with the PND 35 rats (Figure 3B).

Discussion

The current findings showed that repeated MS has fundamental effects on BDNF protein expression in the forebrain of juvenile, adolescent and young adult male and female rats. MS increased BDNF expression in hippocampus of rats but decreased it in the mPFC. BDNF expression in the CA1 was decreased with age. However, in the mPFC, the increased expression of BDNF with age in non-separated rats was reversed in MS rats. The effect of gender on BDNF expression was only found in the NAc.

Firstly, our results suggested that there were different effects of MS on BDNF expression in the mPFC, hippocampus and NAc. MS increased in the hippocampus of adolescent and young adult rats and decreased in the mPFC of young adult rats. Similarly, one previous study reported that MS produced a short-termup-regulation of BDNF expression in hippocampus and PFC, which was measured on PND 17, and a reduction of BDNF expression in the PFC in adulthood (Roceri et al., 2004). Our results indicated that MS did not affect the expression of BDNF in NAc. The alike results were also found in our previous study in adult rats (Xue et al., 2013). These findings reminded us that MS may affect BDNF expression differently in the mPFC, hippocampus and NAc.

Since BDNF was closely related to both neural plasticity and cytoarchitecture, are the influences of MS has on neural



plasticity and cytoarchitecture in mPFC and hippocampus similar? Previous study reported that MS (3 h per day from PND 2–14) increased the hippocampal neurogenesis which was assessed by using BrdU and DCX, meanwhile, the histone methylation at the *BDNF* IV promoter and the expression of BDNF were also increased in hippocampus (Suri et al., 2013). MS also increased CREB and BDNF levels and hippocampus progenitor proliferation in hippocampus (Nair et al., 2007). Another study demonstrated that MS (2 h per day from PND 1–12) decreased the dendritic length and dendritic spine density

Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org



of the neuron in PFC (Monroy et al., 2010). MS (24 h on PND 9) also induced the reduction in the thickness of PFC and of the density of NeuN-immunolabeled neurons in PFC of rats (Aksić et al., 2013). These studies on cytoarchitecture and neural plasticity supported our findings about changes on BDNF levels in PFC and hippocampus induced by MS.

In addition, existing studies have shown that the inconsistency of MS effects was also reflected in cognitive function, such as the spatial learning and reversal learning in Morris water maze (MWM). Our recent study reported that repeated MS (4 h per day from PND 1–21) increased swim distance in spatial learning and decreased escape latency in reversal learning of MWM in adolescent and early adult rats (Wang et al., 2015). MS could induce the impairment of spatial learning of MWM in adolescent (Frisone et al., 2002) and adult rats (Garner et al., 2007), and also could enhance the performance in reversal learning of MWM in adult rats (Lehmann et al., 1999). Hippocampus, which was a key brain



region of memory, played an important role in cognitive function in MWM. Specifically deleted BDNF in hippocampus impaired the spatial learning in MWM (Heldt et al., 2007). PFC was also closely associated with spatial working memory in MWM (Xing et al., 2012). These behavioral and BDNF results suggested that differences among cognitive abnormalities of MS animals may be related to the diverse changes in hippocampus and mPFC, but more researches are still needed.

Secondly, as we have noted above, the developmental period of animals may be another important factor for the MS effects. The present study investigated the effects of MS on BDNF expression in the hippocampus and mPFC of juvenile, adolescent and young adult rats. Our results found that MS did not change the BDNF expression in the CA1 and DG of PND 21 rats, but increased the BDNF expression in the CA1 and DG of PND 35 rats, as well as in the DG of PND 56 rats. Similarly, another previous study indicated that MS (3 h per day from PND 10–15) decreased the expression of BDNF mRNA in the hippocampus of PND 16 rats and increased the expression of BDNF mRNA in the hippocampus of PND 30 and 60 rats. What's more, it was reported that there was no significant difference between MS and mother-reared control rats on PND 20 (Kuma et al., 2004). These findings were consistent with the results in the present study.

Thirdly, regarding the effects of MS on male and female rats, the present study found that the expression of BDNF in the mPFC and hippocampus was not significantly different between the male and female rats. These results reminded us that the expression of BDNF, which was affected by MS, was not different between the male and female rats. Marco et al. (2013) also found that MS decreased the expression of BDNF in the PFC and hippocampus both in male and female adolescent rats, but MS increased the expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in male adolescent rats, not in female rats. However, our results showed that between the MS and NMS rats of different ages the effect of gender on BDNF expression in the NAc was different. In the male NMS rats BDNF expression was increased with age. A recent study reported that male juvenile rats (PND 26-28) exhibited significantly elevated basal BDNF expression in the NAc compared with their male adult (4 months) counterparts (Perreault et al., 2013). These results were different with our findings and this discrepancy may be because we did not observe data at 4 months after birth. In the female MS group the BDNF expression of the young rats was decreased compared with the adolescent rats. No comparable result was reported in the previous study.

Fourthly, the present study also found that the expression of BDNF in the CA1 was decreased with age in the NMS rats, and MS did not affect a change with age. A previous study reported that the expression of BDNF in the hippocampus changed with age: the expression of BDNF increased after birth and it reached the highest level in the second week after birth. After that, the expression of BDNF gradually declined with age (Silhol et al., 2005). These findings, consistent with our results, revealed the effect of age on the process of BDNF neural-development in the brain.

More importantly, the present study found that compared with juvenile and adolescent rats, the BDNF expression in the mPFC of young adult rats was significantly affected by repeated MS. The highest BDNF expression in the NMS young adult rats was reversed to the lowest expression of the MS rats. These results suggested that the increase of BDNF expression in the mPFC for young adult rats may be stopped and reversed by MS, and no comparable result was reported in previous studies. However, our lab had reported that repeated MS (4 h per day from PND 1-21) improved reversal learning of the MWM in young adult rats. For NMS rats, compared with juvenile or adolescent rats, young adult rats had significantly decreased cognitive flexibility; for MS rats, MS significantly improved reversal learning of young adult rats (Wang et al., 2015). Most previous studies had reported a positive relationship between BDNF expression in the PFC and cognitive function (Bredy et al., 2007; Sakata et al., 2013). However, a recent report found that stress facilitated reversal learning of mouse, and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC) lesions mimicked this effect of stress, but this enhanced reversal learning of

References

Aksić, M., Radonjić, N. V., Aleksić, D., Jevtić, G., Marković, B., Petronijević, N., et al. (2013). Long-term effects of the maternal deprivation on the volume and number of neurons in the rat neocortex and hippocampus. *Acta Neurobiol. Exp.* (*Wars*). 73, 394–403. doi: 10.1155/2014/235238 mouse induced by stress was prevented by BDNF infusion into the vmPFC (Graybeal et al., 2011), which in part supported our findings. Altogether, the relationship between cognitive function and BDNF expression in the mPFC requires further investigation.

Epigenetics research also confirmed the influence of early life adversity on BDNF expression in brain. Roth et al. (2009) demonstrated that early maltreatment increased the methylation of *BDNF* DNA and it reduced the BDNF expression in PFC of adult rats. Furthermore, many studies have confirmed that MS led to hyperactivity of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Plotsky and Meaney, 1993; Lehmann et al., 2002; Lippmann et al., 2007). MS reduced the level of glucocorticoid type-2 and corticotropin-releasing hormone type-1 receptor (CRH1) mRNA in hippocampus. MS also impaired the memory function and decreased the expression of glucocorticoid in hippocampus of rats (Llorente et al., 2011). These biochemical changes may contribute to the neurobiological foundation of behavioral and cognitive alterations induced by MS, which should be further detected in our future research.

Conclusion

These present findings suggest that repeated MS induced different types of forebrain neurobiological changes in juvenile, adolescent, and young adult rats, revealing the varying patterns of BDNF expression along with age in different brain regions and indicating that the influence of gender was only embodied in NAc not mPFC or hippocampus. The present study provided new evidence for the study of behavioral and neuro-biochemical alterations induced by adverse early life event. Considering the close relationship between human BDNF and early life adversity, these findings have potential clinical implication for treating mental disorders.

Author Contributions

FS designed the research; QW performed the research and acquired the data; QW, FS and WW interpreted and analyzed the data; and QW, FS and WW drafted, revised and wrote the paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 31470988 and No. 81471122), the Chinese Academy of Sciences (KJZD-EW-L04) and the Key Laboratory of Mental Health, Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences.

- Bredy, T. W., Wu, H., Crego, C., Zellhoefer, J., Sun, Y. E., and Barad, M. (2007). Histone modifications around individual BDNF gene promoters in prefrontal cortex are associated with extinction of conditioned fear. *Learn. Mem.* 14, 268–276. doi: 10.1101/lm.500907
- D'andrea, M. R., Nagele, R. G., Wang, H. Y., Peterson, P. A., and Lee, D. H. S. (2001). Evidence that neurones accumulating amyloid can undergo lysis to

form amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease. *Histopathology* 38, 120–134. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2559.2001.01082.x

- Ellenbroek, B. A., and Cools, A. R. (1998). The neurodevelopment hypothesis of schizophrenia: clinical evidence and animal models. *Neurosci. Res. Commun.* 22, 127–136. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1520-6769(199805/06)22:3<127::aid-nrc1>3.3. co;2-#
- Ellenbroek, B. A., and Cools, A. R. (2002). Early maternal deprivation and prepulse inhibition: the role of the postdeprivation environment. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 73, 177–184. doi: 10.1016/s0091-3057(02)00794-3
- Faure, J., Uys, J. D., Marais, L., Stein, D. J., and Daniels, W. M. (2007). Early maternal separation alters the response to traumatization: resulting in increased levels of hippocampal neurotrophic factors. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 22, 183–195. doi: 10.1007/s11011-007-9048-3
- Favalli, G., Li, J., Belmonte-de-Abreu, P., Wong, A. H., and Daskalakis, Z. J. (2012). The role of BDNF in the pathophysiology and treatment of schizophrenia. J. Psychiatr. Res. 46, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.09.022
- Frisone, D. F., Frye, C. A., and Zimmerberg, B. (2002). Social isolation stress during the third week of life has age-dependent effects on spatial learning in rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 128, 153–160. doi: 10.1016/s0166-4328(01)00315-1
- Fumagalli, F., Molteni, R., Racagni, G., and Riva, M. A. (2007). Stress during development: impact on neuroplasticity and relevance to psychopathology. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 81, 197–217. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.01.002
- Garner, B., Wood, S. J., Pantelis, C., and van den Buuse, M. (2007). Early maternal deprivation reduces prepulse inhibition and impairs spatial learning ability in adulthood: no further effect of post-pubertal chronic corticosterone treatment. *Behav. Brain Res.* 176, 323–332. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2006.10.020
- Graybeal, C., Feyder, M., Schulman, E., Saksida, L. M., Bussey, T. J., Brigman, J. L., et al. (2011). Paradoxical reversal learning enhancement by stress or prefrontal cortical damage: rescue with BDNF. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1507–1509. doi: 10. 1038/nn.2954
- Greisen, M. H., Altar, C. A., Bolwig, T. G., Whitehead, R., and Wörtwein, G. (2005). Increased adult hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor and normal levels of neurogenesis in maternal separation rats. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 79, 772–778. doi: 10.1002/jnr.20418
- Hall, F. S. (1998). Social deprivation of neonatal, adolescent and adult rats has distinct neurochemical and behavioral consequences. *Crit. Rev. Neurobiol.* 12, 129–162. doi: 10.1615/critrevneurobiol.v12.i1-2.50
- Han, X., Wang, W., Xue, X., Shao, F., and Li, N. (2011). Brief social isolation in early adolescence affects reversal learning and forebrain BDNF expression in adult rats. *Brain Res. Bull.* 86, 173–178. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011. 07.008
- Heldt, S., Stanek, L., Chhatwal, J., and Ressler, K. (2007). Hippocampus-specific deletion of BDNF in adult mice impairs spatial memory and extinction of aversive memories. *Mol. Psychiatry* 12, 656–670. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001957
- Hulshof, H. J., Novati, A., Sgoifo, A., Luiten, P. G., den Boer, J. A., and Meerlo, P. (2011). Maternal separation decreases adult hippocampal cell proliferation and impairs cognitive performance but has little effect on stress sensitivity and anxiety in adult Wistar rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 216, 552–560. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr. 2010.08.038
- Hyman, C., Hofer, M., Barde, Y.-A., Juhasz, M., Yancopoulos, G. D., Squinto, S. P., et al. (1991). BDNF is a neurotrophic factor for dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra. *Nature* 350, 230–232. doi: 10.1038/350230a0
- Jia, R., Tai, F., An, S., Zhang, X., and Broders, H. (2009). Effects of neonatal paternal deprivation or early deprivation on anxiety and social behaviors of the adults in mandarin voles. *Behav. Processes* 82, 271–278. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc. 2009.07.006
- Kuma, H., Miki, T., Matsumoto, Y., Gu, H., Li, H.-P., Kusaka, T., et al. (2004). Early maternal deprivation induces alterations in brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in the developing rat hippocampus. *Neurosci. Lett.* 372, 68–73. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2004.09.012
- Lehmann, J., Pryce, C., Bettschen, D., and Feldon, J. (1999). The maternal separation paradigm and adult emotionality and cognition in male and female Wistar rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 64, 705–715. doi: 10.1016/s0091-3057(99)00150-1
- Lehmann, J., Russig, H., Feldon, J., and Pryce, C. R. (2002). Effect of a single maternal separation at different pup ages on the corticosterone stress response in adult and aged rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 73, 141–145. doi: 10. 1016/s0091-3057(02)00788-8

- Li, M., Xue, X., Shao, S., Shao, F., and Wang, W. (2013). Cognitive, emotional and neurochemical effects of repeated maternal separation in adolescent rats. *Brain Res.* 1518, 82–90. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2013.04.026
- Lippmann, M., Bress, A., Nemeroff, C. B., Plotsky, P. M., and Monteggia, L. M. (2007). Long-term behavioural and molecular alterations associated with maternal separation in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 25, 3091–3098. doi: 10.1111/j. 1460-9568.2007.05522.x
- Marais, L., Van Rensburg, S. J., Van Zyl, J. M., Stein, D. J., and Daniels, W. M. (2008). Maternal separation of rat pups increases the risk of developing depressive-like behavior after subsequent chronic stress by altering corticosterone and neurotrophin levels in the hippocampus. *Neurosci. Res.* 61, 106–112. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2008.01.011
- Litvin, Y., Tovote, P., Pentkowski, N. S., Zeyda, T., King, L. B., Vasconcellos, A. J., et al. (2010). Maternal separation modulates short-term behavioral and physiological indices of the stress response. *Horm. Behav.* 58, 241–249. doi: 10. 1016/j.yhbeh.2010.03.010
- Llorente, R., Miguel-Blanco, C., Aisa, B., Lachize, S., Borcel, E., Meijer, O. C., et al. (2011). Long term sex-dependent psychoneuroendocrine effects of maternal deprivation and juvenile unpredictable stress in rats. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 23, 329–344. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2011.02109.x
- Marco, E. M., Adriani, W., Llorente, R., Laviola, G., and Viveros, M.-P. (2009). Detrimental psychophysiological effects of early maternal deprivation in adolescent and adult rodents: altered responses to cannabinoid exposure. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 33, 498–507. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008. 03.008
- Marco, E. M., Valero, M., de la Serna, O., Aisa, B., Borcel, E., Ramirez, M. J., et al. (2013). Maternal deprivation effects on brain plasticity and recognition memory in adolescent male and female rats. *Neuropharmacology* 68, 223–231. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.08.014
- Meng, Q., Li, N., Han, X., Shao, F., and Wang, W. (2011). Effects of adolescent social isolation on the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factors in the forebrain. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 650, 229–232. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.09.061
- Mirescu, C., Peters, J. D., and Gould, E. (2004). Early life experience alters response of adult neurogenesis to stress. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 841–846. doi: 10.1038/nn1290
- Monroy, E., Hernández-Torres, E., and Flores, G. (2010). Maternal separation disrupts dendritic morphology of neurons in prefrontal cortex, hippocampus and nucleus accumbens in male rat offspring. *J. Chem. Neuroanat.* 40, 93–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jchemneu.2010.05.005
- Nair, A., Vadodaria, K. C., Banerjee, S. B., Benekareddy, M., Dias, B. G., Duman, R. S., et al. (2007). Stressor-specific regulation of distinct brainderived neurotrophic factor transcripts and cyclic AMP response elementbinding protein expression in the postnatal and adult rat hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 1504–1519. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301276
- Ognibene, E., Adriani, W., Caprioli, A., Ghirardi, O., Ali, S. F., Aloe, L., et al. (2008). The effect of early maternal separation on brain derived neurotrophic factor and monoamine levels in adult heterozygous reeler mice. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 32, 1269–1276. doi: 10.1016/j. pnpbp.2008.03.023
- Oreland, S., Nylander, I., and Pickering, C. (2010). Prolonged maternal separation decreases granule cell number in the dentate gyrus of 3-week-old male rats. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 28, 139–144. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2009.12.005
- Paxinos, G., and Watson, C. (2006). *The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates: Hard Cover Edition*. New York: Academic Press.
- Perreault, M. L., Fan, T., O'Dowd, B. F., and George, S. R. (2013). Enhanced brainderived neurotrophic factor signaling in the nucleus accumbens of juvenile rats. *Dev. Neurosci.* 35, 384–395. doi: 10.1159/000351026
- Pillai, A., and Mahadik, S. P. (2008). Increased truncated TrkB receptor expression and decreased BDNF/TrkB signaling in the frontal cortex of reeler mouse model of schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 100, 325–333. doi: 10.1016/j.schres. 2007.11.030
- Plotsky, P. M., and Meaney, M. J. (1993). Early, postnatal experience alters hypothalamic corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) mRNA, median eminence CRF content and stress-induced release in adult rats. *Brain Res. Mol Brain Res.* 18, 195–200. doi: 10.1016/0169-328x(93)90189-v
- Rentesi, G., Antoniou, K., Marselos, M., Fotopoulos, A., Alboycharali, J., and Konstandi, M. (2010). Long-term consequences of early maternal deprivation in serotonergic activity and HPA function in adult rat. *Neurosci. Lett.* 480, 7–11. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.04.054

- Réus, G. Z., Stringari, R. B., Ribeiro, K. F., Cipriano, A. L., Panizzutti, B. S., Stertz, L., et al. (2011). Maternal deprivation induces depressive-like behaviour and alters neurotrophin levels in the rat brain. *Neurochem. Res.* 36, 460–466. doi: 10. 1007/s11064-010-0364-3
- Roceri, M., Cirulli, F., Pessina, C., Peretto, P., Racagni, G., and Riva, M. A. (2004). Postnatal repeated maternal deprivation produces age-dependent changes of brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in selected rat brain regions. *Biol. Psychiatry* 55, 708–714. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2003. 12.011
- Roth, T. L., Lubin, F. D., Funk, A. J., and Sweatt, J. D. (2009). Lasting epigenetic influence of early-life adversity on the BDNF gene. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, 760–769. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.028
- Sakata, K., Martinowich, K., Woo, N. H., Schloesser, R. J., Jimenez, D. V., Ji, Y., et al. (2013). Role of activity-dependent BDNF expression in hippocampal-prefrontal cortical regulation of behavioral perseverance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 110, 15103–15108. doi: 10.1073/pnas.12228 72110
- Schneider, B., Prvulovic, D., Oertel-Knöchel, V., Knöchel, C., Reinke, B., Grexa, M., et al. (2011). Biomarkers for major depression and its delineation from neurodegenerative disorders. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 95, 703–717. doi: 10.1016/j. pneurobio.2011.08.001
- Silhol, M., Bonnichon, V., Rage, F., and Tapia-Arancibia, L. (2005). Age-related changes in brain-derived neurotrophic factor and tyrosine kinase receptor isoforms in the hippocampus and hypothalamus in male rats. *Neuroscience* 132, 613–624. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.01.008
- Suri, D., Veenit, V., Sarkar, A., Thiagarajan, D., Kumar, A., Nestler, E. J., et al. (2013). Early stress evokes age-dependent biphasic changes in hippocampal neurogenesis, BDNF expression and cognition. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73, 658–666. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.10.023
- Walker, E. F., and Diforio, D. (1997). Schizophrenia: a neural diathesis-stress model. *Psychol. Rev.* 104, 667–685. doi: 10.1037/0033-295x.104.4.667

- Wang, Q., Li, M., Du, W., Shao, F., and Wang, W. (2015). The different effects of maternal separation on spatial learning and reversal learning in rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 280, 16–23. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2014.11.040
- Weickert, C., Hyde, T., Lipska, B., Herman, M., Weinberger, D., and Kleinman, J. (2003). Reduced brain-derived neurotrophic factor in prefrontal cortex of patients with schizophrenia. *Mol. Psychiatry* 8, 592–610. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp. 4001308
- Xavier, L. L., Viola, G. G., Ferraz, A. C., Da Cunha, C., Deonizio, J. M. D., Netto, C. A., et al. (2005). A simple and fast densitometric method for the analysis of tyrosine hydroxylase immunoreactivity in the substantia nigra pars compacta and in the ventral tegmental area. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Protoc.* 16, 58–64. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresprot.2005.10.002
- Xing, B., Guo, J., Meng, X., Wei, S.-G., and Li, S.-B. (2012). The dopamine D1 but not D3 receptor plays a fundamental role in spatial working memory and BDNF expression in prefrontal cortex of mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 235, 36–41. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2012.06.035
- Xue, X., Shao, S., Wang, W., and Shao, F. (2013). Maternal separation induces alterations in reversal learning and brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in adult rats. *Neuropsychobiology* 68, 243–249. doi: 10. 1159/000356188

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Wang, Shao and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Early-life stress induces persistent alterations in 5-HT_{1A} receptor and serotonin transporter mRNA expression in the adult rat brain

Javier A. Bravo¹*, Timothy G. Dinan^{2,3} and John F. Cryan^{3,4}*

¹ Grupo de NeuroGastroBioquímica, Laboratorio de Química Biológica, Instituto de Química, Facultad de Ciencias, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso, Valparaíso, Chile

² Department of Psychiatry, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland

³ Laboratory of Neurogastroenterology, Alimentary Pharmabiotic Centre, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland

⁴ Department of Anatomy, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland

Edited by:

Mathias V. Schmidt, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Germany

Reviewed by:

Gustavo Pacheco-Lopez, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana, Mexico Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China

*Correspondence:

Javier A. Bravo, Grupo de NeuroGastroBioguímica, Laboratorio de Química Biológica, Instituto de Química, Facultad de Ciencias, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso, Avenida Universidad 330, Curauma, Valparaíso, Región de Valparaíso, Chile e-mail: javier.bravo@ucv.cl; John F. Cryan, Department of Anatomy, University College Cork, Western Gateway Building, Cork, Ireland

e-mail: j.cryan@ucc.ie

Early-life experience plays a major role in the stress response throughout life. Neonatal maternal separation (MS) is an animal model of depression with an altered serotonergic response. We hypothesize that this alteration may be caused by differences in 5-HT_{1A} receptor and serotonin transporter (SERT) mRNA expression in brain areas involved in the control of emotions, memory, and fear as well as in regions controlling the central serotonergic tone. To test this, Sprague–Dawley rats were subjected to MS for 3 h daily during postnatal days 2-12. As control, age matched rats were non-separated (NS) from their dams. When animals reached adulthood (11-13 weeks) brain was extracted and mRNA expression of 5-HT_{1A} receptor in amygdala, hippocampus and dorsal raphé nucleus (DRN) and SERT in the DRN was analyzed through in situ hybridisation. Densitometric analysis revealed that MS increased 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression in the amygdala, and reduced its expression in the DRN, but no changes were observed in the hippocampus in comparison to NS controls. Also, MS reduced SERT mRNA expression in the DRN when compared to NS rats. These results suggest that early-life stress induces persistent changes in 5-HT_{1A} receptor and SERT mRNA expression in key brain regions involved in the development of stress-related psychiatric disorders. The reduction in SERT mRNA indicates an alteration that is in line with clinical findings such as polymorphic variants in individuals with higher risk of depression. These data may help to understand how early-life stress contributes to the development of mood disorders in adulthood.

Keywords: maternal separation, 5-HT1A receptor, serotonin transporter, amygdala, dorsal raphé nucleus

INTRODUCTION

In the early postnatal period of the rat, the brain is thought to be a developmental equivalent to the last trimester in utero and the perinatal period of human brain development (Romijn et al., 1991; Watson et al., 2006; Goodfellow et al., 2009), thus allowing for the use of postnatal rodent models in the investigation of the early programing of stress-related psychiatric disorders. It has been proposed that stress during developmental stages, can lead to developmental alterations that become evident in adult life (Barker, 1995), and moreover, during early-life the psychosocial milieu can substantially alter the nervous system, through mechanisms that permanently affect gene expression (Mathews and Janusek, 2011).

In the central nervous system (CNS), one of the key neurotransmitter systems involved in the response to stress and in the development of neuropsychiatric disorders is the 5-hydroxytriptamine (5-HT) system (Kirby et al., 1995; Graeff et al., 1996; Cryan et al., 2005; Savitz et al., 2009; O'Leary and Cryan, 2010). The majority of 5-HT neurons are located in the dorsal and median raphé nucleus in the brainstem (Graeff et al., 1996; Michelsen et al., 2007). Projections from these neurons innervate several structures of the limbic system, including the amygdala and hippocampus, and it has been described that through these projections the 5-HT system regulates the fight or flight reaction to stress (Graeff et al., 1996; Michelsen et al., 2007), by a region-specific release of 5-HT (Kreiss and Lucki, 1994; Kirby et al., 1995; Graeff et al., 1996).

There are 14 types of 5-HT receptors, divided into seven families, with different subtypes identified by letters (A-F in the case of 5-HT₁ receptors; Hoyer et al., 1994; Barnes and Sharp, 1999; Bockaert et al., 2010). One of these receptors is 5-HT_{1A}, a G protein-coupled receptor that has been described to play an important role in the development of psychiatric disorders (Bowen et al., 1989; López et al., 1998; Drevets et al., 1999; Gross et al., 2002; Savitz et al., 2009). The 5-HT_{1A} receptor is predominantly a somatodendritic autoreceptor in the neurons of the raphé nucleus regulating the amount of 5-HT released and therefore serotonergic activity in the different projection areas (Blier and de Montigny, 1987; Hutson et al., 1989; Hjorth and Sharp, 1991; Kreiss and Lucki, 1994; Savitz et al., 2009). Also, 5-HT_{1A} receptor expression has been described in forebrain areas (Chalmers and Watson, 1991; Pompeiano et al., 1992; Cryan et al., 2005; Savitz et al., 2009) including the hippocampus and amygdala, structures involved in learning, control of emotions, memory and fear related information (Vizi and Kiss, 1998; Nestler et al., 2002; LeDoux, 2007).

Alterations in 5-HT_{1A} receptor function have been related to mood disorders, as imaging analysis shows that depressive patients have reduced 5-HT_{1A} receptor binding (Drevets et al., 1999; Sargent et al., 2000) as well as blunted responses to 5-HT_{1A} receptor agonists (Lesch et al., 1990a,b).

Another component of the 5-HT system is the serotonin transporter (SERT), a presynaptic protein involved in the termination of the serotonergic signal through the reuptake of 5-HT from the synapse (Blakely et al., 2005). In the pharmacological treatment of depression, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) have been widely used (Frazer, 1997). SSRIs can readily inhibit SERT activity and elevate the serotonergic tone in the brain. However, full therapeutic effects become apparent only after chronic SSRI use, suggesting that alterations in this transporter are highly relevant to the development and treatment of psychiatric disorders (Frazer and Benmansour, 2002).

Neonatal maternal separation (MS) is a well validated animal model of depression and increases anxiety resulting in behavioral alterations (Lippmann et al., 2007) and functional changes in the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis responsiveness in adulthood (Ladd et al., 1996; Schmidt et al., 2004; O'Mahony et al., 2009). In addition, MS animals have been reported to display alterations in their central corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF) system (Bravo et al., 2010; O'Malley et al., 2011), which is suggestive of an altered gene expression in key brain areas as result of early-life stress.

There is evidence suggesting an enhanced serotonergic response in animals subjected to MS, as there are differences in brain stem levels of 5-HT and its metabolite 5-hydroxyindole acetic acid (5-HIAA; O'Mahony et al., 2008), as well as increased responsiveness to the SSRI citalopram (Arborelius et al., 2004).Therefore, differences in central serotonergic modulation in adult rats subjected to early-life stress could arise as a result of altered 5-HT_{1A} receptor and SERT expression in areas of the brain involved in the control of emotions, memory, and fear as well as in areas controlling the central serotonergic tone. To test this, *in situ* hybridization was used to study topographical differences in 5-HT_{1A} receptor and SERT mRNA expression in the hippocampus, amygdala, and dorsal raphé nucleus (DRN) between MS and non-separated (NS) rats.

MATERIALS AND METHODS ANIMALS

Adult male Sprague–Dawley (SD) rats that underwent a MS protocol were used (n = 6 MS from three different litters and n = 6NS controls from three different litters). All animals were housed in standard conditions (room temperature of 21°C, with a 12 h light dark cycle) with access to regular chow and water *ad libitum*. Cages were cleaned once weekly to avoid excessive handling. Rats were of comparable weight (276–410 g) and age (11–13 weeks) at the moment of sacrifice All experimental procedures were carried out in accordance with the protocols approved by the Ethics Committee, at University College Cork, Cork, Ireland under a license issued from the Department of Health and Children (Cruelty to Animal Act 1876, Directive for the Protection of Vertebrate Animals used for Experimental and other Scientific Purposes [89/609/EEC]).

MATERNAL SEPARATION

Early-life stress procedure (Hyland et al., 2009; O'Mahony et al., 2009, 2010) was adapted from a previously described protocol (Wigger and Neumann, 1999). Briefly, the litters that were randomly assigned to undergo MS, were removed from the home cage and placed into a smaller cage on heating pads set at 30–33°C for 3 h (9.00–12.00 h). After that time, pups were returned to the original home cage in the main colony room. This procedure was repeated from postnatal day 2 (P2) to P12. Control, NS litters remained undisturbed except for routine cage cleaning performed once a week. At P21, pups were weaned and group-housed (3–5 per cage), and left undisturbed until adulthood (11–13 weeks). We have previously shown that this MS protocol induces an array of behavioral and physiological changes that are indicative of increased anxiety and altered HPA axis function (O'Mahony et al., 2009).

SACRIFICE AND IN SITU HYBRIDISATION

Animals were lightly anesthetized with isoflurane, and killed by decapitation. The brain was immediately extracted and snap frozen in isopentane kept cold with dry ice. The brains were stored at -80° C before being processed for *in situ* hybridisation.

The *in situ* hybridisation was carried out with oligodeoxynucleotide (cDNA) probes complementary to 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA (2107-2151 pb access number AF217200) and SERT mRNA (1719–1763 pb access number Y11024.1), labeled with a digoxigenin (DIG) oligonucleotide 3'-OH tailing kit (Roche, Molecular Biochemicals, Mannheim, Germany). The hybridisation was conducted as previously described (Bravo et al., 2009, 2010). Briefly, coronal brain sections of 10 µm thick were obtained from frozen brains and mounted on superfrost-plus glass slides (Menzel-Glaser, Menxel GmbH & Co., Germany). For hippocampus, four to five non-consecutive slices separated at least 100 μ m from each other, approximately from bregma -2.56 mm to bregma -3.6 mm were analyzed bilaterally. For the amygdala: bilateral analysis of four to five slices of tissue, separated at least 100 μ m from each other, approximately from bregma -1.80 mm to bregma -2.80 mm. In the case of the DRN at least three slices separated as a minimum as 100 µm from each other, approximately from bregma -7.64 mm to bregma -8.00 mm were obtained. These sections were post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde made in PBS for 30 min. Then the slides were permeabilized with proteinase K (0.5 mg/100 mL in TE buffer) and treated with acetic anhydride buffer. Next, the slides underwent dehydration through a series of ethanol dilutions (70, 95, and 100%) before being delipidated in chloroform for 5 min. The tissues were then rehydrated and placed in a humidity chamber with the hybridisation solution [formamide 50%, saline sodium citrate (SSC) buffer 4x, sheared salmon DNA 6.25 mg/mL, tRNA 125 µg/mL, and cDNA probe at fixed concentration of 100 pmol/mL for each probe] and incubated overnight at 37°C. After that, the sections were washed in ascending dilutions of SSC buffer (4, 2, 1, and 0.5x), and then equilibrated with maleic acid 0.1 M buffer before blocking for unspecific protein binding with Roche's blocking reagent (Roche, Molecular Biochemicals, Mannheim, Germany). After 30 min of blocking, the DIG molecules attached to the hybridized probes were detected with an anti DIG antibody,

conjugated with an alkaline phosphatase (Roche, Molecular Biochemicals, Mannheim, Germany). Finally, a substrate for the alkaline phosphatase (NBT/BCIP; Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) was added, and when a violet/blue precipitate was present on the tissues, the reaction was stopped. The slides were then left to air dry and cover-slips were mounted with DPX mounting media (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK). Once the mounting media was dry, pictures of the areas of interest were taken with an Olympus DP71 digital camera attached to an Olympus BX51 microscope (Olympus Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). Specificity of the hybridisation was evaluated by the use of 100-fold excess of the unlabelled oligodeoxynucleotide. For semiquantitative analysis, densitometric measurements of each hippocampal, amygdala, and DRN were analyzed using FujiFilm's Science Lab Multi Gauge v2.2 software (Fuji Photo Film Co., Ltd). All pictures were analyzed in gray scale and the value given by the software corresponds to the intensity of pixels (the darkest staining is the highest intensity; and the lightest staining the lowest intensity) in a given area (density of pixels). In the hippocampus, the hybridisation signal in the stratum radiatum was considered as background and was subtracted from the pixel density values obtained in the hippocampal cell layers. As for the amygdala, a small region between the analyzed areas was considered as background, and for the DRN a small region surrounding this structure was taken as background. For each animal the value represents the average from 4-5 non-consecutive brain sections (analyzed on both brain hemispheres for hippocampus and amygdala).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All the values are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Data were analyzed with a two tailed Student's *t*-test using GraphPad Prism 4 (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). Statistical significance was accepted at the level p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Signal for 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA was detected in the amygdala (**Figures 1D,E**), DRN (**Figures 2B,C**), and hippocampus (**Figures 3E,F**), and for SERT mRNA in the DRN (**Figures 4B,C**). The level of staining in each case allowed densitometric analysis. Negative controls were performed using an excess of unlabelled cDNA probe during the hybridisation stage (not shown).

5-HT_{1A} RECEPTOR mRNA EXPRESSION

Early-life stress significantly increased the levels of 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA in the basomedial amygdala (BMA; **Figure 1A**; NS vs. MS: 10.39 \pm 0.49 vs. 13.58 \pm 0.36; t(10) = 5.226, p < 0.001), basolateral amygdala (BLA; **Figure 1B**; NS vs. MS: 4.27 \pm 0.18 vs. 5.55 \pm 0.33; t(10) = 3.373, p < 0.01) and central amygdala (CeA; **Figure 1C**; NS vs. MS: 3.35 \pm 0.14 vs. 4.86 \pm 0.51; t(10) = 2.838, p < 0.05), and decreased the expression of this transcript in the DRN (**Figure 2A**; NS vs. MS: 25.85 \pm 1.49 vs. 18.87 \pm 1.1; t(10) = 3.804, p < 0.01) when compared to NS controls. However, densitometric analysis of the 5-HT_{1A} receptor transcript revealed no differences between MS and NS animals in any of the hippocampal layers (**Figure 3**).



FIGURE 1 | Continued

5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression in the amygdala. Maternal separation (MS) increases 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression in three different areas of the amygdala in comparison to non-separated (NS) animals. Graphical representations of the densitometric analysis in the basomedial amygdala (BMA; ***p < 0.001; **A**), basolateral amygdala (BLA; **p < 0.01; **B**), and central amygdala (CeA; *p < 0.05; **C**). Representative microphotographs of 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression in NS (**D**) and MS (**E**) animals (scale bar represents 1 mm; NS, n = 6 and MS, n = 6).



FIGURE 2 | 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression in the DRN. Maternal separation (MS) reduces 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression in the DRN in comparison to NS animals. Graphical representations of the densitometric analysis in the DRN (**p<0.01; **A**). Representative microphotographs of 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression in NS (**B**) and MS (**C**) animals (scale bar represents 500 μ m; NS, n = 6 and MS, n = 6).

SERT mRNA EXPRESSION

Maternal separation induced a significant reduction to the transcript for SERT in the DRN in comparison to NS rats (**Figure 4A**; NS vs. MS: 7.58 ± 0.43 vs. 5.38 ± 0.37 ; t(10) = 3.840, p < 0.01).

DISCUSSION

The present data shows that early-life stress affects gene expression in adulthood, contributing to inadequate stress responses and could therefore lead to the manifestation of stress-related psychiatric disorders. Similar alterations have been described for another neurotransmitter system (Bravo et al., 2010), which further suggest that early-life stress does affects CNS function. Although MS did not affect 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression in the hippocampus, a structure involved in memory and learning (Jacobson and Sapolsky, 1991; Vizi and Kiss, 1998), it increased its expression in three subregions of the amygdala, a structure related to the control of emotions and fear (LeDoux, 2007). In addition, MS reduced 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression in the DRN, the major source of serotonergic input to the forebrain which is involved in the control of the central serotonergic tone (Graeff et al., 1996). Also, early-life stress reduced the expression of SERT mRNA in the DRN, which could have an impact on the bioavailability of 5-HT in projection areas of the DRN. These alterations suggest that the behavioral, physiological and molecular deficits described for this animal model (Ladd et al., 1996; Schmidt et al., 2004; Lippmann et al., 2007; O'Mahony et al., 2009) could arise as a consequence of changes in gene expression in key brain regions involved in the development of stress-related psychiatric disorders.

Early-life stress, such as that induced by MS, physical, sexual and emotional abuse and general neglect during childhood, has been associated with serious psychiatric impairments in adulthood (MacMillan et al., 2001; Lupien et al., 2009). During postnatal development the brain undergoes a variety of adaptive changes that depend mostly on the type of stimuli being received (Schmidt et al., 2004). In rats there is a period of reduced stress responsiveness during the first 2 weeks of life (Sapolsky and Meaney, 1986) which can be disinhibited by prolonged MS (Schmidt et al., 2004; O'Mahony et al., 2009). These long periods of MS immediately impact brain gene expression, including the 5-HT_{1A} receptor. For example, Goodfellow et al. (2009) show that 5-HT_{1A} electrophysiological activity in the prefrontal cortex is enhanced in the first 2 to 3 postnatal weeks after MS (3 h a day from P2 to P14). Moreover, mRNA expression of the 5-HT_{1A} receptor in maternally separated animals is increased at postnatal day 9 (Goodfellow et al., 2009). However, when these animals reach adulthood (\geq P40), the electrophysiological effects mediated by the 5-HT_{1A} receptor are not different between maternally separated rats and their respective controls, and there is no difference in mRNA expression between rats subjected to early-life stress and control animals (Goodfellow et al., 2009). Nevertheless, exposure to social isolation stress reduces the 5-HT_{1A}-elicited electrophysiological activity in the prefrontal cortex of animals that were exposed to early-life stress, in comparison to control rats (Goodfellow et al., 2009), thus suggesting that early-life stress increases the susceptibility toward stress-related psychiatric disorders in adulthood.



We have previously described alterations in serotonin metabolism in MS rats (O'Mahony et al., 2008), and additionally, alterations in the central serotonergic system have also been described as a result of different MS procedures (Arborelius and Eklund, 2007; Oreland et al., 2009). Oreland et al. (2009) have shown that brief exposures to MS (15 min from P1 to P13) reduces brain stem expression of 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA (Oreland et al., 2009), a procedure that can also affect other neurotransmitter systems (Jaworski et al., 2005; Plotsky et al., 2005). This type of MS could be considered a more naturalistic stress as it mimics the natural rearing environment of rats, where the mother leaves her pups for short periods to forage (Arborelius et al., 2004; Arborelius and Eklund, 2007; Oreland et al., 2009). On the other hand, there is also evidence demonstrating that brief and long daily periods of MS do not affect 5-HT1A receptor and SERT mRNA expression (Arborelius et al., 2004), and furthermore, it has been shown that long periods of daily MS are more effective in producing changes in behavior and alterations in biomarkers associated to stressrelated psychiatric disorders (Lippmann et al., 2007; O'Mahony et al., 2009; Bravo et al., 2010). Our previous studies demonstrated that a protocol consisting of 3 h of MS from P2 to P12 produces an increase in corticosterone levels (O'Mahony et al., 2009) and an increase in serotonin turnover (O'Mahony et al., 2008). However, quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR) revealed no differences in the expression of 5-HT_{1A} receptor and SERT transcripts in complete brainstem homogenates of MS animals in comparison to NS rats (O'Mahony et al., 2008). Whilst qRT-PCR is a sensitive technique used to assess gene expression, is also a crude method which dilutes any localized changes in gene expression that might occur as a result of early-life stress. Therefore, the present findings corroborate that alterations in serotonin metabolism, induced by MS (O'Mahony et al., 2008), can be consequence of changes in



(MS) reduces SERT mRNA expression in the DRN. Maternal separation (MS) reduces SERT mRNA expression in the DRN in comparison to NS animals. Graphical representations of the densitometric analysis in the DRN (**p < 0.01; **A**). Representative microphotographs of SERT mRNA expression in NS (**B**) and MS (**C**) animals (scale bar represents 500 μ m; NS, n = 6 and MS, n = 6).

gene expression within the DRN. However, it is important to note that the present observations only represent changes at the mRNA level and not protein, and they could be just a reflection of a more complex situation involving other neurotransmitter systems (Bravo et al., 2010) and a variety of intracellular cascades that can affect the expression of these transcripts in the different studied areas.

Maternal separation affected the expression of 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA in the amygdala. The transcript for this receptor has been described in the rat BMA (Chalmers and Watson, 1991;

Pompeiano et al., 1992), and binding of radio labeled 5-HT_{1A} receptor antagonists has been shown in the BLA and CeA (Vicentic et al., 2006). In the present study, early-life stress increased the levels of the transcript for 5-HT_{1A} receptor in the BMA, and also in the BLA and CeA, although in these areas the level of transcript was much lower than in the BMA. It has been shown that activation of 5-HT_{1A} receptors within the amygdala using the agonist 8-Hydroxy-2-(dipropylamino)tetralin (8-OH-DPAT) reduces the levels of social interaction of male rats (Gonzalez et al., 1996), demonstrating that 5-HT_{1A} activation in the amygdala of rats mediates anxiogenic effects. Moreover, and in line with the present findings, Vicentic et al. (2006) showed that non-handled rats (similar to our NS condition) have lower binding capacity of the 5-HT_{1A} receptor antagonist 4-(2'-methoxyphenyl)-1-[2'-[N-(2"-pyridinyl)-p-iodobenzamido] ethylpiperazine (pMPPI) in the BMA and BLA in comparison to MS animals. Therefore, the increase in 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA expression within the amygdala of MS rats could account for some of the behavioral changes observed by Lippmann et al. (2007), where MS reduced locomotor activity, increased acoustic startle and also affects HPA axis responsiveness in adulthood (Ladd et al., 2005; Lippmann et al., 2007; O'Mahony et al., 2009).

In contrast to the increased expression of 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA in the amygdala, there were lower levels of $5-HT_{1A}$ receptor mRNA found in the DRN of MS rats in comparison to their controls. In this structure there is a high density of 5-HT_{1A} receptors (Blier and de Montigny, 1987; Hutson et al., 1989; Hjorth and Sharp, 1991; Kreiss and Lucki, 1994; Cryan et al., 2005; Savitz et al., 2009), and activation of these presynaptically located receptors decreases the firing frequency, 5-HT synthesis and release from these neurons (Blier and de Montigny, 1987; Sprouse and Aghajanian, 1987; Hjorth and Magnusson, 1988; Hutson et al., 1989; Sharp et al., 1989; Kreiss and Lucki, 1994; Cryan et al., 2005). In addition, 5-HT_{1A} receptor activation in the DRN has been shown to produce anxiolytic effects in different animal models (Andrews et al., 1994; Hogg and File, 1994; Jolas et al., 1995; Picazo et al., 1995; File et al., 1996; Remy et al., 1996; Romaniuk et al., 2001; Koprowska et al., 2002). The reduced levels of 5-HT1A receptor mRNA in the DRN of MS rats suggests an impaired regulation of the central serotonergic tone that could translate into inadequate behaviors toward stressful situations such as those observed by Lippmann et al. (2007). Moreover, we have previously shown that MS rats have altered 5-HT and 5-HIAA levels in the brain stem that clearly suggests an increased turnover of this neurotransmitter (O'Mahony et al., 2008). This could be a consequence of the lower 5-HT_{1A} receptor expression in the DRN, as a lower level of this receptor could impact on the frequency of discharge and/or synthesis and release of 5-HT and therefore affect the neurotransmitter's metabolism. In line with the previous suggestion, Ase et al. (2000) showed that 5-HT_{1A} receptor knock-out mice have increased 5-HT turnover. However, these animals show no differences in basal levels of 5-HT in forebrain areas (Ase et al., 2000; He et al., 2001; Knobelman et al., 2001) and in the DRN (Ase et al., 2000; Bortolozzi et al., 2004) in comparison to wild-type controls. These observations argue against a role of presynaptic $5-HT_{1A}$ receptors in the maintenance of the central serotonergic tone,

and therefore reveal the complexity of 5-HT neurotransmission regulation.

Another level of regulation to the central 5-HT neurotransmission involves SERT. The levels of SERT mRNA were lower in the DRN of MS rats in comparison to NS rats, which suggest that the reuptake of the neurotransmitter could be affected. The importance of this finding is that changes in SERT expression have been related to psychiatric disorders. For instance, during treatment with SSRIs, the most widely prescribed antidepressants (Frazer, 1997), SERT gets downregulated, which seems to correlate with the efficacy of the treatment (Benmansour et al., 1999, 2002; Frazer and Benmansour, 2002; Gould et al., 2003; Thakker et al., 2004, 2005). However, SERT deficient mice display anxiety- and depression-like behaviors (Holmes et al., 2002; Lira et al., 2003), which suggest that the absence of this gene from early developmental stages affects the ability to cope with stressful situations throughout life. In addition, animals treated during early development with SSRIs also display altered behaviors in adulthood (Mirmiran et al., 1981; Vogel et al., 1990), as the antidepressant would down regulate SERT in early-life. Moreover, downregulation of SERT in adult animals resembles the effects of antidepressant treatment (Thakker et al., 2004, 2005), further highlighting an important role of SERT in the development of the serotonergic system during early-life. In the present study, the reduction in SERT mRNA expression in the DRN not only could affect local serotonin levels (and perhaps its turnover), but it could also impact the adequate development of the serotonergic system and therefore affect the ability to cope with stress. In addition, the reduction in SERT mRNA indicates an alteration that is in line with clinical findings. Individuals with a short allele for SERT, that reduce the efficiency of the gene's transcription, showed more depressive symptoms in relation to stressful events than individuals with the long version of the allele (Caspi et al., 2003), and therefore are at a higher risk of developing psychiatric disorders such as depression.

In summary, the present findings, along with previous observations on other neuronal systems (Bravo et al., 2010) strongly suggest that early-life stress permanently affects gene expression in the CNS. These changes in 5-HT_{1A} receptor and SERT mRNA reflect alterations in a neurotransmitter system that has been extensively related to the development of mood disorders. Moreover, these changes were observed in key brain areas related to the behavioral response to stress. Therefore, these data helps to understand how early-life stress contributes to the development of mood disorders later in life.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Javier A. Bravo, Timothy G. Dinan and John F. Cryan designed research; Javier A. Bravo performed research and acquired data; Javier A. Bravo, Timothy G. Dinan and John F. Cryan interpreted and analyzed data; and Javier A. Bravo, Timothy G. Dinan and John F. Cryan drafted, revised and wrote the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Drs. Gerard Clarke, Marcela Julio-Pieper, and Mr. Patrick Fitzgerald for their technical assistance. Javier A. Bravo is supported by a grant from the Vicerrectoría de Investigación y Estudios Avanzados from the Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso (Grant No. 037.499/2013). John F. Cryan and Timothy G. Dinan are supported in part by Science Foundation Ireland in the form of a Centre Grant (Alimentary Pharmabiotic Centre). The centre is also funded by GlaxoSmithKline.

REFERENCES

- Andrews, N., Hogg, S., Gonzalez, L. E., and File, S. E. (1994). 5-HT_{1A} receptors in the median raphe nucleus and dorsal hippocampus may mediate anxiolytic and anxiogenic behaviours respectively. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 264, 259–264. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999(94)00473-0
- Arborelius, L., and Eklund, M. B. (2007). Both long and brief maternal separation produces persistent changes in tissue levels of brain monoamines in middle-aged female rats. *Neuroscience* 145, 738–750. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.12.007
- Arborelius, L., Hawks, B. W., Owens, M. J., Plotsky, P. M., and Nemeroff, C. B. (2004). Increased responsiveness of presumed 5-HT cells to citalopram in adult rats subjected to prolonged maternal separation relative to brief separation. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 176, 248–255. doi: 10.1007/s00213-004-1883-x
- Ase, A. R., Reader, T. A., Hen, R., Riad, M., and Descarries, L. (2000). Altered serotonin and dopamine metabolism in the CNS of serotonin 5-HT(1A) or 5-HT(1B) receptor knockout mice. J. Neurochem. 75, 2415–2426. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.0752415.x
- Barker, D. J. (1995). Fetal origins of coronary heart disease. *BMJ* 311, 171–174. doi: 10.1136/bmj.311.6998.171
- Barnes, N. M., and Sharp, T. (1999). A review of central 5-HT receptors and their function. *Neuropharmacology* 38, 1083–1152. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(99)00010-6
- Benmansour, S., Cecchi, M., Morilak, D. A., Gerhardt, G. A., Javors, M. A., Gould, G. G., et al. (1999). Effects of chronic antidepressant treatments on serotonin transporter function, density, and mRNA level. J. Neurosci. 19, 10494–10501.
- Benmansour, S., Owens, W. A., Cecchi, M., Morilak, D. A., and Frazer, A. (2002). Serotonin clearance in vivo is altered to a greater extent by antidepressant-induced downregulation of the serotonin transporter than by acute blockade of this transporter. J. Neurosci. 22, 6766–6772.
- Blakely, R. D., Defelice, L. J., and Galli, A. (2005). Biogenic amine neurotransmitter transporters: just when you thought you knew them. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 20, 225–231. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00013.2005
- Blier, P., and de Montigny, C. (1987). Modification of 5-HT neuron properties by sustained administration of the 5-HT_{1A} agonist gepirone: electrophysiological studies in the rat brain. *Synapse* 1, 470–480. doi: 10.1002/syn.890010511
- Bockaert, J., Claeysen, S., Dumuis, A., and Marin, P. (2010). "Classification and signaling characteristics of 5-HT receptors," in *Handbook of the Behavioral Neurobiology of Serotonin*, 1st Edn, eds C. Müller and B. L. Jacobs (London: Academic Press), 103–121.
- Bortolozzi, A., Amargos-Bosch, M., Toth, M., Artigas, F., and Adell, A. (2004). In vivo efflux of serotonin in the dorsal raphe nucleus of 5-HT_{1A} receptor knockout mice. *J. Neurochem.* 88, 1373–1379. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.02267.x
- Bowen, D. M., Najlerahim, A., Procter, A. W., Francis, P. T., and Murphy, E. (1989). Circumscribed changes of the cerebral cortex in neuropsychiatric disorders of later life. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 9504–9508. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.23.9504
- Bravo, J. A., Diaz-Veliz, G., Mora, S., Ulloa, J. L., Berthoud, V. M., Morales, P., et al. (2009). Desipramine prevents stress-induced changes in depressive-like behavior and hippocampal markers of neuroprotection. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 20, 273–285. doi: 10.1097/FBP.0b013e32832c70d9
- Bravo, J. A., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2010). Alterations in the central CRF system of two different rat models of comorbid depression and functional gastrointestinal disorders. *Int. J. Neuropshycopharmacol.* 14, 666–683. doi: 10.1017/S1461145710000994
- Caspi, A., Sugden, K., Moffitt, T. E., Taylor, A., Craig, I. W., Harrington, H., et al. (2003). Influence of life stress on depression: moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. *Science* 301, 386–389. doi: 10.1126/science.1083968
- Cryan, J. F., Valentino, R. J., and Lucki, I. (2005). Assessing substrates underlying the behavioral effects of antidepressants using the modified rat forced swimming test. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 29, 547–569. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.03.008
- Chalmers, D. T., and Watson, S. J. (1991). Comparative anatomical distribution of 5-HT_{1A} receptor mRNA and 5-HT_{1A} binding in rat brain–a combined in situ

hybridisation/in vitro receptor autoradiographic study. *Brain Res.* 561, 51–60. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(91)90748-K

- Drevets, W. C., Frank, E., Price, J. C., Kupfer, D. J., Holt, D., Greer, P. J., et al. (1999). PET imaging of serotonin 1A receptor binding in depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 46, 1375–1387. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00189-4
- File, S. E., Gonzalez, L. E., and Andrews, N. (1996). Comparative study of pre- and postsynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptor modulation of anxiety in two ethological animal tests. *J. Neurosci.* 16, 4810–4815.
- Frazer, A. (1997). Antidepressants. J. Clin. Psychiatry 58(Suppl. 6), 9-25.
- Frazer, A., and Benmansour, S. (2002). Delayed pharmacological effects of antidepressants. *Mol. Psychiatry* 7(Suppl. 1), S23–S28. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001015
- Gonzalez, L. E., Andrews, N., and File, S. E. (1996). 5-HT_{1A} and benzodiazepine receptors in the basolateral amygdala modulate anxiety in the social interaction test, but not in the elevated plus-maze. *Brain Res.* 732, 145–153. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(96)00517-3
- Goodfellow, N. M., Benekareddy, M., Vaidya, V. A., and Lambe, E. K. (2009). Layer II/III of the prefrontal cortex: inhibition by the serotonin 5-HT_{1A} receptor in development and stress. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 10094–10103. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1960-09.2009
- Gould, G. G., Pardon, M. C., Morilak, D. A., and Frazer, A. (2003). Regulatory effects of reboxetine treatment alone, or following paroxetine treatment, on brain noradrenergic and serotonergic systems. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 28, 1633– 1641. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300236
- Graeff, F. G., Guimaraes, F. S., De Andrade, T. G., and Deakin, J. F. (1996). Role of 5-HT in stress, anxiety, and depression. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 54, 129–141. doi: 10.1016/0091-3057(95)02135-3
- Gross, C., Zhuang, X., Stark, K., Ramboz, S., Oosting, R., Kirby, L., et al. (2002). Serotonin1A receptor acts during development to establish normal anxiety-like behaviour in the adult. *Nature* 416, 396–400. doi: 10.1038/416396a
- He, M., Sibille, E., Benjamin, D., Toth, M., and Shippenberg, T. (2001). Differential effects of 5-HT_{1A} receptor deletion upon basal and fluoxetine-evoked 5-HT concentrations as revealed by in vivo microdialysis. *Brain Res.* 902, 11–17. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(01)02271-5
- Hjorth, S., and Magnusson, T. (1988). The 5-HT 1A receptor agonist, 8-OH-DPAT, preferentially activates cell body 5-HT autoreceptors in rat brain in vivo. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 338, 463–471. doi: 10.1007/BF00179315
- Hjorth, S., and Sharp, T. (1991). Effect of the 5-HT_{1A} receptor agonist 8-OH-DPAT on the release of 5-HT in dorsal and median raphe-innervated rat brain regions as measured by in vivo microdialysis. *Life Sci.* 48, 1779–1786. doi: 10.1016/0024-3205(91)90216-X
- Hogg, S., and File, S. E. (1994). Regional differences in rat benzodiazepine binding in response to novelty and cat odour. *Neuropharmacology* 33, 865–868. doi: 10.1016/0028-3908(94)90183-X
- Holmes, A., Yang, R. J., Murphy, D. L., and Crawley, J. N. (2002). Evaluation of antidepressant-related behavioral responses in mice lacking the serotonin transporter. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 27, 914–923. doi: 10.1016/ S0893-133X(02)00374-3
- Hoyer, D., Clarke, D. E., Fozard, J. R., Hartig, P. R., Martin, G. R., Mylecharane, E. J., et al. (1994). International Union of Pharmacology classification of receptors for 5-hydroxytryptamine (Serotonin). *Pharmacol. Rev.* 46, 157–203.
- Hutson, P. H., Sarna, G. S., O'Connell, M. T., and Curzon, G. (1989). Hippocampal 5-HT synthesis and release in vivo is decreased by infusion of 8-OHDPAT into the nucleus raphe dorsalis. *Neurosci. Lett.* 100, 276–280. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(89)90698-8
- Hyland, N. P., Julio-Pieper, M., O'Mahony, S. M., Bulmer, D. C., Lee, K., Quigley, E. M., et al. (2009). A distinct subset of submucosal mast cells undergoes hyperplasia following neonatal maternal separation: a role in visceral hypersensitivity? *Gut* 58, 1029–1030; author reply 1030–1021. doi: 10.1136/gut.2008. 167882
- Jacobson, L., and Sapolsky, R. (1991). The role of the hippocampus in feedback regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. *Endocr. Rev.* 12, 118–134. doi: 10.1210/edrv-12-2-118
- Jaworski, J. N., Francis, D. D., Brommer, C. L., Morgan, E. T., and Kuhar, M. J. (2005). Effects of early maternal separation on ethanol intake, GABA receptors and metabolizing enzymes in adult rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 181, 8–15. doi: 10.1007/s00213-005-2232-4
- Jolas, T., Schreiber, R., Laporte, A. M., Chastanet, M., De Vry, J., Glaser, T., et al. (1995). Are postsynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors involved in the anxiolytic effects

of 5-HT_{1A} receptor agonists and in their inhibitory effects on the firing of serotonergic neurons in the rat? J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 272, 920–929.

- Kirby, L. G., Allen, A. R., and Lucki, I. (1995). Regional differences in the effects of forced swimming on extracellular levels of 5-hydroxytryptamine and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid. *Brain Res.* 682, 189–196. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(95)00349-U
- Knobelman, D. A., Hen, R., Blendy, J. A., and Lucki, I. (2001). Regional patterns of compensation following genetic deletion of either 5-hydroxytryptamine(1A) or 5-hydroxytryptamine(1B) receptor in the mouse. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 298, 1092–1100.
- Koprowska, M., Krotewicz, M., Romaniuk, A., Strzelczuk, M., and Wieczorek, M. (2002). Fear behavior and regional brain monoamines distribution after R(+)-8-OHDPAT and R(+)-UH-301 injections into the dorsal raphe nucleus in rats. *Acta Neurobiol. Exp. (Wars)* 62, 63–74.
- Kreiss, D. S., and Lucki, I. (1994). Differential regulation of serotonin (5-HT) release in the striatum and hippocampus by 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptors of the dorsal and median raphe nuclei. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 269, 1268–1279.
- Ladd, C. O., Owens, M. J., and Nemeroff, C. B. (1996). Persistent changes in corticotropin-releasing factor neuronal systems induced by maternal deprivation. *Endocrinology* 137, 1212–1218. doi: 10.1210/en.137.4.1212
- Ladd, C. O., Thrivikraman, K. V., Huot, R. L., and Plotsky, P. M. (2005). Differential neuroendocrine responses to chronic variable stress in adult Long Evans rats exposed to handling-maternal separation as neonates. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 30, 520–533. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2004.12.004
- LeDoux, J. (2007). The amygdala. Curr. Biol. 17, R868–R874. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2007.08.005
- Lesch, K. P., Mayer, S., Disselkamp-Tietze, J., Hoh, A., Wiesmann, M., Osterheider, M., et al. (1990a). 5-HT_{1A} receptor responsivity in unipolar depression. Evaluation of ipsapirone-induced ACTH and cortisol secretion in patients and controls. *Biol. Psychiatry* 28, 620–628. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(90)90400-V
- Lesch, K. P., Poten, B., Sohnle, K., and Schulte, H. M. (1990b). Pharmacology of the hypothermic response to 5-HT_{1A} receptor activation in humans. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 39, 17–19. doi: 10.1007/BF02657050
- Lippmann, M., Bress, A., Nemeroff, C. B., Plotsky, P. M., and Monteggia, L. M. (2007). Long-term behavioural and molecular alterations associated with maternal separation in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 25, 3091–3098. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05522.x
- Lira, A., Zhou, M., Castanon, N., Ansorge, M. S., Gordon, J. A., Francis, J. H., et al. (2003). Altered depression-related behaviors and functional changes in the dorsal raphe nucleus of serotonin transporter-deficient mice. *Biol. Psychiatry* 54, 960–971. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00696-6
- López, J. F., Chalmers, D. T., Little, K. Y., and Watson, S. J. (1998). A.E. Bennett Research Award. Regulation of serotonin1A, glucocorticoid, and mineralocorticoid receptor in rat and human hippocampus: implications for the neurobiology of depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 43, 547–573. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(97)00484-8
- Lupien, S. J., Mcewen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., and Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10, 434–445. doi: 10.1038/nrn2639
- MacMillan, H. L., Fleming, J. E., Streiner, D. L., Lin, E., Boyle, M. H., Jamieson, E., et al. (2001). Childhood abuse and lifetime psychopathology in a community sample. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 158, 1878–1883. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.158.11.1878
- Mathews, H. L., and Janusek, L. W. (2011). Epigenetics and psychoneuroimmunology: mechanisms and models. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, 25–39. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2010.08.009
- Michelsen, K. A., Schmitz, C., and Steinbusch, H. W. (2007). The dorsal raphe nucleus–from silver stainings to a role in depression. *Brain Res. Rev.* 55, 329–342. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.01.002
- Mirmiran, M., Van De Poll, N. E., Corner, M. A., Van Oyen, H. G., and Bour, H. L. (1981). Suppression of active sleep by chronic treatment with chlorimipramine during early postnatal development: effects upon adult sleep and behavior in the rat. *Brain Res.* 204, 129–146. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(81)90657-0
- Nestler, E. J., Barrot, M., Dileone, R. J., Eisch, A. J., Gold, S. J., and Monteggia, L. M. (2002). Neurobiology of depression. *Neuron* 34, 13–25. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00653-0
- O'Leary, O. F., and Cryan, J. F. (2010). "The behavioral genetics of serotonin: relevance to anxiety and depression," in *Handbook of the Behavioral Neurobiology* of Serotonin, 1st Edn, eds C. Müller and B. L. Jacobs (London: Academic Press), 749–789.

- O'Mahony, C. M., Bravo, J. A., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2010). Comparison of hippocampal metabotropic glutamate receptor 7 (mGlu7) mRNA levels in two animal models of depression. *Neurosci. Lett.* 482, 137–141. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.07.018
- O'Mahony, S., Chua, A. S., Quigley, E. M., Clarke, G., Shanahan, F., Keeling, P. W., et al. (2008). Evidence of an enhanced central 5HT response in irritable bowel syndrome and in the rat maternal separation model. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 20, 680–688. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2007.01065.x
- O'Mahony, S. M., Marchesi, J. R., Scully, P., Codling, C., Ceolho, A. M., Quigley, E. M., et al. (2009). Early life stress alters behavior, immunity, and microbiota in rats: implications for irritable bowel syndrome and psychiatric illnesses. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, 263–267. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.06.026
- O'Malley, D., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2011). Neonatal maternal separation in the rat impacts on the stress responsivity of central corticotropin-releasing factor receptors in adulthood. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 214, 221–229. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-1885-9
- Oreland, S., Pickering, C., Gokturk, C., Oreland, L., Arborelius, L., and Nylander, I. (2009). Two repeated maternal separation procedures differentially affect brain 5hydroxytryptamine transporter and receptors in young and adult male and female rats. *Brain Res.* 1305(Suppl.), S37–S49. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.08.069
- Picazo, O., Lopez-Rubalcava, C., and Fernandez-Guasti, A. (1995). Anxiolytic effect of the 5-HT_{1A} compounds 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino) tetralin and ipsapirone in the social interaction paradigm: evidence of a presynaptic action. *Brain Res. Bull.* 37, 169–175. doi: 10.1016/0361-9230(94)00273-4
- Plotsky, P. M., Thrivikraman, K. V., Nemeroff, C. B., Caldji, C., Sharma, S., and Meaney, M. J. (2005). Long-term consequences of neonatal rearing on central corticotropin-releasing factor systems in adult male rat offspring. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 30, 2192–2204. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300769
- Pompeiano, M., Palacios, J. M., and Mengod, G. (1992). Distribution and cellular localization of mRNA coding for 5-HT_{1A} receptor in the rat brain: correlation with receptor binding. *J. Neurosci.* 12, 440–453.
- Remy, S. M., Schreiber, R., Dalmus, M., and De Vry, J. (1996). Somatodendritic 5-HT_{1A} receptors are critically involved in the anxiolytic effects of 8-OH-DPAT. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 125, 89–91. doi: 10.1007/BF02247397
- Romaniuk, A., Koprowska, M., Krotewicz, M., Strzelczuk, M., and Wieczorek, M. (2001). Effects of 8-OHDPAT administration into the dorsal raphe nucleus and dorsal hippocampus on fear behavior and regional brain monoamines distribution in rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 120, 47–57. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(00)00357-0
- Romijn, H. J., Hofman, M. A., and Gramsbergen, A. (1991). At what age is the developing cerebral cortex of the rat comparable to that of the full-term newborn human baby? *Early Hum. Dev.* 26, 61–67. doi: 10.1016/0378-3782(91)90044-4
- Sapolsky, R. M., and Meaney, M. J. (1986). Maturation of the adrenocortical stress response: neuroendocrine control mechanisms and the stress hyporesponsive period. *Brain Res.* 396, 64–76. doi: 10.1016/0165-0173(86)90010-X
- Sargent, P. A., Kjaer, K. H., Bench, C. J., Rabiner, E. A., Messa, C., Meyer, J., et al. (2000). Brain serotonin_{1A} receptor binding measured by positron emission tomography with [11C]WAY-100635: effects of depression and antidepressant treatment. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 57, 174–180. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc. 57.2.174
- Savitz, J., Lucki, I., and Drevets, W. C. (2009). 5-HT(1A) receptor function in major depressive disorder. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 88, 17–31. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2009. 01.009

- Schmidt, M., Enthoven, L., Van Woezik, J. H., Levine, S., De Kloet, E. R., and Oitzl, M. S. (2004). The dynamics of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis during maternal deprivation. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 16, 52–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2004.01123.x
- Sharp, T., Bramwell, S. R., and Grahame-Smith, D. G. (1989). 5-HT1 agonists reduce 5-hydroxytryptamine release in rat hippocampus in vivo as determined by brain microdialysis. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 96, 283–290. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.1989.tb11815.x
- Sprouse, J. S., and Aghajanian, G. K. (1987). Electrophysiological responses of serotoninergic dorsal raphe neurons to 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} agonists. *Synapse* 1, 3–9. doi: 10.1002/syn.890010103
- Thakker, D. R., Natt, F., Husken, D., Maier, R., Muller, M., Van Der Putten, H., et al. (2004). Neurochemical and behavioral consequences of widespread gene knockdown in the adult mouse brain by using nonviral RNA interference. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 17270–17275. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0406214101
- Thakker, D. R., Natt, F., Husken, D., Van Der Putten, H., Maier, R., Hoyer, D., et al. (2005). siRNA-mediated knockdown of the serotonin transporter in the adult mouse brain. *Mol. Psychiatry* 10, 782–789, 714. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001715
- Vicentic, A., Francis, D., Moffett, M., Lakatos, A., Rogge, G., Hubert, G. W., et al. (2006). Maternal separation alters serotonergic transporter densities and serotonergic 1A receptors in rat brain. *Neuroscience* 140, 355–365. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.02.008
- Vizi, E. S., and Kiss, J. P. (1998). Neurochemistry and pharmacology of the major hippocampal transmitter systems: synaptic and nonsynaptic interactions. *Hippocampus* 8, 566–607. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1063(1998)8:6<566::AID-HIPO2>3.0.CO;2-W
- Vogel, G., Neill, D., Hagler, M., and Kors, D. (1990). A new animal model of endogenous depression: a summary of present findings. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 14, 85–91. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(05)80164-2
- Watson, R. E., Desesso, J. M., Hurtt, M. E., and Cappon, G. D. (2006). Postnatal growth and morphological development of the brain: a species comparison. *Birth Defects Res. B Dev. Reprod. Toxicol.* 77, 471–484. doi: 10.1002/bdrb.20090
- Wigger, A., and Neumann, I.D. (1999). Periodic maternal deprivation induces gender-dependent alterations in behavioral and neuroendocrine responses to emotional stress in adult rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 66, 293–302. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(98)00300-X

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 January 2014; accepted: 19 March 2014; published online: 10 April 2014. Citation: Bravo JA, Dinan TG and Cryan JF (2014) Early-life stress induces persistent alterations in 5-HT_{1A} receptor and serotonin transporter mRNA expression in the adult rat brain. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 7:24. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2014.00024

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience. Copyright © 2014 Bravo, Dinan and Cryan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Alteration of somatosensory response in adulthood by early life stress

Yusuke Takatsuru* and Noriyuki Koibuchi

Department of Integrative Physiology, Graduate School of Medicine, Gunma University, Maebashi, Japan

Early life stress is well-known as a critical risk factor for mental and cognitive disorders in adulthood. Such disorders are accompanied by altered neuro- (synapto-) genesis and gene expression. Because psychosomatic disorders induced by early life stress (e.g., physical and/or sexual abuse, and neglect) have become a socio-economic problem, it is very important to clarify the mechanisms underlying these changes. However, despite of intensive clinical and animal studies, such mechanisms have not yet been clarified. Although the disturbance of glucocorticoid and glutamate homeostasis by stress has been well-documented, it has not yet been clarified whether such disturbance by early life stress persists for life. Furthermore, since previous studies have focused on the detection of changes in specific brain regions, such as the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, it has not been clarified whether early life stress induced changes in the sensory/motor system. Thus, in this review, we introduce recent studies on functional/structural changes in the somatosensory cortex induced by early life stress. We believe that this review provides new insights into the functional alteration of the somatosensory system induced by early life stress. Such information may have clinical relevance in terms of providing effective therapeutic interventions to early life stressed individuals.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiao-Dong Wang, Zhejiang University, China

Reviewed by: Fabrizio Gardoni, University of Milan, Italy Boldizsar Czeh, University of Pécs, Hungary

*Correspondence:

Yusuke Takatsuru, Department of Integrative Physiology, Graduate School of Medicine, Gunma University, Maebashi, Gunma 371-8511, Japan takatsur@gunma-u.ac.jp

> **Received:** 09 March 2015 **Accepted:** 05 May 2015 **Published:** 19 May 2015

Citation:

Takatsuru Y and Koibuchi N (2015) Alteration of somatosensory response in adulthood by early life stress. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 8:15. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00015 Keywords: maternal deprivation, in vivo imaging, in vivo microdialysis, glutamate reseptor, spine

Introduction

Early life stress during the perinatal period induces functional and anatomical changes in the brain. Unfortunately, some of such changes persist in adulthood. Clinical studies have shown that early life stress during childhood persistently impairs cognitive and emotional functions, sometimes until adulthood (Chugani et al., 2001; Nelson et al., 2007; Gatt et al., 2009; Mueller et al., 2010; Gershon et al., 2013; Pesonen et al., 2013). Stress-induced alterations of neuronal activity and stress-related hormone secretion may affect neurological development such as dendrite arborization, synaptogenesis, and spine formation (McEwen, 1999; Vyas et al., 2002; Liston et al., 2006). These perinatal stress-induced morphological changes may alter the brain function throughout life (Romeo and McEwen, 2006; Shair, 2007; Gershon et al., 2013). However, it has not yet been clarified how the type, intensity and duration of stress affect different brain regions with different persistence (Romeo and McEwen, 2006). For example, although it has been well-known since several decades ago that acute stress disturbs glutamate and/or corticosterone homeostasis (Moghaddam, 1993; Moghaddam et al., 1994), it has not yet been clarified whether such a glutamate/corticosterone disturbance persists for a long time in a region- and temporal-specific manner after early life stress exposure (Popoli et al., 2011).

To study the effect of early life stress, various animal models have been introduced with their potential applications in humans (Shair, 2007). In these models, early life stress induces various disorders in adulthood, e.g., an enhancement of anxiety-related behaviors (Wigger and Neumann, 1999; Parfitt et al., 2004; Slotten et al., 2006; Shair, 2007). Such behavioral alteration is partly induced by structural changes of hippocampal neurons and changes in the rate of release of several neurotransmitters/hormones in this region (Brunson et al., 2005; Aisa et al., 2007; Oomen et al., 2010). The electrophysiological changes are also detected in the hippocampus of aged animals (Sousa et al., 2014). Early life stressed rodents also show neuronal changes such as those in synaptic spine density in the infralimbic cortex (Ovtscharoff and Braun, 2001). Early life stress also affects the expression levels of α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid (AMPA) receptor by suppressing the function of Ca²⁺ calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase type II (CaMKII) in the barrel cortex (Miyazaki et al., 2012). These findings indicate that early life stress during the perinatal period affects the brain function/structure in various brain regions. However, most studies have been performed focusing in several specific brain regions such as the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (Wigger and Neumann, 1999; Parfitt et al., 2004; Slotten et al., 2006; Shair, 2007; Miyazaki et al., 2012). Thus, it has not yet been clarified whether early life stress disrupts the somatosensory function.

In this review, we discuss the effect of early life stress on somatosensory function by introducing our recent studies. Most of the results were obtained by *in vivo* studies such as *in vivo* imaging using two- (multi-) photon laser microscopy and freemoving *in vivo* microdialysis. This review may provide novel insights into the functional alterations of the somatosensory system induced by early life stress. Such information may be useful in terms of providing effective therapeutic interventions to early life stressed individuals.

Persistent Alteration of Synaptic Turnover in the Somatosensory Cortex in Early Life Stressed Mice

Effects of early life stress can be seen in various brain regions. Such effects are observed as changes in synaptic spine density, synaptic turnover rate, electrophysiological properties, neurotransmitters release or expression levels of neuronal and glial proteins. However, it is difficult to identify specific regions affected by a specific early life stress. Even if a particular neuropsychological phenotype is observed, it may still be difficult to identify the affected brain regions, because of the complexity of the mechanisms underlying these changes. In the hippocampus, for example, early life stress alters the spine density and dendritic outgrowth of pyramidal neurons (Magarinos and McEwen, 1995; Pawlak et al., 2005; Monroy et al., 2010; Magarinos et al., 2011), with the change in the expression levels of proteins such as neurotrophic factors and transcription factors (Lippmann et al., 2007; Nair et al., 2007; Kawano et al., 2008; Magarinos et al., 2011; Horii-Hayashi et al., 2013; Suri et al., 2013; Dimatelis et al., 2014). Such an alteration may lead to impaired memory acquisition and cognitive function (Huot et al., 2002; Aisa et al., 2007; Fabricius et al., 2008; Suri et al., 2013; Connors et al., 2015). However, involvement of other brain region cannot be excluded. On the other hand, the somatosensory cortex receives sensory information such as pain, temperature, and pressure, integrates them to identify the object (Haggard, 2006). Its disorder produces difficulties in interpreting tactile information (Freund, 2003; Tinazzi et al., 2013). However, the effect of early life stress on somatosensory function has not yet been clarified. In the somatosensory cortex, the spine density is rather stable after early life stress compared with those in the hippocampus not only in juveniles but also in adults (Takatsuru et al., 2009a). Nevertheless, the nociceptive threshold is significantly decreased in early life stressed juvenile (4 weeks-old) and adult mice (12 weeksold; Takatsuru et al., 2009a). Electrophysiologically, the slope $(\mu V/ms)$ of field potential in layer II/III evoked by vibrotactile somatosensory simulation increases in early life stressed adult mice. Interestingly, these changes significantly correlate with the decrease in nociceptive threshold (Figure 1; Toya et al., 2014), indicating that somatosensory function is persistently altered by early life stress.

As discussed above, although the somatosensory response is altered by the change in electrophysiological properties, previous studies have shown slight morphological changes in the somatosensory cortex (Takatsuru et al., 2009a). To clarify further the mechanism inducing neurological alterations, it is necessary to apply additional techniques such as twophoton laser microscopy (Denk et al., 1990; Grutzendler et al., 2002; Trachtenberg et al., 2002). This technique enables us to examine dynamic changes in synaptic turnover rate and neuronal excitability during neuronal circuit remodeling (Takatsuru et al., 2009b).

In early life stressed mice, the turnover rate of mushroom spines, which usually maintain their structure for a long time (Grutzendler et al., 2002; Trachtenberg et al., 2002), is significantly increased in the somatosensory cortex in not only juvenile but also in adult mice (Takatsuru et al., 2009a). Because both of the gain and loss of spines occur simultaneously, the total number of spines is not markedly altered. However, two-photon microscopy enabled us to detect the persistent dynamic changes in synaptic turnover induced by early life stress. These findings indicate that early life stress destabilizes synaptic formation in the somatosensory cortex, resulting in the disturbance of somatosensory function.

Although we have shown the persistent increase in synaptic turnover rate in the somatosensory cortex induced by early life stress, the mechanisms underlying such an alteration have not yet been clarified. One possibility is the involvement of microglia. Recently, we have found the alteration of motility of microglia in early life stressed mice *in vivo* (Takatsuru et al., 2015). The motility of the filopodia-like processes is increased in early life stressed mice. Interestingly, the motility of the



processes negatively correlates with the somatosensory threshold (the motility is higher in the mice with a lower threshold). Furthermore, the number of processes is significantly increased in early life stressed mice after acute somatosensory stimulation and such an increase persists for several hours. The motility of microglia is changed by neuronal conditions as in the case of remodeling of synapses after a focal stroke (Wake et al., 2013). Because previous studies indicate that microglia may partly regulate synaptic formation by removing or 'stripping' synapses (Marín-Teva et al., 2004; Cullheim and Thams, 2007; Tremblay, 2011) and because the direct contact of microglial processes with spines has been observed (Wake et al., 2013), the activity of microglia increased by early life stress may contribute to the structural instability of spines in the somatosensory cortex. In a series of study, we have clarified that not only severe brain damage such as ischemia or inflammation, but also psychological stress such as maternal separation can produce persistent changes in microglial activity. However, early life stress factors activating microglia have not yet been clarified. In the next section, we will discuss several possible factors for such activation.

Persistent Alterations of Glutamate and Glucocorticoid Homeostasis in the Somatosensory Cortex Induced by Early Life Stress

Early life stress may induce alterations of neurotransmitters (Barbosa Neto et al., 2012; Martisova et al., 2012; Gunn et al., 2013) and neurotrophic factors in various brain regions (Lippmann et al., 2007; Nair et al., 2007; Kawano et al., 2008;

Magarinos et al., 2011; Horii-Hayashi et al., 2013; Suri et al., 2013; Dimatelis et al., 2014). Such alteration may produce changes in the structure of neural circuits, spine turnover rate, and/or microglial motility. Since many critical developmental events occur in the neonatal period, even weak environmental insults may produce irreversible alterations in organ homeostasis. Indeed, disruption of homeostasis of glucocorticoid release by administering excess amounts of corticosterone produces various abnormalities such as those in the number of spines, synaptic turnover rate, microglial motility, electrophysiological properties, and astrocyte function (Gunn et al., 2013). However, it has not yet been clarified whether such alterations occur in the somatosensory cortex. Detecting the concentration of a neurotransmitter such as glutamate or GABA in the cortex may reveal the mechanisms underlying the change in the turnover rate of mushroom spines. In vivo microdialysis is a potent technique to observe the neuronal transmitter release under intact condition although the spatial resolution is limited. This technique also enables local drug application, which is usually difficult due to the blood-brain barrier (Takatsuru et al., 2013). Using this technique, we have found that the concentration of glutamate is increased in early life stressed mice under freemoving condition (Figure 2; Toya et al., 2013, 2014). We have also reported that the homeostasis of coritcosterone is also affected by early life stress (Toya et al., 2014).

Corticosterone may play a protective role in neuronal circuits against stress (McEwen, 2000a,b). Glucocorticoids convert proteins and/or lipids into carbohydrates, which can be easily used for energy production. This conversion will serve the body well in the short run by replenishing energy reserves after a period of activity, as in a situation such as running away from



a predator (McEwen, 2000b). Glucocorticoids also increase the appetite for food and promote food-seeking behavior (Leibowitz and Hoebel, 1997). Thus, enhancement of corticosterone release

under acute stress potentially protects the body from stress. However, a long-term increase in corticosterone concentration induces dendritic atrophy in some brain regions (McEwen,



alterations induced by early life stress in the somatosensory cortex (Takatsuru et al., 2009a, 2015; Toya et al., 2014). (A) Increase in mushroom spine turnover rate without significant alteration of total number of spines, (B) increase in basal glutamate level and acute-stress-mediated increase in glutamate level, **(C)** increase in basal level of corticosterone without further increase under acute stress, and **(D)** increase in microglial motility. Although the involvement of astrocytes has not yet been clarified **(E)**, studies of other brain regions indicate their possible involvement (Gunn et al., 2013).

2000a) and thus, the concentration of corticosterone should be carefully controlled to maintain the homeostasis of body/brain functions. Furthermore, perinatal stress sometimes disrupts hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, resulting into persistent aberrant glucocorticoid secretion (Faturi et al., 2010; Koe et al., 2014; Nishi et al., 2014). Under such conditions, the protective role of glucocorticoids in neural circuits may be disrupted. Thus, an increased basal corticosterone concentration in the somatosensory cortex in early life stressed animals may be partly involved in inducing spine instability, glutamate secretion, and microglia motility. Disruption of glucocorticoid responses to acute stress may exacerbate such instability.

In early life stressed animals, the basal concentration of glutamate in the somatosensory cortex increases markedly (Toya et al., 2014). It has been well-known that the acute stress disrupts glutamate homeostasis (Moghaddam, 1993). However, it has not yet been clarified whether such disruption persists for life after early life stress in a specific brain region. Our study clearly demonstrated the increase in glutamate level in adulthood by early life stress in the somatosensory cortex. On the other hand, in control mice, the concentration of glutamate is rather stable after acute-stress application (Toya et al., 2014). This is probably due to the activation of glial cells that take up excess glutamate, thus preventing excitotoxity (Danbolt, 2001; Takayasu et al., 2009). In early life stressed mice, on the other hand, although the basal glutamate concentration is sixfold that in control mice, acute stress further increased the concentration of glutamate. Such a further increase lasts longer than 1 h after stimulation. These findings indicate the alteration of glutamate homeostasis by early life stress. However, the interaction between enhanced glutamate release and suppressed corticosterone response induced by acute stress early in life of mice has not yet been clarified.

Although the mechanisms inducing the persistently enhanced glutamate release in the somatosensory cortex induced by early life stress have not yet been fully understood, previous studies have provided several clues. Environmental stress enhances glutamate release and suppresses glial-cell-mediated glutamate cycling. Such changes affect synaptic transmission in the limbic/cortical areas (Sanacora et al., 2012). Early life stress also affects the structural organization, i.e., dendritic remodeling, reduction of synaptic spine formation, glial cell loss, and possibly volumetric reductions of several specific brain regions of the rodent brain (Sanacora et al., 2012). Acute exposure to stress or administration of glucocorticoids rapidly promotes glutamate release in the hippocampus and other brain regions (Lowy et al., 1993; Moghaddam, 1993; Reznikov et al., 2007). The glucocorticoid-receptor-mediated increase in the expression levels of presynaptic soluble N-ethylmaleimidesensitive factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE) protein complexes are induced in the presynaptic membrane in the prefrontal/frontal cortex by acute stress. SNARE then enhances the release of glutamate (Musazzi et al., 2010). The Rab4mediated recycling of NMDA and AMPA receptors from early endosomes is also enhanced in the prefrontal cortex (Yuen et al., 2009). Chronic stress also decreases the number of glial fibrillary acid protein (GFAP)-expressing cells and the

impaired clearance of synaptic glutamate through excitatory amino acid transporters in the prefrontal cortex (Banasr and Duman, 2008). Taken together, it is reasonable to speculate that early life stress may alter glucocorticoid homeostasis, and such an alteration may enhance glutamate release by stimulating the expression of proteins related to glutamate release and sensitivity. The activity of glial cells, which take up glutamate, may also be affected, inducing an increase in interstitial glutamate level.

On the basis of the findings mentioned above, we examined the involvement of glutamate receptor subunits of AMPA, NMDA, and metabotropic glutamate receptors after application of acute stress in early life stressed mice to clarify the underling mechanisms by Western blot analysis (Toya et al., 2013). However, protein levels of these subunits in the membrane fraction were not significantly different between the control and early life stressed animals before and after acute-stress application. Because we carried out only Western blot analysis, further study to determine the protein turnover rate by *in vivo* imaging may be required. Under the present condition, however, we were unable to detect the involvement of glutamate receptors in the alteration of somatosensory function induced by early life stress.

Summary and Perspectives

Figure 3 shows a summary of the effects of early life stress in the somatosensory cortex. We found the following; (A) Increase in mushroom spine turnover rate without significant alteration of the total number of spines, (B) Increase in basal level of corticosterone without further increase under acute stress, (C) Increase in basal and acute-stress-mediated glutamate levels, and (D) Increase in microglial motility. A combination of these alterations may have affected somatosensory function. Unfortunately, however, we failed to identify molecules involved in such alterations. One possible reason for the failure is that, although we detected a significant increase in synaptic turnover rate and microglial motility with a decreased somatosensory threshold and an increased electrophysiological activity, less than 10% of all spines were lost or gained. Thus, only a limited amount of molecules may be involved in such subtle changes. To detect such changes, Western blot analysis may not be a suitable technique. More sophisticated techniques such as detection of protein trafficking and/or protein expression at the single-cell level may be required. Nevertheless, our series of studies have demonstrated the persistent alteration of somatosensory function induced by early life stress with morphological/chemical alterations in the somatosensory cortex. Although the involvement of astrocytes has not yet been clarified, a previous study has shown that early life stress decreases glutamate uptake in the hypothalamus (Gunn et al., 2013). Thus, such a decrease may also be induced in the somatosensory cortex (Figure 3E). Trials to clarify the involvement of astrocytes are currently underway. However, as discussed above, the morphological/chemical changes in the somatosensory cortex are not always identical to those in other brain regions. Thus, more careful analysis may be required to examine the brain regionspecific effects of early life stress. In particularly, more attention should be paid to the change in somatosensory function in early life stressed humans, because only limited information is

References

- Aisa, B., Tordera, R., Lasheras, B., Del Río, J., and Ramírez, M. J. (2007). Cognitive impairment associated to HPA axis hyperactivity after maternal separation in rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 32, 256–266. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2006.12.013
- Banasr, M., and Duman, R. S. (2008). Glial loss in the prefrontal cortex is sufficient to induce depressive-like behaviors. *Biol. Psychiatry* 64, 863–870. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.06.008
- Barbosa Neto, J. B., Tiba, P. A., Faturi, C. B., de Castro-Neto, E. F., da Graça Naffah-Mazacoratti, M., de Jesus Mari, J., et al. (2012). Stress during development alters anxiety-like behavior and hippocampal neurotransmission in male and female rats. *Neuropharmacology* 62, 518–526. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.09.011
- Brunson, K. L., Kramár, E., Lin, B., Chen, Y., Colgin, L. L., Yanagihara, T. K., et al. (2005). Mechanisms of late-onset cognitive decline after early-life stress. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 9328–9338. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2281-05.2005
- Chugani, H. T., Behen, M. E., Muzik, O., Juhasz, C., Nagy, F., and Chugani, D. C. (2001). Local brain functional activity following early deprivation: a study of postinstitutionalized Romanian orphans. *Neuroimage* 14, 1290–1301. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.0917
- Connors, E. J., Migliore, M. M., Pillsbury, S. L., Shaik, A. N., and Kentner, A. C. (2015). Environmental enrichment models a naturalistic form of maternal separation and shapes the anxiety response patterns of offspring. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 52, 153–167. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.10.021
- Cullheim, S., and Thams, S. (2007). The microglial networks of the brain and their role in neuronal network plasticity after lesion. *Brain Res. Rev.* 55, 89–96. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.03.012
- Danbolt, N. C. (2001). Glutamate uptake. Prog. Neurobiol. 65, 1–105. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(00)00067-8
- Denk, W., Strickler, J. H., and Webb, W. W. (1990). Two-photon laser scanning fluorescence microscopy. *Science* 248, 73–76. doi: 10.1126/science.2321027
- Dimatelis, J. J., Russell, V. A., Stein, D. J., and Daniels, W. M. (2014). Methamphetamine reversed maternal separation-induced decrease in nerve growth factor in the ventral hippocampus. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 29, 433–439. doi: 10.1007/s11011-014-9481-z
- Fabricius, K., Wörtwein, G., and Pakkenberg, B. (2008). The impact of maternal separation on adult mouse behaviour and on the total neuron number in the mouse hippocampus. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 212, 403–416. doi: 10.1007/s00429-007-0169-6
- Faturi, C. B., Tiba, P. A., Kawakami, S. E., Catallani, B., Kerstens, M., and Suchecki, D. (2010). Disruptions of the mother-infant relationship and stressrelated behaviours: altered corticosterone secretion does not explain everything. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 34, 821–834. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.09.002
- Freund, H. J. (2003). Somatosensory and motor disturbances in patients with parietal lobe lesions. Adv. Neurol. 93, 179–193.
- Gatt, J. M., Nemeroff, C. B., Dobson-Stone, C., Paul, R. H., Bryant, R. A., Schofield, P. R., et al. (2009). Interactions between BDNF Val66Met polymorphism and early life stress predict brain and arousal pathways to syndromal depression and anxiety. *Mol. Psychiatry* 14, 681–695. doi: 10.1038/mp.2008.143
- Gershon, A., Sudheimer, K., Tirouvanziam, R., Williams, L. M., and O'Hara, R. (2013). The long-term impact of early adversity on late-life psychiatric disorders. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 15:352. doi: 10.1007/s11920-013-0352-9
- Grutzendler, J., Kasthuri, N., and Gan, W. B. (2002). Long-term dendritic spine stability in the adult cortex. *Nature* 420, 812–816. doi: 10.1038/nature01276
- Gunn, B. G., Cunningham, L., Cooper, M. A., Corteen, N. L., Seifi, M., Swinny, J. D., et al. (2013). Dysfunctional astrocytic and synaptic regulation of hypothalamic glutamatergic transmission in a mouse model of earlylife adversity: relevance to neurosteroids and programming of the stress response. J. Neurosci. 33, 19534–19554. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1337-13.2013

available at present. We believe that this review has provided an important clue to developing effective therapeutic interventions to prevent persistent somatosensory abnormalities induced by early life stress.

- Haggard, P. (2006). Sensory neuroscience: from skin to object in the somatosensory cortex. *Curr. Biol.* 16, R884–R886. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.09.024
- Horii-Hayashi, N., Sasagawa, T., Matsunaga, W., Matsusue, Y., Azuma, C., and Nishi, M. (2013). Developmental changes in desensitisation of c-Fos expression induced by repeated maternal separation in pre-weaned mice. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 25, 158–167. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2012.02377.x
- Huot, R. L., Plotsky, P. M., Lenox, R. H., and McNamara, R. K. (2002). Neonatal maternal separation reduces hippocampal mossy fiber density in adult Long Evans rats. *Brain Res.* 950, 52–63. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(02)02985-2
- Kawano, K., Morinobu, S., Sawada, T., Tsuji, S., Erabi, K., Fuchikami, M., et al. (2008). Prior neonatal isolation reduces induction of NGF mRNA and decreases GDNF mRNA in the hippocampus of juvenile and adult rodents subjected to immobilization stress. Synapse 62, 259–267. doi: 10.1002/syn.20487
- Koe, A. S., Salzberg, M. R., Morris, M. J., O'Brien, T. J., and Jones, N. C. (2014). Early life maternal separation stress augmentation of limbic epileptogenesis: the role of corticosterone and HPA axis programming. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 42, 124–133. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.01.009
- Leibowitz, S. F., and Hoebel, B. G. (1997). "Behavioral neuroscience of obesity," in *Handbook of Obesity*, Chap. 15, eds G. A. Bray, C. Bouchard, and W. P. T. James (New York, NY: Marcel Dekker), 313–358.
- Lippmann, M., Bress, A., Nemeroff, C. B., Plotsky, P. M., and Monteggia, L. M. (2007). Long-term behavioural and molecular alterations associated with maternal separation in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 25, 3091–3098. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05522.x
- Liston, C., Miller, M. M., Goldwater, D. S., Radley, J. J., Rocher, A. B., Hof, P. R., et al. (2006). Stress-induced alterations in prefrontal cortical dendritic morphology predict selective impairments in perceptual attentional setshifting. J. Neurosci. 26, 7870–7874. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1184-06.2006
- Lowy, M. T., Gault, L., and Yamamoto, B. K. (1993). Adrenalectomy attenuates stress-induced elevations in extracellular glutamate concentrations in the hippocampus. *J. Neurochem.* 61, 1957–1960. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1993.tb09839.x
- Magarinos, A. M., Li, C. J., Gal Toth, J., Bath, K. G., Jing, D., Lee, F. S., et al. (2011). Effect of brain-derived neurotrophic factor haploinsufficiency on stressinduced remodeling of hippocampal neurons. *Hippocampus* 21, 253–264. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20744
- Magarinos, A. M., and McEwen, B. S. (1995). Stress-induced atrophy of apical dendrites of hippocampal CA3c neurons: involvement of glucocorticoid secretion and excitatory amino acid receptors. *Neuroscience* 69, 89–98. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(95)00259-L
- Marín-Teva, J. L., Dusart, I., Colin, C., Gervais, A., van Rooijen, N., and Mallat, M. (2004). Microglia promote the death of developing Purkinje cells. *Neuron* 41, 535–547. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(04)00069-8
- Martisova, E., Solas, M., Horrillo, I., Ortega, J. E., Meana, J. J., Tordera, R. M., et al. (2012). Long lasting effects of early-life stress on glutamatergic/GABAergic circuitry in the rat hippocampus. *Neuropharmacology* 62, 1944–1953. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.12.019
- McEwen, B. S. (1999). Stress and hippocampal plasticity. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 22, 105–122. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.22.1.105
- McEwen, B. S. (2000a). The neurobiology of stress: from serendipity to clinical relevance. *Brain Res.* 886, 172–189. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(00)02950-4
- McEwen, B. S. (2000b). Allostasis and allostatic load: implications for neuropsychopharmacology. *Neuropsychipharmacology* 22, 108–124. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00129-3
- Miyazaki, T., Takase, K., Nakajima, W., Tada, H., Ohya, D., Sano, A., et al. (2012). Disrupted cortical function underlies behavior dysfunction due to social isolation. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 2690–2701. doi: 10.1172/JCI63060
- Moghaddam, B. (1993). Stress preferentially increases extraneuronal levels of excitatory amino acids in the prefrontal cortex: comparison to hippocampus and basal ganglia. J. Neurochem. 60, 1650–1657. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1993.tb13387.x

- Moghaddam, B., Bolinao, M. L., Stein-Behrens, B., and Sapolsky, R. (1994). Glucocorticoids mediate the stress-induced extracellular accumulation of glutamate. *Brain Res.* 655, 251–254. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(94)91622-5
- Monroy, E., Hernández-Torres, E., and Flores, G. (2010). Maternal separation disrupts dendritic morphology of neurons in prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and nucleus accumbens in male rat offspring. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 126, 497–505. doi: 10.1016/j.jchemneu.2010.05.005
- Mueller, S. C., Maheu, F. S., Dozier, M., Peloso, E., Mandell, D., Leibenluft, E., et al. (2010). Early-life stress is associated with impairment in cognitive control in adolescence: an fMRI study. *Neuropsychologia* 48, 3037–3044. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.06.013
- Musazzi, L., Milanese, M., Farisello, P., Zappettini, S., Tardito, D., Barbiero, V. S., et al. (2010). Acute stress increases depolarization-evoked glutamate release in the rat prefrontal/frontal cortex: the dampening action of antidepressants. *PLoS ONE* 5:e8566. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008566
- Nair, A., Vadodaria, K. C., Banerjee, S. B., Benekareddy, M., Dias, B. G., Duman, R. S., et al. (2007). Stressor-specific regulation of distinct brainderived neurotrophic factor transcripts and cyclic AMP response elementbinding protein expression in the postnatal and adult rat hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 1504–1519. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301276
- Nelson, C. A., Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., Marshall, P. J., Smyke, A. T., and Guthrie, D. (2007). Cognitive recovery in socially deprived young children: the Bucharest Early Intervention Project. *Science* 318, 1937–1940. doi: 10.1126/science.1143921
- Nishi, M., Horii-Hayashi, N., and Sasagawa, T. (2014). Effects of early life adverse experiences on the brain: implications from maternal separation models in rodents. *Front. Neurosci.* 8:166. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00166
- Oomen, C. A., Soeters, H., Audureau, N., Vermunt, L., van Hasselt, F. N., Manders, E. M., et al. (2010). Severe early life stress hampers spatial learning and neurogenesis, but improves hippocampal synaptic plasticity and emotional learning under high-stress conditions in adulthood. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 6635–6645. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0247-10.2010
- Ovtscharoff, W. Jr., and Braun, K. (2001). Maternal separation and social isolation modulate the postnatal development of synaptic composition in the infralimbic cortex of Octodon degus. Neuroscience 104, 33–40. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(01)00059-8
- Parfitt, D. B., Levin, J. K., Saltstein, K. P., Klayman, A. S., Greer, L. M., and Helmreich, D. L. (2004). Differential early rearing environments can accentuate or attenuate the responses to stress in male C57BL/6 mice. *Brain Res.* 1016, 111–118. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2004.04.077
- Pawlak, R., Rao, B. S., Melchore, J. P., Chattarji, S., McEwen, B., and Strickland, S. (2005). Tissue plasminogen activator, and plasminogen mediate stress-induced decline of neuronal and cognitive functions in the mouse hippocampus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 18201–18206. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509232102
- Pesonen, A., Eriksson, J. G., Heinonen, K., Kajantie, E., Tuovinen, S., Alastalo, H., et al. (2013). Cognitive ability and decline after early life stress exposure. *Neurobiol. Aging* 34, 1674–1679. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012. 12.012
- Popoli, M., Yan, Z., McEwen, B. S., and Sanacora, G. (2011). The stressed synapse: the impact of stress and glucocorticoids on glutamate transmission. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 13, 22–37. doi: 10.1038/nrn3138
- Reznikov, L. R., Grillo, C. A., Piroli, G. G., Pasumarthi, R. K., Reagan, L. P., and Fadel, J. (2007). Acute stress-mediated increases in extracellular glutamate levels in the rat amygdala: differential effects of antidepressant treatment. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 25, 3109–3114. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007. 05560.x
- Romeo, R. D., and McEwen, B. S. (2006). Stress and the adolescent brain. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1094, 202–214. doi: 10.1196/annals.1376.022
- Sanacora, G., Treccani, G., and Popoli, M. (2012). Towards a glutamate hypothesis of depression: an emerging frontier of neuropsychopharmacology for mood disorders. *Neuropharmacology* 62, 63–77. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.07.036
- Shair, H. N. (2007). Acquisition and expression of a socially mediated separation response. *Behav. Brain Res.* 182, 180–192. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2007. 02.016
- Slotten, H. A., Kalinichev, M., Hagan, J. J., Marsden, C. A., and Fone, K. C. (2006). Long-lasting changes in behavioural and neuroendocrine indices in the rat following neonatal maternal separation: gender-dependent effects. *Brain Res.* 1097, 123–132. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2006.04.066

- Sousa, V. C., Vital, J., Costenla, A. R., Batalha, V. L., Sebastião, A. M., Ribeiro, J. A., et al. (2014). Maternal separation impairs long term-potentiation in CA1-CA3 synapses and hippocampal-dependent memory in old rats. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1680–1685. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.01.024
- Suri, D., Veenit, V., Sarkar, A., Thiagarajan, D., Kumar, A., Nestler, E. J., et al. (2013). Early stress evokes age-dependent biphasic changes in hippocampal neurogenesis, BDNF expression, and cognition. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73, 6586–6666. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.10.023
- Takatsuru, Y., Eto, K., Kaneko, R., Masuda, H., Shimokawa, N., Koibuchi, N., et al. (2013). Critical role of the astrocyte for functional remodeling in contralateral hemisphere of somatosensory cortex after stroke. J. Neurosci. 33, 4683–4692. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2657-12.2013
- Takatsuru, Y., Ishikawa, T., Kohsaka, S., Nabekura, J., and Koibuchi, N. (2015). Early-life stress increases the motility of microglia in adulthood. *J. Physiol. Sci.* 65, 187–194. doi: 10.1007/s12576-015-0361-z
- Takatsuru, Y., Yoshitomo, M., Nemoto, T., Eto, K., and Nabekura, J. (2009a). Maternal separation decreases the stability of mushroom spines in adult mice somatosensory cortex. *Brain Res.* 1294, 45–51. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.07.092
- Takatsuru, Y., Fukumoto, D., Yoshitomo, M., Nemoto, T., Tsukada, H., and Nabekura, J. (2009b). Neuronal circuit remodeling in the contralateral cortical hemisphere during functional recovery from cerebral infarction. J. Neurosci. 29, 10081–10086. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1638-09.2009
- Takayasu, Y., Iino, M., Takatsuru, Y., Tanaka, K., and Ozawa, S. (2009). Functions of glutamate transporters in cerebellar Purkinje cell synapses. Acta Physiol. (Oxf.) 197, 1–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2009.02019.x
- Tinazzi, M., Marotta, A., Fasano, A., Bove, F., Bentivoglio, A. R., Squintani, G., et al. (2013). Aristotle's illusion reveals interdigit functional somatosensory alterations in focal hand dystonia. *Brain* 136, 782–789. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws372
- Toya, S., Takatsuru, Y., Amano, I., and Koibuchi, N. (2013). The molecular mechanism of early life stress for synaptic instability in somatosensory cortex. *J. Physiol. Sci.* 63:S152.
- Toya, S., Takatsuru, Y., Kokubo, M., Amano, I., Shimokawa, N., and Koibuchi, N. (2014). Early-life-stress affects the homeostasis of glutamatergic synapses. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 40, 3627–3634. doi: 10.1111/ejn.12728
- Trachtenberg, J. T., Chen, B. E., Knott, G. W., Feng, G., Sanes, J. R., Welker, E., et al. (2002). Long-term in vivo imaging of experience-dependent synaptic plasticity in adult cortex. *Nature* 420, 788–794. doi: 10.1038/ nature01273
- Tremblay, M. È. (2011). The role of microglia at synapses in the healthy CNS: novel insights from recent imaging studies. *Neuron Glia Biol.* 7, 67–76. doi: 10.1017/S1740925X12000038
- Vyas, A., Mitra, R., Shankaranarayana Rao, B. S., and Chattarji, S. (2002). Chronic stress induces contrasting patterns of dendritic remodeling in hippocampal and amygdaloid neurons. J. Neurosci. 22, 6810–6818.
- Wake, H., Moorhouse, A. J., Miyamoto, A., and Nabekura, J. (2013). Microglia: actively surveying and shaping neuronal circuit structure and function. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 209–217. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2012.11.007
- Wigger, A., and Neumann, I. D. (1999). Periodic maternal deprivation induces gender-dependent alterations in behavioral and neuroendocrine responses to emotional stress in adult rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 66, 293–302. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(98)00300-X
- Yuen, E. Y., Liu, W., Karatsoreos, I. N., Feng, J., McEwen, B. S., and Yan, Z. (2009). Acute stress enhances glutamatergic transmission in prefrontal cortex and facilitates working memory. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 14075–14079. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906791106

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Takatsuru and Koibuchi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

ADVANTAGES OF PUBLISHING IN FRONTIERS



FAST PUBLICATION Average 90 days from submission to publication



COLLABORATIVE PEER-REVIEW

Designed to be rigorous – yet also collaborative, fair and constructive



RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases readership for your article



OPEN ACCESS

Articles are free to read, for greatest visibility



TRANSPARENT

Editors and reviewers acknowledged by name on published articles



GLOBAL SPREAD Six million monthly page views worldwide



COPYRIGHT TO AUTHORS

No limit to article distribution and re-use



IMPACT METRICS Advanced metrics track your article's impact



SUPPORT By our Swiss-based editorial team



EPFL Innovation Park · Building I · 1015 Lausanne · Switzerland T +41 21 510 17 00 · info@frontiersin.org · frontiersin.org